The Determinants of Political Behavior : Evidence from Three Randomized Field Experiments

by

Vincent Pons

Master, Economics, Paris School of Economics, Ecole Normale Supérieure (2006) Master, Economics, Sciences Po (2006) Master's degree, Philosophy, Université Paris 1, Ecole Normale Supérieure (2005)

> Submitted to the Department of Economics in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> > Doctor of Philosophy

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

June 2014

© 2014 Vincent Pons. All rights reserved.

The author hereby grants to MIT permission to reproduce and distribute publicly paper and electronic copies of this thesis document in whole or in part.





The Determinants of Political Behavior : Evidence from Three Randomized Field Experiments

by

Vincent Pons

Submitted to the Department of Economics on May 15, 2014, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abstract

My dissertation explores the political behavior of different groups, including immigrants, the youth, and uneducated and marginalized citizens – focusing on their registration and turnout decisions, as well as vote choices, political interest, and competence. I conducted three randomized field experiments in France and combined public electoral records with comprehensive phone and inperson surveys to address the following questions: 1) What factors, including costs, information, and attitudes explain people's failure to register and vote, as well as their choice to vote for an extremist party, and 2) How do institutions and political campaigns affect these factors?

In many countries (including the US) citizens must register before voting. The first chapter, coauthored with Céline Braconnier (Université de Cergy-Pontoise) and Jean-Yves Dormagen (Université Montpellier 1), provides experimental evidence on the impact of this additional hurdle on the size and composition of the electorate. Prior to the 2012 French presidential and parliamentary elections, 20,500 households were randomly assigned to one control or six treatment groups. Treatment households received home canvassing visits providing either information about registration or help to register at home. We show that France's registration requirements have significant effects on turnout and disproportionately discourage marginalized citizens on the left of the political spectrum. While both types of visits increased registration and turnout, the home registration visits had a higher impact than the information-only visits, indicating that both information costs and administrative costs are barriers to registration. Visits paid closer to the registration deadline were also more effective, suggesting that registration requirements' effects are reinforced by procrastination. Our design allows us to distinguish selection and treatment effects of home registration. We find that home registration included additional citizens who were only slightly less likely to vote than those who would have registered anyway, and did not reduce turnout among the latter. On the contrary, citizens induced to vote due to the visits also became more interested in the elections. Overall, these results suggest that the reduction of registration requirements could substantially increase political participation and improve representation of marginalized groups without debasing the average level of competence and informedness among voters.

Immigrants in Europe have a low sense of national belonging that affects their well-being and social cohesion in the receiving societies. This low sense of belonging is often interpreted as the result of low socioeconomic status, lack of efforts to integrate, or stigmatization. The second chapter, coauthored with Guillaume Liégey, provides empirical evidence for a complementary theory centered on the paucity of outreach efforts extending a hand to immigrants. During the 2010 French regional elections, 1,350 buildings hosting 23,836 citizens were randomly assigned to receive canvassers' visits. Supporting our theory, the visits had a larger effect on immigrants' turnout than on the mainstream population, although their propensity to vote was initially similar. More broadly, exploring heterogeneous effects of an identical encouragement to vote is shown to usefully complement comparisons of turnout levels to assess the influence of factors such as immigrant origin and race on electoral participation and integration.

Since the turn of the century, political campaigns have devoted increasing resources to door-todoor canvassing, in response to compelling evidence about the impact on voter turnout. However, we lack clear evidence on the impact of door-to-door canvassing on electoral outcomes, since unlike participation vote choice cannot be measured at the individual level with administrative records. The third chapter answers this important question with a countrywide precinct-level randomized experiment in France. During the 2012 presidential elections, 22,500 precincts and 17.1 million citizens were randomly allocated to either a control group or a treatment group. Treatment precincts were targeted by canvassers supporting François Hollande, the left-wing Parti Socialiste's candidate. The effects are estimated using official electoral results at the precinct level. The visits did not affect voter turnout, but they reduced the vote share of the far-right political party's candidate and increased Hollande's vote share at the first round. Overall, they contributed to one fourth of his victory margin at the second round. The effects persisted in the subsequent parliamentary elections, suggesting that they were obtained by persuading medium and high-propensity voters to vote left, rather than by mobilizing left-wing nonvoters and demobilizing opponents. The results suggest that personal contact can be an effective way for political parties to reconnect with disgruntled citizens and to win their votes.

Thesis Supervisor: Esther Duflo Title: Abdul Latif Jameel Professor of Poverty Alleviation and Development Economics

Thesis Supervisor: Benjamin Olken Title: Professor of Economics

Contents

1 Voter Registration Costs and Disenfranchisement: Experimental E			istration Costs and Disenfranchisement: Experimental Evidence from	L
	France			
	1.1	Introd	luction	10
	1.2	Settin	g	16
		1.2.1	The 2012 French presidential and general elections	16
		1.2.2	The French registration system	16
		1.2.3	Interventions	17
	1.3	Sampl	e population and data	18
		1.3.1	Addresses and apartments included in the sample	18
		1.3.2	Initial numbers of unregistered and misregistered citizens	19
		1. 3.3	Individual registration and turnout data	20
		1.3.4	Characteristics of the unregistered and misregistered citizens	20
	1.4	Model		21
		1.4.1	Two stages: registration, and voting	22
		1.4.2	Two simple cases: uniform benefits of voting or registration cost $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	23
		1.4.3	General case	24
		1.4.4	Three extensions of the model	26
	1.5 Overall impact on registration, turnout, the composition of the electorate, and ele		ll impact on registration, turnout, the composition of the electorate, and elec-	
toral outcomes		putcomes	28	
		1.5.1	Impact on registration	28
		1.5.2	Impact on voter turnout	31
		1.5.3	Impact on the composition of the electorate	32

		1.5.4	Impact on the preferences of the electorate	34				
	1.6	Select	ion and engagement effects of the registration process	36				
		1.6.1	Differences in participation rates	37				
		1.6.2	Get-out-the-vote effect	38				
		1.6.3	Engagement effect of self-initiated registration	39				
		1.6.4	Selection of citizens only slightly less likely to vote	40				
		1.6.5	\ldots but whose participation depends more on the saliency of the elections	41				
		1.6.6	Empowerment effect	43				
	1.7	Conclu	usion and discussion	44				
	1.8	Biblio	graphy	48				
	1.9	Apper	ndix	71				
		1.9.1	Example of leaflets handed out by the canvassers	71				
		1.9.2	Localization of the 10 cities included in the experiment $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	72				
		1.9.3	Estimate of the initial numbers of unregistered and misregistered citizens $\ . \ .$	72				
		1.9.4	Sampling frame of the postelectoral survey	76				
		1.9.5	Proofs of claims stated in Section 4	76				
		1.9.6	Estimate of the effect of the intervention "Early Home registration & Late					
			Home registration" on overall turnout	86				
2	Inci	creasing the Electoral Participation of Immigrants - Experimental Evidence						
	fror	rom France 95						
	2.1	Introd	uction	95				
	2.2	Existi	ng Evidence and Theories on the Integration of Immigrants	98				
		2.2.1	Immigrants in France	98				
		2.2.2	Competing Explanations for the Low Integration of Immigrants	99				
2.3 The Experiment			xperiment	103				
		2.3.1	The Context of the Experiment	103				
		2.3.2	The Intervention	104				
		2.3.3	Sampling Frame	104				
		2.3.4	Experimental Design	105				
2.4 The data			ata	105				

		2.4.1	Experimental Data			
		2.4.2	Identification of the Immigrants and Their Descendants			
		2.4.3	The Survey "Trajectories and origins"			
		2.4.4	Verifying Randomization			
	2.5	Main :	results			
		2.5.1	Comparing Turnout Levels			
		2.5.2	Low Turnout of Both Immigrants and Native-Born Citizens Absent the Can-			
			vassing Visits			
		2.5.3	Comparing the Effects of the Intervention on Turnout			
		2.5.4	Interpretation of the Magnitude of β_3 , β_4 and $\beta_4 + \lambda_4$			
		2.5.5	Differential Impact of Canvassing on Immigrants			
		2.5.6	Lack of Any Impact of Canvassing One Year Later			
		2.5.7	Tests of additional implications of the theory			
	2.6	Altern	ative interpretations			
		2.6.1	Instrumental vs. Expressive Benefits of Voting			
		2.6.2	Cultural Explanations			
		2.6.3	Education			
		2.6.4	Understanding the Lack of Effect on the Mainstream Population $\ldots \ldots \ldots 120$			
	2.7	Discus	sion			
		2.7.1	Effectiveness of Outreach Efforts Towards Immigrants			
		2.7.2	Comparing Turnout Effects Rather Than Levels			
	2.8	Biblio	m graphy			
3	Doe	s Doo	r-to-door Canvassing Affect Vote Shares? Evidence from a Country-			
	wid	e Field	l Experiment in France 146			
	3.1 Introduction					
	3.2	Settin	g			
		3.2.1	The 2012 French presidential and general elections			
		3.2.2	From 2008 to 2012: transposing door-to-door canvassing a la Obama to France151			
		3.2.3	François Hollande's 2012 door-to-door canvassing campaign			
	3.3	Sampl	ing frame			
		Samping name				

	3.3.1	Definition of 3,500 territories
	3.3.2	Identification of priority precincts
	3.3.3	Randomization
	3.3.4	Final sample
	3.3.5	Imperfect compliance
3.4	Result	s
	3.4.1	Verifying randomization
	3.4.2	Effects on voter turnout
	3.4.3	Effects on vote shares
3.5	Discus	sion and conclusion
	3.5.1	Interpretation of the results
	3.5.2	External validity
3.6	Biblio	graphy

Acknowledgements

I owe a great debt of gratitude to many people for their advice, feedback, support, and kindness during the writing of this thesis.

First and foremost, I am immensely grateful to Esther Duflo, my thesis director and my mentor. She inspired me to start a thesis in Tangiers, Morocco, six years ago. I thank her for providing invaluable guidance and continuous support and for constantly setting an ideal example for excellence in research, teaching, and advising. I am equally indebted to Benjamin Olken, my second thesis supervisor, who introduced me to the field of political economy and has devoted unlimited time to provide guidance and invaluable feedback and insights while I was writing my thesis. I hope to be able to follow his path.

While I was based at MIT's Economics department, Daniel Posner generously opened his door to me and, with it, the door to political science questioning. In addition to amazing discussions and support received from Dan, my first steps in the discipline of political science were made under the benevolent guidance of Alan Gerber and Stephen Ansolabehere. Dan, Alan, and Steve have shaped my perspective on a number of issues core to my research and I am all the more indebted to them as their support was provided across the lines of departments and disciplines.

In addition to this truly unique thesis committee, I thank David Donaldson, Abhijit Banerjee, Michael Piore, Daron Acemoglu, Todd Rogers, Jens Hainmueller, James Snyder, Danny Hidalgo, Adam Berinsky, Rafaela Dancygier, Adrien Auclert, Tyler Williams, William Mullins, Felipe Severino, and innumerable others for thoughtful and beneficial comments. My coauthors hold a particularly important place in this list : Céline Braconnier and Jean-Yves Dormagen, my coauthors on the first chapter of this dissertation, and Tavneet Suri, Benjamin Marx, Florencia Devoto, Pascaline Dupas, William Parienté, Caroline Le Pennec, Thomas Bossuroy, and Clara Delavallade, my coauthors on other papers not included in this dissertation and my research companions.

In addition to being invaluable friends, Guillaume Liégey and Arthur Muller were essential to this dissertation. My very decision to study the determinants of political behavior was indissolubly connected to our common decision, in 2008, to change French politics. Since then, our close to daily interactions that combine research, political lobying, and entrepreneurial decisions have enabled me to achieve things which, alone, were beyond reach.

Finally, I thank my partner, Margaux Bergeon-Dars, for being constantly on my side as I was

going through the turmoil of writing this dissertation and through the stress of the academic job market.

This dissertation is dedicated to the thousands of political activists, who, day after day, anonymously, bring politics to the doorstep of their fellow citizens. They are the torchbearers of our democracies. This dissertation is a tribute to the inestimable importance of their work. It would not have been possible without them.

Chapter 1

Voter Registration Costs and Disenfranchisement: Experimental Evidence from France¹

1.1 Introduction

Historically, voter registration laws were adopted primarily to combat fraud. At the same time, they created a preliminary step to voting. In many countries today, the state creates the list of eligible voters, so from the citizens' perspective, registration is automatic. However, in other countries, such as the United States, Kenya, Mexico and France, voter registration is self-initiated: citizens

¹This chapter is coauthored with Céline Braconnier (Université de Cergy-Pontoise) and Jean-Yves Dormagen (Université Montpellier 1). We are grateful to Esther Duflo, Benjamin Olken, Daniel Posner, Alan Gerber, Steven Ansolabehere, Abhijit Banerjee, Daron Acemoglu, James Snyder, Adrien Auclert, and seminar participants at MIT, the Tobin Project Graduate Students Forum, the WPSA, EPSA, NYU-CESS, CASP and APSA conferences for suggestions that have improved the paper. We thank Caroline Le Pennec and Ghislain Gabalda for the outstanding research assistance they provided throughout the entire project and Aude Soubiron for her assistance in the administration of the interventions in the cities surrounding Bordeaux. We thank the town hall administration of each of the ten cities included in the experiment for their generous collaboration and are indebted to all canvassers who administered the interventions, including students from the Ecole Normale Supérieure, the University Cergy-Pontoise, the IEP of Bordeaux and the University of Montpellier 1, the NGO of retired workers of the MGEN, the NGO "Tous Citoyens," the NGO "RAJ-LR," local units of the Socialist Party in Cergy, Sevran and Carcassonne and the local unit of the Front de Gauche in the 20th arrondissement of Paris. We gratefully acknowledge funding from the Russell Sage Foundation, MIT France, the Tobin Project, the city of Montpellier, the University of Montpellier 1, and the University of Cergy-Pontoise.

who wish to vote must first complete and submit a registration application to the administration. In the US, 29% of citizens are not registered (US Census Bureau 2012), while in France, 7% are not registered (Insee Premiere 2012) and around 20% are "misregistered": they stay registered at a previous address and have to travel back to vote, making voting more costly (Braconnier and Dormagen 2007).

How much does self-initiated registration matter? If information and registration costs are identical for all, the registration process selects the most interested citizens and excludes citizens with low interest in voting. Alternatively, if information and registration costs vary, the process also excludes citizens who are interested in voting but face too high a registration cost. It might then substantially decrease overall turnout, marginalize subgroups of citizens for whom registration costs are high, and change electoral outcomes.

To study the effects of self-initiated registration, this article evaluates the impact of door-to-door canvassing visits in France, in the context of the 2012 presidential and general (or parliamentary) elections. In several state-initiated registration countries, including Canada, South Africa, and Indonesia, election authorities rely on door-to-door canvassing to help get voters on the rolls (Brennan Center for Justice 2009). In this experiment, the visits were carried out by non-partisan students and NGO members as well as members of political parties. Ten cities and 44 electoral precincts were included in the experimental sample. In these precincts, we identified 4,118 addresses and 20,502 households likely to host unregistered and misregistered citizens.² In a randomly selected one-fourth of these households, no visit was made. The remaining households were visited by canvassers before the 31 December 2011 registration deadline. Buildings were randomized such that canvassers either provided information and encouragement to register (henceforth "canvassing" visits), or they offered to register people at home (henceforth "home registration" visits). The experimental design further varied the timing of the visits (early, two to three months before the registration deadline; or late, during the last month before the deadline) and their frequency (once or twice), with a total of six different treatments.

We evaluate the effects of the interventions using administrative data on registration and turnout, data collected by the canvassers during the visits, and comprehensive survey data collected door-to-door after the elections. In the control group, 18.3% of the initially unregistered

 $^{^{2}}$ We use "address" to mean any numbered street address, which can contain one or more households. Throughout the paper, we use the words "address" and "building" interchangeably, and the words "household" and "apartment" interchangeably.

and misregistered citizens registered during 2011. Canvassing visits and home registration visits increased new registrations by 2.4 percentage points (14%) and 4.7 percentage points (26%) respectively. This suggests that both the lack of information and the administrative cost of registering hinder voter registration. In addition, late visits, which left less time to register but also less time to procrastinate, were more effective than early visits, suggesting that registration requirements' effects are reinforced by procrastination.

Increased registration resulted in increased turnout. On average, the treatments increased turnout of initially unregistered or misregistered citizens by 4.3 percentage points (27%) and 4.1 percentage points (25%) in the first and second rounds of the presidential elections, and by 1.7 percentage points (18%) and 2.2 percentage points (24%) in the general (parliamentary) elections. In addition, the visits differentially selected citizens who were otherwise underrepresented in the electorate: younger and less educated citizens, citizens less likely to speak French at home, and immigrants. These citizens also tend to vote more to the left. This suggests that the self-initiated French registration system might skew electoral outcomes away from being accurate representations of the entire citizenry.

Increased participation and representation of the citizenry in the electorate are important democratic improvements. However, one might worry that a significant fraction of citizens are not sufficiently informed, so that increasing participation would lead to noisy electoral results and bad policies (e.g., Jakee and Sun 2006). In that respect, self-initiated registration might have two virtues. First, it might select more interested and knowledgeable citizens and exclude uninformed voters. In addition, self-initiated registration might have a positive treatment or "engagement" effect: citizens who make an effort to register might get more involved politically, increasing their electoral participation and perhaps how much thought they put in their actual vote. Among possible underlying mechanisms, prospective voters who undergo the cost of registration may adjust their subsequent behavior to their reaffirmed identity as engaged citizens (Bénabou and Tirole 2006). Thus, a possible concern is that by lowering the registration costs, the visits brought in less interested and knowledgeable voters, adding noise or bias to the final results, and that home registration visits reduced the engagement effect of getting registered at the town hall.

We study these selection and disengagement effects by comparing the participation rates of newly registered citizens in the different groups. We find that their turnout is not significantly different in control households versus households which received canvassing, and only slightly lower in households that received home registration. How much this difference reflects selection or disengagement effects of home registration is difficult to verify directly. Two treatment groups in our experimental design were introduced to accommodate this difficulty: to control for selection into home registration, we compare addresses that received an early canvassing visit and a late home registration visit with addresses that received two home registration visits. As expected, similar newly registered citizens were selected by both interventions, but a higher fraction of these citizens were registered at home in addresses that received two home registration visits, which enables us to isolate the disengagement effect of home registration. We find that home registration did not have a disengagement effect on citizens who would have registered anyway.

However, there is suggestive evidence that home registration selected for participation citizens who were slightly less interested in elections than other voters. These citizens participated at a rate of four out of five in the presidential elections, a turnout only slightly lower than newly registered citizens who would have registered regardless of whether or not they receive a visit, and as high as previously registered citizens. However, their decline in turnout between the presidential and general elections was larger, suggesting that their participation depends relatively more on the saliency of the elections.

But political interest and knowledgeability are not necessarily fixed. They can be increased by inducing citizens to become active voters. Indeed, all interventions increased political interest and informedness among citizens who were initially unregistered and misregistered: they reported holding more frequent political discussions during the electoral campaign, and they were more likely to be able to locate their political preferences and that of prominent politicians on the left-right axis. This alleviates the concern that increased registration and participation may add noise to the electoral results.

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 discusses the existing literature on voter registration and other strands of the literature on which this study builds. Section 3 provides more background information on the 2012 elections, the French registration system and the interventions. In Section 4, we describe the sample population and the data used in the paper. Section 5 presents a simple model of the two-step process of registering and voting which frames the interpretation of the empirical results. Section 6 evaluates the overall impact of the visits on registration, turnout, and electoral outcomes. Section 7 investigates whether registration costs serve to select more knowledgeable citizens and to engage them in the electoral process. Section 8 concludes with a discussion.

Our study complements the existing empirical literature on the institutional determinants of voter participation, from Harold Gosnell's (1930) groundbreaking work on differences between electoral systems in Europe and in the US to the examination of recent changes in voter identification requirements (e.g., Gosnell 1930; Tingsten 1937; Rusk 1970; Converse 1972; Powell 1986; Jackman 1987; Franklin 1996; Lijphart 1997; Wolfinger, Highton and Mullin 2005; Blais 2006; Mycoff, Wagner and Wilson 2009). Most studies of voter registration exploit temporal and spatial variation in voter registration laws to estimate the effect of these laws on turnout. Some find little to no effect of introducing voter registration, motor voter provisions, election-day registration, or new closing date (e.g., Martinez and Hill 1999; Knack 2001; Brown and Wedeking 2006; Burden and Neiheisel 2013), while others find strong effects (e.g., Rosenstone and Wolfinger 1978; Wolfinger, Glass and Squire 1990; Knack 1995; Mitchell and Wlezien 1995; Rhine 1996; Highton and Wolfinger 1998; Ansolabehere and Konisky 2006; Vonnahme 2012). An important concern is that it is often difficult to separate changes in registration laws from other institutional changes and concomitant trends, as illustrated by the controversy regarding the causes of the decline in voter turnout at the turn of the 19th Century in the US (Kelley, Ayres, and Bowen 1967; Burnham 1965, 1974; Rusk 1970, 1974; Converse 1972, 1974). In addition, the adoption of different registration rules by different states or counties might reflect unobserved motives correlated with participation. This omitted-variables problem is also a potential concern for a second strand of the literature, based on individual survey data, which estimates determinants of registration and turnout separately and predicts high turnout rates among non-registrants (Erikson 1981; Timpone 1998). Next to observational studies. experimental studies can provide useful insights on individual responses to institutional changes facilitating registration (e.g., Bennion and Nickerson 2009). In an unpublished study perhaps most closely related to this project, Nickerson (2010) finds that home registration visits have large effects on registration numbers, but that citizens registered as a result of the visits are less likely to vote than previously registered citizens. Building on these earlier studies, we introduce two important distinctions: how much do lack of information, the administrative cost of registering, and procrastination hinder registration when it is self-initiated; and what are the selection and treatment effects of visits facilitating registration? These distinctions enhance the generalizability of the findings to a wide array of possible changes in the registration rules, each of which combines some but not necessarily all dimensions disentangled here.

This article also builds upon existing research on the effects of electoral institutions on the composition of the electorate and on electoral outcomes. Most papers comparing voters and nonvoters conclude that universal turnout would benefit left-wing parties only marginally (e.g., Teixeira 1992; Highton and Wolfinger 2001; Citrin et al. 2003; Brunell and DiNardo 2004; Bernhagen and Marsh 2007; Rubenson et al. 2007; but see Mackerras and McAllister 1999). The underlying assumption that the preferences reported by nonvoters accurately reflect how they would vote if induced to vote is, however, debatable (Lijphart 1997). Another set of studies exploits institutional variations, with similar methodological limitations as emphasized above, and mixed findings (e.g., Filer, Kelly, and Morton 1991; Nagler 1991; Franklin and Grier 1997; Knack and White 1998, 2000; Stein 1998; Brians and Grofman 2001). More recent studies based on quasi-experimental variations find substantial effects on vote shares of the introduction of new voting technologies (Fujiwara 2013) or the adoption of compulsory voting (Fowler 2013). Our article extends their conclusions to the case of voter registration and provides a richer description of the enfranchised citizens: we not only measure their gender, education, income and occupation, but also the language they speak at home, the intensity of their religious practice (if any), whether they come back from work after the town hall's closing hours, and other variables.

Thanks to our rich survey data, our article also contributes to the literature on voters' interest and information. A difference repeatedly found between voters and nonvoters is that the latter are less interested and informed (Converse 1964; Palfrey and Poole 1987). Given this difference, institutions facilitating participation might bring in voters who are unlikely to cast a well-considered ballot and they might add noise to the final results (Jakee and Sun 2006; Selb and Lachat 2009; Saunders 2010). But interest and informedness are not necessarily static: citizens induced to become active voters might also increase their interest and knowledge (Robson 1923; Lijphart 1997). Existing empirical evidence for this mechanism is scarce. Bilodeau and Blais (2011) compare the political interest of citizens and immigrants from countries with and without compulsory voting and obtain null results, but acknowledge methodological limitations. Our study fills an important gap in this respect.

Finally, our study speaks to a large economic literature on the procedural costs incurred when applying to a service or aid program, and their effects on program take-up and applicants' selection (e.g., Nichols et al. 1971; Nichols and Zeckhauser 1982; Besley and Coate 1992). Two recent experiments examine interventions that reduce procedural costs by enrolling people in an aid program at their homes. Devoto et al. (2012) find substantial effects of home procedural assistance on the take-up of connections to the water main, and provide suggestive evidence that a simple door-todoor information campaign on the program has intermediate effects, as in our study. Alatas et al. (2013) find that imposing some procedural costs leads to a better selection of applicants than when people are enrolled in the program door-to-door. Our study finds similar results: citizens registered due to the visits are slightly less likely to vote than those who register when they have to bear the full procedural costs.

1.2 Setting

1.2.1 The 2012 French presidential and general elections

French presidential elections have two rounds: any candidate who gets endorsed by at least 500 locally elected officials can compete at the first, and the two candidates who get the highest vote shares qualify for the second. 79% of the registered citizens participated in the first round of the French presidential elections on 22 April 2012. François Hollande of the left-wing Parti Socialiste and Nicolas Sarkozy of the right-wing UMP qualified for the second round. Turnout at the second round on 6 May was high again (80%) and François Hollande was elected president with 52% of the vote. Similarly to the presidential elections, the general elections consist of two rounds, unless a candidate obtains more than 50% of the votes during the first round. They took place on June 10 and 17. Fewer voters (57 and 55%) participated in these elections than the presidential elections and the previous general elections (Figure 1). The Parti Socialiste won in 57% of the constituencies.

1.2.2 The French registration system

French voter rolls are updated and made publicly available each January, and the registration deadline for a given election is December 31 of the previous year: only citizens who had registered before 31 December 2011 could vote at the French 2012 elections. Given the timing of the 2012 elections, the 2011 registration period took place even before the electoral campaign had begun, as is usually the case. To register, one must file an application, submitting a form, an ID, and proof of address, such as a recent electricity bill. The address is used to allocate each registered citizen to the electoral precinct closest to his place of residence. Most people register in person at the town

hall, although the registration file, once signed by the applicant, can be brought to the town hall by a third party, mailed in, or, in some cities, completed online.

Since 1997, teenagers who turn 18 are, in principle, automatically registered. Apart from this group, it is citizens' responsibility to register and re-register each time they move. Those who move without updating their registration status become misregistered. They are registered to vote, but cannot vote at the polling station nearest to their actual place of residence. Voting is relatively more costly for them: they have to travel back to the polling station corresponding to their previous address on Election Day, or to go to a courthouse or police station at least one week before to apply for a proxy vote allowing a trusted person to vote on their behalf at their former polling station. After a while, as political propaganda and voter IDs repeatedly fail to be delivered to them, the misregistered citizens get struck from the lists and join the ranks of the unregistered citizens, which further include people who turned 18 before 1997 and naturalized citizens who never registered.

In 2011, as in other pre-presidential years, a large fraction (9%) of eligible citizens registered for the first time or updated their registration status (Insee 2012). Nonetheless, 7% of all people living in metropolitan France who were eligible to register remained unregistered (Insee Premiere 2012) and around 20% were misregistered.³

1.2.3 Interventions

The experimental design is shown in Figure 2. In a randomly selected one-fourth of the households, no visit was made (hereafter, the control group). In a second randomly selected quarter of the households, canvassers encouraged the unregistered and misregistered citizens to register and provided general as well as city-specific information about the process (hereafter, the canvassing group); after a conversation of one to five minutes, they distributed a leaflet customized with the logo of their organization that summarized this information (an example can be found in Appendix 1). In a third quarter of the households, the canvassers offered to register people at home so that they would not have to register at the town hall (hereafter, the home registration group): the canvassers filled out the registration form of those who accepted, completed it with a picture of ID,

³While the number of unregistered citizens can be directly estimated as the difference between the number of eligible citizens and those actually registered, no similar method can be used to compute the number of misregistered citizens. In France, the fraction of misregistered citizens is probably between 12% and 25%: the first estimate is based on answers from a 2007 representative pool and does not take into account citizens registered in the correct city, but at an old address (Cevipof 2007). The second estimate is based on the study by Braconnier and Dormagen (2007) conducted in neighborhoods likely to host more misregistered citizens than the national average.

collected a proof of address, and brought the file to the town hall themselves. Some applications required several visits, for example, when one of the documents was missing or was rejected by the town hall as invalid. The remaining quarter of households received two separate visits (hereafter, the two-visits group).

The canvassing, home registration, and two-visits groups were each further randomly divided into two subgroups. Half of the canvassing and home registration households were visited early, two to three months before the registration deadline, whereas the other half received a late visit, during the last month before the deadline. Half of the two-visits households received an early canvassing visit and a late home registration visit, whereas the other half received two home registration visits.

The visits were carried out by 230 students, NGO members, and party activists.⁴ This diversity increases the external validity of the study. Thanks to extensive training, it did not threaten its internal validity: all canvassers were engaged in role-plays, and were asked to draw a sharp line between the two types of visits.

1.3 Sample population and data

1.3.1 Addresses and apartments included in the sample

This study took place in ten cities, located in three regions, and ranging in size from 10,000 inhabitants to more than 200,000.⁵ The main criteria for selection of the cities were the availability of groups of people willing to take part in the experiment as unpaid canvassers and the logistical and financial support that the municipality could provide. In each city, we selected precincts characterized by relatively lower turnout rates at previous elections, and thus likely to host many unregistered and misregistered citizens. The 44 sample precincts are therefore not representative of France, but they are quite representative of areas that would be the most affected by changes in the registration process.

In each precinct, addresses and apartments in which unregistered and misregistered citizens were likely to reside were identified as follows. We first collected the list of citizens registered at

⁴The party activists belonged to the Parti Socialiste or the Front de Gauche, another left-wing party. Contacts had been established with local units of other political parties as well, albeit unsuccessfully.

⁵Cities in the experiment are: Cergy, Saint-Denis, Sevran, and the 20th arrondissement of Paris (in the region Ile-de-France), Montpellier and Carcassonne (in Languedoc-Roussillon), and Blanquefort, Eysines, Le Taillan, and Lormont (in Aquitaine). All cities are localized on a map included in Appendix 2.

the precinct as of January 2011 and ordered it by address. Between May and September 2011, surveyors went to each address and wrote down names found on the mailboxes or on intercoms and the corresponding apartment numbers. This preliminary work was conducted at 6,030 addresses, excluding addresses that were not found or were inaccessible to the canvassers. When all names found on a mailbox also appeared on the voter roll, we excluded the corresponding apartment from the experiment given the low probability of finding unregistered or misregistered citizens there. We found 20,502 apartments likely to host unregistered or misregistered citizens, located at 4,118 addresses, which we call the experimental sample.⁶ These addresses were randomly allocated to the control group and the six treatment groups after stratification by precinct and number of registered citizens at each address.

Panels A and B of Table 1 present summary statistics for addresses and apartments in the experimental sample. We also identify significant differences between the control group and all treatment groups pooled together, and test the joint significance of the differences with each treatment group taken separately. First, we find that the average address contains eight apartments, of which five were included in the experimental sample, and that the average sample apartment features 1.3 last names found on its mailbox that did not match with any name on the January 2011 voter roll. The differences between the control group and the treatment groups are not significant for any of these variables. Second, housing price data at the address level was obtained from the real estate company www.MeilleursAgents.com for cities located in Ile-de-France. The average housing price is approximately 3,000 euros per square meter: this is relatively high due to the proximity of Paris, but lower than the cites' average.

1.3.2 Initial numbers of unregistered and misregistered citizens

Studies of voter turnout can use the voter rolls as their sample. Unfortunately, these rolls are of little help when it comes to studying unregistered and misregistered citizens. Indeed, there is no systematic list of all citizens at each address who are eligible to register, to which the voter rolls could be compared. We can nonetheless estimate the initial numbers of unregistered and misregistered citizens using the reports provided by canvassers: for each apartment that opened its door, canvassers estimated the numbers of well-registered, misregistered and unregistered citizens,

⁶In 17% of addresses, it was impossible to link apartments to mailboxes, due to the lack of any number or available identification, so that all apartments were covered by canvassers, whether included in the sample or not.

as well as the number of foreigners. We address several issues when exploiting this data, as is detailed in Appendix 3, and finally estimate that at the beginning of 2011, in the experimental sample, the average apartment hosted 0.23 well-registered citizens and 0.92 citizens in our target (0.63 misregistered citizens and 0.29 unregistered citizens). Taking into account all the apartments and addresses located in the precincts of the study, there were initially approximately 56.2% well-registered citizens, 29.9% misregistered citizens, and 13.9% unregistered citizens.

1.3.3 Individual registration and turnout data

We identify the citizens who registered in 2011 by comparing the January 2011 and January 2012 administrative voter lists. We identify their apartment based on the information listed in their address and by matching their last name or marital name with the names initially found on the mailboxes. This enables us to identify the apartment number of 89% of newly registered citizens. The 2012 voter lists provide each registered citizen's name, address, gender, and date and place of birth. In addition to this publicly available data, we obtained the registration date, previous registration status, and previous city of registration, if any, for all citizens who registered in 2011.

Beyond registration, we measure the individual participation of all registered citizens at the 2012 French presidential and general elections. Attendance sheets signed by voters who cast a ballot on Election Day are available for consultation until ten days after each poll. We took pictures of these sheets and digitized them. Thanks to this administrative data, we measure the actual voting behavior of all registered citizens and do not have to rely on survey reports, which are often unreliable when it comes to voter turnout (Ansolabehere and Hersh 2011). Altogether, our analysis is based on approximately 135,000 individual turnout observations.

1.3.4 Characteristics of the unregistered and misregistered citizens

To get further information about the experimental sample population, a postelectoral survey was administered by 50 surveyors to a sample of 1,500 respondents living in the cities of Saint-Denis, Cergy, Sevran and Montpellier. Respondents were surveyed at their household within the month following the second round of the general elections. The survey was administered only to French citizens who were not registered at their address as of January 2011, independently of their registration status by the registration deadline, so that the sample selection was unaffected by the interventions. The response rate was very close in control and treatment households.⁷

Panel C of Table 1 presents summary statistics for the respondents to the survey. The average respondent is 36 years old, which is more than 10 years younger than the average French adult, and lives with two other household members. 40% of the respondents are males, and 54% are in a relationship. 42% do not have any diploma or have less than an end-of-high-school diploma, which is less than the overall adult population, reflecting the younger age. 10% – slightly more than the overall adult population – are unemployed, and 27% are inactive. 55% live in social housing, 14% own their house or apartment, and 31% live in private housing. 42% earn less than the minimum wage (1100 euros a month). 40% speak a language other than French with family members. Half of the respondents have lived in the city for more than 10 years, and 17% arrived less than two years ago. 76% were born in France, and 24% in the same "département." 22% were naturalized French and 22% hold another citizenship. Finally, two thirds are adherent of a religion, and one third are regular churchgoers. The differences between the control group and the treatment groups taken separately are jointly significant at the 5 and 10% level for 4 and 2 variables, respectively, out of 31.

In addition to this socioeconomic information, the postelectoral survey included a series of questions about the respondents' political preferences, vote choices, political interest and competence.

1.4 Model

The following model serves three purposes. First, we extend the standard cost-benefit model of the voting decision (Downs 1957; Riker and Ordeshook 1968) to account for registration as a first separate stage and we model its connection with the second stage, voting. Second, we describe likely type differences between two categories of citizens – "compliers" and "always-takers" – along the two dimensions that explain individuals' decisions to register and vote: benefits of voting and the registration cost. Our terminology follows Angrist, Imbens, and Rubin (1996): the "compliers" are citizens registered as a result of the visits, and the "always-takers" are newly registered citizens who would have registered regardless of whether or not they receive a visit.⁸ Third, we study what

⁷More information about the sampling frame of the postelectoral survey is available in Appendix 4.

⁸We assume that there are no defiers: all citizens who register if they do not receive any visit also register if they receive a visit.

can be inferred about the magnitude of *unobserved* benefits of voting and registration cost, from the *observed* participation of the compliers and the always-takers. This theoretical structure will guide the interpretation of our empirical findings on voter turnout: does the compliers' lower average participation reflect a higher cost to register or a lower political interest than always-takers? In other terms, does their failure to register, absent any visit, result from benefits of voting that are too low, or from a registration cost that is too high?

1.4.1 Two stages: registration, and voting

Each unregistered citizen needs to decide whether to register and second, whether to vote.

Individual *i* is characterized by her net registration cost c_i and her average net benefits of voting b_i . c_i includes gathering information about the registration process and actually going through the process. It is higher for those who are less comfortable with bureaucratic tasks, who live further away from the town hall or work during opening hours, who have unconventional living situations that do not easily meet residency requirements, or who move frequently and thus have to re-register more often. c_i may also depend on the person's wealth: a given time spent to go to the town hall and register imposes a higher monetary cost on the rich, but it may impose a higher utility cost on the poor, whose marginal utility of consumption is higher (e.g., Alatas et al. 2013). b_i includes expressive and instrumental benefits, minus the cost of voting. For simplicity, we assume that there is only one electoral round and that there is no intertemporal actualization rate.

In the first stage, if *i* registers, she has to pay c_i and expects to get second-stage utility $g(b_i)$. *i* decides to register if $c_i \leq g(b_i)$. If she receives the visit of canvassers, her registration cost decreases to λc_i with $\lambda \in [0, 1)$, and *i* decides to register if $\lambda c_i \leq g(b_i)$.

In the second stage, *i* can cast a vote if she registered in the first stage. She decides to vote if $b_i + \varepsilon_i \ge 0$, where ε_i is a shock realized after registering, with density f_{ε} , distribution F_{ε} , and $E[\varepsilon_i] = 0$. ϵ represents all factors that affect the benefits of voting and which are unknown at the time of registering, including, for instance, corruption scandal affecting the candidate *i* was planning to vote for; new polls affecting her expectations about the closeness of the election; transition to or from unemployment which affects her views about the general economic situation; unexpected travel plans which force her to be absent on election day thereby increasing the cost of voting. We infer that i's second-stage utility, conditional on being registered, is

$$g\left(b_{i}
ight)\equiv\int_{-b_{i}}^{\infty}\left(b_{i}+arepsilon
ight)f_{arepsilon}(arepsilon)darepsilon.$$

Her propensity to vote, conditional on being registered, is

$$v(b_i) \equiv P(b_i + \varepsilon_i \ge 0) = 1 - F_{\varepsilon}(-b_i)$$

such that v(b) and g(b) both increase in b.

1.4.2 Two simple cases: uniform benefits of voting or registration cost

Let us now analyze the differences between compliers and always-takers along benefits of voting and the registration cost. Since the compliers only register when registration is facilitated, we expect them to be characterized by lower benefits of voting and/or a higher registration cost on average. This is indeed the conclusion that we reach when we consider two simple cases, where benefits of voting or registration cost are uniform across all individuals.

Uniform benefits of voting

We first consider the case where the benefits of voting are uniform across all *i*'s $(b_i = b)$. Alwaystakers and compliers are characterized respectively by $c_i \leq g(b)$ and by $g(b) < c_i \leq g(b)/\lambda$ (see Figure 3a). Compliers face a higher registration cost than always-takers, but have identical benefits of voting and the same propensity to vote, conditional on being registered.

Uniform registration cost

We next consider the case where the registration cost is uniform across all *i*'s $(c_i = c)$. The always-takers are then characterized by $g^{-1}(c) \leq b_i$ and the compliers by $g^{-1}(\lambda c) \leq b_i < g^{-1}(c)$ (Figure 3b). The visits result in the registration of citizens who face the same registration cost as always-takers but have lower benefits of voting and a lower propensity to vote, conditional on being registered.

1.4.3 General case

We now turn to the more general case, in which both benefits of voting and registration cost vary across citizens. Is it still the case that the compliers are characterized by lower benefits of voting and/or a higher registration cost than always-takers, and under which conditions?

Differences between always-takers and compliers

The distribution of types over the entire population of unregistered citizens is now described by the continuous bivariate random vector of benefits of voting and registration costs (B, C), with joint density function f(b, c) and marginal density functions $f_B(b)$ and $f_C(c)$.

The always-takers are characterized by $c_i \leq g(b_i)$ and the compliers by $g(b_i) < c_i \leq g(b_i)/\lambda$ (Figure 3c). Among citizens facing a given registration cost, it is immediate that compliers have lower expected benefits of voting than always-takers. Similarly, among citizens with a given expected benefit of voting, compliers face a higher registration cost than always-takers. However, these results do not mechanically extend to the comparison of all compliers and always-takers. As an example, consider the case represented in Figure 3d. The density function f(b,c) is such that $g(b_i) \leq g_1$ or $g(b_i) \geq g_2$ any *i*. In addition, for all *i* such that $g(b_i) \leq g_1$, $c_i \leq g(b_i)$; and for all *i* such that $g(b_i) \geq g_2$, $c_i \geq g(b_i)$. Then, all the always-takers have benefits of voting lower than g_1 , and all the compliers have benefits of voting higher than g_2 : on average, compliers have higher benefits of voting than always-takers. It is equally easy to construct density functions such that, on average, compliers have a lower registration cost than always-takers.

Let us identify sufficient conditions that rule out these cases, and describe the type difference between always-takers and compliers under these conditions. All the proofs are included in Appendix 5. The most important condition is the following:

Condition ID (increasing differences): -f(b,c) satisfies log-increasing differences in b and c: $\frac{f(b',c')}{f(b',c)} < \frac{f(b,c')}{f(b,c)}$ for any b' > b and c' > c.

This condition is satisfied, for instance, by any bivariate normal density with negative correlation between b and c. It means that there are relatively fewer citizens with a higher c among citizens with a higher b. It directly implies that people with a higher b have a lower c, on average. This corresponds to the expectation that factors such as education, age and high socioeconomic status both increase the benefits of voting and decrease the registration cost. In addition, we use the following regularity condition:

Condition R1 (regularity condition): For any b, and any $b^{"} \ge b'$ with $b' \epsilon [g(b), g(b)/\lambda], \frac{b^{"}f(b^{"}|b)}{F(b^{"}|b)} \le \frac{b'f(b'|b)}{F(b'|b)}$.

Claim 1: Under Conditions ID and R1, compliers have lower benefits of voting on average than always-takers: $E[b_i | i \text{ is complier}] \leq E[b_i | i \text{ is always-taker}].$

Claim 2: Under Conditions ID and R1, compliers face a higher registration cost on average than always-takers: $E[c_i \mid i \text{ is complier}] \ge E[c_i \mid i \text{ is always-taker}].$

Claim 3: Under Conditions ID and R1, compliers have a lower propensity to vote on average than always-takers: $E[v(b_i) \mid i \text{ is complier}] \leq E[v(b_i) \mid i \text{ is always-taker}].$

Claim 4: Under Conditions ID and R1, compliers who vote have lower benefits of voting on average than always-takers: $E[b_i | i \text{ is complier}, i \text{ votes}] \leq E[b_i | i \text{ is always-taker}, i \text{ votes}].$

In sum, under *Conditions ID* and *R1*, compliers have lower benefits of voting and face a higher registration cost on average than always-takers. They have a lower propensity to vote, and those who vote have lower benefits of voting: the compliers who vote are more likely than always-takers who vote to vote based on recent shocks (captured by ϵ) and to express short-term preferences rather than long-term interest in politics.

Learning about the compliers' benefits of voting and registration cost

Does the compliers' failure to register, absent any visit, result from benefits of voting that are too low, or from a registration cost that is too high? To answer this question, we would like to test the predictions that compliers have lower benefits of voting and face a higher registration cost than always-takers (*Claims 1* and 2) and, in addition, to examine whether the difference is larger along the first or the second dimension. Unfortunately, benefits of voting and registration cost are usually unobserved. What we can and will observe, however, is voter turnout. This will enable us to test *Claim 3*. But we can do more: under certain conditions, specified below, we can draw inferences from the *observed* participation of the compliers and the always-takers to their *unobserved* benefits of voting and registration cost.

Condition R2 (regularity condition): $z(b) \equiv E_f[c_i \mid i \text{ is complier}, b_i = b] = \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} cf(b,c)dc}{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}$ increases in b.

Claim 5: Under Conditions ID, R1 and R2, for a given share of compliers and unchanged conditional densities $f(c \mid b)$, an increase in the compliers' propensity to vote, generated by an

increase in the relative number of compliers with a higher b, is concomitant to an increase in their benefits of voting and registration cost.

Claim 5 can be read as a thought experiment. Suppose we build a prior about the compliers' average propensity to vote, benefits of voting, and registration cost. Suppose further that their true, observed participation, turns out to be higher than our prior. Then, under Conditions ID, R1 and R2, we should infer both that their benefits of voting are higher than our prior and that their registration cost is higher than our prior. In other words, we should infer that the compliers' failure to register, absent the visits, has less to do with low benefits of voting and more with high registration costs than we initially thought.

1.4.4 Three extensions of the model

Canvassing visits vs. home registration visits

Compared to the canvassing visits, home registration visits bring the registration cost further down, by a factor of $\lambda' < \lambda < 1$, which selects compliers with different characteristics.

Claim 6: Under Conditions ID and R1, for any $\lambda' < \lambda < 1$, λ' visits select compliers with a higher registration cost, lower benefits of voting, lower propensity to vote, and lower benefits of voting conditional on voting than λ visits.

In addition, registering someone at home might reduce the engagement effect of getting registered and thus decrease her benefits of voting and her propensity to vote (for a longer discussion of this effect, see Section 7): an individual's benefits of voting b_i might be endogenous to the way in which she gets registered.

The mobilization effect of the campaign

i's propensity to vote might also depend on the mobilization effect of the campaign, in particular for high-salience elections. Then, *i*'s propensity to vote becomes $w(b_i) \ge v(b_i)$, an effect which she does not take into account in her decision to register.

We investigate the case in which citizens with lower benefits of voting experience a larger mobilization effect but continue to vote relatively less: $w(b') - v(b') \le w(b) - v(b)$ and $w(b') \ge w(b)$ for any $b' \ge b$. The first assumption is microfounded in Appendix 5.

Claim 7: All previous results hold in this extended version of the model.

Claim 8: The difference between compliers' and always-takers' predicted turnout is lower once the mobilization effect is taken into account.

Misregistered citizens

We now discuss the extension of the model to citizens initially misregistered (instead of unregistered).

Each misregistered citizen can be characterized by c_i , b_i , and k_i , the additional cost of voting (time and financial cost) that *i* faces if she votes in her previous precinct rather than at the precinct closest to her new address. The distribution of types over the entire population of misregistered citizens is described by the continuous multivariate random vector (B, C, K), with density function f(b, c, k). Similarly to unregistered citizens, misregistered citizens expect to get second-stage utility

$$g\left(b_{i}
ight)=\int_{-b_{i}}^{\infty}\left(b_{i}+\varepsilon
ight)f_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon)d\varepsilon$$

if they update their registration status. However, if they fail to do so, their expected utility is no longer 0, but

$$g(b_i - k_i) = \int_{-b_i + k}^{\infty} (b_i - k_i + \varepsilon) f_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon$$

since they can still vote at their previous precinct.

The always-takers are characterized by $c_i \leq g(b_i) - g(b_i - k_i)$ and the compliers by $g(b_i) - g(b_i - k_i) < c_i \leq \frac{g(b_i) - g(b_i - k_i)}{\lambda}$.

We call $f_k(b, c)$ the distribution of types of misregistered citizens who face the additional cost k of voting at their previous address and define $g_k(b) \equiv g(b) - g(b-k)$.

We define three new conditions, for any k:

Condition ID_k : $-f_k(b,c)$ satisifies log-increasing differences in b and c.

Condition $R1_k$: For any b, and any $b^{"} \ge b'$ with $b' \in [g_k(b), g_k(b)/\lambda], \frac{b^{"}f_k(b^{"}|b)}{F_k(b^{"}|b)} \le \frac{b'f_k(b'|b)}{F_k(b'|b)}$ Condition $R2_k$: $z_k(b) \equiv E_{f_k}[c_i \mid i \text{ is complier}, b_i = b]$ increases in b.

Claim 9: For any k, if Conditions ID_k , $R1_k$ and $R2_k$ hold, all results established for unregistered citizens hold for misregistered citizens facing an additional cost k of voting at their previous address.

It is important to note that, absent any further restriction on f(b, c, k), the same results do not necessarily hold for all misregistered citizens pooled together.⁹ This has an important consequence

⁹For instance, Claim 9 predicts that compliers with a given k have a lower b than always-takers facing the same

for our empirical analysis: when we compare the propensity to vote of compliers and always-takers and explore to what extent the former have lower benefits of voting and a higher registration cost, we should control for possible compositional differences by including unregistered citizens and misregistered citizens with different k separately in the regression.

1.5 Overall impact on registration, turnout, the composition of the electorate, and electoral outcomes

This section discusses the main findings. The first subsection presents results on the impact of the visits on registration and identifies the registration barriers that were alleviated by the interventions. The second presents the impact of the visits on voter turnout. Beyond participation, the third and fourth subsections describe the socioeconomic characteristics and political preferences of the citizens selected by the visits.

1.5.1 Impact on registration

To begin with, we examine the impact of the interventions on registration. Ideally, we would like to use the individual registration status of citizens who were initially unregistered or misregistered as the outcome. But remember that we do not have any systematic list of these citizens. We thus have to use a slightly different outcome: the number of new registrations in each household.¹⁰ We compute the average number of new registrations in the control group and in each treatment group and divide it by the initial number of unregistered and misregistered citizens, 0.92 (from Section 4.2), to obtain the fraction that registered. As shown in Figure 4, there were 0.17 new registrations in the average control household: absent any visit, 18% (0.17 / 0.92) of the citizens who were initially unregistered or misregistered got registered. This fraction was higher in all treatment groups. To investigate the statistical significance of the differences shown in Figure 4 more systematically, we

k. But suppose a distribution f(b, c, k) such that b is higher for misregistered citizens with a lower k, and the share of compliers is larger among misregistered citizens with a lower k. In such a case, it is possible that, averaging over all values of k, compliers have a higher b than always-takers.

 $^{^{10}}$ This number can take higher values than 1, in apartments hosting multiple citizens, and it is necessarily equal to 0 in apartments hosting only foreigners.

estimate the following OLS regression:

$$NR_{i,b} = \alpha + \sum_{t=1}^{6} \beta_t T_b^t + X_{i,b}^{'} \lambda + \sum_s \delta_b^s + \epsilon_{i,b}$$
(1)

where $NR_{i,b}$ is the number of new registrations in apartment *i* of building *b*, T_b^t are dummies corresponding to the six treatment groups, δ_b^s are strata fixed effects, and $X_{i,b}$ is a vector of apartment and building characteristics. $X_{i,b}$ includes the number of mailboxes in building *b* (a proxy for social housing since buildings with social housing are typically bigger) and the number of last names found on the mailbox of apartment *i* that were absent from the 2011 voter rolls (a proxy for the initial number of unregistered and misregistered citizens in the apartment). The key coefficients of interest are the β_t 's, which indicate the differential number of new registrations in apartments of the different treatment groups. The β_t 's are intent-to-treat estimates: they are not adjusted to take into account the fraction of opened doors.¹¹ In this and all other regressions, we adjust standard errors for clustering at the building level since the randomization was conducted at this level.

The results from Equation [1] are presented in Table 2, column $1.^{12}$ On average, the visits increased the number of new registrations by 0.048. This effect is statistically significant at the 1% level. Using the initial number of unregistered and misregistered citizens as the denominator, this effect corresponds to an increased fraction of registered people among these citizens of $\frac{0.048}{0.92} = 5.2$ percentage points. Using the number of new registrations in the average control apartment as the denominator, it corresponds to an increase of $\frac{0.048}{0.168} = 29\%$. "Early Canvassing" and "Late Canvassing" visits increased the number of new registrations by 0.014 (1.5 percentage points, or 8%) and 0.031 (3.4 percentage points, or 18%) respectively. The increases are of 0.032 (3.5 percentage points, or 19%) and 0.054 (5.9 percentage points, or 32%) for the "Early Home registration" and "Late Home registration" visits, and 0.060 (6.5 percentage points, or 36%) and 0.096 (10.4 percentage points, or 57%) for the "Early Canvassing & Late Home registration" and "Early Home registration" visits. All individual effects are significant at the 1 or 5% level, except

 $^{^{11}}$ On average, 46.2% of the households visited only once opened their door, and 65.1% of the households visited twice opened their door at least once.

 $^{^{12}}$ Tables A1 and A2 in Appendix 7 show the robustness of the results to slightly different definitions of the outcome variable. In Table A1, we use the address (and not the apartment) as the unit of observation. This decreases statistical power, but it enables us to take into account newly registered citizens whose address is known but whose apartment could not be identified. In Table A2, we use the net number of new registrations instead of the gross number as the outcome: citizens removed from the voter rolls are subtracted from new registrations.

for the "Early Canvassing" visits.

The visits were targeting unregistered citizens and two types of misregistered citizens: citizens initially registered in another city, and citizens initially registered at another address in the same city. Taking into account the fractions of citizens of these three categories in our initial sample, we find that the visits increased their registration rate by 47%, 18%, and 32% respectively, so that 50% of the compliers¹³ are citizens who were initially unregistered and 32% and 18% citizens who were initially registered in another city or at another address in the same city.¹⁴

Which mechanisms explain these effects? The variations in the timing and type of visits in the canvassing and home registration groups were introduced to disentangle two types of obstacles hindering registration – administrative cost of registering and lack of information about the process – and to examine whether these obstacles are reinforced by procrastination. We now estimate linear combinations of the β 's to study more closely the respective importance of these three impediments to registration and the extent to which the visits alleviated them. We report the point estimates and standard errors at the bottom of Table 2, column 1.

First, on average, early and late canvassing visits significantly increased the number of new registrations by 0.022 (2.4 percentage points, or 13%), an effect significant at the 5 percent level. This suggests that imperfect information prevents some eligible citizens from registering to vote. Additional evidence supports the view that, to a large extent, increased information explains the impact of canvassing visits: many respondents to the postelectoral survey were unaware of the December 31 deadline and assumed that they could register up to a few days before the elections. In addition, discussions held at the door brought anecdotal evidence that many citizens are unaware of the documents required for the registration application, and that misregistered citizens often have mistaken beliefs about the administrative steps they must take to update their registration status.¹⁵

Second, the far more intensive home registration visits increased the number of new registrations by 0.043 (4.7 percentage points, or 26%), nearly doubling the effect of canvassing visits, a

¹³Following Angrist, Imbens, and Rubin (1996), we use the following definitions. The "compliers" are citizens registered as a result of the visits. The "always-takers" are newly registered citizens who would have registered regardless of whether or not they receive a visit.

¹⁴See Table A3 in the Appendix for results disaggregated by initial registration status.

¹⁵It must, however, be pointed out that the impact of canvassing may not exclusively be explained by the supply of information. Canvassing may also have served as a reminder of civic duty norms among respondents. The mere presence of canvassers working on a volunteer basis may have acted as a reminder of civic responsibility highlighting the ethical importance of registering to vote and participating in elections. Our experiment design does not enable us to distinguish, in the impact of canvassing, what pertains to the provision of information vs. the reminder of civic duty.

difference significant at the 10% level: Conditional on available information, the administrative cost of registering also impedes registration.

Third, to measure the possible influence of procrastination, we compare the impact of visits conducted in October and November 2011 to that of visits conducted in December 2011. Late canvassing and home registration visits had a larger effect than early visits, a difference also significant at the 10% level. The sign of this difference might be surprising at first, since early visits left more time to register. The larger effect of late visits is likely the sign that registration requirements' effects are reinforced by procrastination. First, late visits left less time to procrastinate. Second, naive individuals (in the terminology of O'Donoghue and Rabin (1999)) who received them had been procrastinating for a longer time, and were thus more likely to become sophisticated by talking to the canvassers. Previous empirical evidence of procrastination among registration applicants supports this interpretation (Bennion and Nickerson 2011), as does anecdotal evidence about long queues of citizens registering within the last days and last hours before the registration deadline.¹⁶

1.5.2 Impact on voter turnout

We now turn to the central question of our experiment and examine the extent to which the impact of the visits on registration translated into increased turnout. Averaging on the first and second rounds of the presidential elections and the first and second rounds of the general elections, Figure 5 shows, for each group, the number of votes cast by citizens who were initially unregistered or misregistered and who registered in 2011.¹⁷ Using the initial average number of unregistered and misregistered citizens per household, 0.92, as the denominator, we also compute and show the fraction of citizens who were initially misregistered or unregistered and voted. Their average participation increased from 13% in the control group to up to 19% in the group "Early Home registration and Late Home registration."

To examine the effect of each intervention on turnout at each electoral round, we estimate OLS

 $^{^{16}}$ Alternative interpretations seem less likely. The visits might have been complementary to the media campaign, whose intensity increased as the deadline came closer. However, the 2011 media and public information campaign on registration was concentrated in the very last days before the deadline, at a moment when most late visits had already been conducted. Alternatively, the visits might have been complementary to the saliency of the presidential elections, which increased over time. However, the presidential campaign did not start until January 2012, after the registration deadline: François Hollande held his first campaign meeting on January 22, and Nicolas Sarkozy on February 19.

 $^{^{17}}$ This is the number of votes cast by these citizens in their precinct: it does not take into account votes cast in their old precinct by citizens who stayed misregistered, which we do not observe.

specifications of the form in Equation [1], using the number of votes cast by newly registered citizens in each apartment $NV_{i,b}$ instead of $NR_{i,b}$ as the outcome. The results are presented in Table 2, columns 2 through 6. In the average control household, 0.148 citizens (16.1%) who were initially unregistered or misregistered voted at the first round of the presidential elections and 0.151 (16.4%) at the second round. 0.090 (9.8%) and 0.082 (8.9%) voted at the first and second rounds of the general elections. Averaging over all treatments, the visits increased participation among initially unregistered or misregistered citizens by 0.040 votes (4.3 percentage points, or 27%) and 0.038 votes (4.1 percentage points, or 25%) at the first and second rounds of the presidential elections, and by 0.016 (1.7 percentage points, or 18%) and 0.020 (2.2 percentage points, or 24%) at the first and second rounds of the general elections. These effects are statistically significant at the 1% level. Taking the average on all rounds, the effect was of 0.029 votes (3.2 percentage points, or 25%). The individual effects of the six interventions follow similar patterns as for voter registration. All interventions significantly increased voter turnout, except for the "Early Canvassing" visits.

1.5.3 Impact on the composition of the electorate

The finding that facilitating registration can dramatically increase turnout is particularly important in a context where abstention steadily increases and threatens the legitimacy of elected governments, and at a time when mobility, a major factor behind misregistration, is itself on the rise. Whether facilitated registration would also change electoral outcomes depends on the difference between the characteristics and political preferences of registered citizens and citizens who would register if the costs were lower. Anecdotally, in Montpellier, activists belonging to the right-wing party UMP started covering one precinct but interrupted their participation in the experiment halfway through because they got the impression that the people they were encouraging to register were not right-leaning. Let us now examine more systematically the effects of the interventions on the social makeup of the electoral rolls.

All respondents to the postelectoral survey were initially unregistered or misregistered. We first identify the variables which best predict registration among them and the extent to which their influence was affected by the visits. Formally, we estimate the following OLS model:

$$I_{i,b} = \alpha + \beta T_b + \sum_k \gamma_k Z_{i,b}^k + \sum_k \delta_k Z_{i,b}^k \times T_b + \epsilon_{i,b}$$
(2)

where $I_{i,b}$ is a dummy equal to 1 if citizen *i* of building *b* is registered in his city and 0 otherwise and T_b is a dummy equal to 1 if her building was allocated to one of the treatment groups. The key coefficients of interest are the γ_k 's and the δ_k 's, which measure the effect of the characteristics $Z_{i,b}$ and of their interaction with the treatment dummy. Figure 6 shows the effect of any characteristic *k* in the control group (γ_k) and in the treatment groups ($\gamma_k + \delta_k$) and reports the statistical significance of the γ_k 's and the δ_k 's.

In the control group, all other things being equal, gender and marital status significantly predict registration: males and single persons are less likely to register. The resource model of political participation predicts that citizens with less time, civic skills, and money are less likely to participate (Brady, Verba and Schlozman 1995). In line with these predictions, we find that the likelihood to be registered is lower among the following groups of citizens: those who come back from work after the town hall's opening hours; those with no diploma or with less than an end-of-high-school diploma; those who speak another language than French or a combination of French and another language at home; poorest citizens and, perhaps surprisingly, richest citizens, compared with those with a monthly income between 1100 and 1500 euros. Finally, those who arrived in the city a short time ago are less likely to be registered, probably because the requirement to re-register after each move makes registration more costly for them (Squire, Wolfinger and Glass 1987). Some of these variables were also identified as strong determinants of registration by previous empirical studies (e.g., Pan Ké Shon 2004). The novelty is that we can assess the extent to which the influence of these variables was compensated by the visits. We find that males, uneducated citizens, citizens speaking a language other than French at home, citizens with a high monthly income, and citizens coming back from work after the town hall's opening hours were significantly more likely to register in the treatment groups than in the control group. We would expect some of the coefficients to be significant by random chance. We thus test the joint significance of the γ_k 's and the joint significance of the δ_k 's and reject both nulls with a p-value of 0.00 (Table 3).¹⁸

Next we turn to comparing the compliers and always-takers with previously registered citizens, using data from the voter rolls available for all groups. Since this data does not have any information

¹⁸Table 3 also reports results obtained when allowing the δ_k 's to vary by treatment group. They are jointly significant in the door-to-door canvassing group and the two-visits group (p-values of 0.06 and 0.00) but not in the home registration group (p-value of 0.15). However, we fail to reject the nulls that the δ_k 's are jointly equal in any two of the three groups. Finally, we test the robustness of these joint significance tests to the choice of the outcome variable. The results are robust to using registration anywhere or the standardized average of participation as the outcome, not registration at the current address (which excludes registration at another address in the city).

on unregistered citizens, we cannot estimate Equation [2]. Instead, we first restrict the sample to registered citizens in the control group, and regress a dummy equal to 1 if the citizen is newly registered and 0 if he was previously registered, on a set of selection characteristics. The results are shown in Table 4, column 1. We find that newly registered citizens are younger, are more likely to be born further away from the city where they live, and are more likely to be immigrants than previously registered citizens. Next we include all newly registered citizens in the sample and use T_b as the outcome (column 2). The compliers are less likely than the always-takers to be born in another region and they live at addresses where previously registered citizens have a lower turnout on average. This suggests that the interventions helped counterbalance a social environment otherwise relatively less conducive to political participation. However, compliers do not differ from always-takers on other dimensions, including age and being an immigrant.

Overall, these findings suggest that the self-initiated registration process disenfranchises some categories of citizens that are also more likely to face economic and social exclusion – the young, the uneducated, and immigrants – and that our visits fostered better representativeness of the citizenry in the electorate by increasing the number of registrations among these people. These citizens might have different political preferences as well: does the selection operated by the registration process affect electoral outcomes?

1.5.4 Impact on the preferences of the electorate

Unlike with administrative registration and participation data, we have to rely on people's selfreported choices of candidates at each round to measure their political preferences. The vote shares obtained by left-wing candidates were 67%, 74%, 69% and 75% at the two rounds of the presidential and general elections respectively, at the precinct of the average newly registered citizen. Yet, their own reported likelihood to vote for left-wing candidates was significantly higher: 83%, 90%, 91%, and 95% respectively. Compliers were equally likely to report voting for a left-wing candidate as always-takers. These findings are robust to excluding the precincts where visits were made by partisan canvassers. Nonetheless, there are several important caveats that one must bear in mind when considering these results. First, respondents' answers might be biased by social desirability bias and overreport for the winner. Second, in France, left-wing voters are known to be more inclined to take part in surveys than right-wing voters. This selection bias might affect the results of our survey as well. Third, the visits may have affected the preferences of the compliers and their expressed vote. Indeed, existing research suggests that exogenous increases in political information can cause a relative shift in partian opinion (Fowler and Margolis 2013).

As a complementary approach, we predict differences between the political preferences of the newly registered and the previously registered citizens and between the compliers and always-takers based on their demographics. Formally, we proceed in three steps. First, we regress the preferences expressed by the respondents to the postelectoral survey on three demographic characteristics available on the voter rolls for all registered citizens, as specified in Equation [3]:

$$Left_{i,b} = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 Gender_{i,b} + \alpha_3 Age_i + \alpha_4 Immigrant_{i,b} + \epsilon_i$$
(3)

where $\text{Left}_{i,b}$ is a dummy equal to 1 if the respondent located himself on the left of the left-right axis or had a preference for a left candidate (and 0 if he located himself on the right), Gender_{*i*,*b*} is equal to 1 if the respondent is a male and $\text{Immigrant}_{i,b}$ is equal to 1 if the respondent is an immigrant. The results are presented in Table 5, Panel A. Age and being an immigrant are strong predictors of preference on the left, and have the expected sign.

Second, we use the estimated coefficients $\widehat{\alpha_1}$, $\widehat{\alpha_2}$, $\widehat{\alpha_3}$ and $\widehat{\alpha_4}$ to predict the political preferences of all registered citizens in the sample, $\widehat{\text{Left}_{i,b}}$.

Third, we estimate differences between the predicted political preferences of the newly registered and the previously registered citizens and between the compliers and always-takers. Formally, we estimate the following model:

$$\widehat{\text{Left}_{i,b}} = \alpha + \beta N_{i,b} + \delta T_b \times N_{i,b} + \epsilon_{i,b}$$
(4)

where $N_{i,b}$ is a dummy equal to 1 if *i* is a newly registered citizen. Table 5, Panel B performs this analysis. We predict that newly registered citizens are 1.7 to 3.4 percentage points more likely to be on the left than those previously registered, except for the first round of the general elections but that there is no significant difference between the political preferences of newly registered citizens in the control and treatment groups. This suggests that the political preferences of compliers are similar to the always-takers but more to the left than previously registered citizens. This finding supports the view that, in the sample areas, the citizens disenfranchised by the registration process are ideologically more to the left than the median registered citizen.

1.6 Selection and engagement effects of the registration pro-

cess

Increased participation and representation of the citizenry in the electorate are important democratic improvements. However, one might worry that a significant fraction of citizens are not sufficiently informed, so that increasing participation would lead to noisy electoral results and bad policies. In that respect, self-initiated registration might have two virtues. First, it might select more interested and knowledgeable citizens and exclude uninformed voters. In addition, selfinitiated registration might have a positive treatment or "engagement" effect: citizens who make an effort to register might get more involved politically, increasing their electoral participation and perhaps how much thought they put in their actual vote. Several factors might underlie this engagement effect. Deciding to register is a way to state one's intention to vote, which might have a self-prediction effect analogous to asking people in advance if they intend to vote (e.g., Greenwald et al. 1987; Nickerson and Rogers 2010; but see Smith, Gerber, and Orlich 2003). But deciding to register is more than a simple statement: it is actually costly. People who have registered might choose to vote to repay the sunk cost of registration and justify the corresponding effort (Erikson 1981; Arkes and Blumer 1985). The effort made to register might also be used by the registrant to manage his self-concept as an engaged citizen (Bénabou and Tirole 2006). The registrant might then adjust his subsequent participation according to this (re-)affirmed identity. Finally, the selfdetermination theory provides substantial evidence that one's sense of autonomy when performing a given task (here, registration) affects one's intrinsic motivation to perform follow-up tasks (here, voting) (Ryan and Deci 2000).

We should expect the selection and treatment effects of self-initiated registration to be mirrored in selection and treatment effects of the visits. The selection effect is that the visits may have selected compliers who were less interested and knowledgeable and with a lower propensity to vote than the always-takers. As shown in the model of Section 5, we expect this effect to be larger for home registration than canvassing visits. The treatment effect is that the visits themselves may have affected participation, even for people who would have registered anyway. This impact may be negative: the home registration visits might have had a disengagement effect on those who registered at home. But this impact may also be positive: the visits might have had the traditional get-out-the-vote effect first established by Gerber and Green (2000) and they may have had an
empowerment effect: citizens induced to register and to vote by the interventions may have taken more interest in the campaign and in the electoral results.

This section estimates these different effects. The first subsection compares the participation rates of newly registered citizens in the treatment groups and in the control group, as any difference should reflect the combination of the treatment and selection effects of the visits. We find that the turnout of newly registered citizens was not significantly different in the control group versus the canvassing group, and that it was only slightly lower in the home registration group. The second subsection isolates the get-out-the-vote effect of the visits and finds that it was null. The third subsection tests whether home registration visits had a disengagement effect, and finds that they did not. The fourth and fifth subsections isolate the selection effect: they show that the interventions selected citizens who are slightly less likely to participate, and whose participation depends more on the saliency of the elections. Finally, the sixth subsection finds that the interventions had an empowerment effect: they increased political interest and informedness among citizens who were initially unregistered and misregistered.

1.6.1 Differences in participation rates

Figure 7 shows the participation rates of newly registered citizens in the control and treatment groups, as well as the national average and the participation of citizens who were previously registered (prior to 2011) and who live in the sample addresses.

As is evident from Figure 7, turnout was very high at the presidential elections overall, and much lower at the general elections. An overwhelming majority of the newly registered citizens participated in the 2012 elections. Newly registered citizens in the control and treatment groups were 4 to 17 percentage points more likely to participate than previously registered citizens at each electoral round. Their participation was higher than the national average at the presidential elections, and lower at the general elections. Finally, newly registered citizens in the treatment groups were almost equally likely to participate as those in the control group.

To investigate these differences more systematically, we estimate specifications of the form in Equation [5]:

$$V_{i,b} = \alpha + \beta M_{i,b} + \gamma N_{i,b} + \sum_{t=1}^{6} \delta_t T_b^t \times N_{i,b} + \epsilon_{i,b}$$
(5)

where $V_{i,b}$, $M_{i,b}$ and $N_{i,b}$ are dummies equal to 1 if, respectively, *i* participated in the election, if she was previously registered but her name was not found on any mailbox and if she is a newly registered citizen. Previously registered citizens whose name was found on a mailbox in 2011, and who are thus presumed to be well-registered, are the omitted category.¹⁹

The results are shown in Table 6. M is negative, large, and significant at all rounds: previously registered citizens who now live elsewhere have lower turnout rates than those who likely have not moved. In addition, compared to the reference group, the participation of newly registered citizens is significantly higher at all rounds except the second round of the presidential elections. The difference between the participation of newly registered citizens in the treatment groups and in the control group is significant only for the second round of the presidential elections and for the first round of the general elections. Using the average individual participation as the outcome (column 5), we find an overall difference of 2.2 percentage points, significant at the 10% level. The difference is not significant in the canvassing group, but significant at the 5% level in the home registration group. Finally, the participation of newly registered citizens in the home registration group was significantly lower than in the canvassing group. The next subsections disentangle the different mechanisms which may have contributed to these differences.

1.6.2 Get-out-the-vote effect

We isolate the get-out-the-vote effect of the visits by considering citizens whose turnout could only have been affected by it: citizens who registered in 2011 but before the visits, or who were registered before 2011. We estimate Equation [6] on this sample:

$$V_{i,b} = \alpha + \sum_{t=1}^{6} \beta_t T_b^t + X_{i,b}^{'} \lambda + \sum_s \delta_b^s + \epsilon_{i,b}$$
(6)

where $X_{i,b}$ includes age, gender, the number of previously registered citizens in the apartment, and the number of mailboxes in the building.

 $^{^{19}}$ We include neither strata fixed effects nor any control variable in this regression: to the extent that the impact of our interventions on registration varied across different strata and along these variables, they would capture part of the difference between the participation of newly registered citizens in the control and treatment groups. An alternative to estimating Equation [5] would be to infer the voter turnout of different groups by dividing the number of votes in these groups by the number of new registrations – specifically, by computing nonlinear combinations of the estimates derived from Equation [1] and shown in Table 2. However, this strategy would artificially decrease the precision of our estimates. Equation [5] makes a more effective use of our sample, as it uses one observation per registered citizen, instead of one observation per household.

Table 7 presents the results. As shown in Panel A, the interventions did not significantly affect the participation of citizens who had registered prior to the visits at any of the four rounds or their average participation. Panel B allows β_t to vary by category of citizens registered prior to the visits. On average, the visits did not affect the participation of any of the subgroups.

We conclude that the visits did not have any get-out-the-vote effect. This is perhaps not surprising, given that the visits were at least four months before the first round of the presidential elections: get-out-the-vote interventions have been found to have no significant effect on turnout when they take place more than three weeks before the election (Nickerson 2006).

1.6.3 Engagement effect of self-initiated registration

The home registration visits might have reduced the engagement effect of self-initiated registration. It is difficult to isolate this disengagement effect as any difference between the participation of citizens registered at home and at the town hall can also reflect a selection effect: citizens registered at home differ from those registered at the town hall on several dimensions. To control for the selection effect, our strategy, inspired from Karlan and Zinman (2009), was to encourage some citizens to register at the town hall during an early visit and surprise them by offering home registration in a later visit. By that time, we expected that the most motivated citizens would already have registered at the town hall: if home registration has a disengagement effect, they would be protected from it. But the less motivated citizens, still not registered, would accept to register at home so that the two visits combined would select the same citizens as if home registration had been offered from the start.

The treatment groups "Early Canvassing & Late Home registration" and "Early Home registration & Late Home registration" were designed to implement this strategy. We focus on apartments that opened their door during the late visit and were thus all offered home registration. Figure 8 shows the average number of new registrations made at home and at the town hall in these apartments at three stages: before the early visit, after the early visit, and after the late visit. Our strategy was successful. First, by the time of the registration deadline, the average number of new registrations was very close in the two groups, suggesting that newly registered citizens selected by the two interventions are identical. As an additional support for this claim, we successfully check that newly registered citizens in the two groups are identical for all observable characteristics: gender, age, being an immigrant, the initial number of names of citizens not registered found on the mailbox corresponding to the apartment, and the number of mailboxes of the corresponding address (See Table A4 in the Appendix). Second, the number of home registrations was much higher in the group "Early Home registration & Late Home registration," where citizens were offered to register at home from the start. We can therefore attribute to the disengagement effect of home registration any difference between the number of votes cast by initially unregistered and misregistered citizens in the two groups.

We estimate the following model:

$$NV_{i,b} = \alpha + \beta T_b^{EH\&LH} + \epsilon_{i,b} \tag{7}$$

where $T_b^{EH\&LH}$ is a dummy equal to 1 for apartments in the treatment group "Early Home registration & Late Home registration" and 0 in the group "Early Canvassing & Late Home registration." Table 8 presents the results. We first check that the number of new registrations does not differ significantly between the two groups (column 1) and that there is a statistically significant difference (at the 1% level) between the number of home registrations in both groups (column 2). Despite this difference, we cannot reject the null that the number of votes cast by initially unregistered and misregistered citizens is identical in both groups for any of the four electoral rounds and for their average (columns 3 through 7). In sum, we do not find any evidence of a disengagement effect of home registration on participation. In other words, asking citizens to take an action to register does not have a stronger engagement effect than offering them to register at home.

1.6.4 Selection of citizens only slightly less likely to vote...

It follows from the absence of get-out-the-vote and disengagement effects of the visits that turnout differences between newly registered citizens in the control and treatment groups shown in Table 6 result entirely from the difference between the propensity to vote of always-takers and compliers.

How can the latter be inferred from the former? Denote by $\overline{V_0}$ and $\overline{V_T}$ the average turnout of newly registered citizens in the control and in the treatment groups; by $\overline{V_A}$ and $\overline{V_C}$ the average turnout of always-takers and compliers; and by p_C the proportion of compliers among all newly registered citizens in the treatment groups. Then, $\overline{V_0} = \overline{V_A}$, $\overline{V_T} = \overline{V_A} (1 - p_C) + \overline{V_C} p_C$. This gives

$$\overline{V_A} - \overline{V_C} = rac{1}{p_C} \left(\overline{V_0} - \overline{V_T} \right)$$

We first compute the difference between the propensity to vote of always-takers and the compliers selected by all treatment groups. From Table 2, column 1, we get $p_C = \frac{0.048}{0.168+0.048}$. Therefore, $\frac{1}{p_C} = \left(\frac{0.168+0.048}{0.048}\right) = 4.5$. In addition, from Table 6, column 5, we have that, averaging over the four electoral rounds, $\overline{V_0} - \overline{V_T} = 0.022$. We infer that $\overline{V_A} - \overline{V_C} = 4.5 \times 0.022 = 9.9$ percentage points. With the same method, we find that compliers' propensity to vote was 2.7 and 11.2 percentage points lower than always-takers at the first and second rounds of the presidential elections and 18.9 and 8.5 percentage points lower at the general elections. The large implied participation of the compliers is striking, especially at the presidential elections: 84.8% in the first round and 78.4% in the second.²⁰

We now consider the propensity to vote of compliers selected by each intervention separately. As we see in column 5, on average, the propensity to vote of newly registered citizens was lower in all treatment groups, compared to the control group. However, this difference is significant neither in the group "Early Canvassing" nor in the group "Late Canvassing," and we fail to reject the null that, on average, compliers selected by a canvassing visit had the same propensity to vote as always-takers. On the contrary, the difference with the control group is significant in both the "Early Home registration" and "Late Home registration" groups. We infer from the estimated δ 's that the propensity to vote of compliers selected by home registration visits was 16.7 percentage points lower than the always-takers, on average.²¹

1.6.5 ... but whose participation depends more on the saliency of the elections

If the citizens selected by the visits are less politicized, we should also expect their participation to depend relatively more on the saliency of the elections. The French 2012 electoral cycle was an

²⁰A potential concern is that differences between the propensity to vote of compliers and always-takers might capture compositional effects. Remember that the compliers account for relatively more citizens who were initially unregistered than the always-takers. But citizens with different initial registration statuses might have different benefits of voting. For instance, compliers who were initially unregistered might be less interested in politics than those who were initially misregistered. To compare compliers and always-takers who share the same initial registration status, we allow the γ and the δ_t 's to vary by initial registration status r in Equation [5]: $V_{i,b} = \alpha + \beta M_{i,b} + \sum_{r=1}^{4} \left(\gamma^r N_{i,b}^r + \sum_{t=1}^{6} \delta_t^r T_b^t \times N_{i,b}^r \right) + \epsilon_{i,b}$ (8), where $N_{i,b}^1, N_{i,b}^2, N_{i,b}^3$ and $N_{i,b}^4$ are dummies equal to 1 if *i* is newly registered and if she was, respectively, previously unregistered, registered in another city, registered at another address in the same city, or automatically registered. The results are presented in Table A5. On average, controlling for the initial registration status, the propensity to vote of newly registered citizens was 2.7 points lower in the treatment groups than in the control group. The difference with the estimate we obtain without controlling for initial registration status (2.2) is not statistically significant (p-value of 0.88).

²¹0.167 is the product of the difference between the propensity to vote of always-takers and compliers selected by home registration averaged over the four rounds, 0.034 (Table 6, column 5) and $\frac{1}{p_C} = \left(\frac{0.168 \pm 0.043}{0.043}\right) = 4.9$ (Table 2, column 1).

ideal context to test this hypothesis: the general elections were of much lower salience than the presidential elections, and they were characterized by a turnout rate lower by 20 percentage points. We compare the percent decline in turnout between the high-salience presidential elections and the medium-salience general elections for the compliers and other registered citizens. Formally, we run seemingly unrelated regressions of Equation [5] using participation at each round as a different outcome, and we compute the point estimates and standard errors of non-linear combinations of the coefficients. Consider, for instance, the previously registered citizens whose name was found on a mailbox, who are the omitted category in Equation [5]. The percent decline in their turnout between the presidential and the general elections is $\frac{1/2(\alpha_{G1}+\alpha_{G2})-1/2(\alpha_{P1}+\alpha_{P2})}{1/2(\alpha_{P1}+\alpha_{P2})}$ where α_{P1} , α_{P2} , α_{G1} and α_{G2} are the estimated constants for each round. The results are presented in Table 9. Panel A estimates the turnout decline between the presidential and general elections among previously registered citizens whose name was found on a mailbox and among newly registered citizens in the control group. We find that the decline was significantly stronger among the latter (42.8% vs. 38.4%). Panel B shows the turnout decline among newly registered citizens in the control group and treatment groups. The decline was larger among newly registered citizens in the treatment groups (45.3%) on average), but the difference is significant only for the home registration group. When we control for the initial registration status, we find that the turnout decline was larger by 3 percentage points among newly registered citizens in the treatment groups, a difference significant at the 10% level. 22

These findings suggest that facilitating registration does select slightly less interested voters, whose participation depends more on the saliency of the elections, and that the propensity to vote of the marginal registrant decreases as registration is made easier. However, the selection effect of the visits is relatively small: these findings are hard to reconcile with a model in which the registration cost is the same for all citizens and where citizens who fail to register have much lower benefits of voting than others. On the contrary, using the theoretical insights from the model in Section 5, the high propensity to vote of the compliers suggests that both their benefits of voting and their registration costs are relatively high and that their failure to register, absent any visit, is mostly driven by registration costs that are too high.

 $^{^{22}}$ The detailed results by initial registration status are available in Table A7 of the Appendix. Based on these results, we compute the weighted average of the difference in turnout decline between the control and treatment groups across newly registered citizens with different initial registration statuses.

1.6.6 Empowerment effect

The concern that interventions which make voting less costly might disenfranchise uninformed voters, thus leading to noisy electoral results, roots in a vision in which political interest and competence are fixed. An alternative view is that citizens induced to vote may also become more interested in the campaign and in the elections. Being registered to vote might alter one's relationship to politics and electoral campaigns. To test this hypothesis and evaluate the impact of the visits on politicization, we group a series of 36 questions on political interest and competence asked during the postelectoral survey into a global index and 12 sub-indices, defined to be the equally weighted average of the z-scores of their components, following Katz, Kling, and Liebman (2007).²³

As can be seen in Figure 9, the interventions increased the overall index of political interest and competence among citizens who were initially unregistered or misregistered by 0.06 standard deviations, an effect significant at the 5% level. The effect is of similar magnitude (0.6, 0.7 and 0.5 standard deviations) in the canvassing, home registration, and two-visits groups, and it is significant in the first two of these groups, at the 10 and 5% levels respectively (Table 10). The effect is positive for all but one of the 12 sub-indices, and it is significant for 4 of them: the ability to locate one's political preferences on the left-right axis; the ability to locate prominent local and national politicians on this axis; the ability to state the candidate one voted for or one would have voted for at each round; and the frequency of the political discussions held during the campaign with family members, friends, colleagues, and neighbors. These results suggest that the visits and the subsequent registrations increased both interest in the electoral campaigns and political competence, of which the command of the left-right axis is a key component (Gaxie 1978; Palfrey and Poole 1987; Powell 1989). On the contrary, the effects on political efficacy and on politicians' appraisal are very small and not significant. This is perhaps not too surprising, but it increases our confidence that the other positive effects we measure are not just the expression of gratitude or of a stronger desire to fulfill surveyors' expectations among those who received the visits.

As a result of these effects, the overall level of political interest and competence was similar at the time of the postelectoral survey between newly registered citizens in the control and treatment

 $^{^{23}}$ The z-scores are calculated by subtracting the mean among newly registered citizens in the control group and dividing by the standard deviation among them. Some turnout data was missing for a few registered citizens. Following Katz, Kling and Liebman (2007), if an individual's participation is known for at least one of the four rounds, then any missing values for the other rounds are imputed at the mean of the relevant group so that the estimates are the same as the average of those that would be obtained for the components of the index.

groups. To the extent that these findings do not solely reflect a direct effect of the discussions with the canvassers, they lend support to the view that inducing citizens to become active voters can increase their political interest and competence.

1.7 Conclusion and discussion

This project examined the effects of a series of canvassing and home registration interventions targeting unregistered and misregistered citizens in ten French cities. The experiment found that the self-initiated registration system excludes a large fraction of the citizenry which is otherwise prepared to vote. Lack of information and the cost of going through the administrative registration process are equally important impediments to registration, and they are reinforced by procrastination. These obstacles decrease registration and voting disproportionately for some segments of the population who are ideologically more to the left, including younger and less educated citizens, as well as immigrants. Self-initiated registration could theoretically serve to select more interested and competent voters, and to increase their political involvement. It is true that, compared to citizens registered due to the visits, those who register on their own are a little more likely to participate in the elections, and their participation depends less on the saliency of the election. Still, the most striking finding of our experiment resides in the fact that a large majority of compliers took part in the Spring 2012 elections, and more than four out of five of them participated in the presidential elections. Moreover, we do not find any evidence for a disengagement effect of home registration. Quite the contrary, the postelectoral survey brings suggestive evidence that citizens registered and induced to vote due to the interventions also became more interested in the campaign and in the elections than if they had remained unregistered.

Predicting the effects of changes in the registration rules

Any change in the registration rules might create a temporary information gap which, our results suggest, should not be underestimated. However, new rules could also contribute to facilitate the acquisition of information about registration. For instance, postponing the registration deadline to a few weeks before the elections, when electoral campaigns are most intense, would facilitate the transmission of information from political activists to unregistered citizens and could decrease procrastination. Registration rules which both increase information and decrease the cost to register, should bring still greater effects.

Further down the line, can our results serve to anticipate the effects of moving away self-initiated registration towards an automatic registration procedure administered by the state? While our experiment does not enable us to outline the general equilibrium effects of switching to automatic registration, we can try and identify the direct effects of removing the registration cost. In automatic registration systems, the state can rely on different techniques to register voters (Sénat 2006; Brennan Center for Justice 2009). Door-to-door canvassing is one of these techniques, used for instance in Canada, South Africa and Indonesia. However, substitute techniques, including civil registry and data-sharing from tax authorities and other government agencies, are more frequent. Unlike door-to-door canvassing, these techniques do not involve any personal contact with the new registrants. Thus, they might have a different, and perhaps negative, treatment effect on the participation of registered citizens. The selection effect of these techniques, however, should be similar to the effect measured in this study: a sizable fraction of the electorate that is only slightly less likely to vote than citizens already registered would be brought in by the shift to universal registration.

In our experiment, the treatment group which offered home registration to the largest group of citizens was "Early Home registration & Late Home registration". We estimate that this intervention increased overall participation from 64.7 to 68.6% in the first round and 65.6 to 69.3% in the second round of the presidential election, and from 41.2 to 42.1% and 39.4 to 41.2% in the corresponding general elections.²⁴ These estimates are lower bounds of the increased turnout that would result from making registration universal. Were it universal, the unregistered or misregistered citizens who refused home registration would be registered too, and a fraction would vote. The data produced in the study does not enable us to estimate this fraction precisely, but there are reasons to believe that it would be relatively high. Indeed, the debriefing meetings we held with the canvassers found that only a slim minority of respondents who refused to register invoked the rejection of elections and voting as their motivation. Another factor may account for the fractions of citizens who refused to register at home: the trust people had to show toward the canvassers. Accepting the offer of home registration implied entrusting unknown canvassers with copies of electricity bills, ID cards or passports, and trusting them to file the registration application with the town hall prior to the

 $^{^{24}}$ To derive these estimates, we proceed in several steps, described in detail in Appendix 6. First we estimate increased participation among citizens initially unregistered and misregistered who live in apartments that opened their door to canvassers at least once. Then we account for the fact that a fraction of the citizens who stay misregistered at the end of the registration period participated in the elections by travelling back to their previous address or voting by proxy. Finally we factor in the participation of well-registered citizens.

December 31 deadline. Canvassing is much less developed in France than in the US (Pons 2013) and there is no tradition of voter registration drives. The respondents in our sample were thus offered a service that they were unfamiliar with. An automatic registration procedure led by the state would naturally not be confronted with such confidence issues.

Beyond enhancing participation, our findings suggest that implementing an automatic voter registration policy would likely increase the social and ethnic representativeness of the electoral rolls and of active voters. Would this transformation of the electorate alter election outcomes? At the level of our 44 precincts, the citizens disenfranchised by the registration process are ideologically more to the left than the median registered citizen. These results may be linked to the characteristics of the areas concerned. But in any event, election outcomes would be more in line with the true distribution of political opinions and orientations within the population on the whole.

Generalizability of the findings

To what extent do our results generalize to other countries with self-initiated registration? A recent experiment conducted in the US finds comparable impact of home registration visits on registration, but lower impact on turnout (Nickerson 2010). There are two complementary interpretations of these different findings. The first is that unregistered citizens in the US have lower benefits of voting than those in France. Indeed, in our study, the comparison between citizens registered as a result of canvassing visits and those registered through the more intensive home registration visits brings suggestive evidence that the propensity to vote of the marginal registrant decreases as the registration cost decreases. But the registration cost has substantially decreased in the US, following the 1993 National Voter Registration Act.

An alternative interpretation is that low-salience congressional and off-year gubernatorial elections account for the bulk of Nickseron's sample and that American elections are less salient than French elections, on average: participation at the US 2012 presidential elections was 58%, versus 74% for the French 2012 presidential elections. In our study, we find that the participation of citizens registered as a result of the visits depends more on the saliency of the elections than that of other citizens, which completes the argument.

The generalizability of the findings should be tested more directly by future research. To the extent that the results do generalize more broadly, they lend support to the view that the costs related to electoral participation remain one of the major causes of abstention. This view is somewhat counterintuitive: the cost of voting has steadily decreased in most countries since the 19th century, with the transition from censitary to universal suffrage, elimination of literacy tests and poll taxes, increased density of polling stations, and decreased travel cost (Garrigou 1992). As a result, researchers today show a (perhaps natural) tendency to analyze voter turnout trends and differences between different groups of citizens in terms of benefits rather than costs. An important reason why the cost to register has such an important effect might be that, differently from the cost of voting itself, each person pays it separately: whereas all citizens vote on the same day, only a small fraction of citizens have to register every year and they can register at different dates. This not only generates procrastination, it makes registration much less subject to social pressures than voting. The lessons might extend beyond voter registration. For instance, similarly to the registration process, voter ID laws only require a minority of citizens to take an action (those who do not have any ID yet), and this action can be done on many possible days. Voter ID laws might thus create similar distortions as the ones measured in this study.

1.8 Bibliography

Alatas, V., A. Banerjee, R. Hanna, B.A. Olken, R. Purnamasari and M. Wai-Poi (2013). "Ordeal Mechanisms in Targeting: Theory and Evidence from a Field Experiment in Indonesia." Working Paper.

Angrist, J.D., G.W. Imbens and D.B. Rubin (1996). "Identification of Causal Effects Using Instrumental Variables." Journal of the American Statistical Association 91: 444-455.

Ansolabehere, S. and D.M. Konisky (2006). "The Introduction of Voter Registration and Its Effect on Turnout." *Political Analysis* 14: 83-100.

Ansolabehere, S. and E. Hersh (2011). "Pants On Fire: Misreporting, Sample Selection, and Participation." Mimeo.

Arkes, H.R. and C. Blumer (1985). "The Psychology of Sunk Cost." Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes 35: 124-140.

Bénabou, R. and J. Tirole (2006). "Incentives and Prosocial Behavior." The American Economic Review 96 (5): 1652-1678.

Bennion, E.A. and D.W. Nickerson (2009). "I Will Register, if You Teach Me How: Results from Voter Registration Field Experiments on College Campuses." Paper prepared for the 2009 Annual Meeting of the Midwest Political Science Association, Chicago, IL, 2-5 April 2009.

Bennion, E.A. and D.W. Nickerson (2011). "The Cost of Convenience: An Experiment showing E-Mail Outreach Decreases Voter Registration." *Political Research Quarterly* 64 (4): 858-869.

Bernhagen, P. and M. Marsh (2007). "The Partisan Effects of Low Turnout: Analyzing Vote Absention as a Missing Data Problem." *Electoral Studies* 26(3): 548-560.

Besley, T. and S. Coate (1992). "Workfare versusWelfare: Incentive Arguments for Work Requirements in Poverty-Alleviation Programs." *American Economic Review* 82(1): 249–261.

Bilodeau, A. and A. Blais (2011). "Le vote obligatoire exerce-t-il un effet de socialisation politique?" in Amjahad, A., J.-M. De Waele and M. Hastings (dir.) (2011) Le Vote obligatoire - Débats, enjeux et défis. Economica.

Blais, André (2006). "What affects voter turnout?" Annual Review of Political Science 9: 111-125.

Braconnier, C. and J.-Y. Dormagen (2007). La démocratie de l'abstention. Paris, Gallimard.

Braconnier, C. and J.-Y. Dormagen (2012). "Logiques de Mobilisation et Inégalités Sociales de

Participation Électorale en France, 2002-2012." French Politics, Culture and Society 30(3): 20-44.
Brady, H.E., S. Verba and K.L. Schlozman (1995). "Beyond SES: A resource model of political participation." American Political Science Review 89(2): 271-94.

Brennan Center for Justice (2009). Expanding Democracy: Voter Registration Around the World. Jennifer S. Rosenberg with Margaret Chen.

Brians, C.L. and B. Grofman (2001). "Election Day Registration's Effects on U.S. Voter Turnout." Social Science Quarterly 82:170-183.

Brown, R.D. and J. Wedeking (2006) "People Who Have Their Tickets But Do Not Use Them: 'Motor Voter', Registration, and Turnout Revisited." *American Politics Research* 34: 479-504.

Brunell, T.L. and J. DiNardo (2004). "A propensity score reweighting approach to estimating the partisan effects of full turnout in American presidential elections." *Political Analysis 12*(1): 28-45.

Burden, B. and J. Neiheisel (2013). "Election Administration and the Pure Effect of Voter Registration on Turnout." *Political Research Quarterly* 66(1): 77-90.

Burnham, W.D. (1965). "The Changing Shape of the American Political Universe." American Political Science Review 54: 7-28.

Burnham, W.D. (1974). "Theory and Voting Research: Some Reflections on Converse's 'Change in the American Electorate." The American Political Science Review 68(3): 1002-1023.

Citrin, J., E. Schickler and J. Sides (2003). "What if Everyone Voted? Simulating the Impact of Increased Turnout in Senate Elections." American Journal of Political Science 47(1): 75–90.

Converse, P.E. (1964). "The Nature of Belief Systems in Mass Publics" in Apter, D. (ed.) (1964) Ideology and Discontent. New York, Free Press.

Converse, P.E. (1972). "Change in the American Electorate" in Campbell, A. and P.E. Converse (eds.) (1972) The Human Meaning of Social Change. New York, Russell Sage.

Converse, P.E. (1974). "Comment on Burnham's Theory and Voting Research." American Political Science Review 68: 1024–1027.

Devoto, F., E. Duflo, P. Dupas, W. Parienté and V. Pons (2012). "Happiness on Tap: Piped Water Adoption in Urban Morocco." American Economic Journal: Economic Policy 4 (4): 68-99.

Downs, A. (1957). An Economic Theory of Democracy. New York, Harper.

Erikson, R.S. (1981). "Why Do People Vote? Because They Are Registered." American Politics Quarterly 9(3): 259-276.

Filer, J.E., L.W. Kenny and R.B. Morton (1991). "Voting Laws, Educational Policies, and Minority Turnout." *Journal of Law and Economics* 34: 371-393.

Fowler, A. and M. Margolis (2013). "The Political Consequences of Uninformed Voters." mimeo.
Fowler, A. (2013). "Electoral and Policy Consequences of Voter Turnout: Evidence from Compulsory Voting in Australia." *Quarterly Journal of Political Science* 8: 159–182.

Franklin, M. (1996). "Electoral Participation" in LeDuc, L., R.G. Niemi and P. Norris (eds.) (1996) Comparing Democracies: Elections and Voting in Global Perspective. Thousand Oaks, Sage.

Franklin, D.P. and E.E. Grier (1997). "Effects of motor voter legislation: Voter turnout, registration, and partisan advantage in the 1992 presidential election." *American Politics Quarterly 25*: 104-117.

Fujiwara, T. (2013). "Voting Technology, Political Responsiveness, and Infant Health: Evidence from Brazil." mimeo.

Garrigou, A. (1992). Le Vote et la vertu, comment les Français sont devenus électeurs. Paris, Presses De Sciences Po.

Gaxie, D. (1978). Le cens caché. Inégalités culturelles et ségrégation politique. Paris, Seuil.

Gerber, A.S. and D.P. Green (2000). "The Effects of Canvassing, Telephone Calls, and Direct

Mail on Voter Turnout: A Field Experiment." The American Political Science Review 94: 653-663.
 Gosnell, H.F. (1930). Why Europe Votes. Chicago, University of Chicago Press.

Greenwald A.G., C.G. Carnot, R. Beach and B. Young (1987). "Increasing voting behavior by asking people if they expect to vote." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 2: 315-318.

Highton, B. and R.E. Wolfinger (1998). "Estimating the Effects of the National Voter Registration Act of 1993." *Political Behavior 20*(2): 79-104.

Highton, B. and R.E. Wolfinger (2001). "The Political Implications of Higher Turnout." British Journal of Political Science 31: 179–223.

Highton, B. (2004). "Voter Registration and Turnout in the United States." Perspectives on Politics 2: 507-515.

Insee (2012). Les inscriptions sur les listes électorales 2011. http://www.insee.fr/fr/themes/detail.asp?reg_id=99&re Insee Premiere (2012). L'inscription et la participation électorales en 2012. Qui est inscrit et qui vote. Insee Première 1411

Jackman, R.W. (1987). "Political Institutions and Voter Turnout in the Industrial Democracies." American Political Science Review 81: 405-23. Jakee, K. and G.-Z. Sun (2006). "Is compulsory voting more democratic?" *Public Choice 129*: 61-75.

Karlan, D. and J. Zinman (2009). "Observing Unobservables: Identifying Information Asymmetries With a Consumer Credit Field Experiment." *Econometrica* 77(6): 1993-2008.

Kelley S., R.E. Ayres and W.G. Bowen (1967). "Registration and Voting: Putting First Things First." American Political Science Review 61 (2): 359-379.

Kling, J.R., J.B. Liebman and L.F. Katz (2007). "Experimental Analysis of Neighborhood Effects." *Econometrica* 75(1): 83-119.

Knack, S. (1995). "Does 'motor voter' work? Evidence from state-level data." *Journal of Politics* 57(3): 796-811.

Knack, S. (2001). "Election-day registration: The second wave." American Politics Quarterly 29(1): 65-78.

Knack, S. and J. White (1998). "Did States' Motor Voter Programs Help the Democrats?" American Politics Research 26(3): 344-365.

Knack S. and J. White (2000). "Election-Day Registration and Turnout Inequality." *Political Behavior 22*(1): 29-44.

Lijphart, A. (1997). "Unequal Participation: Democracy's Unresolved Dilemma." The American Political Science Review 91(1): 1-14.

Mackerras, M. and I. McAllister (1999). "Compulsory Voting, Party Stability, and Electoral Advantage in Australia." *Electoral Studies* 18(2): 217–233.

Martinez, M.D. and D. Hill (1999). "Did Motor Voter Work?" American Politics Quarterly 27: 296-315.

Mitchell, G.E. and C. Wlezien (1995). "The impact of legal constraints on voter registration, turnout, and the composition of the American electorate." *Political Behavior* 17(2): 179–202.

Mycoff, J.D., M.W. Wagner and D.C. Wilson (2009). "The Empirical Effects of Voter-ID Laws: Present or Absent?" *PS: Political Science & Politics* 42(1): 121-126.

Nagler J. (1991). "The Effect of Registration Laws and Education on US Voter Turnout." American Political Science Review 85(4): 1393-1405.

Nichols, D., E. Smolensky and T.N. Tideman (1971). "Discrimination by waiting time in merit goods." The American Economic Review 61 (3): 312-323.

Nichols, A.L. and R.J. Zeckhauser (1982). "Targeting Transfers through Restrictions on Recip-

ients." The American Economic Review 72(2): 372-377.

Nickerson, D.W. (2006). "Forget Me Not? The Importance of Timing in Voter Mobilization." Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Political Science Association, Marriott, Loews Philadelphia, and the Pennsylvania Convention Center, Philadelphia, PA.

Nickerson, D.W. (2010). "Do Voter Registration Drives Increase Participation." Mimeo.

Nickerson D.W. and T. Rogers (2010). "Do you have a voting plan?: Implementation intentions, voter turnout, and organic plan making." *Psychological Science* 21: 194–199.

O'Donoghue, T. and M. Rabin (1999). "Doing it now or later." American Economic Review 89: 103-124.

Palfrey, T.R. and K.T. Poole (1987). "The Relationship between Information, Ideology, and Voting Behavior." American Journal of Political Science 31 (3): 511-530.

Pan Ké Shon, J.-L. (2004). "Determinants of Electoral Non-Registration and Sensitive Neighbourhoods in France." *Population* 59(1): 143-156.

Pons, V. (2013). "Does Door-to-door Canvassing Affect Vote Shares? Evidence from a Countrywide Field Experiment in France." Working Paper.

Powell, G.B. (1986). "American Voter Turnout in Comparative Perspective." American Political Science Review 80: 17-43.

Powell, L.W. (1989). "Analyzing misinformation: Perceptions of congressional candidates' ideologies." American Journal of Political Science 33: 272-293.

Rhine, S.L. (1996). "An Analysis of the Impact of Registration Factors on Turnout in 1992." Political Behavior 18: 171-185.

Riker, W. and P. Ordeshook (1968). "A Theory of the Calculus of Voting." American Political Science Review 62(1): 25-42.

Robson, W.A. (1923). "Compulsory voting." Political Science Quarterly 38(4): 569-577.

Rosenstone, S.J. and R.E. Wolfinger (1978). "The Effects of Registration Laws on Voter Turnout." American Political Science Review 72:22-45.

Rubenson, D., A. Blais, P. Fournier, E. Digengil, and N. Nevitte (2007). "Does Low Turnout Matter: Evidence from the 2000 Canadian Election." *Electoral Studies 26*(3): 589–597.

Rusk, J.G. (1970). "The Effect of the Australian Ballot Reform on Split-Ticket Voting: 1876–1908." American Political Science Review 66:1220–1238.

Rusk, J.G. (1974). "Comment: The American Electoral Universe: Speculation and Evidence."

American Political Science Review 68: 1028-1049.

Ryan, R. and E.L. Deci (2000). "Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development and well-being." *American Psychologist* 55(1): 68-78.

Saunders, B. (2010). "Increasing Turnout: A Compelling Case?" Politics 30(1): 70-77.

Selb, P. and R. Lachat (2009). "The more, the better? Counterfactual evidence on the effect of compulsory voting on the consistency of party choice." *European Journal of Political Research* 48: 573-597.

Sénat (2006). "L'Inscription sur les listes électorales." Etude de législation comparée 161.

Smith, J.K., A.S. Gerber and A. Orlich (2003). "Self-prophecy effects and voter turnout: An experimental replication." *Political Psychology* 24: 593-604.

Squire, P., R.E. Wolfinger and D.P. Glass (1987). "Residential mobility and voter turnout." American Political Science Review 81 (1): 45-65.

Stein, R. (1998). "Introduction: Early Voting." Public Opinion Quarterly 62(1): 57-69.

Teixeira, R.A. (1992). The Disappearing American Voter. Washington, Brookings Institution.

Timpone, R.J. (1998). "Structure, Behavior, and Voter Turnout in the United States." American Political Science Review 92(1): 145-158.

Tingsten, H. (1937). Political Behavior: Studies in Election Statistics. London, P.S. King & Son.

US Census Bureau (2012). Voting and Registration in the Election of November 2012 – Detailed Tables. Table 4a. Reported Voting and Registration, for States: November 2012.

Vonnahme, G. (2012). "Registration Deadlines and Turnout in Context." *Political Behavior 34*: 765-779.

Wolfinger, R.E. and S.J. Rosenstone (1980). Who votes? New Haven, Yale University Press.

Wolfinger, R.E., D.P. Glass and P. Squire (1990). "Predictors of Electoral Turnout: An International Comparison." *Policy Studies Review 9*: 551-74.

Wolfinger, R.E., B. Highton and M. Mullin (2005). "How Postregistration Laws Affect the Turnout of Citizens Registered to Vote." *State Politics & Policy Quarterly* 5: 1-23.



		Early visit	Late visit
Control Group (1,026 add	resses)		
Comunaciana annum	Early Canvassing (515 addresses)	Canvassing	
Canvassing group	Late Canvassing (515 addresses)		Canvassing
Usuas registration mount	Early Home registration (511 addresses)	Home registration	
Home registration group	Late Home registration (518 addresses)		Home registration
Two visits group	Early Canvassing & Late Home registration (519 addresses)	Canvassing	Home registration
I wo visits group	Early Home registration & Late Home registration (514 addresses)	Home registration	Home registration







Notes: We show the number of votes cast on average at the four electoral rounds by initially unregistered and misregistered citizens in the average apartment of the control group and each treatment group. We also show the 95% confidence interval of the difference between the treatment groups and the control group and, in each group, we estimate the fraction of initially unregistered and misregistered citizens who voted, as the ratio between the outcome and the estimated initial number of unregistered and misregistered citizens per apartment (0.92). We control for strata fixed effects and apartment and building controls. Standard errors are adjusted for clustering at the building level. N is 20458.



Notes: We report the point estimate of the effect of various individual characteristics and their interaction with a treatment dummy on a dummy equal to 1 if the respondant is registered in his city and 0 otherwise. All treatment groups are pooled together. All independent variables are dummies, except for age, for which a difference of 1 year is represented by 0.1 points, age² and number of household members, for which a different of 1 member is represented by 1 point. For characteristics measured by more than 1 dummy, the omitted categories are employed worker, more than end-of-high-school diploma, speaks only French, owner of his house, monthly income between 1100 and 1500 euros, has lived in the city for more than 10 years. ***, ***, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. For the treatment group, we report the significance of the difference with the control group. We adjust the standard errors for clustering at the building level. *N* is 1012.



groups. Standard errors are adjusted for clustering at the building level. N is respectively 33897, 33896, 33912 and 33878.







Notes: All outcomes are summary indices defined to be the equally weighted average of z-scores of their components. For each outcome, we plot the point estimate of the difference between the control group and any treatment group. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. We control for a series of individual characteristics and adjust the standard errors for clustering at the building level. N is 1219.

The indices are built based on the following variables. Interest in politics: how much are you interested in politics, how is your interest in politics evolving. Number of political subjects stated: number political subjects considered most important, number political subjects most important during the presidential campaign. Ability to locate one's preferences on the left-right axis: all positions except for doesn't know and neither left nor right. Interest in the 2012 electoral campaigns: how closely did you follow the presidential campaign, how closely did you follow the campaign for the general elections. Political media followed during the campaign: since last January how often have you watched political shows on TV, listened to political shows on the radio, read political articles in newspapers, in online newspapers, did you watch the debate between Hollande and Sarkozy between the two rounds. Political discussions held during the campaign: since last January how often have your colleagues, your neighbors. Ability to state a preferred candidate for each round: candidate he voted for or would have voted for. Politicians' identification: knows name of mayor, candidate arrived in third position at first round of presidential elections, president, prime minister, MP. Politicians's party identification: knows political party of mayor, candidate arrived in third position at first round of presidential elections: which elections to be held in 2014, date of next presidential elections. Political efficacy: can politics affect your life, likelihood to receive new assistance from state soon. Politicians' appraisal: politicians care about people like you, trust in politicians.

Control group Treatment groups P-value Test: joint significance of treatment dummies Number of spannes Panel A. At the address level Number of mailboxes 7.9 11.0 7.8 10.3 0.661 0.11 0.995 4118 Number of apartments included in sample 5.1 7.7 4.9 7.0 0.600 0.13 0.993 4118 Number of apartments included in sample 5.1 7.7 4.9 7.0 0.213 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel B. At the apartment level Number of additional names on mailbox 1.3 0.7 1.3 0.77 0.213 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel C. At the individual level Age 36.3 13.6 36.3 13.0 0.978 2.60 0.017 1450 Read of other household members 1.9 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.638 1.10 0.362 1463 Rodiptiona 0.246 0.354 0.146 0.354 0.146 0.354 0.994 0.47 0.832		Any treatment		Treatment groups included					
Control group Treatment groups P-value Treatment Test: joint significance of treatment Number of obs. Panel A, At the address level Number of apartments included in sample 7.9 11.0 7.8 10.3 0.661 0.11 0.995 4118 Number of apartments included in sample 5.1 7.7 4.9 7.0 0.600 0.13 0.993 4118 Number of apartments included in sample 5.1 7.7 4.9 7.0 0.213 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel B. At the apartment level Number of additional names on mailbox 1.3 0.7 1.3 0.7 0.213 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel C. At the individual level Age 36.3 13.6 36.3 13.0 0.978 2.60 0.017 1450 Gender 0.403 0.499 0.523 0.506 0.505 1.10 0.362 1443 Number of difficanace of ther household members 1.9 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.695 1.10 0.362 1450				,			separa	telv	
Mean SD Mean SD Treatment sD treatment control treatment Test statistic obs. Panel A. At the address level 7.9 11.0 7.8 10.3 0.661 0.11 0.995 4118 Number of mailboxes 7.9 11.0 7.8 10.3 0.661 0.11 0.995 4118 Housing price 3103 871 3150 874 0.477 0.20 0.978 941 Panel B. At the apartment level 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel C. At the individual level 0.433 0.491 0.425 0.495 0.462 0.35 0.910 1464 In couple 0.543 0.499 0.523 0.500 0.508 1.57 0.152 1458 Redication 1.9 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.695 1.10 0.362 1463 Education 0.278 0.449 0.278 0.449 0.278 0.449 0.278		Contro	group	Treatme	nt groups	P-value	Test: joint sign	ificance of	Number of
Mean SD Mean SD = Control Test statistic <i>P-value</i> Panel A. At the address level Number of mailboxes 7.9 11.0 7.8 10.3 0.661 0.11 0.995 4118 Number of apartments included in sample 5.1 7.7 4.9 7.0 0.600 0.13 0.993 4118 Housing price 3103 871 3150 874 0.477 0.20 0.978 941 Panel B. At the apartment level Number of additional names on mailbox 1.3 0.7 1.3 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel C. At the individual level Age 36.3 13.6 36.3 13.0 0.978 2.60 0.017 1450 Gender 0.403 0.491 0.425 0.445 0.358 1.10 0.362 1463 Icouple 0.543 0.499 0.523 0.508 0.508 1.57 0.152 1458 Number of other household members 1.9 1.6 2.0			•		U 1	Treatment	treatment d	lummies	obs.
Panel A. At the address level 7.9 11.0 7.8 10.3 0.661 0.11 0.995 4118 Number of mailboxes 7.9 11.0 7.8 10.3 0.661 0.11 0.995 4118 Housing price 3103 871 3150 874 0.477 0.20 0.978 941 Panel B. At the apartment level Number of additional names on mailbox 1.3 0.7 1.3 0.7 0.213 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel C. At the individual level Age 36.3 13.6 36.3 13.0 0.978 2.60 0.017 1450 Gender 0.403 0.491 0.425 0.495 0.462 0.35 0.910 1464 In couple 0.543 0.499 0.523 0.500 0.508 1.10 0.362 1463 Education 1.9 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.695 1.10 0.362 1450 Less than end-of-high-school 0.278 0.449		Mean	SD	Mean	SD	= Control	Test statistic	P-value	0.001
Number of mailboxes 7.9 11.0 7.8 10.3 0.661 0.11 0.995 4118 Number of apartments included in sample 5.1 7.7 4.9 7.0 0.600 0.13 0.993 4118 Housing price 3103 871 3150 874 0.477 0.20 0.978 941 Panel B. At the apartment level 0.77 0.213 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel C. At the individual level 0.433 0.491 0.425 0.495 0.462 0.35 0.910 1450 Gender 0.403 0.491 0.425 0.495 0.462 0.35 0.910 1464 In couple 0.543 0.499 0.523 0.508 1.57 0.152 1458 Number of other household members 1.9 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.695 1.10 0.362 1463 Education 0.278 0.449 0.278 0.448 0.994 0.47	Panel A. At the address level								
Number of apartments included in sample 5.1 7.7 4.9 7.0 0.600 0.13 0.993 4118 Housing price 3103 871 3150 874 0.477 0.20 0.978 941 Panel B. At the apartment level Number of additional names on mailbox 1.3 0.7 1.3 0.7 0.213 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel C. At the individual level Age 36.3 13.6 36.3 13.0 0.978 2.60 0.017 1450 Gender 0.403 0.491 0.425 0.495 0.462 0.35 0.910 1464 In couple 0.543 0.499 0.523 0.500 0.508 1.57 0.152 1458 Education 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.695 1.10 0.362 1463 Less than end-of-high-school 0.278 0.444 0.274 0.443 0.374 2.025 1.37 0.226 1450 More than end-of-high-school 0.276	Number of mailboxes	7.9	11.0	7.8	10.3	0.661	0.11	0.995	4118
Housing price 3103 871 3150 874 0.477 0.20 0.978 941 Panel B. At the apartment level Number of additional names on mailbox 1.3 0.7 1.3 0.7 0.213 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel C. At the individual level Age 36.3 13.6 36.3 13.0 0.978 2.60 0.017 1450 Gender 0.403 0.491 0.425 0.495 0.462 0.353 0.910 1464 In couple 0.543 0.499 0.523 0.500 0.508 1.57 0.152 1458 Number of other household members 1.9 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.695 1.10 0.362 1463 Education 0.278 0.448 0.994 2.68 0.014 1450 Less than end-of-high-school 0.278 0.448 0.994 2.68 0.014 1450 Meribyed 0.623 0.485 0.615 0.479 0.205 1.37	Number of apartments included in sample	5.1	7.7	4.9	7.0	0.600	0.13	0.993	4118
Panel B. At the apartment level Number of additional names on mailbox 1.3 0.7 1.3 0.7 0.213 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel C. At the individual level Age 36.3 13.6 36.3 13.0 0.978 2.60 0.017 1450 Gender 0.403 0.491 0.425 0.495 0.462 0.35 0.910 1464 In couple 0.543 0.499 0.523 0.500 0.508 1.57 0.152 1458 Number of other household members 1.9 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.695 1.10 0.362 1463 Education No diploma 0.146 0.354 0.146 0.354 0.994 0.47 0.832 1450 Less than end-of-high-school 0.256 0.437 0.218 0.413 0.164 1.76 0.105 1450 Activity Employed 0.623 0.485 0.615 0.487 0.806 2.47 0.222 1458 <t< td=""><td>Housing price</td><td>3103</td><td>871</td><td>3150</td><td>874</td><td>0.477</td><td>0.20</td><td>0.978</td><td>941</td></t<>	Housing price	3103	871	3150	874	0.477	0.20	0.978	941
Number of additional names on mailbox 1.3 0.7 1.3 0.7 0.213 0.58 0.747 20502 Panel C. At the individual level Age 36.3 13.6 36.3 13.0 0.978 2.60 0.017 1450 Gender 0.403 0.491 0.425 0.495 0.462 0.35 0.910 1464 In couple 0.543 0.499 0.523 0.500 0.508 1.57 0.152 1458 Number of other household members 1.9 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.695 1.10 0.362 1460 Less than end-of-high-school 0.278 0.448 0.994 0.47 0.832 1450 Less than end-of-high-school 0.226 0.437 0.218 0.413 0.164 1.76 0.105 1450 More than end-of-high-school 0.320 0.467 0.357 0.427 0.226 1450 More than end-of-high school 0.523 0.485 0.615 0.487 0.806 <t< td=""><td>Panel B. At the apartment level</td><td><u> </u></td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Panel B. At the apartment level	<u> </u>		-					
Panel C. At the individual level Age 36.3 13.6 36.3 13.0 0.978 2.60 0.017 1450 Gender 0.403 0.491 0.425 0.452 0.35 0.910 1464 In couple 0.543 0.499 0.523 0.500 0.508 1.57 0.152 1458 Number of other household members 1.9 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.695 1.10 0.362 1463 Education 0.146 0.354 0.146 0.354 0.994 0.47 0.832 1450 Less than end-of-high-school 0.226 0.437 0.218 0.441 0.164 1.76 0.105 1450 Activity Employed 0.623 0.485 0.615 0.487 0.806 2.47 0.022 1458 Unemployed 0.103 0.305 0.112 0.315 0.551 1.24 0.283 1458 Inactive 0.274 0.447 0.273 0.446	Number of additional names on mailbox	1.3	0.7	1.3	0.7	0.213	0.58	0.747	20502
Age 36.3 13.6 36.3 13.0 0.978 2.60 0.017 1450 Gender 0.403 0.491 0.425 0.495 0.462 0.35 0.910 1464 In couple 0.543 0.499 0.523 0.500 0.508 1.57 0.152 1458 Number of other household members 1.9 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.695 1.10 0.362 1463 Education . <t< td=""><td>Panel C. At the individual level</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Panel C. At the individual level								
Gender 0.403 0.403 0.425 0.425 0.462 0.35 0.310 1.464 In couple 0.543 0.499 0.523 0.500 0.508 1.57 0.152 1458 Number of other household members 1.9 1.6 2.0 1.7 0.695 1.10 0.362 1463 Education 0.445 0.278 0.448 0.994 0.47 0.832 1450 Less than end-of-high-school 0.276 0.443 0.278 0.448 0.994 2.68 0.014 1450 Less than end-of-high-school 0.256 0.437 0.218 0.413 0.164 1.76 0.105 1450 More than end-of-high-school 0.320 0.467 0.357 0.477 0.226 1450 Activity 0.413 0.316 0.511 1.24 0.281 1458 Inactive 0.274 0.447 0.273 0.446 0.970	Age	36.3	13.6	36 3	13.0	0 978	2 60	0.017	1450
Incomple 0.133 0.132 0.133 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.135 0.146 No diploma 0.146 0.354 0.146 0.354 0.994 0.47 0.832 1450 Less than end-of-high-school 0.278 0.449 0.278 0.448 0.994 2.68 0.014 1450 End-of-high-school 0.256 0.437 0.218 0.413 0.164 1.76 0.105 1450 More than end-of-high-school 0.226 0.467 0.320 0.467 0.320 1451 0.437 0.205 1.37 0.226 1450 Activity 0.427 0.447 0.2315 0.651 1.24 0.283 1458 Unemployed 0.130 0.305 0.112 0.317 0.298 1.44 0.196 1440 <	Gender	0.403	0 491	0 425	0 495	0.462	0.35	0.017	1450
Number of other household members 1.9 1.6 2.00 1.77 0.695 1.10 0.362 1463 Education No diploma 0.146 0.354 0.146 0.354 0.994 0.477 0.832 1450 Less than end-of-high-school 0.278 0.449 0.278 0.448 0.994 2.68 0.0105 1450 End-of-high-school 0.256 0.437 0.218 0.413 0.164 1.76 0.105 1450 More than end-of-high-school 0.320 0.467 0.357 0.479 0.205 1.37 0.226 1450 Activity Employed 0.623 0.485 0.615 0.487 0.806 2.47 0.022 1458 Housing situation 0.305 0.112 0.315 0.651 1.24 0.283 1450 Personal monthy income 0.307 0.427 0.289 0.490 0.357 0.73 0.625 1440 Tenant, private housing 0.256 0.449	In couple	0.543	0.499	0.523	0.500	0.508	1 57	0.152	1458
Education Ins Ins <thins< th=""> Ins <thins< th=""> <thins<< td=""><td>Number of other household members</td><td>1.9</td><td>1.6</td><td>2.0</td><td>17</td><td>0.695</td><td>1.37</td><td>0.152</td><td>1463</td></thins<<></thins<></thins<>	Number of other household members	1.9	1.6	2.0	17	0.695	1.37	0.152	1463
No diploma 0.146 0.354 0.146 0.354 0.994 0.47 0.832 1450 Less than end-of-high-school 0.278 0.449 0.278 0.448 0.994 2.68 0.014 1450 End-of-high-school 0.256 0.437 0.218 0.413 0.164 1.76 0.105 1450 More than end-of-high-school 0.256 0.437 0.218 0.413 0.164 1.76 0.105 1450 Activity 0.623 0.485 0.615 0.487 0.806 2.47 0.022 1458 Unemployed 0.103 0.305 0.112 0.315 0.651 1.24 0.283 1458 Inactive 0.274 0.477 0.476 0.319 0.347 0.113 0.317 0.298 1.44 0.196 1440 Tenant, social housing 0.307 0.462 0.289 0.453 0.681 1.57 0.152 1440 Tenant, social housing 0.225	Education				2.77	0.055	1.10	0.502	1400
Less than end-of-high-school 0.278 0.449 0.278 0.448 0.994 2.68 0.014 1450 End-of-high-school 0.226 0.437 0.218 0.413 0.164 1.76 0.105 1450 More than end-of-high-school 0.320 0.467 0.357 0.479 0.205 1.37 0.226 1450 Activity 0.447 0.357 0.479 0.205 1.37 0.022 1458 Unemployed 0.623 0.485 0.615 0.487 0.806 2.47 0.022 1458 Inactive 0.274 0.447 0.273 0.446 0.970 1.09 0.369 1458 Housing situation 0.307 0.462 0.289 0.453 0.681 1.57 0.152 1440 Tenant, social housing 0.307 0.462 0.289 0.453 0.681 1.57 0.152 1440 Tenant, private housing 0.307<	No diploma	0.146	0.354	0.146	0.354	0.994	0.47	0.832	1450
End-of-high-school 0.256 0.437 0.218 0.413 0.164 1.76 0.105 1450 More than end-of-high-school 0.320 0.467 0.357 0.479 0.205 1.37 0.226 1450 Activity 0.623 0.485 0.615 0.487 0.806 2.47 0.022 1458 Unemployed 0.103 0.305 0.112 0.315 0.651 1.24 0.283 1458 Inactive 0.274 0.447 0.273 0.446 0.970 1.09 0.369 1458 Housing situation 0.447 0.133 0.317 0.298 1.44 0.196 1440 Tenant, social housing 0.554 0.498 0.598 0.490 0.357 0.73 0.625 1440 Tenant, private housing 0.554 0.498 0.598 0.490 0.357 0.73 0.625 1440 Personal monthly income 1.57	Less than end-of-high-school	0.278	0.449	0.278	0.448	0.994	2.68	0.032	1450
More than end-of-high-school 0.320 0.467 0.357 0.479 0.205 1.37 0.226 1450 Activity Employed 0.623 0.485 0.615 0.487 0.806 2.47 0.022 1458 Unemployed 0.103 0.305 0.112 0.315 0.551 1.24 0.283 1458 Inactive 0.274 0.447 0.273 0.446 0.970 1.09 0.369 1458 Housing situation 0 0.397 0.447 0.273 0.446 0.970 1.09 0.369 1440 Tenant, social housing 0.554 0.498 0.598 0.490 0.357 0.73 0.625 1440 Tenant, private housing 0.307 0.462 0.289 0.453 0.681 1.57 0.152 1440 Personal monthly income U U U 0.307 0.462 0.289 0.453 0.681 1.57 0.152 1440 100 - 1500 euros	End-of-high-school	0.256	0.437	0.218	0.413	0.164	1.76	0 105	1450
Activity Employed 0.623 0.485 0.615 0.487 0.806 2.47 0.022 1458 Unemployed 0.103 0.305 0.112 0.315 0.651 1.24 0.283 1458 Inactive 0.274 0.447 0.273 0.446 0.970 1.09 0.369 1458 Housing situation 0 0.307 0.113 0.317 0.298 1.44 0.196 1440 Tenant, social housing 0.554 0.498 0.598 0.490 0.357 0.73 0.625 1440 Tenant, private housing 0.307 0.462 0.289 0.453 0.681 1.57 0.152 1440 Personal monthly income Less than 700 euros 0.225 0.418 0.197 0.398 0.313 1.21 0.297 1281 700 - 1100 euros 0.206 0.405 0.210 0.408 0.869 0.48 0.825 1281 1100 - 1500 euros 0.206 0.440 0.277 0.448 0.557 0.71 0.645 1281 Born in	More than end-of-high-school	0.320	0.467	0.357	0.479	0.205	1.37	0.226	1450
Employed0.6230.4850.6150.4870.8062.470.0221458Unemployed0.1030.3050.1120.3150.6511.240.2831458Inactive0.2740.4470.2730.4460.9701.090.3691458Housing situation0.1130.3170.2981.440.1961440Tenant, social housing0.5540.4980.5880.4900.3570.730.6251440Personal monthly income0.3070.4620.2890.4530.6811.570.1521440Personal monthly income1.250.4180.1970.3980.3131.210.2971281700 - 1100 euros0.2060.4050.2100.4080.8690.480.82512811100 - 1500 euros0.2060.4040.2770.4480.5570.710.6451281Born in France0.7580.4290.7530.4320.8230.930.4721455Born in same department0.2100.4080.2380.4260.2961.270.2691393Holds another citizenship0.2130.4110.2320.4220.6092.130.0481450Was naturalized French0.2130.4040.2380.4260.2961.270.2691393Holds another citizenship0.2130.4100.2380.4260.2961.270.2691393Holds another	Activity					0.200	2.07	0.220	1450
Unemployed 0.103 0.305 0.112 0.315 0.651 1.24 0.283 1458 Inactive 0.274 0.447 0.273 0.446 0.970 1.09 0.369 1458 Housing situation 0 0.139 0.347 0.113 0.317 0.298 1.44 0.196 1440 Tenant, social housing 0.554 0.498 0.598 0.490 0.357 0.73 0.625 1440 Tenant, private housing 0.307 0.462 0.289 0.453 0.681 1.57 0.152 1440 Personal monthly income Less than 700 euros 0.206 0.405 0.210 0.408 0.869 0.448 0.825 1281 1100 - 1500 euros 0.206 0.440 0.277 0.448 0.557 0.71 0.645 1281 Above 1500 euros 0.309 0.463 0.315 0.465 0.840 0.43 0.857 1281 Born in France 0.758 0.429	Employed	0.623	0.485	0.615	0.487	0.806	2.47	0.022	1458
Inactive 0.274 0.447 0.273 0.446 0.970 1.09 0.369 1458 Housing situation Owner 0.139 0.347 0.113 0.317 0.298 1.44 0.196 1440 Tenant, social housing 0.554 0.498 0.598 0.490 0.357 0.73 0.625 1440 Tenant, private housing 0.307 0.462 0.289 0.453 0.681 1.57 0.152 1440 Personal monthly income Less than 700 euros 0.225 0.418 0.197 0.398 0.313 1.21 0.297 1281 700 - 1100 euros 0.206 0.405 0.210 0.408 0.869 0.48 0.825 1281 1100 - 1500 euros 0.260 0.440 0.277 0.448 0.557 0.71 0.645 1281 Above 1500 euros 0.309 0.463 0.315 0.465 0.840 0.43 0.857 1281 Born in France 0.758 0.429 0.753 0.432 0.823 0.93 0.472 1455	Unemployed	0.103	0.305	0.112	0.315	0.651	1.24	0.283	1458
Housing situationNor	Inactive	0.274	0.447	0.273	0.446	0.970	1.09	0.369	1458
Owner0.1390.3470.1130.3170.2981.440.1961440Tenant, social housing0.5540.4980.5980.4900.3570.730.6251440Tenant, private housing0.3070.4620.2890.4530.6811.570.1521440Personal monthly income1440Less than 700 euros0.2250.4180.1970.3980.3131.210.2971281700 - 1100 euros0.2060.4050.2100.4080.8690.480.82512811100 - 1500 euros0.2600.4400.2770.4480.5570.710.6451281Above 1500 euros0.3090.4630.3150.4650.8400.430.8571281Born in France0.7580.4290.7530.4320.8230.930.4721455Born in same department0.2460.4310.2320.4220.6092.130.0481450Was naturalized French0.2100.4080.2380.4260.2961.270.2691393Holds another citizenship0.2130.4100.2340.4230.4281.700.1181404Speaks French with family members0.5810.4910.3710.4830.3020.700.6501457Some French, some other language0.4040.4910.3710.483	Housing situation					0.010	2.00	0.000	1.00
Tenant, social housing 0.554 0.498 0.598 0.490 0.357 0.73 0.625 1440 Tenant, private housing 0.307 0.462 0.289 0.453 0.681 1.57 0.152 1440 Personal monthly income 0.625 1440 Personal monthly income 0.621 1.57 0.152 1440 Personal monthly income 0.297 1281 700 - 1100 euros 0.206 0.405 0.210 0.408 0.869 0.48 0.825 1281 1100 - 1500 euros 0.260 0.440 0.277 0.448 0.557 0.71 0.645 1281 Above 1500 euros 0.309 0.463 0.315 0.465 0.840 0.43 0.857 1281 Born in France 0.758 0.429 0.753 0.432 0.823 0.93 0.472 1455 Born in same department 0.246 0.431	Owner	0.139	0.347	0.113	0.317	0.298	1.44	0 196	1440
Tenant, private housing0.3070.4620.2890.4630.6811.570.1521440Personal monthly incomeLess than 700 euros0.2250.4180.1970.3980.3131.210.2971281700 - 1100 euros0.2060.4050.2100.4080.8690.480.82512811100 - 1500 euros0.2600.4400.2770.4480.5570.710.6451281Above 1500 euros0.3090.4630.3150.4650.8400.430.8571281Born in France0.7580.4290.7530.4320.8230.930.4721455Born in same department0.2460.4310.2320.4220.6092.130.0481450Was naturalized French0.2100.4080.2380.4260.2961.270.2691393Holds another citizenship0.2130.4100.2340.4230.4281.700.1181404Speaks French with family membersFrench only0.5810.4940.6120.4870.3500.780.5831457Some French, some other language0.4040.4910.3710.4830.3020.700.6501457Other language only0.0140.1180.0170.1300.6720.640.6991457	Tenant, social housing	0.554	0.498	0.598	0.490	0.357	0.73	0.625	1440
Personal monthly income Less than 700 euros 0.225 0.418 0.197 0.398 0.313 1.21 0.297 1281 700 - 1100 euros 0.206 0.405 0.210 0.408 0.869 0.48 0.825 1281 1100 - 1500 euros 0.260 0.440 0.277 0.448 0.557 0.71 0.645 1281 Above 1500 euros 0.309 0.463 0.315 0.465 0.840 0.43 0.857 1281 Born in France 0.758 0.429 0.753 0.432 0.823 0.93 0.472 1455 Born in same department 0.246 0.431 0.232 0.422 0.609 2.13 0.048 1450 Was naturalized French 0.210 0.408 0.238 0.426 0.296 1.27 0.269 1393 Holds another citizenship 0.213 0.410 0.234 0.423 0.428 1.70 0.118 1404 Speaks French with family members French only 0.581 0.494 0.612 0.487 0.350 0.78 0.583	Tenant, private housing	0.307	0.462	0.289	0.453	0.681	1.57	0.152	1440
Less than 700 euros0.2250.4180.1970.3980.3131.210.2971281700 - 1100 euros0.2060.4050.2100.4080.8690.480.82512811100 - 1500 euros0.2600.4400.2770.4480.5570.710.6451281Above 1500 euros0.3090.4630.3150.4650.8400.430.8571281Born in France0.7580.4290.7530.4320.8230.930.4721455Born in same department0.2460.4310.2320.4220.6092.130.0481450Was naturalized French0.2100.4080.2340.4230.4281.700.1181404Speaks French with family members5810.4940.6120.4870.3500.780.5831457Some French, some other language0.4040.4910.3710.4830.3020.700.6501457Other language only0.0140.1180.0170.1300.6720.640.6991457	Personal monthly income						2107	0.152	100
700 - 1100 euros0.2060.4050.2100.4080.8690.480.82512811100 - 1500 euros0.2600.4400.2770.4480.5570.710.6451281Above 1500 euros0.3090.4630.3150.4650.8400.430.8571281Born in France0.7580.4290.7530.4320.8230.930.4721455Born in same department0.2460.4310.2320.4220.6092.130.0481450Was naturalized French0.2100.4080.2340.4230.4281.700.1181404Speaks French with family members570.5810.4940.6120.4870.3500.780.5831457Some French, some other language0.4040.4910.3710.4830.3020.700.6501457Other language only0.0140.1180.0170.1300.6720.640.6991457	Less than 700 euros	0.225	0.418	0.197	0.398	0.313	1.21	0 297	1281
1100 - 1500 euros0.2600.4400.2770.4480.5570.710.6451281Above 1500 euros0.3090.4630.3150.4650.8400.430.8571281Born in France0.7580.4290.7530.4320.8230.930.4721455Born in same department0.2460.4310.2320.4220.6092.130.0481450Was naturalized French0.2100.4080.2380.4260.2961.270.2691393Holds another citizenship0.2130.4100.2340.4230.4281.700.1181404Speaks French with family membersFrench only0.5810.4940.6120.4870.3500.780.5831457Some French, some other language0.4040.4910.3710.4830.3020.700.6501457Other language only0.0140.1180.0170.1300.6720.640.6991457	700 - 1100 euros	0.206	0.405	0.210	0.408	0.869	0.48	0.825	1281
Above 1500 euros0.3090.4630.3150.4650.8400.430.8571281Born in France0.7580.4290.7530.4320.8230.930.4721455Born in same department0.2460.4310.2320.4220.6092.130.0481450Was naturalized French0.2100.4080.2380.4260.2961.270.2691393Holds another citizenship0.2130.4100.2340.4230.4281.700.1181404Speaks French with family membersFrench only0.5810.4940.6120.4870.3500.780.5831457Some French, some other language0.4040.4910.3710.4830.3020.700.6501457Other language only0.0140.1180.0170.1300.6720.640.6991457	1100 - 1500 euros	0.260	0.440	0.277	0.448	0.557	0.71	0.645	1281
Born in France0.7580.4290.7530.4320.8230.930.4721455Born in same department0.2460.4310.2320.4220.6092.130.0481450Was naturalized French0.2100.4080.2380.4260.2961.270.2691393Holds another citizenship0.2130.4100.2340.4230.4281.700.1181404Speaks French with family membersFrench only0.5810.4940.6120.4870.3500.780.5831457Some French, some other language0.4040.4910.3710.4830.3020.700.6501457Other language only0.0140.1180.0170.1300.6720.640.6991457	Above 1500 euros	0.309	0.463	0 315	0.465	0.840	0.43	0.857	1201
Born in same department 0.246 0.431 0.232 0.422 0.609 2.13 0.048 1450 Was naturalized French 0.210 0.408 0.238 0.426 0.296 1.27 0.269 1393 Holds another citizenship 0.213 0.410 0.234 0.423 0.428 1.70 0.118 1404 Speaks French with family members French only 0.581 0.494 0.612 0.487 0.350 0.78 0.583 1457 Some French, some other language 0.404 0.491 0.371 0.483 0.302 0.70 0.650 1457 Other language only 0.014 0.118 0.017 0.130 0.672 0.64 0.699 1457	Born in France	0.758	0.429	0.753	0.432	0.823	0.93	0.472	1455
Was naturalized French 0.210 0.408 0.238 0.426 0.296 1.27 0.269 1393 Holds another citizenship 0.213 0.410 0.234 0.423 0.428 1.70 0.118 1404 Speaks French with family members French only 0.581 0.494 0.612 0.487 0.350 0.78 0.583 1457 Some French, some other language 0.404 0.491 0.371 0.483 0.302 0.70 0.650 1457 Other language only 0.014 0.118 0.017 0.130 0.672 0.64 0.699 1457	Born in same department	0.246	0.431	0.232	0.422	0.629	2 13	0.472	1450
Holds another citizenship 0.213 0.410 0.234 0.423 0.428 1.70 0.118 1404 Speaks French with family members French only 0.581 0.494 0.612 0.487 0.350 0.78 0.583 1457 Some French, some other language 0.404 0.491 0.371 0.483 0.302 0.70 0.650 1457 Other language only 0.014 0.118 0.017 0.130 0.672 0.64 0.699 1457	Was naturalized French	0.210	0.408	0.238	0.426	0.296	1 27	0.269	1393
Speaks French with family members 0.581 0.494 0.612 0.487 0.350 0.78 0.583 1457 Some French, some other language 0.404 0.491 0.371 0.483 0.302 0.70 0.650 1457 Other language only 0.014 0.118 0.017 0.130 0.672 0.64 0.699 1457	Holds another citizenship	0.213	0.410	0.234	0.423	0.428	1.20	0.118	1404
French only0.5810.4940.6120.4870.3500.780.5831457Some French, some other language0.4040.4910.3710.4830.3020.700.6501457Other language only0.0140.1180.0170.1300.6720.640.6991457	Speaks French with family members		0.720	0.201	0.125	0.420	1.70	0.110	1404
Some French, some other language 0.404 0.491 0.371 0.483 0.302 0.70 0.650 1457 Other language only 0.014 0.118 0.017 0.130 0.672 0.64 0.699 1457	French only	0.581	0.494	0.612	0.487	0 350	0.78	0 583	1457
Other language only 0.014 0.118 0.017 0.130 0.672 0.64 0.699 1457	Some French, some other language	0.404	0.491	0.371	0.483	0 302	0.70	0.505	1457
	Other language only	0.014	0.118	0.017	0.130	0.672	0.64	0.699	1457
Has lived in the city	Has lived in the city			01017	0.200	0.072	0.04	0.000	1437
For 2 years 0.168 0.374 0.185 0.389 0.488 1.33 0.243 1.458	For 2 years	0.168	0.374	0.185	0.389	0.488	1.33	0.243	1458
2 - 5 years 0.179 0.384 0.156 0.363 0.366 1.83 0.000 1458	, 2 - 5 vears	0.179	0.384	0.156	0.363	0.366	1.83	0.090	1458
5 - 10 years 0.156 0.364 0.157 0.364 0.970 1.18 0.315 1458	5 - 10 years	0.156	0.364	0.157	0.364	0.970	1,18	0 315	1458
More than 10 years 0.497 0.501 0.501 0.500 0.919 1 19 0.312 1458	More than 10 years	0.497	0.501	0.501	0.500	0.919	1,19	0 212	1458
Adherent of a religion 0.667 0.472 0.687 0.464 0.538 1.88 0.082 1.414	Adherent of a religion	0.667	0.472	0.687	0.464	0.538	1 88	0.082	1414
Regular churchgoer 0.355 0.479 0.323 0.468 0.331 0.55 0.772 1373	Regular churchgoer	0.355	0.479	0.323	0.468	0.331	0.55	0.772	1373

Notes : For each variable, we report the means and standard deviations in both the control group and in all treatment groups pooled together and indicate the pvalue of the difference. We then take each treatment group separately, test the hypothesis of joint significance of the treatment dummies, and indicate the test statistic and its p-value.

The unit of observation is the address in Panel A, the apartment in Panel B, and the respondent to the post-electoral survey in Panel C. In Panels B and C, standard errors are adjusted for clustering at the address level.

ens
citiz
ered
egist
vlv
e nev
y the
ast b
tes c
ov bi
1s an
atio
gistr
w re
ofne
ber
nun
n the
act o
lmpa
ä
Table

	(1)	(2)	(3) of 1000 2000 his initial	(4)	(5)	(6)
	registrations	Presidenti	of votes cust by m al elections	uuny unicyosered General	elections	Average on all
	•	1st round	2nd round	1st round	2nd round	rounds
Early Canvassing (EC)	0.014	0.012	0.012	0.001	0.010	600.0
	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(600.0)
Late Canvassing (LC)	0.031	0.028	0.024	0.016	0.015	0.021
	(0.012)**	(0.012)**	(0.012)**	(0.010)	(0.008)*	(00.00)**
Early Home registration (EH)	0.032	0.027	0.018	0.012	0.016	0.018
	(0.013)**	(0.013)**	(0.012)	(600.0)	(0.008)*	(0.010)*
Late Home registration (LH)	0.054	0.043	0.043	0.015	0.015	0.029
	(0.013)***	(0.012)***	(0.012)***	(0.008)*	(0.008)*	(0.009)***
Early Canvassing & Late Home registration (EC&LH)	0.060	0.047	0.048	0.024	0.024	0.036
	(0.013)***	(0.012)***	(0.012)***	**(600.0)	(0.008)***	(0.010)***
Early Home registration & Late Home registration (EH&LH)	0.096	0.084	0.083	0.030	0.043	0.060
6	(0.014)***	(0.012)***	(0.013)***	***(600'0)	***(600.0)	(0.010)***
🐱 Strata fixed effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apartment & Building controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	20458	20458	20458	20458	20458	20458
R-squared	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.03
Mean in Control Group	0.168	0.148	0.151	060.0	0.082	0.118
Linear combinations of estimates:						
Average effect of all interventions	0.048	0.040	0.038	0.016	0.020	0.029
1/6 (EC + LC + EH + LH + EC&LH + EH&LH)	(0.008)***	(0.008)***	(0.008)***	(0.006)***	(0.005)***	(0.006)***
Average effect of Canvassing	0.022	0.020	0.018	0.009	0.012	0.014
1/2 (EC + LC)	**(UIU.U)	(600.0)	-(600.0)	(100.0)	(0.007)*	(0.008)*
Average effect of Home registration	0.043	0.035	0.030	0.013	0.016	0.023
1/2 (EH + LH)	(0.011)***	(0.010)***	(0.010)***	(0.007)*	. (0.007)**	(0.008)***
Difference between average effect of Home reg. and Can.	0.021	0.015	0.013	0.005	0.003	0.00
1/2 (EH + LH) - 1/2 (EC + LC)	(0.011)*	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.008)
Difference between average effect of Late visit and Early visit	0.020	0.016	0.019	0.009	0.002	0.011
1/2 (LH + LC) - 1/2 (EH + EC)	(0.011)*	(0.010)	(0.010)*	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.008)
Notee - Clustered standard errors are in narentheses *** ** * indio	ate significance at 1 5 and 10	0%. We take the anar	tmant as the unit of	ai pae aoitenaado	clude oll newly regis	tered citizens in the

ò 5

sample apartments. In Panel B, we estimate the impact of the interventions on the number of votes cast by citizens who were initially unregistered or misregistered for each electoral round separately (columns 2 through 5) and the average on all four rounds (column 6). We finally report point estimates and standard errors of linear combinations of the coefficients.

Table 3: Impact on the selection operated by the registration process

		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Joint significativity of all selection variables		Registered in his	Registered (in his	Registered at his	Votes
interacted with		city	city or	address	
			elsewhere)		
Panel A. Any treatment					
Constant	statistic	10.62	1.28	1.75	7.38
	p-value	0.000***	0.008***	0.010**	0.000***
Any treatment group	statistic	2.21	1.39	0.93	2.27
	p-value	0.000***	0.086*	0.575	0.000***
Observations		1012	1009	1012	1012
R-squared		0.18	0.11	0.09	0.12
Panel B. Treatment groups included separately					
Constant	statistic	9.98	1.67	1.65	6.93
	p-value	0.000***	0.017**	0.020**	0.000***
Door-to-door canvassing group	statistic	1.45	1.09	1.04	1.27
	p-value	0.064*	0.341	0.405	0.159
Home registration group	statistic	1.29	1.32	0.70	1.55
	p-value	0.146	0.128	0.873	0.035**
Two visits group	statistic	2.22	1.85	1.06	1.78
	p-value	0.000***	0.005***	0.384	0.008***
Home registration group -	statistic	0.53	1.18	0.95	0.72
Door-to-door canvassing group	p-value	0.979	0.246	0.539	0.855
Two visits group -	statistic	1.36	1.49	0.95	0.80
Home registration group	p-value	0.104	0.050*	0.545	0.764
Observations		1012	1009	1012	1012
R-squared		0.23	0.17	0.14	0.16

Notes : ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. The respondent to the post-electoral survey is the unit of observation.

We regress individual registration or participation on various individual characteristics and their interaction with treatment dummies. In Panel A, all treatment groups are pooled together and we report the joint significativity of all characteristics and of the characteristics interacted with a treatment dummy. In Panel B, treatment groups are included separately, and we report the joint significativity of all characteristics, of the characteristics interacted with three treatment dummies, and of the difference between characteristics interacted with two different treatment dummies. We consider four outcomes: registration in the individual's city; registration in this or another city; registration at his address; standardized average of his participation at the four electoral rounds of 2012. The first and third outcomes are administrative data. The second and fourth are self-reported. In columns 1, 3, 5 and 7, the characteristics are interacted with a dummy equal to 1 for any treatment group and 0 otherwise. In the other columns, the characteristics are interacted with three treatment dummies.

Table 4. Impact on the selection operated by the registration process - voter rolls

	(1)	(2)
	Newly registered vs.	Newly registered in
	previously registered in	treatment gr. vs in
	control gr.	control gr.
Gender	0.003	-0.011
	(0.009)	(0.010)
Age	-0.137	0.030
	(0.016)***	(0.025)
Age ²	0.008	-0.004
	(0.001)***	(0.003)
Born in another city of the département	0.045	-0.008
	(0.018)**	(0.029)
Born in another département of the region	0.106	-0.042
	(0.018)***	(0.027)
Born in another region	0.215	-0.063
	(0.017)***	(0.022)***
Born abroad	0.202	-0.025
	(0.017)***	(0.023)
Voter turnout of previously registered in same address	0.053	-0.108
	(0.055)	(0.060)*
Constant	0.449	0.840
	(0.047)***	(0.057)***
Observations	5656	5138
R-squared	0.09	0.01

Notes : Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. We take the registered citizen as the unit of observation. Column 1 includes all registered citizens in the control group and regresses a dummy equal to 1 if the citizen is newly registered and 0 if he was previously registered on the independent variables. Column 2 includes all newly registered citizens and regresses a dummy equal to 1 if the citizen is in the control group on the independent variables.

Table 5: Impact on the political preferences selected by the registration process

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)				
	Position on the		Vote for lef	ft candidate					
	left	Presidential elections Gene		Presidential elections General	ntial elections General elections		Presidential elections General		elections
		1st round	2nd round	1st round	2nd round				
Panel A. Determinants of left	right position and vote	choice among re:	spondents to the p	ostelectoral surve	V				
Gender	-0.036	-0.005	0.013	-0.030	0.006				
	(0.043)	(0.041)	(0.034)	(0.048)	(0.046)				
Age	-0.002	-0.003	-0.003	0.001	-0.001				
	(0.002)	(0.002)**	(0.002)**	(0.002)	(0.002)				
Immigrant	0.151	0.109	0.084	0.155	0.158				
	(0.038)***	(0.038)***	(0.032)***	(0.042)***	(0.041)***				
Constant	0.845	0.893	0.951	0.747	0.864				
	(0.060)***	(0.060)***	(0.054)***	(0.076)***	(0.086)***				
Observations	424	421	415	249	197				
R-squared	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.04	0.05				

Newly registered x Any treatment	0.001	0.001	0.001	-0.002	0.001
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Newly registered	0.027	0.034	0.032	-0.005	0.017
	(0.003)***	(0.003)***	(0.002)***	(0.004)	(0.004)***
Constant	0.773	0.779	0.847	0.837	0.846
	(0.001)***	(0.001)***	(0.001)***	(0.001)***	(0.001)***
Observations	28083	20196	20792	12365	9782
R-squared	0.02	0.05	0.05	0.00	0.01

Notes : Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%.

In Panel A, the unit of analysis is the respondent to the post-electoral survey and the outcomes are reported left/right position and vote choice at each of the four rounds. Only respondents who are actually registered in their city are included in the sample and only citizens who voted are included in the sample for the regression of the corresponding electoral round. The outcomes are regressed on all variables available both for respondents to the postelectoral survey and for the entire sample: age, gender, immigrant.

Panel B uses the coefficients estimated in Panel A to predict the left/right position and vote choice of each registered citizen in the four cities included in the survey sample and compares the predicted position of different types of citizens. Only citizens who actually voted are included in the sample for the regression of the corresponding electoral round. For the second round of the general elections, we exclude the cities Saint-Denis and Sevran, in which only one (left-wing) candidate remained at the second round.

.

Table 6: Electoral participation of citizens by registration status and treatment group

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	Presidenti	al elections	General	elections	Average on
	1st round	2nd round	1st round	2nd round	all rounds
Newly registered x Early Canvassing (EC)	-0.009	-0.010	-0.026	0.009	-0.008
	(0.017)	(0.015)	(0.027)	(0.027)	(0.016)
Newly registered x Late Canvassing (LC)	-0.002	-0.024	-0.022	-0.008	-0.014
	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.032)	(0.029)	(0.017)
Newly registered x Early Home registration (EH)	0.006	-0.058	-0.040	-0.024	-0.028
	(0.017)	(0.018)***	(0.027)	(0.025)	(0.016)*
Newly registered x Late Home registration (LH)	-0.011	-0.030	-0.065	-0.059	-0.040
	(0.018)	(0.017)*	(0.026)**	(0.027)**	(0.016)**
Newly registered x Early Can. & Late Home reg. (EC&LH)	-0.018	-0.013	-0.033	-0.025	-0.021
	(0.018)	(0.017)	(0.028)	(0.026)	(0.016)
Newly registered x Early Home reg. & Late Home reg. (EH&LH)	-0.002	-0.012	-0.060	-0.003	-0.019
	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.027)**	(0.028)	(0.016)
Newly registered	0.111	0.114	0.041	0.020	0.071
	(0.011)***	(0.010)***	(0.018)**	(0.017)	(0.010)***
Previously registered, name not on mailbox	-0.184	-0.172	-0.117	-0.109	-0.145
	(0.007)***	(0.007)***	(0.008)***	(0.008)***	(0.006)***
Constant	0.764	0.782	0.485	0.466	0.624
	(0.004)***	(0.004)***	(0.005)***	(0.005)***	(0.004)***
Observations	33897	33896	33912	33878	33789
R-squared	0.05	0.05	0.01	0.01	0.04
Linear combinations of estimates:					
Av. difference between newly registered in treatment gr. and control	-0.006	-0.025	-0.041	-0.018	-0.022
1/6 (EC + LC + EH + LH + EC&LH + EH&LH)	(0.012)	(0.011)**	(0.019)**	(0.019)	(0.011)*
Av. difference between newly registered in Canvassing gr. and control	-0.006	-0.017	-0.024	0.000	-0.011
1/2 (EC + LC)	(0.014)	(0.013)	(0.024)	(0.023)	(0.014)
Av. difference between newly registered in Home registration gr. and contro	-0.003	-0.044	-0.053	-0.041	-0.034
1/2 (EH + LH)	(0.014)	(0.014)***	(0.023)**	(0.022)*	(0.013)**
Av. difference between newly registered in Home reg. gr. and Can. gr.	0.003	-0.027	-0.029	-0.042	-0.024
1/2 (EH + LH) - 1/2 (EC + LC)	(0.014)	(0.014)*	(0.022)	(0.021)**	(0.013)*

Notes : Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. We take the individual participation at a given electoral round as the unit of observation and include all previously registered citizens (registered before 2011) and newly registered (registered in 2011). For the former, we control for whether the name was found on a mailbox at the corresponding address or not, as a proxy for the quality of registration (well- or mis-registered).

We estimate differences in the propensity to vote of previously and newly registered citizens, and newly registered citizens in the control and the treatment groups for each electoral round separately (columns 1 through 4) and for their average (column 5).

We report point estimates and standard errors of linear combinations of the coefficients.

Table 7: Impact of the visits on the participation of citizens registered prior to the visits

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	Presidenti	al elections	General	elections	Average on
	1st round	2nd round	1st round	2nd round	all rounds
Panel A. All citizens registered prior to the visits					
Any treatment	-0.013	-0.005	-0.006	0.000	-0.006
	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.010)
Strata fixed effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual and Building controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	8367	8367	8401	8394	8349
R-squared	0.05	0.04	0.10	0.09	0.09
Mean in Control Group	0.733	0.752	0.472	0.452	0.602
Panel B. Groups of citizens registered prior to the visits included separately					
Any treatment x Registered before 2011, name on mailbox	-0.018	-0.002	-0.018	-0.018	-0.014
	(0.016)	(0.017)	(0.021)	(0.021)	(0.015)
Any treatment x Registered before 2011, name not on mailbox	-0.001	-0.006	0.008	0.023	0.006
	(0.021)	(0.020)	(0.021)	(0.021)	(0.017)
Any treatment x Registered in 2011 before the visits	-0.047	-0.025	-0.023	-0.019	-0.026
	(0.020)**	(0.019)	(0.043)	(0.039)	(0.022)
Strata fixed effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual and Building controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	8367	8367	8401	8394	8349
R-squared	0.75	0.77	0.53	0.51	0.76
Mean in Control Group, Registered before 2011, name on mailbox	0.765	0.770	0.484	0.473	0.623
Mean in Control Group, Registered before 2011, name not on mailbox	0.636	0.677	0.415	0.398	0.531
Mean in Control Group, Registered in 2011, before visit	0.952	0.948	0.628	0.567	0.772

Notes : Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. We take the individual participation at a given electoral round as the unit of observation and include all citizens registered prior to the visits. Panel A pools all these citizens together. Panel B distinguishes between 4 categories: citizens registered before 2011 whose name was found on a mailbox; citizens registered prior to 2011 whose name was found on no mailbox (they have likely moved out); and citizens registered in 2011, but prior to our visit.

We estimate differences in the electoral participation of these citizens in the control group and all treatment groups pooled together for each round separately (columns 1 through 4) and for their standardized average (column 5).

Table 8: Treatment impact of home registration

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)
	Number of nev	v registrations	Number	r of votes cast by in	itially unregistered	i and misregistered	l citizens
			Presidentia	al elections	General	elections	Average on all
	AII	At home	1st round	2nd round	1st round	2nd round	rounds
Early Home registration & Late Home registration	0.017	0.074	0.021	0.028	-0.016	0.011	0.011
	(0:036)	(0.021)***	(0.033)	(0.035)	(0.024)	(0.025)	(0.026)
Constant	0.321	0.064	0.266	0.270	0.158	0.147	0.210
	(0.024)***	(0.011)***	(0.023)***	(0.023)***	(0.017)***	(0.016)***	(0.018)***
Observations	1399	1399	1399	1399	1399	1399	1399
R-squared	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

Notes : Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, ** indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. We take the apartment as the unit of observation and include all newly registered citizens living in apartments which opened their door at the second visit, in the treatment groups "Early Canvassing & Late Home registration" and "Early Home registration & Late Home registration". The omitted group is "Early Canvassing & Late Home registration" and "Early Home registration". The omitted group is "Early Canvassing & Late Home registration".

-
Ę
5
Ŧ
ē
E
ea
Ę
2
a a
Ë
ta
č
<u>8</u>
Ta
ist
ŝ
Y
Ą
ŝ
<u>:</u>
-D
Ð
<u>le</u>
ē
ē
σ
an
a
Ē
ę
ŝ
ž
e
臣
e
Š
Ę
ā
ž
Ĕ
Ξ
.5
e
÷
ě
Ĕ
E.
Ja La
ă
ő
Å
Ta

Panel A. Comparison between newly registered citizens and previously registered citizens			
	(1)		
Previously reg. citizens, all groups	-0.384		
	(0.005)***		
Newly reg. citizens, control group	-0.428		
	(0.016)***		
Difference between newly reg. citizens and previously reg. citizens	-0.044		
	(0.016)***		
Panel B. Comparison between newly registered citizens in the treatment groups and in the	control group		
	(1)	(2)	(3)
	All treatment gr.	Canvassing gr.	Home registration gr.
Newly reg. citizens, treatment groups	-0.453	-0.434	-0.467
	(0.008)***	(0.016)***	(0.013)***
Difference between newly reg. citizens in treatment groups and control group	-0.025	-0.006	-0.039
	(0.018)	(0.022)	(0.021)*
Difference between newly reg. citizens in treatment groups and control group,	-0.030	-0.011	-0.042
controlling for initial registration status	(0.018)*	(0.023)	(0.021)**

Notes: ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. We report the point estimates and standard errors of non-linear combinations of coefficients obtained after running seemingly unrelated regressions of equation [5].

69

As an example of how to read the table, the coefficients in Panel A mean that the participation of previously registered citizens whose name was found on a mailbox declined by 38.4% between the presidential and general elections. Newly registered citizens in the control group experienced a decline of 42.8%, 4.4 percentage points stronger than the previously registered. In Panel B, the last line reports the weighted average of the difference between participation decline for newly registered citizens with different initial registration status in the treatment and control groups.

Table 10: Impact of the interventions on level of politicization

	(1)
Early Canvassing (EC)	0.021
	(0.041)
Late Canvassing (LC)	0.090
	(0.035)**
Early Home registration (EH)	0.095
	(0.038)**
Late Home registration (LH)	0.036
	(0.036)
Early Canvassing & Late Home registration (EC&LH)	0.046
	(0.037)
Early Home registration & Late Home registration (EH&LH)	0.044
	(0.038)
Individual controls	Yes
Observations	1219
R-squared	0.18
Linear combinations of estimates:	
Av. difference between newly registered in treatment gr. and control	0.055
1/6 (EC + LC + EH + LH + EC&LH + EH&LH)	(0.025)**
Av. difference between newly registered in Canvassing gr. and control	0.056
1/2 (EC + LC)	(0.031)*
Av. difference between newly registered in Home registration gr. and control	0.065
1/2 (EH + LH)	(0.030)**
Av. difference between newly registered in Two visits gr. and control	0.045
1/2 (EC&LH + EH&LH)	(0.030)

Notes : Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. The respondent to the post-electoral survey is the unit of observation. The outcome is the standardized average of 36 indicators of level of politicization.

We report point estimates and standard errors of linear combinations of the coefficients.

1.9 Appendix

1.9.1 Example of leaflets handed out by the canvassers







1.9.3 Estimate of the initial numbers of unregistered and misregistered citizens

We estimate the initial numbers of unregistered and misregistered citizens based on the information collected by the canvassers during the door-to-door visits. For each apartment that opened its door, the canvassers reported the number of well-registered, misregistered and unregistered citizens, as well as the number of foreigners.

We first focus on addresses for which it was possible to link apartments to mailboxes. In this group of addresses, we were able to collect monitoring sheets for addresses accounting for 89 percent of all apartements. The canvassers were able to identify the number of well-registered citizens, misregistered citizens, unregistered citizens, and foreigners in 67 percent of these apartments.

We address three issues when examining this data. First, the apartments that opened their
door might systematically differ from those that remained closed. Second, some citizens who were not on the 2011 voter rolls had already registered by the time of the visits. Third, the information recorded by the canvassers might be subject to systematic bias.

1st caveat : Non-representativeness of apartments which opened their door

Apartments with relatively more individuals may be more likely to open their door. Failing to take this into account would result in overestimating the size of the average household. More generally, any systematic difference between apartments which opened their door and the others might introduce biases when estimating the number of citizens of each type. We address this difficulty by comparing the household composition of apartments which opened their door twice vs. only once in addresses that were targeted for two visits.

The strategy is as follows. Whether the apartment hosts at least one unregistered citizen or not can be described by a dummy. Similarly, whether it hosts exactly one, two, three or more unregistered citizens can be described by a series of dummies. The same of course is true for well-registered citizens, misregistered citizens, and foreigners.

For any dummy, denote by N_i and f_i the (unobserved) number and proportion of apartments for which the dummy is equal to i = (0 or 1). Denote p_i^1 , p_i^2 , $p_i^{1\&2}$ and ρ_i to be the (unobserved) probabilities that an apartment of type i opens its door in phase 1 (early visits), in phase 2 (late visits), or in both phases and the correlation between the two Bernoulli random variables describing door-opening in phase 1 and 2. We assume that $p_i^1 = p_i^2$ and that $\rho_1 = \rho_0 = \rho$: the correlation between the two Bernoulli variables is the same for apartments of type 0 and of type 1. Denote N, X_i^1 and $X_i^{1\&2}$ to be the (observed) total number of apartments and the numbers of apartments of type i which opened their door in phase 1 or in both phases.

This gives us a system of 4 equations in 5 unknowns:

$$\begin{cases} X_0^1 = N_0 p_0^1 & (1) \\ X_1^1 = (N - N_0) p_1^1 & (2) \\ X_0^{1\&2} = N_0 p_0^{1\&2} & (3) \\ X_1^{1\&2} = (N - N_0) p_1^{1\&2} & (4) \end{cases}$$

But $p_i^{1\&2}$ can be written as a function of p_i^1 and ρ for i = (0 or 1): $p_i^{1\&2} = (p_i^1)^2 + \rho \times p_i^1 (1 - p_i^1)$. This reduces the number of unknowns to 4 and makes the system solvable. We find that N_0 must be a solution to the following equation:

$$(N_0)^2 \left[X_1^1 X_0^{1\&2} - X_0^1 X_1^{1\&2} \right] = 0$$

+ $N_0 \left[N \left(X_0^1 X_1^{1\&2} - X_1^1 X_0^{1\&2} \right) - \left(X_0^1 \right)^2 \left(X_1^1 - X_1^{1\&2} \right) - \left(X_1^1 \right)^2 \left(X_0^1 - X_0^{1\&2} \right) \right]$
+ $\left[N \left(X_0^1 \right)^2 \left(X_1^1 - X_1^{1\&2} \right) \right]$

This admits two possible roots. N_0 is equal to the root between 0 and N.

From N_0 we immediately infer $N_1 \equiv N - N_0$ and $f_1 \equiv \frac{N_1}{N_1 + N_0}^{25}$

. We repeat this exercise for any dummy, and infer that, according to the information recorded by the canvassers, the average sample apartment included 0.58 well-registered citizens, 0.30 misregistered citizens, 0.27 unregistered citizens and 0.48 foreigners, for a total of 1.62 adult members.

2nd caveat: Taking into account the timing of the visits

Some of the citizens identified as well-registered by the canvassers had registered between January 1st 2011 and the visits. Since we know the date of the visits as well as the registration date, we can precisely estimate the importance of this phenomenon. We find that, on average, 0.03 citizens who were initially misregistered and 0.02 citizens who were initially unregistered had registered by the time of the visits.

Combined with the information recorded by the canvassers, this means that, as of January 2011, apartments in the experimental sample included 0.53 well-registered citizens, 0.33 misregistered citizens, 0.29 unregistered citizens and 0.48 foreigners.

3rd caveat: Systematic biases in the information recorded by canvassers

The information recorded by canvassers might be systematically biased. Many citizens are confused about their registration status. In particular, many citizens do not know that registration is addressspecific and thus claim that they are well-registered even though they moved away without updating their registration status. The context of the visits did not enable the canvassers to ask more questions than what was natural to advise the respondents on what course of action to take. Moreover, the reemphasized civic norm of participation might have resulted in some respondents consciously lying about their registration status, to avoid being perceived as deviants.

 $[\]frac{2^{5}f_{1} \text{ can be estimated using this method only if } X_{0}^{1\&2} \neq 0, X_{1}^{1\&2} \neq 0 \text{ and } (X_{1}^{1} \neq 0 \text{ or } X_{0}^{1} \neq 0). \text{ We use the following approximations for characteristics for which these conditions are not satisfied: } f_{1} \sim 1 \text{ if } X_{0}^{1\&2} = 0; f_{1} \sim 0 \text{ if } X_{1}^{1\&2} \neq 0 \text{ and } X_{1}^{1\&2} \neq 0 \text{ but } X_{1}^{1} = 0; f_{1} \sim 1 \text{ if } X_{0}^{1\&2} \neq 0 \text{ but } X_{0}^{1} = 0.$

Altogether, we expect the misidentification of misregistered citizens as registered citizens to be the by far largest bias. Fortunately, there is a more reliable method to estimate the number of well-registered citizens. We count the number of citizens listed on the 2011 voter rolls and whose name was found on the mailbox of an apartment in the experimental sample and we add the number of citizens who were automatically registered as they turned 18^{26} . On average, we find that experimental sample apartments host 0.23 well-registered citizens. We infer that the extra 0.30 (0.53 - 0.23) are actually misregistered citizens.

In the end, our preferred estimate is that initially, experimental sample apartments included 0.23 well-registered citizens, 0.63 misregistered citizens, 0.29 unregistered citizens and 0.48 foreigners.

The composition of the total sample population

While the estimates above were derived for apartments located in addresses in which it was possible to link apartments to mailboxes, we assume that the number of initially misregistered citizens and unregistered citizens was similar in apartments located in the other addresses. Adding the citizens who were automatically registered as they turned 18, we estimate that apartments in the experimental sample hosted 12,878 misregistered citizens and 5,977 unregistered citizens. In addition, 4,422, 15,371 and 4,434 well-registered citizens were hosted respectively by the experimental sample apartments, by non-experimental sample apartments located in the experimental sample addresses and by addresses located in the initial sample but not included in the experimental sample because no additional name was found on the mailboxes. In sum, in the areas covered by this study, we estimate that there were initially 24,227 (56.2 percent) well-registered citizens, 12,878 (29.9 percent) misregistered citizens and 5,977 (13.9 percent) unregistered citizens.

Fraction of citizens initially unregistered and misregistered who live in apartments that opened their door to canvassers at least once

Based on canvassers' reports, the average apartments targeted for two visits which opened its door at least once hosts 0.37 well-registered citizens, 0.19 misregistered citizens, 0.17 unregistered citizens and 0.33 foreigners. After applying the same transformations as above, we estimate that

²⁶This sum might slightly differ from the actual number of well-registered citizens for two different reasons, with opposite sign. First, this method identifies as well-registered citizens people who have actually moved out but whose name is still on the apartment's mailbox, because a relative still lives there, for instance. Second, this method fails to identify as well-registered citizens people who live in the apartment, but whose name is not listed on the mailbox.

69.9 percent of citizens initially unregistered or misregistered live in apartments which opened their door to canvassers.

1.9.4 Sampling frame of the postelectoral survey

The postelectoral survey was administered between June 18, the day following the second round of the general elections, and July 15. All surveyors were students in political science, economics, social sciences, or law. To facilitate the coordination of the surveyors, the survey took place in only four cities, Saint-Denis, Cergy, Sevran and Montpellier, which account for 84 percent of the entire sample.

The survey was administered only to French citizens who were not registered at their address as of January 2011. For this purpose, for each address, surveyors were given a list of names of individuals that they should NOT survey: citizens who were registered on the 2011 voter rolls and citizens who were automatically registered in 2011. After introducing themselves and explaining the purpose of their visit, the surveyors asked the person who had openened the door whether he was a French citizen. If yes, they asked him whether he accepted to respond, wrote down his first and last name and rapidly checked that he was not listed on their list. If not, they went on administering the questionnaire. If their interlocutor was not French, not willing to answer, or if his name appeared on the list, they asked whether they could survey another member of the household. Surveyors were instructed to survey no more than one person in each apartment.

The surveyors did not know the treatment condition of the buildings where they conducted surveys. Still, we could not exclude ex ante that the response rate might be different in the control and treatment groups. Therefore, half of the addresses were randomly selected to be covered twice: in these addresses, surveyors knocked again at all doors that had remained closed the first time. Since we do not find any statistically significant difference between the answer rates in the control and in the treatment groups, we do not exploit this feature when analyzing the data.

Finally, administering the questionnaire required 15 to 20 minutes on average. Only 2 percent of respondents who started answering the questionnaire refused to go to the end.

1.9.5 Proofs of claims stated in Section 4

To prove the claims of Section 4, we use the following definitions and theorems.

First-order stochastic dominance

The distribution function F first-order stochastically dominates G if, for every weakly increasing $z: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}, \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z(b) f(b) db \geq \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z(b) g(b) db$, where f and g are the density functions corresponding to F and G.

Monotone Likelihood Ratio dominance

F dominates G in the Monotone Likelihood Ratio sense if $l(b) \equiv \frac{g(b)}{f(b)}$ is weakly decreasing.

Increasing differences

f(b,c) satisfies log-increasing differences in b and c iff $\frac{f(b',c')}{f(b',c)} < \frac{f(b,c')}{f(b,c)}$ for any b' > b and c' > c. This condition is verified by any bivariate normal density with negative correlation:

Let's consider any bivariate normal density f(b,c) with correlation $\rho < 0$. The bivariate density is fully characterized by ρ , μ_b , μ_c , σ_b and σ_c :

$$f(b,c) = \left(2\pi\sigma_b\sigma_c\sqrt{1-\rho^2}\right)^{-1} \times \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2(1-\rho^2)}\left(\left(\frac{b-\mu_b}{\sigma_b}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{c-\mu_c}{\sigma_c}\right)^2 - 2\rho\left(\frac{b-\mu_b}{\sigma_b}\right)\left(\frac{c-\mu_c}{\sigma_c}\right)\right)\right)$$

for any $b \in]-\infty, \infty[$ and $c \in]-\infty, \infty[$.

Now take any b and any c' > c.

 $\frac{f(b,c')}{f(b,c)} = \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2(1-\rho^2)}\left(\left(\frac{c'-\mu_c}{\sigma_c}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{c-\mu_c}{\sigma_c}\right)^2 - 2\rho\left(\frac{b-\mu_b}{\sigma_b}\right)\left(\frac{c'-c}{\sigma_c}\right)\right)\right)$ Now taking any b' > b and using the fact that $\exp(x)$ is strictly increasing for any x and our

assumption that $\rho < 0$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{f(b',c')}{f(b',c)} &< \frac{f(b,c')}{f(b,c)} \\ \Leftrightarrow -\frac{1}{2(1-\rho^2)} \left(\left(\frac{c'-\mu_c}{\sigma_c} \right)^2 - \left(\frac{c-\mu_c}{\sigma_c} \right)^2 - 2\rho \left(\frac{b'-\mu_b}{\sigma_b} \right) \left(\frac{c'-c}{\sigma_c} \right) \right) < -\frac{1}{2(1-\rho^2)} \left(\left(\frac{c'-\mu_c}{\sigma_c} \right)^2 - \left(\frac{c-\mu_c}{\sigma_c} \right)^2 - 2\rho \left(\frac{b-\mu_b}{\sigma_b} \right) \left(\frac{c'-c}{\sigma_c} \right) \right) \\ \Leftrightarrow -2\rho \left(\frac{b'-\mu_b}{\sigma_b} \right) \left(\frac{c'-c}{\sigma_c} \right) > -2\rho \left(\frac{b-\mu_b}{\sigma_b} \right) \left(\frac{c'-c}{\sigma_c} \right) \\ \Leftrightarrow (b'-b) (c'-c) > 0 \end{aligned}$$

Thus, -f(b, c) satisfies log-increasing differences in b and c.

Theorem 1

F first-order stochastically dominates G if and only if $F(b) \leq G(b)$ for all b.

Proof of Theorem 1

Define H(b) = F(b) - G(b) for all b.

Proof that F first-order stochastically dominates $G \Rightarrow F(b) \leq G(b)$ for all b. Suppose towards contradiction that $\exists b \ast$ such that $H(b \ast) > 0$. Define $z(b) = \mathbf{1}_{\{b \geq b \ast\}}$. Then, $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z(b)h(b)db =$ $\int_{b*}^{\infty} h(b)db = -H(b*) < 0$, from the definition of H and the assumption that H(b*) > 0, and $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z(b)h(b)db > 0$, from the fact that z(b) is weakly increasing and the assumption that F firstorder stochastically dominates G. This finishes the proof by contradiction.

Proof that $F(b) \leq G(b)$ for all $b \Rightarrow F$ first-order stochastically dominates G. Take any weakly increasing z that is differentiable everywhere. Then, by integration by parts, $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z(b)h(b)db = [z(b)H(b)]_{-\infty}^{\infty} - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z'(b)H(b)db = - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z'(b)H(b)db \geq 0$ since z is weakly increasing and $H(b) \leq 0$ for all b. This shows that F first-order stochastically dominates G.

Theorem 2

If F dominates G in the Monotone Likelihood Ratio sense, then F also first-order stochastically dominates G.

Proof of Theorem 2

If F dominates G in the Monotone Likelihood Ratio sense, then $\frac{g(b')}{g(b)} \leq \frac{f(b')}{f(b)}$ for any b' > b. Since f and g are density functions, $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(b)db = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g(b)db = 1$ and $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (f-g)(b)db = 0$. Thus, there exists b* such that f(b*) = g(b*).²⁷

 $\frac{g(b')}{g(b)} < \frac{f(b')}{f(b)} \text{ for any } b' > b \text{ implies } \int_{-\infty}^{x} g(b)db \ge \frac{g(x)}{f(x)} \int_{-\infty}^{x} f(b)db \text{ for any } x.$ We can further show that $\int_{-\infty}^{x} g(b)db \ge \int_{-\infty}^{x} f(b)db$ for any x:

- for any $x \leq b^*$, $\frac{g(x)}{f(x)} \geq \frac{g(b^*)}{f(b^*)} = 1$ so that $\int_{-\infty}^x g(b)db \geq \frac{g(x)}{f(x)} \int_{-\infty}^x f(b)db \geq \int_{-\infty}^x f(b)db$
- for any $x > b^*$, $\frac{g(x)}{f(x)} \le \frac{g(b^*)}{f(b^*)} = 1$. $g(x) \le f(x)$ for any $x > b^*$ implies $\int_x^{\infty} g(b)db < \int_x^{\infty} f(b)db$ for any $x > b^*$. Since $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(b)db = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g(b)db = 1$, this implies $\int_{-\infty}^{x} g(b)db \ge \int_{-\infty}^{x} f(b)db$ for any $x > b^*$

So, $G(x) \ge F(x)$ for any x: using Theorem 1, this shows that F first-order stochastically dominates G.

Claim 1

Under Conditions ID and R1, compliers have lower benefits of voting on average than always-takers: $E[b_i | i \text{ is complier}] \leq E[b_i | i \text{ is always-taker}].$

Proof of Claim 1

²⁷This implicitly assumes the continuity of f and g. However, the proof holds even without this assumption.

 $E\left[b_{i} \mid i \text{ is complier}\right] = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } E\left[b_{i} \mid i \text{ is always-taker}\right] = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } E\left[b_{i} \mid i \text{ is always-taker}\right] = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \text{ and } E\left[b_{i} \mid i \text{ is always-taker}\right] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \text{ with } h(b) = \frac{\int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b h(b)db \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db$ $\frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} f(b,c)dc \ db}$

h and k are two density functions: since f(b,c) > 0 for any b and c, h(b) > 0 and k(b) > 0 for any $b \in]-\infty,\infty[$. Moreover, $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h(b)db = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} k(b)db = 1$. We call H and K the distribution functions corresponding to h and k.

We now show that $\frac{h(b')}{h(b)} \leq \frac{k(b')}{k(b)}$ for any b' > b. $\frac{h(b')}{h(b)} \leq \frac{k(b')}{k(b)}$ for any $b' > b \iff \frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b',c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b')} f(b',c)dc} \leq \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} f(b,c)dc}$ for any b' > b, which we show in two steps First, we show that $\frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b',c)dc}{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')} f(b',c)dc} \leq \frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')} f(b,c)dc} \text{ for any } b' > b \text{ using Condition ID.}$ Take b' > b. Since -f(b,c) satisfies log-increasing differences: $\frac{f(b',c')}{f(b',c)} \leq \frac{f(b,c')}{f(b,c)}$ for any $c \in [g(b'), g(b')/\lambda]$. Therefore, $\frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b',c)dc}{f(b',c)} \leq \frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{f(b,c)}$ or $\frac{f(b',c)}{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b',c)dc} \geq \frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{f(b,c)}$ $\frac{f(b,c)}{\int_{g(b')/\lambda}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc} \text{ for any } c \in] -\infty, g(b')] \text{ and } \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b')} f(b',c)dc}{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b',c)dc} \geq \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b')} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc} \text{ or } \frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b',c)dc}{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b',c)dc} \leq \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc} = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc} = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b',c)dc}{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc} = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{g(b')/\lambda}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc} = \frac{\int_{g(b')/\lambda}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{g(b')/\lambda}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc} = \frac{\int_{$ $\frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')} f(b,c)dc}$

Second, we show that $\frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b')} f(b,c)dc} \leq \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} f(b,c)dc} \text{ for any } b \text{ and } b' > b \text{ using Condition R1.}$ Consider any b' > b. We show $\frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b')} f(b,c)dc} \le \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} f(b,c)dc}$ or $\frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{F(g(b')|b)} \le \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{F(g(b)|b)}$ by showing that $z\left(\widetilde{\lambda}\right) = \frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')} f(c|b)dc}{F(g(b)|b)} - \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(c|b)dc}{F(g(b)|b)}$ decreases in $\widetilde{\lambda}$ for any $\widetilde{\lambda} \in [1, 1/\lambda]$ and that z(1) = 0.

z(1) = 0 is immediate.

We prove that $z(\tilde{\lambda})$ decreases in $\tilde{\lambda}$ for any $\tilde{\lambda} \in [1, 1/\lambda]$ by iteration. First, $z'(1) \leq 0$. Indeed, $z'(1) = \lim_{\varepsilon > 0, \varepsilon \to 0} \frac{z(1+\varepsilon)-z(1)}{\varepsilon}$. For any $\varepsilon > 0$, $\frac{z(1+\varepsilon)-z(1)}{\varepsilon} \leq 0 \Leftrightarrow \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(\frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')(1+\varepsilon)} f(c|b)dc}{F(g(b')|b)} - \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)(1+\varepsilon)} f(c|b)dc}{F(g(b)|b)} \right) \leq 0$. As $\varepsilon \to 0$, $\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(\frac{\int_{g(b')}^{g(b')(1+\varepsilon)} f(c|b)dc}{F(g(b')|b)} - \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)(1+\varepsilon)} f(c|b)dc}{F(g(b)|b)} \right) \to \frac{g(b')f(g(b')|b)}{F(g(b')|b)} - \frac{g(b)f(g(b)|b)}{F(g(b)|b)}.$ From Condition R1, we have that $\frac{g(b')f(g(b')b)}{F(g(b')b)} < \frac{g(b)f(g(b)b)}{F(g(b)b)}$. Therefore, $z'(1) \leq 0$ We now show that if $z\left(\bar{\lambda}\right)$ decreases in $\bar{\lambda}$ for any $\bar{\lambda} \in \left[1, \tilde{\lambda}\right]$, we also have $z'\left(\tilde{\lambda}\right) < 0$, where $\tilde{\bar{\lambda}} \leq 1/\lambda$. Since $z\left(\bar{\lambda}\right)$ decreases in $\bar{\lambda}$ for any $\bar{\lambda} \in \left[1, \tilde{\lambda}\right]$, $z\left(\bar{\lambda}\right) \leq 0$: $\frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')\bar{\lambda}}f(c|b)dc}{F(g(b')b)} \leq \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b)\bar{\lambda}}f(c|b)dc}{F(g(b)b)}$, which implies $\frac{F\left(g(b')\bar{\lambda}b\right)}{F(g(b')b)} = \frac{F(g(b')b)+f_{g(b')}^{g(b')\bar{\lambda}}f(c|b)dc}{F(g(b')b)} \leq \frac{F(g(b)b)+f_{g(b')}^{g(b')\bar{\lambda}}f(c|b)dc}{F(g(b)b)} = \frac{F\left(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b\right)}{F(g(b')b)}$. By definition, $z'\left(\tilde{\lambda}\right) = \lim_{\varepsilon > 0, \varepsilon \to 0} \frac{z(\tilde{\lambda}+c)-z(\tilde{\lambda})}{\varepsilon}$. For any $\varepsilon > 0$, $\frac{z(\tilde{\lambda}+c)-z(\tilde{\lambda})}{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')\bar{\lambda}}F(g(b)b)}{F(g(b')b)} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b)}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}f(c|b)dc}{F(g(b)b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b')b)} - \frac{F(g(b')\bar{\lambda}b)}{F(g(b')b)} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b')\bar{\lambda}b)} - \frac{F(g(b')\bar{\lambda}b)}{F(g(b')b)} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b')\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b')\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b)} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b)}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b')\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{\lambda}+c)}}{F(g(b)\bar{\lambda}b)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{f_{g(b')}^{g(b')(\tilde{$

Since $\frac{h(b')}{h(b)} \leq \frac{k(b')}{k(b)}$ for any b' > b, we can apply *Theorem 2* to h and k: K first-order stochastically dominates H. By definition of the first-order stochastic dominance, this implies that for every weakly increasing function z(b), $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z(b)h(b)db \leq \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z(b)k(b)db$. In particular, for the identity function z(b) = b, we get $E[b_i \mid i \text{ is complier}] \leq E[b_i \mid i \text{ is always-taker}]$ Q.E.D.

Claim 2

Under Conditions ID and R1, compliers face a higher registration cost on average than alwaystakers: $E[c_i | i \text{ is complier}] > E[c_i | i \text{ is always-taker}].$

Proof of Claim 2

$$E\left[c_{i} \mid i \text{ is always-taker}\right] = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} c \int_{g^{-1}(c)}^{g^{-1}(c)} f(b,c) db \ dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g^{-1}(c)}^{g^{-1}(c)} f(b,c) db \ dc} \text{ and } E\left[c_{i} \mid i \text{ is complier}\right] = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} c \int_{g^{-1}(\lambda c)}^{g^{-1}(c)} f(b,c) db \ dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g^{-1}(\lambda c)}^{g^{-1}(c)} f(b,c) db \ dc}$$

The proof follows the same steps and is symmetric to the proof of Claim 1.

First, we write $E[c_i \mid i \text{ is complier}] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} ch(c)dc$ and $E[c_i \mid i \text{ is always-taker}] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} ck(c)dc$. We then show that H first-order stochastically dominates K, using *Theorem 2*, which concludes.

Claim 3

Under Conditions ID and R1, compliers have a lower propensity to vote on average than always-takers: $E[v(b_i) | i \text{ is complier}] \leq E[v(b_i) | i \text{ is always-taker}].$

$$\begin{array}{l} \textit{Proof of Claim 3}\\ E\left[v\left(b_{i}\right)\mid i \text{ is always-taker}\right] = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b) \int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} f(b,c)dc \ db} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b)k(b)db\\ \textit{and } E\left[v\left(b_{i}\right)\mid i \text{ is complier}\right] = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b) \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b)h(b)db\\ \textit{where } h(b) \textit{ and } k(b) \textit{ are defined as in the proof of } \textit{Claim 2:}\\ h(b) = \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} \textit{ and } k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} f(b,c)dc \ db}.\\ v(b) = 1 - F_{\varepsilon} (-b) \textit{ is increasing since } F_{\varepsilon}(.) \textit{ is increasing.} \end{array}$$

Since K first-order stochastically dominates H (as proved in the proof of Claim 2), we thus get $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b)h(b)db \leq \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b)k(b)db$, ie $E[v(b_i) \mid i \text{ is complier}] < E[v(b_i) \mid i \text{ is always-taker}].$

Claim 4

Under Conditions ID and R1, compliers who vote have lower expected benefits of voting on average than always-takers: $E[b_i | i \text{ is complier}, i \text{ votes}] \leq E[b_i | i \text{ is always-taker}, i \text{ votes}].$

Proof of Claim 4

 $E[b_i \mid i \text{ is always-taker}, i \text{ votes}] = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db} \text{ and}$ $E[b_i \mid i \text{ is complier}, i \text{ votes}] = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db}.$ We write $w(b,c) \equiv v(b)f(b,c)$. Since -f(b,c) satisfies log-increasing differences in b and c,

We write $w(b,c) \equiv v(b)f(b,c)$. Since -f(b,c) satisfies log-increasing differences in b and c, -w(b,c) satisfies log-increasing differences as well : $\frac{w(b',c')}{w(b',c)} = \frac{f(b',c')}{f(b',c)} < \frac{f(b,c')}{f(b,c)} = \frac{w(b,c')}{w(b,c)}$ for any b' > b and c' > c. Therefore, substituting w(b,c) to f(b,c) in the proof of *Claim* 1, we get $\frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db}$, $\frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db}$, ie $E[b_i \mid i \text{ is complier}, i \text{ votes}] < E[b_i \mid i \text{ is always-taker}, i \text{ votes}].$

Claim 5

Under Conditions ID, R1 and R2, for a given share of compliers and unchanged conditional densities $f(c \mid b)$, an increase in the compliers' propensity to vote, generated by an increase in the relative number of compliers with a higher b, is concomitant to an increase in their benefits of voting and registration cost.

Proof of Claim 5

Absent the condition R2, we have that, for any $b, z(b') \ge z(b)$ for any b' and b such that $g(b') \ge g(b)/\lambda$. Indeed, the conditional expectation is then taken on a separated support, "higher" for b' than b. For b' and b such that $g(b') < g(b)/\lambda$, z(b') - z(b) is driven by two opposite effects. The support is still "higher" for b' which tends to make the difference positive. However, for any $\left(\tilde{c}, \tilde{c}\right) \in [g(b'), g(b)/\lambda[$ with $\tilde{c} > \tilde{c}$ the relative weight of compliers facing the higher cost \tilde{c} is higher for those who have the lower degree of politicization b, which tends to make the difference negative: $\frac{f(b,\tilde{c})}{f(b,\tilde{c})} \le \frac{f(b,\tilde{c})}{f(b,\tilde{c})}$ since -f(b,c) satisfies log-increasing differences. The closer b' to b, the bigger the importance of this second effect relative to the first one. Condition R2 ensures that the second effect never outweighs the first one so that $z(b') \ge z(b)$ even for b' close to b.

Indeed, we construct a new density $f_2(b,c)$ based on the density f(b,c) and such that, among compliers characterized by a given b, the shape of the conditional density of C given B = b is unchanged: for any b and any $(c,c') \in [b, b/\lambda]^2$: $\frac{f_2(c'|b)}{f_2(c|b)} = \frac{f(c'|b)}{f(c|b)}$.

unchanged: for any b and any $(c, c') \in [b, b/\lambda]^2$: $\frac{f_2(c'|b)}{f_2(c|b)} = \frac{f(c'|b)}{f(c|b)}$. $\frac{f_2(c'|b)}{f_2(c|b)} = \frac{f(c'|b)}{f(c|b)}$ for any b and any $(c, c') \in [b, b/\lambda]^2$ is equivalent to $\frac{f_2(b, c')}{f_2(b, c)} = \frac{f(b, c')}{f(b, c)}$ for any b and any $(c, c') \in [b, b/\lambda]^2$.

This requires $f_2(b,c) = f(b,c)h(b)$ for any b and $c \in [g(b), g(b)/\lambda]$, for some function h(b) positive.

For b and c such that $c \notin [b, b/\lambda]$, we set $f_2(b, c) = f(b, c)$ otherwise.

h must be positive, so that $f_2(b,c) \ge 0$ for any b and c, a condition to qualify as a density.

Further, h must satisfy $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h(b) \left(\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c) dc \right) db = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c) dc db$ for the fraction of compliers to be unchanged.

This also satisfies the second condition for $f_2(b,c)$ to qualify as a density: $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_2(b,c) dc db =$

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(b,c) \, dc \, db + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h(b) \left(\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c) \, dc \right) db - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c) \, dc \, db = 1$$

Finally, to obtain that the expected participation of the compliers is higher under the joint density $f_2(b,c)$ than the joint density f(b,c), we impose that h(b) be increasing as a sufficient (but not necessary) condition. We show below that this condition is indeed sufficient:

 $E_{f_2}\left[v\left(b_i\right) \mid i \text{ is complier}\right] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b) \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_2(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_2(b,c)dc \ db} db = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b)k(b)db \text{ and } E_f\left[v\left(b_i\right) \mid i \text{ is complier}\right] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b) \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_2(b,c)dc \ db} db = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b)k(b)db \text{ and } E_f\left[v\left(b_i\right) \mid i \text{ is complier}\right] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b) \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} db = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b)l(b)db$

With h increasing in b, we get that for any b' > b, $\frac{k(b')}{k(b)} = \frac{h(b')}{h(b)} \frac{\int_{g(b')/\lambda}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b',c)dc}{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b')/\lambda} f(b,c)dc} = \frac{h(b')}{h(b)} \frac{l(b')}{l(b)} \ge \frac{l(b')}{l(b)}$ Applying Theorem 2 to the density functions k and l, we thus get that K first-order stochastically dominates L, and $E_{f_2}[v(b_i) | i \text{ is complier}] \ge E_f[v(b_i) | i \text{ is complier}]$

Now, for any h(b) satisfying the conditions listed above, we sign the difference between the compliers' benefits of voting, benefits of voting conditional on voting and registration cost when the joint density is f(b, c) or $f_2(b, c)$.

First, $E_{f_2}[b_i \mid i \text{ is complier}] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \frac{\int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_2(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_2(b,c)dc \ db} db \ge \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \frac{\int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} db = E_f[b_i \mid i \text{ is complier}] \text{ comes directly from the fact that } K \text{ first-order stochastically dominates } L.$

Second, $E_{f_2}[b_i \mid i \text{ is complier}, i \text{ votes}] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b) f_2(b,c) dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b) f_2(b,c) dc \ db} db \ge \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b) f(b,c) dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b) f_2(b,c) dc \ db} db \ge E_f[b_i \mid i \text{ is complier}, i \text{ votes}].$

The proof of this is identical to the proof above, rewriting $k(b) = \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b)f_2(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b)f_2(b,c)dc \ db}$ and

$$l(b) = \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b) f(b,c) dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b) f(b,c) dc \ db}$$

Third, $E_{f_2}[c_i | i \text{ is complier}] \geq E_f[c_i | i \text{ is complier}].$

These two objects can be written as:

$$\begin{split} E_{f}\left[c_{i} \mid i \text{ is complier}\right] &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} E_{f}\left[c_{i} \mid i \text{ is complier}, b_{i} = b\right] \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} db \\ \text{and } E_{f_{2}}\left[c_{i} \mid i \text{ is complier}\right] &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} E_{f_{2}}\left[c_{i} \mid i \text{ is complier}, b_{i} = b\right] \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_{2}(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_{2}(b,c)dc \ db} db. \\ \text{But } E_{f_{2}}\left[c_{i} \mid i \text{ is complier}, b_{i} = b\right] &= \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} cf_{2}(b,c)dc}{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_{2}(b,c)dc} = \frac{h(b)}{h(b)} \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} cf(b,c)dc}{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc} = E_{f}\left[c_{i} \mid i \text{ is complier}, b_{i} = b\right]. \\ \text{Moreover, } z(b) &\equiv E_{f}\left[c_{i} \mid i \text{ is complier}, b_{i} = b\right] \text{ is increasing in } b \text{ by assumption } (Condition R2). \end{split}$$

Writing again, $l(b) = \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}$ and $k(b) = \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_2(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_2(b,c)dc \ db}$, we have $\frac{k(b')}{k(b)} \ge \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_2(b,c)dc \ db}$ $\frac{l(b')}{l(b)}$ for any b' > b: K dominates L in the MLR sense. Thus, by Theorem 2, K first-order stochastically dominates L. Since z(b) is increasing in b, we get $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z(b) \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_2(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f_2(b,c)dc \ db} db \ge$ $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z(b) \frac{\int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{a(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db} db \ \textbf{Q.E.D.}$

Claim 6

Claim 6: Under Conditions ID and R1 and for any $\lambda' < \lambda < 1$, λ' visits select compliers with a higher registration cost, lower benefits of voting, lower propensity to vote, and lower benefits of voting conditional on voting than λ visits.

Proof of Claim 6

The λ' visits select additional compliers characterized by $g(b_i)/\lambda \leq c_i < g(b_i)/\lambda'$. The additional compliers have lower benefits of voting: $\frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \int_{g(b)/\lambda'}^{g(b)/\lambda'} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{b/\lambda}^{b/\lambda'} f(b,c)dc \ db} < \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}.$ The proof is derived in the same way as the proof of Claim 1. They face a higher registration cost: $\frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} c \int_{g^{-1}(\lambda'c)}^{g^{-1}(\lambdac)} f(b,c)db \ dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g^{-1}(\lambda'c)}^{g^{-1}(\lambdac)} f(b,c)db \ dc} > \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} c \int_{g^{-1}(\lambdac)}^{g^{-1}(c)} f(b,c)db \ dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g^{-1}(\lambdac)}^{g^{-1}(c)} f(b,c)db \ dc}.$ The proof is derived in the same way as the proof of Claim 2

They have a lower turnout: $\frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b) \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda'} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda'} f(b,c)dc \ db} < \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b) \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}.$ The proof is derived in the same way as the proof of *Claim 9*.

Finally, they have lower expected benefits of voting conditional on voting: $\frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda'} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda'} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db} < \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} b \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} v(b)f(b,c)dc \ db}.$ The proof is derived in the same way as the proof of Claim 4.

Claim 7

All previous results hold in the extended version of the model where a registered citizen's actual propensity to vote is $w(b_i)$, with $w(b') - v(b') \le w(b) - v(b)$ and $w(b') \ge w(b)$ for any $b' \ge b$.

Proof of Claim 7

Claims 1 and 2 are unaffected, since the selection process of compliers and always-takers is unchanged: we assume that at the registration stage, individual i still anticipates that she will vote if $b_i + \varepsilon_i \ge 0$.

The proofs of *Claims 3*, 4, 5 and 6 can be redone, substituting w(b) to v(b). They rely on relations of first-order stochastic dominance between distribution functions. and thus hold for any weakly increasing function of b, be it v or w.

Claim 8

The difference between compliers and always-takers' predicted turnout is lower once the mobilization effect is taken into account.

Proof of Claim 8 Claim 8 can be restated as $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} w(b)k(b)db - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} w(b)h(b)db \le \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b)k(b)db - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(b)h(b)db$ $\Leftrightarrow \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [v(b) - w(b)] k(b)db \ge \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [v(b) - w(b)] h(b)db$ where, as before, $h(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{g(b)/\lambda}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}$ and $k(b) = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{g(b)} f(b,c)dc}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{g(b)/\lambda} f(b,c)dc \ db}$. The proof comes immediately from the fact that K first-order stochastically dominates H and

v(b) - w(b) increases in b (by assumption).

Microfounding the assumption that w(b) - v(b) decreases with b

We discuss how this assumption can be grounded in a more fundamental assumption about the way the campaign affects the perceived benefits of voting b_i : suppose that a registered citizen votes if $m(b_i) + \varepsilon_i \ge 0$. Then, the propensity to vote of an individual with politicization b is w(b) = v(m(b)). Under what condition on m do we have $z(b) \equiv w(b) - v(b)$ decrease in b?

Since $v(b) = 1 - F_{\varepsilon}(-b)$, we have $v'(b) = f_{\varepsilon}(-b)$. Therefore,

$$z'(b) \le 0 \Leftrightarrow v'(m(b)) \, m'(b) - v'(b) \le 0 \Leftrightarrow m'(b) \le rac{f_arepsilon(-b)}{f_arepsilon(-m(b))}$$

If f_{ε} is increasing on $]-\infty, 0]$ (a condition fulfilled by many usual density functions, including the normal density), this condition is satisfied for any $b \ge 0$ by any function m such that $m(b) \ge b$ and $x(b) \equiv \frac{m(b)}{b}$ decreases: the mobilization increases each citizen's perceived benefits of voting, but less so for citizens with a higher b. Indeed, then, we have $x'(b) \le 0$ and $m(b) \ge b \Rightarrow m'(b) \le \frac{m(b)}{b} \le 1$ and $m(b) \ge b$ and f_{ε} increasing on $]-\infty, 0] \Rightarrow 1 \le \frac{f_{\varepsilon}(-b)}{f_{\varepsilon}(-m(b))}$.

Claim 9

For any k, if Conditions ID_k , $R1_k$ and $R2_k$ hold, all results established for unregistered citizens hold for misregistered citizens facing an additional cost k of voting at their previous address.

Proof of Claim 9

We first prove that $g_k(b)$ is strictly increasing in b for any k.

 $g_{k}(b) = g(b) - g(b - k) = \int_{-b}^{\infty} (b + \varepsilon) f_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon - \int_{-b+k}^{\infty} (b - k + \varepsilon) f_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon = \int_{-b}^{-b+k} (b + \varepsilon) f_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon + k \int_{-b+k}^{\infty} f_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon.$

 $g'_{k}(b) = -kf_{\varepsilon}(-b+k) + \int_{-b}^{-b+k} f_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon)d\varepsilon + kf_{\varepsilon}(-b+k) = \int_{-b}^{-b+k} f_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon)d\varepsilon > 0; \quad g_{k}(b) \text{ is strictly increasing in } b \text{ for any } k.$

Considering any k, since $g_k(b)$ is strictly increasing, it can be substituted to g(b) in the proofs above.

1.9.6 Estimate of the effect of the intervention "Early Home registration & Late Home registration" on overall turnout

To estimate the effect of the intervention "Early Home registration & Late Home registration" on overall turnout, we first compute the fraction of citizens initially unregistered and misregistered who live in apartments that opened their door to canvassers at least once: 69.9 percent (see Appendix 3). The effect of the intervention on citizens who live in apartments which actually opened their door should thus be scaled by $\frac{1}{0.699} = 1.43$. We infer from the estimates presented in Table 2 that the intervention increased electoral participation from 16.1 percent to 29.2 percent at the first round of the presidential election. Indeed, the average apartment hosts 0.92 initially unregistered and misregistered citizens. Since 0.148 votes were cast by initially unregistered and misregistered citizens in the average control apartment at the first round of the presidential elections, we infer that their participation was $\frac{0.148}{0.92} = 0.161$. The effect of the "Early Home registration & Late Home registration" intervention in apartments which opened their door at least once was: $0.084 \times 1.43 =$ 0.120. Thus, the participation of initially unregistered and misregistered citizens living in these apartments was $\frac{0.148+0.120}{0.92} = 0.292$. Similarly, the intervention increased electoral participation from 16.4 percent to 29.3 percent at the second round of the presidential elections, and from 9.8 percent to 14.5 percent and 8.9 percent to 15.6 percent at the general elections among these citizens. We assume that the effect would be the same among citizens living in apartments which did not

open their door at either the first or second visit.

The above figures represent increased participation at the polling station closest to each citizen's place of residence. However, a fraction of the citizens who remained misregistered at the end of the registration period participated in the elections by travelling back to their previous address or by voting by proxy. We do not observe their participation rate, but can estimate it based on the observed participation of their counterparts: citizens who are registered here but live elsewhere (as signaled by the fact that their name was not found on any mailbox). The implicit assumptions here are that the participation of misregistered citizens who move out is similar to the participation of those who move in, and that the participation rate of misregistered compliers would have been identical to the participation rate of other misregistered citizens had they not registered. The latter assumption is valid to the extent that the decision to register, by misregistered compliers, signals a higher cost of voting at the previous address (predicting lower participation) as much as a higher interest in the elections (predicting higher participation). The participation of citizens who are registered here but live elsewhere was 58.4 percent and 61.3 percent at the presidential elections, and 37.2 percent and 35.9 percent at the general elections. The fraction of citizens who were initially unregistered or misregistered and are still misregistered is 57 percent in the control group and 50 percent in the group "Early Home registration & Late Home registration". We infer that this intervention increased electoral participation among citizens initially unregistered or misregistered from 49.4 percent to 58.4 percent and 51.3 percent to 60 percent at the presidential elections, and from 31 percent to 33 percent and 29.4 percent to 33.5 percent at the general elections.

As a final step, we have to factor in the participation of well-registered citizens: 76.6 percent and 78.5 percent at the presidential elections, and 49.1 percent and 47.2 percent at the general elections. Taking into account the relative shares of the different categories of citizens in the areas covered by this study, we conclude that the "Early Home registration & Late Home registration" increased overall participation from 64.7 percent to 68.6 percent and 65.6 percent to 69.3 percent at the presidential elections, and from 41.2 percent to 42.1 percent and 39.4 percent to 41.2 percent at the general elections.

Table A1: Impact of the interventions on the gross number of new registrations, with addresses at the unit of observation

	(1)
Early Canvassing	0.12
	(0.08)
Late Canvassing	0.21
	(0.08)***
Early Home registration	0.27
	(0.08)***
Late Home registration	0.3
	(0.08)***
Early Canvassing + Late Home	0.34
registration	(0.08)***
Early Home registration + Late	0.53
Home registration	(0.08)***
Strata fixed effects	Yes
Building controls	Yes
Observations	4105
R-squared	0.61
Mean in Control Group	1.13
Linear combinations of estimates:	
Average effect of all interventions	0.295
1/6 (EC + LC + EH + LH + EC&LH + EH&LH)	(0.050)***
Average effect of Canvassing	0.167
1/2 (EC + LC)	(0.061)***
Average effect of Home registration	0.281
1/2 (EH + LH)	(0.061)***
Difference between average effect of Home reg. and Can.	0.114
1/2 (EH + LH) - 1/2 (EC + LC)	(0.062)*
Difference between average effect of Late visit and Early visit	0.059
1/2 (LH + LC) - 1/2 (EH + EC)	(0.061)

Notes : Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. We take the address as the unit of observation and include all newly registered citizens in the sample addresses.

We finally report point estimates and standard errors of linear combinations of the coefficients.

Table A2: Impact of the interventions on the NET number of new registrations

	(1)
Early Canvassing	0.025
	(0.015)*
Late Canvassing	0.043
	(0.014)***
Early Home registration	0.06
	(0.015)***
Late Home registration	0.067
	(0.015)***
Early Canvassing & Late Home	0.071
registration	(0.014)***
Early Home registration & Late	0.107
Home registration	(0.015)***
Strata fixed effects	Yes
Apartment & Building controls	Yes
Observations	20458
R-squared	0.03
Mean in Control Group	0.09
Linear combinations of estimates:	
Average effect of all interventions	0.062
1/6 (EC + LC + EH + LH + EC&LH + EH&LH)	(0.010)***
Average effect of Canvassing	0.034
1/2 (EC + LC)	(0.012)***
Average effect of Home registration	0.064
1/2 (EH + LH)	(0.012)***
Difference between average effect of Home reg. and Can.	0.03
1/2 (EH + LH) - 1/2 (EC + LC)	(0.012)**
Difference between average effect of Late visit and Early visit	0.012
1/2 (LH + LC) - 1/2 (EH + EC)	(0.012)

Notes : Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. We take the apartment as the unit of observation and include all newly registered citizens and all citizens dropped from the voter rolls in the sample apartments. We report point estimates and standard errors of linear combinations of the coefficients.

		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
		All newly	Not registered	Registered in	Registered at	"Automatically"
		registered	before	another city before	another address in this city before	registered
Early Canvassing		0.014	0.01	-0.005	0.003	0.004
		(0.012)	(0.007)	(0.008)	(0.004)	(0.003)
Late Canvassing		0.031	0.006	0.012	0.01	0.004
		(0.012)**	(0.006)	(600.0)	(0.005)*	(0.003)
Early Home registra	tion	0.032	0.012	0.01	0.007	0.004
		(0.013)**	(0.006)*	(600.0)	(0.005)	(0.003)
Late Home registrat	ion	0.054	0.022	0.02	0.008	0.004
		(0.013)***	(0-007)***	(0.008)**	(0.005)*	(0.003)
Early Canvassing & I	ate Home	0.06	0.035	0.015	0.007	0.005
registration		(0.013)***	(0.007)***	*(600.0)	(0.005)	(0.004)
Early Home registra	tion & Late	0.096	0.047	0.032	0.013	0.002
G Home registration		(0.014)***	(0.007)***	***(600.0)	(0.005)**	(0.003)
E Strata fixed effects		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apartment & Buildir	ng controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations		20458	20458	20458	20458	20458
R-squared		0.03	0.02	0.04	0.02	0.02
Mean in Control Gro	dno	0.168	0.047	0.079	0.025	0.013
Linear combinations	s of estimates:					
Average effect of all 1/6 (EC + LC + EH + I	interventions -H + EC&LH + EH&LH)	0.048 (0.008)***	0.022 (0.004)***	0.014 (0.006)**	0.008 (0.003)***	0.004 (0.002)*
Average effect of Ca 1/2 (EC + LC)	invassing	0.022 (0.010)**	0.008 (0.005)	0.004 (0.007)	0.006 (0.004)*	0.004 (0.003)*
Average effect of Hc 1/2 (EH + LH)	ome registration	0.043 (0.011)***	0.017 (0.005)***	0.015 (0.007)**	0.007 (0.004)*	0.004 (0.002)
Difference between 1/2 (EH + LH) - 1/2 (average effect of Home reg. and Can. EC + LC)	0.021 (0.011)*	0.009 (0.006)	0.012 (0.007)*	0.001 (0.004)	0 (0.003)
Difference between 1/2 (LH + LC) - 1/2 (I	average effect of Late visit and Early visit EH + EC)	0.02 (0.011)*	0.003 (0.006)	0.013 (0.007)*	0.004 (0.004)	0 (0.003)

Table A3: Impact of the interventions on the number of new registrations, by initial registration status

Notes : Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, ** indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. We take the apartment as the unit of observation and include all newly registered citizens in the sample apartments (column 1), those who were not registered before (column 2), those who were registered in another city before (column 3), those who were registered at another city before (column 3), those who were registered at another address in the same city before (column 4) and those who were "automatically" registered (column 5). We finally report point estimates and standard errors of linear combinations of the coefficients.

Table A4: Characteristics of newly registered citizens in apartments which opened their door for a late home registration visit

	(1)	(2)	(2)	(4)	(5)
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	Indiv	vidual characte	ristics	Apartment	and building
				charact	eristics
	Gender	Age	Born abroad	Number of	Number of
				names of	mailboxes
				citizens not	
				registered	
Early Canvassing + Late	0.015	0.129	0.017	-0.049	-2.682
Home registration	(0.038)	(1.474)	(0.060)	(0.074)	(3.467)
Early Home registration + Late	0.005	0.372	-0.080	-0.045	-0.500
Home registration	(0.038)	(1.343)	(0.053)	(0.081)	(3.245)
Constant (Late Home	0.444	37.066	0.384	1.375	19.884
registration)	(0.025)***	(0.970)***	(0.038)***	(0.056)***	(2.626)***
Observations	692	692	688	692	692
R-squared	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00

Notes : Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. The sample includes all newly registered citizens living in apartments which opened their door at the late visit in the treatment groups "Late Home registration", "Early Canvassing & Late Home registration" and "Early Home registration & Late Home registration".

We consider individual characteristics (columns 1 through 3) as well as the number of names of citizens not registered initially found on the mailbox corresponding to the person's apartment and the total number of mailboxes and baseline registration rate at her address.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	Presidentia	al elections	General	elections	Average on
	1st round	2nd round	1st round	2nd round	all rounds
Newly reg., previously not reg. x Any treatment (1,	0.012	-0.023	-0.061	-0.005	-0.020
	(0.021)	(0.019)	(0.034)*	(0.034)	(0.020)
Newly reg., previously reg. in another city x Any treatment (2	-0.048	-0.040	-0.041	-0.038	-0.040
	(0.013)***	(0.015)***	(0:030)	(0.029)	(0.016)**
Newly reg., previously reg. at another address in this city x Any treatment (3	-0.001	-0.005	-0.029	-0.069	-0.023
	(0:030)	(0.025)	(0.047)	(0.046)	(0.027)
Newly reg., automatically reg. x Any treatment (4)	0.034	-0.019	-0.043	-0.016	-0.010
	(0.045)	(0.041)	(0.043)	(0.042)	(0:030)
Newly reg., previously not reg.	0.111	0.122	0.010	0.006	0.063
	(0.019)***	(0.017)***	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.019)***
Newly reg., previously reg. in another city	0.182	0.153	0.098	0.062	0.123
	(0.011)***	(0.012)***	(0.026)***	(0.025)**	(0.014)***
Newly reg., previously reg. at another address in this city	0.129	0.128	0.134	0.155	0.133
	(0.027)***	(0.022)***	(0.041)***	(0.040)***	(0.024)***
Newly reg., automatically reg.	-0.108	-0.040	-0.154	-0.181	-0.121
	(0.039)***	(0.036)	(0.038)***	(0.037)***	(0.026)***
Previously reg., name not on mailbox	-0.184	-0.172	-0.117	-0.109	-0.145
	(0.007)***	(0.007)***	(0.008)***	(0.008)***	(0.006)***
Constant	0.764	0.782	0.485	0.466	0.624
	(0.004)***	(0.004)***	(0.005)***	(0.005)***	(0.004)***
Observations	33773	33772	33788	33754	33665
R-squared	0.05	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.04
Linear combinations of estimates:					
Av. difference between newly reg. in treatment gr. and control. controlling for	-0.011	-0,027	-0.046	-0.028	-0.027
previous reg. status (Weighted average of (1), (2), (3) and (4))	(0.011)	(0.011)**	(0.019)**	(0.019)	(0.011)**

93

Table A5: Electoral participation of citizens by registration status, treatment group, and previous registration status

unit of observation and include all previously registered citizens (registered before 2011) and all newly registered citizens (registered in 2011). For the former, we control fo Notes: Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. We take the individual participation at a given electoral round as the whether the name was found on a mailbox at the corresponding address or not, as a proxy for the quality of registration (well- or mis-registered). Well- previously registered citizens are the omitted category. The sample size is slightly smaller than in Table 3 since we drop a few newly registered citizens whose previous registration status is unknown.

We estimate differences in the propensity to vote of newly registered citizens in the control and the treatment groups for each electoral round separately (columns 1 through 4) and for their average (column 5).

Newly registered citizens are included separately, according to their former registration status. We report the point estimates and standard errors of the weighted average difference between newly registered citizens in treatment and control groups, controlling for previous registration status.

Table A6: Number of votes cast over the 4 electoral rounds by registration status and treatment group

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	0 vote	1 vote	2 votes	3 votes	4 votes
	out of 4	out of 4	out of 4	out of 4	out of 4
Newly reg. x Early Canvassing (EC)	0.004	0.018	-0.011	-0.017	0.006
	(0.012)	(0.013)	(0.023)	(0.021)	(0.025)
Newly reg. x Late Canvassing (LC)	-0.009	0.017	0.006	0.029	-0.042
	(0.011)	(0.015)	(0.028)	(0.023)	(0.028)
Newly reg. x Early Home registration (EH)	0.009	0.030	0.004	-0.021	-0.022
	(0.012)	(0.015)**	(0.023)	(0.022)	(0.025)
Newly reg. x Late Home registration (LH)	0.001	0.037	0.024	-0.004	-0.059
	(0.012)	(0.014)***	(0.023)	(0.021)	(0.025)**
Newly reg. x Early Can. & Late Home reg. (EC&LH)	0.008	0.014	0.005	-0.002	-0.025
	(0.014)	(0.012)	(0.024)	(0.022)	(0.026)
Newly reg. x Early Home reg. & Late Home reg. (EH&LH)	0.000	0.022	0.001	0.006	-0.030
	(0.011)	(0.013)*	(0.024)	(0.021)	(0.026)
Newly reg.	-0.093	-0.027	0.064	0.043	0.014
	(0.008)***	* (0.008)***	(0.015)***	* (0.014)***	-0.017
Previously reg., name not on mailbox	0.186	-0.007	-0.046	-0.048	-0.084
	(0.007)***	* (0.004)*	(0.006)***	* (0.005)***	(0.007)***
Constant	0.153	0.085	0.230	0.177	0.355
	(0.003)***	* (0.002)***	(0.004)***	* (0.003)***	(0.005)***
Observations	33789	33789	33789	33789	33789
R-squared	0.06	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01
Linear combinations of estimates:					
Av. difference between newly registered in treatment gr. and control	0.002	0.023	0.005	-0.002	-0.029
1/6 (EC + LC + EH + LH + EC&LH + EH&LH)	(0.008)	(0.009)***	(0.017)	(0.015)	(0.019)
Av difference between newly registered in Conversion or and control	0.000	0.017	0.000	0.000	
AV. difference between newly registered in canvassing gr. and control	-0.002	0.017	-0.003	0.006	-0.018
1/2 (EC + LC)	(0.009)	(0.011)	(0.021)	(0.018)	(0.022)
Av. difference between newly registered in Home registration gr. and contro	0.005	0.033	0.014	-0.013	-0.04
1/2 (EH + LH)	(0.010)	(0.012)***	(0.020)	(0.018)	(0.022)*
Av. difference between newly registered in Home reg. gr. and Can. gr.	0.008	0.016	0.017	-0.019	-0.022
1/2 (EH + LH) - 1/2 (EC + LC)	(0.010)	(0.012)	(0.019)	(0.017)	(0.020)

Notes: Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. We take a dummy indicating whether the individual casted a total of 0 (or 1, 2, 3, 4) ballots at the 2012 elections as the outcome and include all previously registered citizens (registered before 2011) and newly registered (registered in 2011). For the former, we control for whether the name was found on a mailbox at the corresponding address or not, as a proxy for the quality of registration (well- or mis-registered). We report point estimates and standard errors of linear combinations of the coefficients.

Chapter 2

Increasing the Electoral Participation of Immigrants - Experimental Evidence from France¹

2.1 Introduction

The number of first and later generation immigrants continues to increase among the population of Europe (Eurostat 2011). As an increasing number of migrants settle down and become full-rights citizens, the question of their integration has gained dramatic importance (Givens 2007). Recent surveys show that immigrants have a low sense of national belonging. In France, only 47 percent of naturalized immigrants say that they strongly identify as French, which is all the more striking as they have spent sixteen years in the country at the time of naturalization on average (Haut Conseil à l'Intégration 2011). Similarly, only 63 percent of descendants born in France of two immigrants say that they strongly feel French, compared to 88 percent of the mainstream population (Simon 2012). This low sense of national belonging is reflected in immigrants' political participation, a

¹This chapter is coauthored with Guillaume Liégey. We are very thankful to the Centre Maurice Halbwachs for providing access to the Trajectories and Origins survey, to www.meilleursagents.com for providing housing price data at the address level for all addresses of our sample and to the George and Obie Shultz Fund and MIT France for their generous funding. Esther Duflo, Benjamin Olken, Daniel Posner, Abhijit Banerjee, James Snyder, Todd Roggers, Stephen Ansolabehere, Rafaela Dancygier, Alan Gerber, and Benjamin Marx gave invaluable feedback about the study - we are grateful to them.

standard indicator of involvement in the collective decisions: immigrants and their descendants are much less likely to register on voter rolls and to participate in the elections than other citizens (Insee Premiere 2012).

Immigrants' low sense of belonging and political participation affects both their ability to improve their well-being by advancing political claims and social cohesion in the receiving society (Bloemraad et al. 2008). Growing tensions between an estranged youth of migrant origin and the police and other institutions have recently manifested themselves in major suburban revolts in several European countries (Lagrange and Oberti 2006; Koff and Duprez 2009). To address immigrants' low sense of belonging, it is important to understand the causes. Immigrants' low socioeconomic status, their lack of efforts or aptitude to integrate, and their rejection by the mainstream population are the three most common explanatory theories. We propose a fourth one: the paucity of outreach efforts targeting immigrants and emphasizing that they are full-rights citizens. This theory relies on the idea that integrating immigrants requires extending a hand to them, beyond simply fighting against their rejection and stigmatization.

To test this theory, one would ideally want to implement an intervention extending a hand to randomly selected immigrants and test whether their sense of belonging increases more than that of non-treated immigrants. However, this strategy is costly, as it relies on conducting large-scale baseline and endline surveys. Additionally, attitudinal questions have well-known weaknesses. We provide a more indirect but still powerful test of the theory using a civic outcome that is both a product and a strong indicator of sense of belonging, and that can be measured at smaller cost and with administrative data instead of self-reports: political participation. Elections are an important opportunity to build a sense of belonging and invite people to be full-fledged members of their civic community. In the four weeks leading to the French 2010 regional elections, members of the Socialist party went door-to-door canvassing in eight cities of the region surrounding Paris to encourage registered citizens to vote. Each of the 1,350 addresses in our sample of 23,836 citizens² was randomly allocated to the treatment group, which received the visits, or to the control group, which did not receive any visit. In the control group, immigrants' turnout did not greatly differ from native-born citizens, once other characteristics are controlled for. This provides some evidence that immigrants' socioeconomic status does affect their participation and their sense of belonging. However, canvassers' visits increased the turnout of immigrants by 3.9 percentage points

²Although most buildings were multi-apartment buildings, some individual houses are also included in the sample.

(13 percent) in the first round without significantly affecting native-born citizens. Our interpretation is as follows: the canvassers' visits enhanced a feeling of inclusion in the national community, which was initially lower among immigrants. As further support for this interpretation, we find that the impact of the visits on voter turnout is of similar size for very different groups of citizens of migrant origin: first generation immigrants from the three most common origins (Maghreb, Sub-Saharan Africa, and Asia), the second generation, and citizens born in French territories overseas. This is all the more striking as, using out-of-the-sample data (Trajectories and Origins 2008), we find that these subgroups differ substantially in terms of the strength of their connections with their country of origin and their degree of objective integration in French society. What they share, however, is a low subjective sense of national belonging. Finally, a series of robustness checks provides additional evidence that the results are not driven by other differences between immigrants and the mainstream population.

Unsurprisingly, the effect of the visits diminishes over time: one year later, at the 2011 cantonal elections, the voter turnout of immigrants in the treatment group was no longer higher than in the control group. This suggests that, among other policies, repeated and more intensive outreach efforts to immigrants are needed to durably increase their political participation and their integration.

To our knowledge, this study is the first that draws on heterogeneous effects of a voter mobilization intervention to assess the determinants of the political behavior of a subgroup of citizens. It builds on a large literature that compares the registration and voter turnout of immigrants and ethnic minorities to the mainstream population while controlling for other factors (e.g., Verba, Schlozman, and Brady 1995; Jackson 2003; Bevelander and Pendakur 2008; Maxwell 2010). It also fits in the "get-out-the-vote" experimental literature launched by Gerber and Green (2000), which has recently demonstrated the effectiveness of door-to-door canvassing to mobilize voters of ethnic minorities (e.g., Michelson 2005, 2006).

Our findings and conclusions might better extend to other European countries, with a recent history of immigration and integration policies similar to France (Joppke 2007), than to classic immigration countries, such as the United States. However, the largely different insights obtained when comparing voter turnout levels between different groups and comparing the effects of an identical encouragement to participate suggest a general methodological lesson. Exploring the heterogeneous effects of voter mobilization interventions usefully completes observational studies to assess the influence of factors such as immigrant origin and race on electoral participation and integration. A generalization of this approach might be as productive as the current effort to refine multivariate regressions by controlling for an increasing set of explanatory variables.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 discusses existing evidence and theories on the integration of immigrants. Section 3 describes the context of the experiment and its design. Section 4 briefly outlines the data used in the analysis. Sections 5 presents the results and our interpretation. Section 6 discusses alternative interpretations. Section 7 concludes with a discussion of the validity of our findings for other countries in and outside of Europe and of the insights that can be derived from systematically exploring heterogeneous effects of voter mobilization interventions.

2.2 Existing Evidence and Theories on the Integration of Immigrants

2.2.1 Immigrants in France

France is the second largest European country in terms of foreign-born population. The first immigrants came from other European countries, but following World War II, the majority of immigrants were non-European, primarily from former French colonies in Maghreb, Sub-Saharan Africa, and Asia. Until recently, most immigration was motivated by people seeking work; however, work immigration to France was officially stopped after 1974 so that today's immigration is mostly fueled by family reunification (Weil 2005).

Only French citizens can vote. This study thus focuses on first generation immigrants who hold French citizenship³, as well as people born in the DOM-TOM (the French territories overseas, including Réunion, Martinique, Guadeloupe, and Guyane) who migrated to Metropolitan France, descendants of two parents born abroad or in the DOM-TOM (the second generation) and descendants of one parent born abroad or in the DOM-TOM and one parent born in France (the generation 2.5). These citizens of migrant origin are compared to the mainstream population: citizens born in Metropolitan France.

³We use the United Nations definition of immigrants as people born abroad (United Nations 2006). This definition differs from the French definition of immigrant: a person born abroad without the French citizenship (INSEE 2005), which excludes 1.8 million people born French citizens abroad who migrated back to France: repatriates from former colonies such as the "pieds-noirs" from Algeria, and expatriates.

2.2.2 Competing Explanations for the Low Integration of Immigrants

Immigrants' low sense of national belonging has been explained thus far by their low socioeconomic status, their lack of efforts or aptitude to integrate, and their rejection by the mainstream population. We briefly review these three Theories and outline a fourth Theory, centered on the paucity of outreach efforts extending a hand to immigrants.

Theory 1: Socioeconomic Status

A first theory is that immigrants' low sense of belonging reflects compositional differences in terms of standard demographic, socioeconomic, and contextual factors, which also influence other citizens. In sum, the socioeconomic dimension of integration is the most important, it promotes participation and a sense of belonging (Marshall 1950)⁴.

Extensive evidence shows that immigrants are more likely than the mainstream population to be uneducated, unemployed, and, conditional on being employed, to have a low-paying job. As a consequence, their median income is lower, they face a higher risk of poverty, and they are often segregated in suburbs dominated by social housing (e.g., Cour des comptes 2004; Beauchemin, Hamel, and Simon 2010; Eurostat 2011). Immigrants' descendants are still disadvantaged compared to the mainstream population and their situation is sometimes even worse than that of their parents (Maxwell 2009). It is only when immigrants' descendants have a mixed background, in the generation 2.5, that their disadvantage sometimes disappears.

To the extent that the socioeconomic dimension of integration leads its subjective aspect, improving immigrants' socioeconomic status will increase their sense of national belonging. Policies that try to improve immigrants' economic situation either provide specific aid to migrants, such as hostels for migrant workers, or they target areas and subgroups of the population where immigrants are overrepresented. Examples of French policies that fall into the latter category include special resources for education allocated to the "ZEP" (Zones d'Education Prioritaires, or Priority Education Areas) and subsidies and tax breaks provided to the "ZUS" (Zones Urbaines Sensibles, or Sensitive Urban Areas) (Calvès 2004).

We can assume that socioeconomic status and other standard demographic and contextual

 $^{^{4}}$ We define integration as the process through which immigrants become an integrated part of the collectivity by obtaining equal access to services and opportunities (including education, housing, and employment), and by adopting a common set of values and attitudes, in particular a sense of belonging to the national community conducive to political participation.

factors play some role in explaining immigrants' low sense of belonging. The relevant empirical question is whether they explain it entirely.

Theory 2: Lack of Efforts or Aptitude to Integrate

Beyond the socioeconomic status of immigrants, integration is often described as a two-way process, which requires cooperation by both immigrants and natives. Failure to adapt to this process by the former or the latter is highlighted as the reason behind immigrants' low sense of belonging by Theories 2 and 3, respectively. Theory 2 blames immigrants' lack of efforts or aptitude to integrate. Theory 3 blames the rejection of immigrants by French natives. While these Theories are analytically opposite, the mechanisms they describe can be reinforcing in practice.

Supporting Theory 2, qualitative studies have documented the existence of a strong Muslim communitarianism in some French suburbs, leading to the contestation of French values such as secularism and gender equality (e.g., Kepel, Arslan, and Zouheir 2011). More generally, the low frequency of inter-ethnic marriage and the connections that many immigrants and their descendants maintain with their country of origin are often interpreted as a sign that their desire to integrate into French society is low (e.g., Haut Conseil à l'Intégration 2011)⁵. Some politicians have repeatedly questioned the desire of some groups of immigrants to assimilate (Weil 2005) and close to half of the mainstream population believe that people of immigrant origin do not give themselves the means to integrate (Brouard and Tiberj 2011). Beyond lack of efforts to integrate, the lack of aptitude is also a possible factor, either due to language barriers or to the spatial concentration of immigrants in disadvantaged neighborhoods. Accordingly, several European countries have recently enforced mandatory courses with language instruction and civic education, and sought to increase diversity in the attribution of social housing (Joppke 2007; Haut Conseil à l'Intégration 2011).

 $^{{}^{5}}$ In a vision that sees identity as a zero-sum game, the lack of allegiance to France is inferred from maintained allegiance to another country or ethnic group (Simon 2012). Evidence that indirectly supports this view includes the relatively less stringent residence, language, and fee requirements to be naturalized in France compared to other European countries (Goodman 2010), which might lead to instrumental acquisition of French citizenship; the increased prevalence of dual citizenship and the important shares that still define their origin according to a different country (Simon 2012); the strength of the links maintained by some immigrants and their descendants with their countries of origin, including trips back to this country, investment, and remittances (Beauchemin, Lagrange, and Safi 2010).

Theory 3: Rejection by the Mainstream Population

Opposite to Theory 2, the third explanation of immigrants' low sense of belonging attributes it to their rejection by the natives. In France, 59 percent of immigrants believe that above all, it is the French society that does not give people of different origin the means to integrate (Brouard and Tiberj 2011). 45 percent of naturalized immigrants and 36 percent of their descendants feel that natives do not regard them as being French (Simon 2012).

The rejection of immigrants and their descendants often originates in racism⁶. This rejection takes two distinct forms - isolated acts of discrimination, and organized political opposition - which produce different consequences for immigrants' integration. First, in the current context of high unemployment, prejudice against immigrants in Europe has increased (e.g., Strabac and Listhaug 2008; Kaya and Karakoc 2012) and evidence of discrimination on the job and housing markets as well as anti-immigrant violence is abundant (e.g., Hubbuck and Carter 1980; Witte 1995; Pettigrew 1998; Klink and Wagner 1999; Amadieu 2004; Beauchemin, Hamel, and Simon 2010; Adida, Laitin, and Valfort 2010). These isolated acts of discrimination can estrange immigrants from the national community. They have resulted in the generalization of antidiscrimination laws (e.g., Council Directive 2000/43/EC), and the creation of agencies responsible for overseeing the application of these laws (e.g., the Commission for Racial Equality in Britain or the HALDE in France).

Second, the anti-foreigner sentiment has also found a political expression: it has been captured by far-right anti-immigration parties, such as the Front National in France or the Freiheitliche Partei Österreichs in Austria (Semyonov, Raijman, and Gorodzeisky 2006) which have been pushing, sometimes successfully, for formal legislative barriers to integration. For instance, several European countries have recently strengthened the language and country-knowledge requirements for settlement, naturalization, and immigration (Joppke 2007). Similarly, ID controls by the police have been generalized in several countries and they often disproportionately target people of migrant origin (Jobard et al. 2012), possibly contributing to a feeling of estrangement.

⁶While mainstream French population is predominately White, 70 percent of immigrants were born in a non-EU-27 country (Weil 2005; Eurostat 2011). Except for the repatriates and returned expatriates, the large majority of citizens with a migrant origin thus belong to visible ethnic minorities: Arabs, Blacks (from Sub-Saharan Africa and the DOM-TOM), and Asians.

Theory 4: Lack of Outreach Efforts Extending a Hand to Immigrants

Following Theory 3, the responsibility of the receiving societies in the integration process is often restricted to preventing immigrants' rejection. As Joppke (2007) puts it, "in shifting the burden of adjustment from the migrant to the receiving society, antidiscrimination is society's distinct share in the two-way process of immigrant integration".

Beyond preventing discrimination, we argue that receiving societies could foster immigrants' integration by increasing their outreach efforts, which extend a hand to immigrants, present them as full-rights citizens, and highlight their contribution to the national history and culture. The current paucity of such outreach efforts could contribute to immigrants' low sense of belonging.

Policies extending a hand to immigrants include allowing non-European immigrants to vote in local elections (as is the case in Belgium and the Netherlands); highlighting the role played by immigration in the country's history and citing examples of successful immigrants during the naturalization ceremony; introducing national holidays related to immigration, such as St Patrick's Day or Columbus Day in the United States; celebrating immigrants' contributions to the common national history through museums such as the French Cité nationale de l'histoire de l'immigration; teaching major languages spoken by immigrants at school; making administrative procedures available not only in the national language, but also in other languages⁷; and recruiting more immigrants as public officials. In addition, more financial means could be granted to existing initiatives fostering social and intercultural mediation, such as the French "agents in charge of local developments for integration" ("agents de développement locaux pour l'intégration") and local NGOs of "intermediation women" ("femmes-relais"), which welcome their neighbors and help them through administrative procedures are not entirely clear and difficult to measure.

We address this difficulty by studying a clearer outcome: political behavior. Elections are an important moment to build a sense of belonging and to invite people to be a full-fledged part of the civic community. We show that outreach efforts conducted in the context of an electoral campaign are successful at increasing immigrants' participation. We argue that this effect is obtained by increasing their sense of national belonging, thus raising their expressive benefits of voting⁸.

⁷In the United States, voter registration forms are typically available in many different languages. In France, they are only available in French.

⁸The expressive dimension of voting is the object of a vast literature, which argues that voting expresses allegiance to and efficacy in the political system, compliance with the norms of the country, including civic duty, and interest

2.3 The Experiment

2.3.1 The Context of the Experiment

The intervention took place during the campaign for the regional elections in Ile-de-France, the region including and surrounding Paris⁹. Regional elections are list polls with two rounds. The head of the list that receives the highest share of votes at the second round becomes president of the region. This list also receives 25 percent of the seats at the regional assembly, while the remaining 75 percent are divided proportionally between all lists that made it to the second round.

At the national level, the 2010 elections were characterized by a relatively low turnout (46 percent and 51 percent of the registered citizens for the first and second rounds which took place on March 14th and 21st) and by a large victory of the Socialist party, which won 21 of the 22 metropolitan regions. In Ile-de-France the participation was also low. The Socialist party gathered 25 percent of the votes at the first round and merged its list with two other left-wing lists for the second round. The merged list received 57 percent of the votes, enabling Jean-Paul Huchon, the Socialist candidate and incumbent, to be reelected as president of the region¹⁰. Cantonal elections took place one year later, in March 2011¹¹. Four of the eight cities, which accounted for 70 percent of registered citizens in our sample, participated in these elections. Similarly to the 2010 elections, they were characterized by a low turnout (45 percent in both rounds) and by the overall domination of left-wing parties. Individual turnout data was again collected at these elections to compute the middle run impact of the intervention.

in the collective debates and decisions (e.g., Campbell et al. 1960; Wolfinger and Rosenstone 1980; Conway 1991; Teixeira 1992; Rosenstone and Hansen 1993).

⁹French regions were created in 1982 to decentralize some of the power concentrated in Paris. Their attributions include social housing, high schools, transportation, environment, town and country planning, aids to firms, continuous training, and research. Each region is headed by a president and has a regional assembly, both elected for six years.

¹⁰Despite this clear-cut victory, the outcome of the election in Ile-de-France had been uncertain during most of the campaign: on the left of the political spectrum, before the first round, "the Greens" emerged as a powerful third force and threatened to receive a higher share of the votes than the Socialist party. It eventually received 17 percent of the votes. On the right side of the political spectrum, Valérie Pécresse, the Minister for Higher Education and Research minister at that time, was heading the list of the "UMP", the party of President Nicolas Sarkozy, which held more than half the seats at the National Assembly.

¹¹The general councils of departments (the administrative unit below the region) whose members are chosen by these elections, have fewer competences than the regional councils. They are responsible for middle schools, solidarity programs, leisure, and town and country planning, among a few other attributions. Council members are elected for six years; every three years, half of the cantons of each department are called to the polls.

2.3.2 The Intervention

The door-to-door canvassing visits took place in the evenings and on Saturdays during the 4 weeks before the 2010 election. Canvassers knocked on doors in groups of two. They came from various socioeconomic backgrounds and ethnic origins, but with an underrepresentation of the poor working class and ethnic minorities. They were active members of the Socialist party and were not compensated for their participation in the experiment. Only a few of them had preexisting experience of door-to-door canvassing and all received a training including role-playing.

The canvassers knocked at all doors of the buildings in the treatment group. When the door opened, the discussion lasted for one to five minutes in most cases. Canvassers gave basic information about the election day, the location and opening times of the poll office, and past and planned projects of the region in the corresponding neighborhood. They further encouraged people to vote, and to choose the list of the Socialist party. At the end of the discussion, they gave their interlocutor a leaflet summarizing the program of this list. When no one opened, this leaflet was left at the door.

We can be confident that the control group did not receive any visits from canvassers of other political parties. Until the massive door-to-door campaign led by the Socialist party for the 2012 presidential elections, French political parties did not use door-to-door canvassing as a major campaign strategy. Instead, it was limited to small-scale local initiatives. In this particular case, neither the canvassers nor the households visited reported other visits.

2.3.3 Sampling Frame

A total of 1,350 buildings hosting 23,836 citizens registered on the voter rolls were included in the experiment. The buildings are located in eight cities, which were chosen based on two criterions: low political turnout at previous elections, and interest of the Socialist party's local unit in the experiment¹². In each city, the sample is restricted to the polling stations characterized by the lowest historical electoral participation.

The sample population primarily lives in the "banlieues", suburban neighborhoods which face an important set of interconnected economic and social challenges, including poverty, housing decay,

¹²Cities in the experiment are: Sevran, Villetaneuse, Pierrefitte (in the department 93, Seine-Saint-Denis), Montrouge, Bagneux, Malakoff (in the department 92, Hauts-de-Seine), Domont (in the department 95, Val d'Oise), and the 11th arrondissement of Paris.

low employment rates, high criminality, and poor educational achievement. These neighborhoods are marked by increased internal tensions, notably between the youth and the police, and a widening gap with the rest of the country, including low voter turnout. Overall, the sample is neither representative of Ile-de-France nor of the entire country, but it is quite representative of these banlieues.

2.3.4 Experimental Design

Each building in the sample was allocated randomly to the control group, which did not receive any intervention, or the treatment group, which received the visits of canvassers. All citizens living in a given building thus belonged to the same group by design¹³. Before randomly allocating the buildings between the treatment and control groups, we stratified them by street and size to ensure balance of the two groups¹⁴.

Between the first and second rounds, in one city, canvassers continued to cover treatment group buildings that they had not covered before the first round¹⁵.

2.4 The data

2.4.1 Experimental Data

Voter rolls

Voter rolls for the 8 cities included in the sample indicate the polling station, address, gender, place and date of birth of all registered citizens¹⁶.

Monitoring spreadsheets

 $^{^{13}}$ Conducting the randomization at the apartment level would have increased our statistical power, but it was infeasible. Indeed, most registered citizens do not indicate their apartment number on the voter rolls.

¹⁴In fact, the streets included in our sample differ from one another on several dimensions correlated to our outcome, including past participation and vote shares historically obtained by the Socialist party. Moreover, the size of a building, proxied by the number of registered citizens living in it, is a good indicator of socioeconomic status: in the areas included in the sample, big buildings often contain social housing, and households living there are poorer, on average, than those living in residential areas.

¹⁵Some buildings were cross-randomized to receive a second visit between the two rounds, creating four groups: buildings which received either no visit, a visit before the first round only, a visit between the two rounds only, or two visits. Unfortunately, only 84 buildings hosting 2,145 registered citizens could be integrated in this second randomization, since the two rounds were separated by one week only. This very small sample limits the precision of the comparisons we can draw between the impact of one vs. two visits, and one visit before the first round vs. one visit between the two rounds; thus, we do not report these estimates.

¹⁶Importantly, race is unknown, due to the ban of ethnic statistics in France (Conseil Constitutionnel 2007).

Canvassers were asked to report the date and number of doors knocked and opened for each building covered¹⁷. Overall, they knocked at 9,070 doors and 4,432 (48.9 percent) opened¹⁸.

Individual turnout

In France, each voter who participates at an election signs an attendance sheet. These sheets are available for consultation by any registered French citizen up to ten days after the election. This administrative data enables us to measure the actual voting behavior of all registered citizens in our sample without any bias, unlike survey reports, which are often unreliable when it comes to voter turnout (Ansolabehere and Hersh 2011). We collected individual turnout data for the two rounds of the 2010 regional elections and the two rounds of the 2011 cantonal elections.

Post-electoral survey

A post-electoral survey was administered over the phone on a subsample of registered citizens whose phone number could be found in the phonebook. All respondents were surveyed within two months after the regional elections. The questionnaire was administered in five minutes or less and included questions about socioeconomic status and political competence.

892 (24 percent) of the people called responded, among whom 839 completed the entire survey. The pool of people who were called, and the pool of respondents, was not randomly drawn from the entire pool of registered voters: their participation is higher, and they live disproportionately in Sevran (46 percent, compared to 31 percent for the entire sample)¹⁹.

Additional sources of data

Using Google Maps, we measure and control for the distance between a person's home and polling station. In addition to this, we obtained housing price data at the building level from the real estate company www.MeilleursAgents.com, which we use as a proxy for socioeconomic status. Finally, we identified all sample buildings included in a ZUS or a ZRU ("Zone de Redynamisation Urbaine")²⁰. ZRU are ZUS that benefit from additional fiscal exemptions.

¹⁷To avoid imposing too many constraints, we did not ask the canvassers to report which pair covered which building.

¹⁸The ratio of opened doors varies from 38.2 percent in Montrouge to 55.4 percent in Sevran. Although it is difficult to precisely evaluate the relative importance of the different reasons why doors do not open, the major reason by far is that no one was at home during the canvassers' visit. Other reasons include children being temporarily alone at home and distrust.

¹⁹Conversely, Montrouge and Villetaneuse are underrepresented among the respondents to the survey due to the specific order in which the surveying team received the lists of phone numbers to call in the different cities. They were asked to conduct 900 surveys and stopped when they achieved this goal.

²⁰The atlas of ZUS and ZRU is available at http://sig.ville.gouv.fr/Atlas/ZUS/.

2.4.2 Identification of the Immigrants and Their Descendants

We identify the first generation immigrants and people born in the DOM-TOM based on the information on place of birth available in the voter rolls. Using city level census data (Recensement de la population 2009), we find that, in the sample cities, 75 percent of the foreign-born were born with a foreign citizenship and 25 percent were born French²¹. We are unable to separate these two groups of immigrants, since we only know the place of birth (and not the citizenship at birth) of registered citizens.

The voter rolls further enable us to reconstruct households and identify descendants born in France of immigrants. We assume that citizens sharing the same last name (either as their last name or marital name) and living at the same address belong to the same household, and that two individuals of the same household who were born more than 15 years apart are from different generations²². This method allows us to identify the subset of immigrants' descendants registered to vote who live with their parents and whose parents are registered. It misses those who do not live with their parents or whose parents are not French citizens or not naturalized. We count someone who lives with at least one citizen of an older generation as second generation if all the older generation citizens were born abroad or in the DOM-TOM; and as generation 2.5 if one of these older generation citizens was born abroad or in the DOM-TOM, but another one was born in France.

2.4.3 The Survey "Trajectories and origins"

The survey "Trajectories and Origins" was conducted by INSEE and INED between September 2008 and February 2009 on a representative sample of people living in Metropolitan France and aged between 18 and 60 years old. Its comprehensive questionnaire was designed to better understand the social trajectories and living conditions of immigrants and their descendants by comparing them to the mainstream population (Trajectories and Origins 2008; Beauchemin, Hamel, and Simon 2010).

We use this survey data to compute statistics on outcomes such as sense of belonging that are

 $^{^{21}}$ The situation of the latter group is intermediate: mostly White, like members of the non-migrant mainstream population, they were born abroad and migrated to their current country of residence, like other immigrants.

 $^{^{22}}$ This technique is not perfect: in a few cases, for very common names, we might wrongly allocate two people with the same name to the same household when they actually live in the same building but in two different apartments. More importantly, we misallocate household members who share neither their last name nor their marital name to different households. Respondents to our post-electoral survey reported living with 1.1 other registered voters, on average, (for an average household size of 2.1), when we estimate their household size to be of 1.9 registered voters, on average. This small difference shows that our method, although imperfect, is relatively satisfying.

relevant to the interpretation of our experimental results. We conduct these analyses on a sample of 4,560 respondents as close as possible to our experimental sample: French citizens who live in Ile-de-France and report that they are registered to vote.

2.4.4 Verifying Randomization

Table 1 presents summary statistics separately for the control and treatment groups. We also show the difference between the means of the two groups and report the p-value of a test of the null hypothesis that they cannot be distinguished from each other. Overall, registered citizens in the two groups are extremely similar, as was expected. Out of 51 differences shown in Table 1, only 4 are significantly different from zero at the 10 percent level, and only 3 are significant at the 5 percent level²³.

Slightly more than half of the registered citizens in our sample live in cities of the department 93 that are famous for high crime rate and underprivileged neighborhoods. Overall, more than a third live in a ZUS. The average housing price is nonetheless relatively high, due to the proximity of Paris. Buildings with multiple apartments dominate individual houses by far, and people can count, on average, 49 other registered citizens living at the same address.

The average registered citizen has only to walk 270 meters to reach his polling station. He is 44 years old and lives with one other registered citizen. 45 percent of the registered citizens are males, 22 percent were born abroad, 8 percent in the DOM-TOM, 8 percent can be identified as the second generation and 1 percent as the generation 2.5. Among the foreign-born, 87 percent were born in Maghreb, Sub-Saharan Africa, and Asia (mostly in former French colonies).

The rates of reply and survey completion of the post-electoral survey in the control and treatment groups are identical. Among the respondents, 45 percent do not have the baccalaureate (French end-of-high-school diploma). 59 percent are employed workers and 11 percent (more than the national average) report being unemployed. Intermediate jobs and employees largely dominate other types of activities.

 $^{^{23}}$ There are slightly more males in the treatment group. Among respondents to the post-electoral survey, the treatment group contains relatively more students than the control group, and the social occupations are distributed unevenly between the two groups.
2.5 Main results

2.5.1 Comparing Turnout Levels

We first measure the difference in voter turnout levels between immigrants and native-born citizens by estimating the following OLS regression:

$$Y_{i,b} = \alpha_1 + \theta_1 I_{i,b} + \epsilon_{i,b}$$
(1)

where $Y_{i,b}$ is turnout of individual *i* living in building *b* and $I_{i,b}$ is a dummy equal to 1 if the person is an immigrant. We restrict the sample to citizens in the control group to avoid contaminating the estimation with the effect of the treatment. In this and in all remaining regressions, we adjust the standard errors for clustering at the building level. We test the null hypothesis that $\theta_1 = 0$.

Part of the turnout differences between immigrants and native-born citizens can be driven by differences in their demographic and socioeconomic characteristics or the neighborhoods where they live. Indeed, as shown in Table 3, immigrants are more likely than native-borns to live in a ZUS (47 percent vs. 31 percent), they are poorer and older. Higher shares of immigrants are males, and they live in bigger households²⁴.

To account for such differences, we estimate specifications of the form in Equation [2]:

$$Y_{i,b} = \alpha_{2} + \theta_{2}I_{i,b} + X_{b}'\gamma_{2} + Z_{i,b}'\delta_{2} + \epsilon_{i,b} (2)$$

where X_b is a vector of building characteristics (its stratum, which captures the city and street; its housing price, size, distance to the polling station, and whether it is located in a ZUS), and $Z_{i,b}$ is a vector of individual characteristics (age, gender, household size, whether the individual was born in the same city, in the same department, and in the same region as the ones where he currently lives)²⁵. Again, we test the null hypothesis that $\theta_2 = 0$.

Finally, the group of native-born citizens is heterogeneous: in addition to members of the

²⁴Table 3 also lists differences on variables measured by the post-electoral survey. Although we cannot control for them in the regressions run on the entire sample, they are informative. We comment on these variables in Section 6. ²⁵These variables capture people's demographics and the context well, but they proxy only imperfectly for their socioeconomic status, which is an equally important determinant of turnout (e.g., Campbell et al. 1960; Verba and Nie 1972; Leighley and Nagler 1992; Rosenstone and Hansen 1993). Income is proxied at the building level by housing

Nie 1972; Leighley and Nagler 1992; Rosenstone and Hansen 1993). Income is provide at the outlding level by nousing price, and we only observe education, occupation, and employment status for the respondents to the post-electoral survey and thus cannot control for these variables in the regression.

mainstream population, it includes people born in the DOM-TOM, the second generation and the generation 2.5. Thus, in addition to $I_{i,b}$, we finally include three additional dummies for the three other groups of citizens of migrant origin: citizens born in the DOM-TOM, the second generation, and the generation 2.5.

2.5.2 Low Turnout of Both Immigrants and Native-Born Citizens Absent the Canvassing Visits

We first estimate Equations [1] and [2] using voter turnout at the first round of the 2010 regional elections as the outcome (Table 2, Panel A). Only 34.2 percent of the registered citizens in our sample participated in this election. This turnout is significantly lower than the regional average (43.8 percent), consistent with the choice of polling stations with a relatively low turnout history.

Absent any control, the participation of immigrants does not significantly differ from nativeborn citizens (column 1). Controlling for building characteristics, it is higher (column 2), but this difference disappears when we add individual controls (column 3).

We then include additional dummies for the other groups of citizens of migrant origin, so that each of these groups as well as immigrants are compared to members of the mainstream population (columns 4 to 6). Controlling for building and individual characteristics, we find that the participation of immigrants is lower than the mainstream population by 5.2 percentage points, a difference significant at the 1 percent level (column 6). Turnout of citizens born in the DOM-TOM is even lower, by 9.3 percentage points. Finally, absent any control, the second generation had the lowest turnout: 15.3 percentage points below the mainstream population (column 4). This difference, however, is mostly driven by their younger age and other characteristics: controlling for them, it is no longer statistically significant (column 6). Similarly, the voter turnout of generation 2.5 is not significantly different from the mainstream population.

Most of these patterns hold for the second round of the 2010 elections (Table 2, Panel B), where turnout was, on average, slightly higher (37.8 percent for a regional average of 47.1 percent), with one major difference: all building and individual characteristics equal, the participation of immigrants at the second round is not significantly different from members of the mainstream population (column 6). In other words, the increase in turnout between the first and second rounds is higher for the former than for the latter.

As shown in Panels C and D of Table 2, even fewer people participated in the 2011 cantonal elections (26.2 percent and 29.1 percent at the first and second rounds)²⁶. As in 2010, all building and individual characteristics equal, and compared to the mainstream population, the participation of immigrants is significantly lower for the first round only; the participation of citizens born in the DOM-TOM is lowest and significantly lower for both rounds; and the participation of the second generation and of generation 2.5 is not significantly different for either round (Table 2, Panels C and D).

These patterns are similar to preexisting findings, which show that the lower electoral participation of immigrants mostly reflects the influence of other standard predictors of turnout (e.g., Maxwell 2010)²⁷. They tend to support the idea that immigrants' low turnout and their low sense of belonging reflect their low socioeconomic status (Theory 1).

2.5.3 Comparing the *Effects* of the Intervention on Turnout

We next turn to estimating the impact of receiving a visit by canvassers on electoral participation with the following OLS regression:

$$Y_{i,b} = \alpha_3 + \beta_3 Visited_b + X'_b \gamma_3 + Z'_{i,b} \delta_3 + \epsilon_{i,b}$$
(3)

where $Visited_b$ is a dummy variable equal to 1 if building b received the visit of canvassers. $Visited_b$ is instrumented with T_b , a dummy equal to 1 if the building was allocated to the treatment group²⁸.

Beyond the average treatment effects, we estimate the treatment effects separately for immigrants and native-born citizens with the following equation:

$$Y_{i,b} = \alpha_4 + \beta_4 Visited_b + \theta_4 I_{i,b} + \lambda_4 Visited_b \times I_{i,b} + X_b^{'} \gamma_4 + Z_{i,b}^{'} \delta_4 + \epsilon_{i,b}$$
(4)

 $^{^{26}}$ This difference is partly, but not entirely, accounted for by the restriction of the sample to the 4 cities where cantonal elections were held: turnout was already relatively lower in these cities than in the rest of the sample for the regional elections.

²⁷Maxwell uses turnout data for three 2004 French elections and finds that, controlling for socioeconomic characteristics and for the type of neighborhood, immigrants' electoral participation is not different from citizens born in Metropolitan France and that it is higher than people born in the DOM-TOM.

 $^{^{28}}$ Due to a lack of time, the canvassers did not cover some buildings in the treatment group, and a few buildings in the control group were covered by mistake, with a first stage of 0.86. These two sources of difference between treatment group and actual treatment received are not particularly interesting, so that the "intention to treat" effect does not have any interest per se in this case and we only report the "treatment-on-the-treated" effect.

where $Visited_b$ and $Visited_b \times I_{i,b}$ are instrumented by T_b and $T_b \times I_{i,b}$. In this specification, β_4 and $\beta_4 + \lambda_4$ estimate the impact of receiving the visit of canvassers for native-borns and immigrants respectively.

The above specification might mistakenly attribute heterogeneous treatment effects to being an immigrant, which really come from differences in other characteristics correlated to it. We thus consider a last specification, in which we allow for heterogeneity in the treatment effects by other dimensions than place of birth. We run the following equation:

$$Y_{i,b} = \alpha_5 + \beta_5 Visited_b + \theta_5 I_{i,b} + \lambda_5 Visited_b \times I_{i,b} + W'_{i,b}\rho_5 + Visited_b \times W'_{i,b}\tau_5 + X'_{b}\gamma_5 + Z'_{i,b}\delta_5 + \epsilon_{i,b}$$
(5)

where $W_{i,b}$ is the vector of characteristics along which we allow for heterogeneity in the treatment effects. $Visited_b, Visited_b \times I_{i,b}$ and $Visited_b \times W'_{i,b}$ are instrumented by $T_b, T_b \times I_{i,b}$ and $T_b \times W'_{i,b}$.

2.5.4 Interpretation of the Magnitude of β_3 , β_4 and $\beta_4 + \lambda_4$

Our estimates of the impact of the intervention should account for the fact that canvassers were not able to interact with all citizens living in the treated buildings, but only with those living in apartments which opened their door. Moreover, when comparing the impact obtained on different groups of citizens, we need to distinguish whether the difference results from various behavioral responses, or from a different door-opening rate.

 β_3 estimates the average impact of the visits on citizens living in a treated building. It is equal to β'_3 , the impact on citizens living in apartments which opened their door times the proportion of such citizens among all citizens living in treated buildings²⁹. This proportion is not necessarily equal to the proportion of doors opened since the relative household size of households that opened and did not open their door might differ. In the post-electoral survey, members of larger households were more likely to say that their household did not receive the canvassers' visit during the campaign. If anything, the fraction of opened doors (48.9%) is thus an upper bound on the proportion of citizens living in households who opened their door. We can therefore derive an upper bound for β'_3 : $\beta'_3 \geq \frac{\beta_3}{0.49}$. Moreover, β'_3 is a lower bound for β'_3 , the impact of the visits on the people who

 $^{^{29}}$ According to the results of the post-electoral survey, the visits did not increase the share of people who recall finding a leaflet on their door. Therefore, the impact of leaving a leaflet on doors that did not open is allegedly very small.

were present at the time of the visit and interacted with the canvassers, by difference with members of the household who were absent and were only affected through within-household spillovers³⁰: $\beta_3^{"} \geq \beta_3' \geq \frac{\beta_3}{0.49}$.

The same reasoning applies to the interpretation of β_4 , the average impact of the visits on native-born citizens living in a treated building and $\beta_4 + \lambda_4$, the impact on immigrants. The dooropening rate of households with immigrants (or with native-born citizens) is unknown, but it can be estimated as follows: for each building, we compute the proportion of doors that opened and the proportion of households with at least one immigrant. We then regress the first on the second and find that, in buildings with 100 percent of immigrants, 59 percent of doors would have opened. Therefore, $(\beta_4 + \lambda_4)^{"} \ge (\beta_4 + \lambda_4)^{'} \ge \frac{\beta_4 + \lambda_4}{0.59}$.

2.5.5 Differential Impact of Canvassing on Immigrants

The results of Equation [3] are presented in Table 4. We find that door-to-door canvassing did not significantly increase overall participation, neither in the first round (Panel A) nor in the second round (Panel B) of the 2010 elections³¹. This finding is robust to the inclusion of individual and building controls.

We then run Equation [4] to estimate the treatment effects separately for native-born citizens and immigrants. The results are shown in Table 5. The intervention had a large impact on the latter: it increased their participation in the first round of the 2010 regional elections by 3.9 (-0.5 + 4.4) percentage points (Panel A, column 2). This estimate is statistically significant at 5 percent. It is robust to the inclusion of strata fixed effects and of building and individual control variables (column 4). Conversely, the impact on native-born citizens is very small, negative, and not significant at the standard levels.

Taking into account the estimated door opening rate of households with immigrants, canvassing increased the first round participation of immigrants who live in an apartment which opened its door by 6.6 percentage points (3.9/0.59). Since their participation was 33.8 percent in the control group, we conclude that the intervention mobilized approximately one in ten foreign-born abstentionists

 $^{^{30}}$ We cannot measure the size of these within-household spillovers, as canvassers kept track of the door-opening rate for each building, but did not maintain a list of apartments that opened their door and of the people with whom they spoke. This would have required costly preliminary work, to draw maps with apartment doors and numbers in all buildings and to match inhabitants with their apartment number.

 $^{^{31}}$ The sample is slightly smaller in Panel B because we drop the strata in which buildings were covered a second time after the first round to ensure that our results can be interpreted as the impact of a single visit.

among those that were actually reached by the canvassers.

Panel B shows the same estimates, but for the second round of the regional elections. Again, the impact of canvassing on immigrants' turnout is positive, but its magnitude is lower (2.6 percentage points when including the control variables), and it is not statistically significant. This difference between the first and the second rounds might reflect the fact that, absent any visit, a relatively larger number of immigrants only vote at the second round, as discussed in Section 5.2. A fraction of those mobilized by the visits to participate in the first round probably belong to this group of mild abstentionists.

The heterogeneous effect of canvassing on turnout at the first round and, to a lesser extent, at the second round, might mistakenly attribute to being an immigrant a result which actually originates in other characteristics correlated to this variable. First, perhaps what matters is not the fact that immigrants were born outside of France, but simply that they were born outside of the region Ile-de-France. It could be that the intervention affected all people born outside of the region by helping them to bridge a knowledge or identity gap. To test this hypothesis, we allow for heterogeneity in the treatment effect by place of birth. However, the inclusion of three dummies interacted with $Visited_b$ that indicate birth in a different city, department, or region, does not alter our estimate of the differential impact of canvassing on immigrants (Table 6, Panel A, column 2).

In columns 3 to 6 of Table 6, Panel A, we allow the treatment effect to be heterogeneous along other dimensions on which immigrants differ from native-born citizens. None of them are associated with statistically significant heterogeneous effects. On the contrary, the differential effect obtained on immigrants is remarkably consistent across all specifications, both in magnitude (between 4.9 and 6 percentage points) and in statistical significance. In column 7, we allow for heterogeneity by all these dimensions simultaneously, and measure a consistent differential effect of 5.7 percentage points, significant at the 5 percent level. The estimate of the differential effect of canvassing on the participation of foreign-born citizens in the second round is also consistent with allowing for heterogeneity of the treatment effect along these dimensions, although smaller and at the limit of statistical significance (Panel B).

These findings are at odds with the expectation that the effect of door-to-door canvassing depends on subjects' baseline propensity to vote (Niven 2004; Arceneaux and Nickerson 2009), which is similar among immigrants and native-born citizens. Our interpretation is as follows: absent the intervention, the comparably low participation of immigrants and native-born citizens, after

controlling for observable characteristics, reflects different unobserved determinants. In particular, the low turnout of immigrants is in part the result of their low sense of national belonging. The canvassers were seen as representatives of one of the two major national political organs; by going all the way to visit their targets and ask them to vote, they enhanced a feeling of inclusion in the national community. This mechanism only affected immigrants, and not the native-born citizens who already had a high sense of belonging, even absent the visits.

2.5.6 Lack of Any Impact of Canvassing One Year Later

We next turn to evaluating the impact of canvassing one year later, at the 2011 cantonal elections. Our sample is now restricted to the four cities in which cantonal elections were held in 2011: Montrouge, Pierrefitte-sur-Seine, Sevran and Villetaneuse. These four cities account for 68 percent of the entire sample.

The results are shown in Table 7. We find that the impact of the canvassers' visits on voter turnout at the cantonal elections is close to zero and not significant for either immigrants or nativeborn citizens: the effect of the short interaction that mobilized some immigrants for the elections immediately following the intervention rapidly decays over time.

This result differs from Gerber, Green, and Shachar (2003), who find a persistent effect of voter mobilization interventions, but it is not inconsistent with our interpretation of the impact on turnout at the 2010 regional elections: in the absence of repeated and more intensive outreach efforts, it is not surprising that the canvassers' visits did not increase immigrants' sense of national belonging in the long-run.

2.5.7 Tests of additional implications of the theory

We now test additional implications of the theory to build further confidence that the short-run impact of the visits on immigrants' turnout was obtained by increasing their sense of belonging. If this interpretation is accurate, the intervention should have increased turnout of all groups of citizens with a low sense of national belonging, and they should have left all groups of citizens with a high sense of belonging unaffected. To identify the groups that fall in these two categories, we use data from the Trajectories and Origins survey for respondents living in Ile-de-France.

We first find that the sense of national belonging is lower for immigrants of all three broad

origins, Maghreb, Sub-Saharan Africa, and Asia, compared to the mainstream population (Table 8, column 19). If our interpretation of the mechanism underlying the visits' impact is correct, we should thus expect the visits to have increased the participation of all three subgroups. We test this hypothesis by running Equation [4] and separating immigrants by broad origin (Table 9). Columns 1 and 3 are the same as columns 2 and 4 of Table 5 and were included for reference only. As expected, the impact of canvassing on turnout at the first and second rounds is large and of similar size for citizens born in Maghreb, Sub-Saharan Africa, and Asia. It is only significant for the first (and largest) group, due to the small sample size.

We next consider others groups of citizens of migrant origin. We find that the sense of national belonging is also low among citizens born in the DOM-TOM and among the second generation. On the contrary, the generation 2.5 are nearly as likely as the mainstream population to strongly identify as French (Table 8, column 19). Accordingly, we expect the visits to have increased the participation of citizens born in the DOM-TOM and of the second generation, and to have left the generation 2.5 unaffected. We check these predictions in Table 10 and find that the canvassing visits increased turnout among citizens born in the DOM-TOM by 2.7 (-1.7 + 4.4) percentage points in the first round, and 2.6 (-1.2 + 3.4) percentage points in the second round - an impact significant only for the first round (Column 2 of Panels A and B). Conversely, the impact on the participation of the second generation is negligible and not significant for the first round, but high (5.1 = -2 - 0.3)+ 7.4 percentage points) and significant at 10 percent for the second round (Column 3 of Panels A and B). Finally, the visits did not affect significantly the generation 2.5. The preciseness of these analyses is constrained by the small size of these subgroups. However, the evidence converges towards the conclusion that beyond immigrants, the door-to-door canvassing visits increased the voter turnout of other groups of citizens of migrant origin who had a low sense of national belonging without affecting those who had a high sense of belonging.

These results are unlikely to be explained by an immigrant-related factor different from the low sense of belonging. Indeed, except for this shared characteristic, differences across these different groups of citizens of migrant origin are large, notably in terms of socioeconomic integration and strength of the links maintained with their country of origin. First, among foreign-born citizens, immigrants born in Asia differ from those born in Maghreb and Sub-Saharan African on several important dimensions. Many immigrants born in Southeast Asian countries, who account for the bulk of Asian immigrants, arrived in France in exile between 1977 and 1985. As a result, they maintain much weaker relations with their country of $\operatorname{origin}^{32}$. In addition, they are less likely to have a religion, or to see religion as very important, and they more likely to use a contraception method and to say that less than half of their friends share their origin (Table 8, columns 9, 10, 12 and 13). Finally, they are less likely to be Muslims³³, and their children succeed better in school, even compared with children of the mainstream population (Brinbaum, Moguérou, and Primon 2010). Second, citizens born in the DOM-TOM are relatively more familiar with the French language and religious and cultural practices than immigrants: Caribbeans have been exposed to French culture since they were colonized in the seventeenth century, and they obtained full citizenship rights in 1946, when Guadeloupe, Guyane, and Martinique became French departments (Anselin 1990). Third, citizens of the second generation have weaker ties with their country of origin than their parents: they are less likely to hold dual citizenship, to go back to their country of origin at least once a year, to maintain regular contacts with people living outside of Metropolitan France, to provide financial help to such people, or to own property (land, house, or apartment) outside of Metropolitan France (Table 8, Panel A). Moreover, the second generation are more socially integrated in French society than their parents, and their values are closer to the mainstream population: they are much more likely to say that less than half of their friends share their origin; they are more likely to have no religion or to see religion as not very important and to use a contraception method (Table 8, Panel B).

Interestingly, citizens born in Magreb, Sub-Saharan Africa, Asia, and in the DOM-TOM, and the second generation not only report a low sense of national belonging, but most of them are visible ethnic minorities, and they are all equally likely to report not being seen as French (Table 8, column 18). This rejection by French society probably enters into their low sense of belonging. The effect of our intervention, however, was not obtained by simply being non-discriminatory, and even less by fighting existing stigmatization. What distinguishes our intervention from the ordinary experience of immigrants is not the lack of discrimination, but a positive outreach effort.

 $^{^{32}}$ They are only 10.1 percent to hold dual citizenship, compared to 50.8 percent and 27.6 percent for immigrants from Maghreb and Sub-Saharan Africa (Table 8, column 2). They are also much less likely to go back to their country of origin at least once a year, to provide financial help to people living outside of France, or to own property outside of France.

 $^{^{33}}$ Muslims are often seen as the most "unassimilable" group of immigrants. They have repeatedly been stigmatized by conservative parties and newspapers, and more vehemently by the radical right party, Front National, in debates questioning the compatibility of Muslim faith with French values (Modood 2005; Klausen 2005; Koopmans et al. 2005).

2.6 Alternative interpretations

2.6.1 Instrumental vs. Expressive Benefits of Voting

The fact that the intervention increased turnout of all groups of citizens with a low sense of national belonging reinforces confidence in the validity of our interpretation. We next turn to considering alternative interpretations of the short-run impact of the visits on immigrants' turnout more closely.

First, the heterogeneous effects of the intervention could result from the treatment administered to citizens of migrant origin being actually different³⁴. But ethnic minorities were underrepresented among the canvassers; canvassers did not target immigrants and they were not encouraged to deliver a specific message to them. The wide-spread belief among French people, and left-wing activists more specifically, that no distinction should be made on the basis of ethnicity³⁵ makes it unlikely that they adapted their message in that way, and we did not notice any adaptation during the canvassing sessions in which we took part.

Second, even if the treatment administered to the immigrants and the native-born citizens was identical, one could hypothesize that it was used by the former as a coordination mechanism to organize as a group and advance political claims. Instead of increasing the sense of belonging and expressive benefits of voting, the visits might have increased instrumental benefits. However, the great diversity of immigrant origins observed in French cities in general, and in our sample in particular, makes their coordinated mobilization and organization as a political force relatively difficult (Cutts et al. 2007). In our sample, it is never the case that any of the three major broad origins accounts for more than 50 percent of the total immigrants of the city, except in Paris' 11th neighborhood, as shown in Figure 1. Other obstacles to the local political mobilization of immigrants include the French republican discourse, which considers minority identities to be an illegitimate basis for political claims, and electoral rules favoring winning parties (Dancygier 2010). It is unlikely that our intervention was strong enough to help immigrants overcome these obstacles.

³⁴In the United States, for instance, "get-out-the-vote" and registration campaigns conducted in the 60's, after the abolition of laws preventing the participation of the Black, were specifically targeting Blacks and had a dramatic effect on their participation (Campbell and Feagin 1984; Vogl 2012). More recently, mobilization campaigns targeting Latinos produced similar effects (Barreto 2005).

³⁵See for instance the campaign "against ethnic statistics" published in 2007 by the antiracist organization, SOS Racisme, which counted many politicians of the Socialist party amongst its signatories.

2.6.2 Cultural Explanations

The discussions with the canvassers might have resonated differently for those with political views closest to the ideological platform of the Socialist party. As other European progressive parties, this party is more interested in attracting immigrant voters and it is perceived as more sensitive to their interests than right-wing parties (Givens and Luedtke 2005). The Socialist party promotes immigrant naturalization, antidiscrimination policies, and the right to vote at local elections for non-naturalized immigrants. Unsurprisingly then, French citizens of migrant origin are generally more to the left (Brouard and Tiberj 2011). But the other voters in the neighborhoods included in the sample also vote predominantly for the left: the left-wing candidate won more than 50 percent of the votes cast at the second round of the regional election in all cities, and more than 60 percent in 7 of the 8 cities, and people born outside of France only account for one in five registered citizens who did not abstain. Among respondents to the post-electoral survey, native-born citizens and immigrants were almost equally likely to say that they were satisfied or very satisfied with the government's politics. Finally, among those who voted and disclosed whom they had voted for, native-born voters were almost equally likely to have voted for the Socialist Party at the first or second round (Table 3).

Our results could further be explained by some immigrants' relatively lesser experience of democracy. Some immigrants were born in countries where the degree of democracy is minimal, and part of their socialization took place in their country of origin. These immigrants might have perceived the canvassers' visits as a sign that the French take elections seriously and that one's vote actually matters. If this explanation has any merit, we should expect the impact of the intervention to be proportional to the level of democracy in each immigrant's country of origin. We test this prediction by running the following OLS regression:

 $Y_{i,b} = \alpha_6 + \beta_6 Visited_b + \theta_6 I_{i,b} + \lambda_6 Visited_b \times I_{i,b} + \kappa_6 I_{i,b} \times Democracy_{i,b} + \lambda_6 Visited_b \times I_{i,b} \times Democracy_{i,b} + X_b^{'}\gamma_6 + Z_{i,b}^{'}\delta_6 + \mu_{i,b}$ (6)

where $Democracy_{i,b}$ indicates the "level" of democracy in the individual's country of birth. $Visited_b \times I_{i,b} \times Democracy_{i,b}$ is instrumented by $T_b \times I_{i,b} \times Democracy_{i,b}$. λ_6 measures the additional turnout increase induced by canvassing for people born in a country with a stronger democracy. We use different measures of Democracy: the level of democracy in the individual's country of birth when he was 18 ("Polity 1"), and in 2010 ("Polity 2"); the overall score of democracy of country of birth in 2011 ("EIU 1"), the quality of the electoral process and the pluralism of parties in country of birth in 2011 ("EIU 2"), and the degree of electoral participation in the country of birth in 2011 ("EIU 3")³⁶.

In none of these specifications does the impact of canvassing vary with the initial level of democracy in the immigrant's country of birth (Table 11). Their participation, absent the intervention, does not vary by these measures of democracy either, except for the level of democracy in their country of birth today, as computed by the Polity IV project.

2.6.3 Education

Another difference between immigrants and the mainstream population could drive the results. Immigrants and their descendants could be relatively less educated and, as a result, less informed about French politics and political institutions, and less interested in the regional elections. The discussions with the canvassers might have increased their information and competence, when it was originally higher for other citizens, explaining the heterogeneous results³⁷. We cannot test this explanation directly, since we only know the level of education of the respondents to the postelectoral survey. However, we do not find much supportive evidence for this explanation: among respondents to the post-electoral survey, immigrants are more likely than native-born citizens to have no diploma (20.4 percent vs. 11.8 percent), but they are equally likely to hold a high-school diploma (Table 3). They are only slightly less likely to identify the newly elected president of the region, to be able to name an attribution of the region, and to have an opinion on the government, and only one of these differences is statistically significant at 10 percent. Finally, among the active voters, immigrants are almost equally likely to be able to describe their electoral choice at the first and second rounds.

2.6.4 Understanding the Lack of Effect on the Mainstream Population

While we argue that a specific attitude, shared by citizens of migrant origin, explains the heterogeneous results, a reverse interpretation is in theory possible. Perhaps what deserves an explanation is not the higher impact of door-to-door canvassing among immigrants, but rather the lack of impact

³⁶The two first measures are built using the composite index provided by the Polity IV project and derived from the coded values of authority characteristic component variables (Marshall, Jaggers, and Gurr 2010). The three latter indices are selected among all indices provided by the Economist Intelligence Unit (Economist Intelligence Unit 2011). The overall score of democracy aggregates the two last indices as well as other indices.

³⁷The influence of education on the impact of canvassing could, however, also go the other way: people with more education might be better able to process the information given to them by the canvassers.

among the mainstream population. The impact of the visits on immigrants could simply result from the standard mechanisms through which canvassing was found to operate in the United States, such as reemphasizing the civic norm or increasing the saliency of the elections (Gerber and Rogers 2009; Nickerson and Rogers 2010). Conversely, the lack of impact on the mainstream population might reflect an attitude characteristic of native-born citizens living in the French banlieues. A possible argument goes as follows: mainstream citizens who live in disadvantaged neighborhoods are those who could not afford to move to a better neighborhood. They feel outcast and no longer believe that their situation can improve, making them unreceptive to the canvassers' visits.

However, the effect of the visits was null across a relatively large variety of demographic and socioeconomic profiles of mainstream citizens, which makes this interpretation unlikely. Further, many citizens of migrant origin, in particular the second generation, have been repeatedly described as distrustful of the institutions and despaired - but we show that they were affected by the intervention. This suggests another interpretation of the lack of effect on the mainstream population: the traditional channels through which canvassing operates might have been ineffective in this context because identification with the activists was difficult. Unlike most American activists, the canvassers who took part in the experiment were official party members³⁸. Partisanship is an important part of their identity and takes up a significant share of their time, including outside of electoral campaigning. Some of the canvassers are elected as city councilmen and others are active in neighborhood councils. The people who received the canvassers' visits might thus have less easily identified with them. They might have associated them to distrusted politicians, nullifying the traditional effects of canvassing, except for the sense-of-belonging-enhancing mechanism. This explanation should be tested by future comparative work. More generally, the lack of impact of canvassing on French mainstream population remains an important topic for continued research.

2.7 Discussion

2.7.1 Effectiveness of Outreach Efforts Towards Immigrants

A same intervention (a visit by two canvassers) affected citizens of migrant origin and the mainstream population differently. The differential impact on immigrants' electoral participation is

³⁸French parties have a limited culture of opening themselves to non-members or new members, and the distance between voting and being active in a campaign is wider in France than in the United States (Terra Nova 2009).

striking: it was obtained in a context characterized by economic scarcity and lack of immigrant electoral power, which usually generates immigrant-state conflict (Dancygier 2010). Moreover, the visits also affected immigrants' descendants, who have been involved in tensions with the police and in notorious urban riots.

These results undermine the idea that immigrants are unwilling to increase their integration and participation in the receiving societies. They suggest that extending a hand to immigrants is an effective way to enhance their sense of belonging and their participation in the institutions. We conclude that, beyond immigrants' stigmatization and rejection, the paucity of such outreach efforts is an important cause of their low sense of belonging.

However, the absence of any lasting impact on the 2011 elections demonstrates that a onetime visit cannot permanently enhance immigrants' electoral participation. This probably requires repeated interactions and more substantial interventions. How much of the outreach efforts towards immigrants should be borne by the state or by nongovernmental and private actors is questionable and should be tested. One can expect that outreach efforts will be all the more effective if their contributors are perceived as representatives of official institutions, whether they are public officials or members of well-known organizations as was the case in this study.

The findings of this study could be specific to France and its assimilationist model. This model, rooted in a universalist conception of the nation (Renan 1882), grants immigrants' and their descendants citizenship based on the length of their occupancy through *jus soli*, but it expects them to assimilate in the French society by overcoming racial or cultural differences. This might make outreach efforts towards immigrants particularly relevant. On the contrary, extending a hand to them might be less important in countries with a multiculturalist model, such as the United States, Britain, or Netherlands, which allow immigrants to root their participation in society within their cultural, religious, and ethnic communities (Brubaker 1992; Kymlicka and Norman 1994; Howard 2009; Koopmans et al. 2005; Koopmans 2010). Furthermore, outreach efforts towards immigrants might be simply meaningless in countries such as Germany and Austria where citizenship has traditionnally had an ethnic rather than a civic base, which de facto excludes most immigrants.

However, the existing classification of integration and citizenship models has recently been criticized as implausible: in Europe, immigration policy and immigrant integration are increasingly ruled by European Community laws, and the policies on immigrant integration currently converge across states. For instance, the Netherlands have significantly departed from their multiculturalist policies and Germany has adopted a new nationality law in 2000, making it easier for immigrants and their children to acquire German citizenship (Haut Conseil à l'Intégration 2006; Korteweg 2006; Joppke 2004, 2007).

Today, the more relevant distinction might be between the classic immigration countries, such as the United States, Canada, Australia, or New Zealand, which were built around immigrants and have traditionnally emphasized the positive influence of immigration (e.g., Portes and Rumbaut 2006), and European countries, where immigration was long inexistent or confined to work immigration from within the continent. In this context, immigrants' influence is often perceived negatively, making their integration inherently more difficult. This gives us reasons to believe that outreach efforts such as the ones described in this study would be particularly useful to enhance immigrants' integration all across Europe, independent of the remaining specificities of each country's integration model. On the other hand, how much our conclusions extend to the classic immigration countries remains questionable: despite the much more important role that immigration has played in the foundation of these countries, some scholars argue that they face increasing difficulties integrating the most recent waves of immigrants (e.g., Huntington 2004). As in France and in Europe, immigrants in these countries participate less in the elections than the mainstream population (for the United States, see for instance Terrazas 2011; Jimenez 2011; and United States Census Bureau 2012). As a consequence, the best-practice diffusion in terms of citizenship tests and related civic integration policies is currently taking place within all western states, and not limited to Europe. Similarly, both European countries and these classic immigration nations could benefit from sharing best practices in terms of outreach efforts.

2.7.2 Comparing Turnout Effects Rather Than Levels

In this study, the effect of door-to-door canvassing is very different for immigrants and native-born citizens, although their turnout levels are similar. This suggests an important and more general methodological lesson.

Most studies of the electoral participation of immigrants or ethnic minorities rely on multivariate regressions of turnout levels on a variety of socioeconomic, demographic, and contextual variables, including dummies for immigrant and race. The influence of these two variables is inferred from the significance and size of the corresponding coefficients. Small or insignificant coefficients are interpreted as evidence that the determinants of the electoral participation of immigrants or ethnic minorities are the same as for other citizens.

Our findings show that this conclusion might be misinformed: while the immigrant dummy affects turnout levels only marginally, it is central to the interpretation of the effects of the intervention. This can be understood as follows: the variables that can be controlled for in observational studies affect participation through a series of characteristics - for instance, middle age proxies for a series of resources, costs, attitudes, and perspectives on politics that all enter into people's decision to participate (Wolfinger and Rosenstone 1980). In this study, the neighborhood and building variables that we observe and control for probably capture some determinants that are identical for all citizens living in a given type of neighborhood, such as economic resources or ethnic diversity ³⁹, as well as other determinants that are specific to some subgroups, such as the paucity of outreach efforts towards immigrants. Our regression of turnout levels misses the influence of this factor.

As an attempt to address this issue, electoral scholars have incorporated an increasing set of independent variables in their regressions, including some that are immigrant-related, such as coming from a repressive regime, anti-immigrant legislation, language proficiency, or percent of life spent outside of the country (e.g. Uhlaner, Cain, and Kiewiet 1989; Cho 1999; Ramakrishnan and Espenshade 2001; Xu 2005). But this approach also has its limits: attitudes such as sense of national belonging are costly and difficult to measure⁴⁰. Moreover, it is unclear how a factor such "paucity of outreach efforts" which, our findings suggest, plays an important role in determining immigrants' turnout, could be measured and controlled for in a satisfying way in such regressions.

This suggests that exploring heterogeneous effects of voter mobilization interventions could usefully complete existing observational studies to assess the influence of factors, such as being an immigrant or race, on voter turnout. The approach used in this paper could be generalized by comparing the effects of voter mobilization interventions with different types of messages on the electoral participation of the mainstream population on one hand, and of immigrants or ethnic minorities on the other hand. Future work conducted along these lines will benefit from systematic cross-country comparisons, building on the handful of recent studies which, like this one, administer voter mobilization interventions, originally tested in the United States, in radically new contexts (e.g., John and Brannan 2008; Banerjee et al. 2011; Aker, Collier and Vicente 2011).

 $^{^{39}}$ Ethnic diversity has been repeatedly shown to negatively affect the provision of local public goods (e.g. Algan, Hémet and Laitin 2012) and could thus be expected to be one of the factors explaining low turnout in the French bankieues.

⁴⁰For a paper regressing political participation of different ethnic groups on various attitudes, see for instance Leighley and Vedlitz (1999).

2.8 Bibliography

Adida, Claire L., David D. Laitin and Marie-Anne Valfort (2010). Identifying barriers to Muslim integration in France. *Proceeding of the national academy of sciences* 107(52).

Algan Yann, Camille Hémet and David Laitin (2012). Diversity and Local Public Goods: a Natural Experiment with Exogenous Residential Allocation. Working Paper.

Aker Jenny, Paul Collier and Pedro Vicente (2011). Is Information Power? Using Cell Phones during an Election in Mozambique. *Work in Progress*

Amadieu Jean-François (2004). Enquete "Testing" sur CV, Université de Paris 1, Obervatoire des Discriminations.

Anselin, A. (1990) L'Emigration Antillaise en France: La Troisieme Ile. Paris: Karthala.

Ansolabehere Steven and Eitan Hersh (2012). Validation: What Big Data Reveal About Survey Misreporting and the Real Electorate. *Political Analysis*

Arceneaux, Kevin and David W. Nickerson (2009). Who Is Mobilized to Vote? A Re-Analysis of 11 Field Experiments. American Journal of Political Science, 53(1) 1-16

Banerjee, Abhijit V., Selvan Kumar, Rohini Pande and Felix Su (2011). Do Informed Voters Make Better Choices? Experimental Evidence from Urban India. *Working Paper*.

Barreto, Matt A. (2005). Latino Immigrants at the Polls: Foreign-born Voter Turnout in the 2002 Election. *Political Research Quarterly* 58(1) 79-86

Beauchemin, Cris, Christelle Hamel and Patrick Simon (dir.) (2010). Trajectories and Origins. Survey on Population Diversity in France, Paris, Ined, Working Paper, n*168, 153 p.

Beauchemin, Cris, Hugues Lagrange and Mirna Safi (2010). Entre ici et là-bas: un aperçu des pratiques "transnationales" de la population vivant en France métropolitaine, in Beauchemin, Cris, Christelle Hamel and Patrick Simon (dir.) (2010). Trajectories and Origins. Survey on Population Diversity in France, Paris, Ined, Working Paper, n°168, 153 p.

Bevelander, Pieter and Ravi Pendakur (2008). Electoral Participation as a Measure of Social Inclusion for Natives, Immigrants and Descendants in Sweden. IZA Discussion Paper No. 3764.

Bloemraad Irene, Anna Korteweg, and Gökçe Yurdakul (2008), Citizenship and Immigration: Multiculturalism, Assimilation, and Challenges to the Nation-State. Annu. Rev. Sociol. 34: 153-79.

Brinbaum Yaël, Laure Moguérou and Jean-Luc Primon (2010). Parcours et expériences scolaires

des jeunes descendants d'immigrés en France in Beauchemin Cris, Christelle Hamel and Patrick Simon (dir.) (2010). Trajectories and Origins. Survey on Population Diversity in France, Paris, Ined, Working Paper, n°168, 153 p.

Brouard, Sylvain and Vincent Tiberj (2011). As French as everyone else ? A Survey of French Citizens of Maghrebin, African and Turkish French. Philadephia, Temple University Press.

Brubaker, Roger (1992), Citizenship and nationhood in France and Germany. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press

Calvès, G. (2004) 'Color-blindness at a crossroads in contemporary France', in Chapman, H. and Fraders, L. (eds) Race in France: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on the Politics of Difference. Oxford and New York: Berghahn, 219-26.

Campbell, Angus, Philip E. Converse, Warren E. Miller, and Donald E. Stokes (1960). The American Voter. New York: JohnWiley & Sons.

Campbell, David and Joe R. Feagin (1984). Black Electoral Victories in the South. *Phylon* 45(4): 331-345.

Cho Wendy K. Tam (1999). Naturalization, Socialization, Participation: Immigrants and (Non-)Voting. The Journal of Politics 61(4), pp. 1140-1155.

Conseil Constitutionnel (2007). Décision n° 2007-557 DC du 15 novembre 2007.

Conway, M. Margaret (1991). Political Participation in the United States. Washington, DC: Congressional Quarterly Press.

Council Directive 2000/43/EC (2000). Council Directive 2000/43/EC of 29 June 2000 implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin

Cour des comptes (2004). L'accueil des immigrants et l'intégration des populations issues de l'immigration: rapport au Président de la République suivi des réponses des administrations et des organismes intéressés.

Cutts, D., Fieldhouse, E., Purdam, K., Steel, D. and Tranmer, M. (2007). Voter turnout in British South Asian communities at the 2001 General Election. British Journal of Politics and International Relations, 9(3): 396-412.

Dancygier, Rafaela M. (2010). Immigration and Conflict in Europe. Cambridge University Press.

Economist Intelligence Unit (2011). Democracy under stress. A report from the Economist Intelligence Unit.

Eurostat (2011). Migrants in Europe - A statistical portrait of the first and second generation. Eurostat Statistical books

Gerber, Alan S. and Donald P. Green (2000). The Effects of Canvassing, Telephone Calls, and Direct Mail on Voter Turnout: A Field Experiment. *The American Political Science Review* 94:653-663.

Gerber, Alan S., Donald P. Green and Ron Shachar (2003). Voting May Be Habit-Forming: Evidence from a Randomized Field Experiment. *American Journal of Political Science* 47(3)

Gerber, Alan S. and Todd Rogers (2009). Descriptive Social Norms and Motivation to Vote: Everyone's Voting and so Should You. *The Journal of Politics* 71(1): 178-191.

Givens, Terri E. (2007). Immigrant Integration in Europe. Empirical Research. Annu. Rev. Polit. Sci. 10: 67-83.

Givens, Terri E. and Adam Luedtke (2005). European immigration policies in comparative perspective: issue salience, partisanship and immigrant rights. *Comparative European Politics*. 3: 1-22.

Goodman, Sara W. (2010). Naturalisation Policies in Europe: Exploring Patterns of Inclusion and Exclusion. EUDO Citizenship Observatory.

Haut Conseil à l'Intégration (2006). Analyse Comparative de Différents Modèles d'Intégration en Europe. Avis à Monsieur le Premier ministre

Haut Conseil à l'Intégration (2011). La France sait-elle encore intégrer les immigrés? Rapport au Premier ministre.

Howard, M. M. (2009), The Politics of Citizenship in Europe. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Huntington, Samuel P. (2004). Who Are We? The Challenges to America's National Identity. New York: Simon & Schuster

Insee (2005). Les immigrés en France, édition 2005.

Insee Premiere (2012). L'inscription et la participation électorales en 2012. Qui est inscrit et qui vote, *Insee Première* 1411, by Xavier Niel, and Liliane Lincot

Jackson, Robert A. (2003). Differential Influences on Latino Electoral Participation. *Political Behavior* 25(4) 339-366

Jimenez Tomas R (2011). Immigrants in the United States: How Well Are They Integrating into Society? Migration Policy Institute Jobard, Fabien, René Lévy, John Lamberth and Sophie Névanen (2012). Measuring Appearance-Based Discrimination: An Analysis of Identity Checks in Paris. *Population* 67(3).

John, Peter and Tessa Brannan (2008). How Different are Telephoning and Canvassing? Results from a 'Get Out the Vote' Field Experiment in the British 2005 General Election. *British Journal* of Political Science 38: 565-574

Joppke, Christian (2004). The retreat of multiculturalism in the liberal state: theory and policy. British Journal of Sociology 55(2):237-57

Joppke, Christian (2007). Transformation of Immigrant Integration: Civic Integration and Antidiscrimination in the Netherlands, France, and Germany. *World Politics* 59(2)

Kaya, Yunus and Ekrem Karakoç (2012). Civilizing vs destructive globalization? A multi-level analysis of anti-immigrant prejudice. *Journal of Comparative Sociology* 53(1)

Kepel Gilles, Leyla Arslan and Sarah Zouheir (2011). Banlieu de la République. Institut Montaigne

Klausen J. (2005). The Islamic Challenge: Politics and Religion in Western Europe. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press

Klink, Andreas and Ulrich Wagner (1999). Discrimination Against Ethnic Minorities in Germany: Going Back to the Field. Journal of Applied Social Psychology 29(2)

Koff, Harlan and Dominique Duprez (eds) (2009) Riots and Republicanism: The Autumn 2005 Urban Riots in France Revisited in International Perspective. Special Issue, *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 35(5)

Koopmans, Ruud, Paul Statham, Marco Giugni and Florence Passy (2005). Contested Citizenship: Immigration and Cultural Diversity in Europe. Minneapolis: Univ. Minn. Press

Koopmans, Ruud (2010). Trade-Offs between Equality and Difference: Immigrant Integration, Multiculturalism and the Welfare State in Cross-National Perspective. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 36(1)

Korteweg, Anna C. (2006). The murder of Theo van Gogh: gender, religion and the struggle over immigrant integration in the Netherlands in Bodemann, Michal and Gökçe Yurdakul (dir.) (2006). Migration, Citizenship, Ethnos. New York: Palgrave Macmillan

Kymlicka Will and Wayne Norman (1994). Return of the citizen: a survey of recent work on citizenship theory. *Ethics* 104:352–81

Lagrange, Hugues and Marco Oberti (2006). Émeutes urbaines et protestations. Une singularité

française, Paris, Presses de Sciences Po « Nouveaux Débats », 225 p.

Leighley, Jan E. and Jonathan Nagler (1992). Individual and Systemic Influences on Turnout: Who Votes? 1984. Journal of Politics 54(3): 718-40.

Leighley, Jan E. and Arnold Vedlitz (1999). Race, Ethnicity, and Political Participation: Competing Models and Contrasting Explanations. *The Journal of Politics* 61(4): 1092-1114.

Madelin, Bénédicte (2007). Le rôle des femmes-relais. Informations sociales 5/2007 (141)

Marshall Thomas Humphrey (1950). Citizenship and Social Class. London: Cambridge Univ. Press

Marshall, Monty G., Keith Jaggers and Ted Robert Gurr (2010). Polity IV Project. Political Regime Characteristics and Transitions, 1800-2010. Dataset Users' Manual.

Maxwell, Rahsaan (2009). Pour en finir avec un faux débat: les statistiques ethniques, *En Temps Réel*, 40 (September)

Maxwell, Rahsaan (2010). electoral participation in France among Non-European-Origin Migrants: Segregation or Integration? Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 36:425-443

Michelson, Melissa R. (2005). Meeting the Challenge of Latino Voter Mobilization. Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 601:85-101.

Michelson, Melissa R. (2006). Mobilizing the Latino Youth Vote: Some Experimental Results. Social Science Quarterly 87(5):1189-1206.

Modood, Tariq (2005). Multicultural Politics: Racism, Ethnicity and Muslims in Britain.Minneapolis: Univ. Minn. Press

Nickerson, David W. and Todd Rogers (2010). Do you have a voting plan? Implementation intentions, voter turnout, and organic plan-making. *Psychological Science*, 21 (2): 194-199.

Niven (2004). The Mobilization Solution? Face-to-Face Contact and Voter Turnout in a Municipal Election. The Journal of Politics 66(3): 868-884.

Pettigrew TF (1998). Reactions toward the new minorities of Western Europe. Annu. Rev. Soc. 24:77-103

Portes, Alejandro and Rubén G. Rumbaut (2006). Immigrant America: A Portrait. Berkeley: University of California Press

Ramakrishnan, S. Karthick and Thomas J. Espenshade (2001). Immigrant Incorporation and Political Participation in the United States. *International Migration Review* 35(3) 870-909

Recensement de la population (2009). Recensement de la population 2009 : fichier détail -

Individus (localisation canton ou ville) - (2009) [fichier électronique], INSEE [producteur], Centre Maurice Halbwachs (CMH) [diffuseur].

Renan Ernest (1882). Qu'est-ce qu'une nation?: Conférence Faite En Sorbonne, Le 11 Mars 1882

Rosenstone, Steven J., and John Mark Hansen (1993). Mobilization, Participation, and Democracy in America. New York: Macmillan

Semyonov, Moshe, Rebeca Raijman, and Anastasia Gorodzeisky (2006). The Rise of Antiforeigner Sentiment in European Societies, 1988-2000. American Sociological Review 71(3)

Simon, Patrick (2012). French National Identity and Integration: Who Belongs to the National Community? Migration Policy Institute

Strabac, Zan and Ola Listhaug (2008). Anti-Muslim prejudice in Europe: A multilevel analysis of survey data from 30 countries. Social Science Research 37(1)

Teixeira, Ruy A. (1992). The Disappearing American Voter. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution

Terra Nova (2009). Moderniser la vie politique: innovations américaines, leçons pour la France

Terrazas Aaron (2011). The Economic Integration of Immigrants in the United States: Longand Short-Term Perspectives. Migration Policy Institute.

Trajectories and origins (2008). Trajectoires et origines (TeO) - version complète - 2008 - (2008) [fichier électronique], INED et INSEE [producteur], Centre Maurice Halbwachs (CMH) [diffuseur]

Uhlaner, Carole J., Bruce E. Cain, and D. Roderick Kiewiet (1989). Political Participation of Ethnic Minorities in the 1980s. Political *Behavior* 11(3): 195-231.

United Nations (2006). International Migration Report 2006: A Global Assessment.

United States Census Bureau (2012). Voting and Registration in the Election of November 2008. Current Population Reports, July 2012.

Verba, Sidney and Norman H. Nie (1972). Participation in America: Political Democracy and Social Equality. New York: Harper and Row.

Verba, Sydney, Kay Lehman Schlozman and Henry E. Brady (1995). Voice and equality: civic voluntarism in American politics. Harvard University Press.

Vogl Tom (2012). Race and the Politics of close elections, NBER Working Paper 18320

Weil, Patrick (2005). La République et sa Diversité. Paris: Seuil

Witte (1995). Racist violence in western Europe. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 21(4)

Wolfinger, Raymond E., and Steven J. Rosenstone. 1980. Who votes? New Haven: Yale University Press.

Xu Jun (2005). Why do minorities participate less? The effects of immigration, education, and electoral process on Asian American voter registration and turnout. *Social Science Research* 34(4) 682-702

Figure 1. Shares of immigra	ants by orig	in and city							
	Paris 11e	Bagneux	Domont	Malakoff	Montrouge	Pierrefite-sur- Seine	Sevran	Villetaneuse	Total
Number of registered citizens	1223	2404	1165	2782	3997	1502	7313	3437	23823
% of immigrants	11.3%	20.1%	13.3%	15.0%	15.3%	26.8%	30.5%	26.6%	22.5%
% of immigrants born in									
Maghreb	55.8%	40.1%	33.5%	48.4%	42.7%	43.8%	32.0%	40.0%	38.2%
Sub-Saharan Africa	21.7%	36.8%	32.9%	18.5%	20.8%	21.9%	31.0%	33.3%	28.9%
Asia	8.0%	10.1%	9.7%	13.7%	11.1%	20.6%	29.0%	13.1%	19.6%

Table 1: Verifying the randomization

	Contro	algroup	Treatm	ont group	B value	Number of
	contro	n Broab	Heating	ent group	P-Vulue Treatment -	Number of
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Control	003.
Panel A. Building characteristics					Control	
City						
Located in Paris (11th arr.)	0.056	0.230	0.046	0 210	0 542	23836
Located in Bagneux	0.098	0.297	0.104	0.210	0.665	23836
Located in Domont	0.049	0.216	0.049	0.305	0.005	23836
Located in Malakoff	0.116	0.320	0 1 1 8	0 322	0.935	23836
Located in Montrouge	0 171	0 376	0 164	0.371	0.935	23030
Located in Pierrefitte	0.065	0.246	0.061	0.371	0.695	23030
Located in Sevran	0.299	0.458	0.315	0.240	0.005	23030
Located in Villetaneuse	0.146	0.353	0 1 4 3	0.404	0.443	23030
Number of registered citizens in the building	54 7	19.0	15.9	42.2	0.033	23030
Based in a ZUS	0 344	0.475	0353	43.2	0.105	23830
Based in a 78U	0.344	0.475	0.333	0.478	0.065	23830
Housing price	3449	1433	2200	1401	0.45	23836
Distance to the polling station	0 272	1423	0 260	1401	0.561	23836
bistance to the poining station	0.272	0.243	0.200	0.248	0.757	23836
Panel B. Individual characteristics (whole same	[0]					
Gender	0 449	0 497	0.461	0 408	0.061	22026
Age	44.2	170	0.401	17.0	0.001	23830
Household size	22	16	44.2	17.3	0.005	23830
Immigrant	0.210	1.0	2.2	1.4	0.595	23836
Born in Maghreb	0.215	0.414	0.230	0.421	0.2	23823
Born in Sub-Sabaran Africa	0.382	0.460	0.382	0.480	0.993	5351
Born in Asia	0.291	0.434	0.267	0.453	0.85	5351
Born in South America	0.191	0.393	0.202	0.402	0.5	5351
Born in Western Europe	0.043	0.202	0.038	0.192	0.517	5351
Born in Eastern Europe	0.041	0.198	0.042	0.201	0.819	5351
Born in Middle Fact	0.030	0.171	0.028	0.165	0.719	5351
Born in North America	0.022	0.148	0.020	0.139	0.626	5351
Born in the DOM TOM	0.001	0.038	0.001	0.034	0.827	5351
Second generation	0.082	0.274	0.079	0.269	0.561	23823
Second generation	0.080	0.271	0.079	0.270	0.872	23836
Born in this situ	0.010	0.100	0.011	0.105	0.523	23836
Born in this day at a st	0.038	0.191	0.033	0.179	0.49	23823
Born in this department	0.232	0.422	0.226	0.418	0.579	23823
Born in this region	0.520	0.500	0.504	0.500	0.141	23823
Panel C. Individual characteristics (postelectora	(survey)					
Called for a survey	0 154	0 361	0 162	0 369	0 300	22026
Survey conducted	0.242	0.478	0.102	0.305	0.333	23030
Education	0.2.12	0.420	0.232	0.422	0.404	3700
No diploma	0.144	0.352	0 137	0 344	0 773	917
Diploma below end-of-high-school	0 322	0.468	0.287	0.54	0.773	817
End-of-high-school diploma	0.227	0.419	0.254	0.435	0.387	017
Higher education diploma	0.307	0.467	0.234	0.450	0.444	017
Employed workers	0.588	0.493	0.522	0.405	0.021	804
Unemployed workers	0.109	0 317	0.007	0.434	0.873	804
Student	0.070	0.256	0.105	0.200	0.141	804
Retired	0.179	0.230	0.103	0.307	0.084	804
Other inactivity	0.053	0.225	0.103	0.375	0.718	804
Social category	0.000	0.225	0.000	0.243	0.457	604
Category 2 (farmers)	0.033	0 179	0.025	0 159	0.526	000
Category 3 (craftsmen_shonkeepers)	0.085	0.270	0.025	0.130	0.520	072
Category & (intermediate jobs)	0.000	0.273	0.129	0.530	0.05	892
Category 5 (employees)	0.2/3	0.449	0.235	0.425	0.172	892
Category 5 (employees)	0.514	0.405	0.268	0.443	0.12	892
Category & (workers)	0.076	0.200	0.079	0.269	0.879	892
No opinion on the government	0.090	0.295	0.145	0.353	0.041	892
Satisfied with the government's policies	0.194	0.396	0.205	0.404	0.739	/48
paranen with the Rovernment's bolicies	0.114	0.318	0.148	0.356	0.23	599

Notes : The unit of observation is the building in Panel A, the individual in Panel B, and the respondent to the post-electoral survey in Panel C. In Panels B and C, standard errors are adjusted for clustering at the building level.

Table 2: 1st and 2nd round participation in the control group (2010 and 2011)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Panel A.	. ,	\ _ /	1st rou	ind, 2010	(-)	v - r
Immigrant	-0.005	0.039	-0.019	-0.031	0.023	-0.052
0	(0.015)	(0.014)***	(0.015)	(0.016)*	(0.015)	(0.017)***
Born in DOM-TOM	. ,	. ,		-0.091	-0.026	-0.093
				(0.019)***	(0.018)	(0.020)***
Second generation				-0.153	-0.089	-0.013
-				(0.021)***	(0.019)***	(0.018)
Generation 2.5				-0.049	-0.070	0.018
				(0.042)	(0.044)	(0.045)
Constant	0.343			0.369		. ,
	(0.013)***	k i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		(0.014)***		
Building controls and strata fixed effects	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
Observations	12269	12269	12269	12269	12269	12269
R-squared	0.00	0.08	0.11	0.01	0.08	0.11
Mean in Control Group	0.342	0.342	0.342	0.342	0.342	0.342
Panel B.			2nd ro	und, 2010		
Immigrant	0.026	0.066	0.004	0.003	0.051	-0.022
	(0.014)*	(0.013)***	(0.014)	(0.016)	(0.015)***	(0.017)
Born in DOM-TOM				-0.065	-0.007	-0.072
				(0.021)***	(0.020)	(0.022)***
Second generation				-0.153	-0.092	-0.020
				(0.023)***	(0.021)***	(0.022)
Generation 2.5				-0.076	-0.089	-0.006
				(0.046)	(0.047)*	(0.047)
Constant	0.372			0.396		
	(0.013)***	×		(0.014)***		
Building controls and strata fixed effects	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
Observations	12269	12269	12269	12269	12269	12269
R-squared	0.00	0.07	0.10	0.01	0.07	0.10
Mean in Control Group	0.378	0.378	0.378	0.378	0.378	0.378

Table 2: 1st and 2nd round participation in the control group (2010 and 2011) (cont.)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Panel C.	<i>v-r</i>	(-)	1st rou	nd. 2011	(5)	(9)
Immigrant	0.005	0.032	-0.026	-0.025	0.008	-0.078
5	(0.017)	(0.015)**	(0.016)*	(0.020)	(0.018)	(0.019)***
Born in DOM-TOM	• •	. ,	(,	-0.091	-0.044	-0.123
				(0.023)***	(0.021)**	(0.022)***
Second generation				-0.137	-0.098	-0.018
-				(0.029)***	(0.026)***	(0.023)
Generation 2.5				-0.120	-0 138	-0.039
				(0.050)**	(0.048)***	(0.050)
Constant	0.261			0.291	(0.040)	(0.050)
	(0.016)***	×		(0.018)***		
Building controls and strata fixed effects	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
Observations	7924	7924	7924	7924	7924	7924
R-squared	0.00	0.08	0.13	0.01	0.08	0.13
Mean in Control Group	0.262	0.262	0.262	0.262	0.262	0.262
Panel D.	_		2nd rou	nd, 2011		
Immigrant	0.042	0.062	0.011	0.015	0.042	-0.027
	(0.016)**	(0.013)***	(0.016)	(0.019)	(0.015)***	(0.019)
Born in DOM-TOM				-0.071	-0.031	-0.091
				(0.025)***	(0.021)	(0.024)***
Second Generation				-0.128	-0.085	-0.016
				(0.028)***	(0.022)***	(0.019)
Generation 2.5				-0.097	-0.118	-0.031
				(0.056)*	(0.050)**	(0.053)
Constant	0.281			0.307		
	(0.017)***	:		(0.020)***		
Building controls and strata fixed effects	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
Observations	7921	7921	7921	7921	7921	7921
R-squared	0.00	0.08	0.12	0.01	0.08	0.12
Mean in Control Group	0.291	0.291	0.291	0.291	0.291	0.291

Notes: Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%.

We count someone who lives with at least one citizen of an older generation as Second Generation if all the older generation citizens were born abroad or in the DOM-TOM; and as Generation 2.5 if one of these older generation citizens was born abroad or in the DOM-TOM, but another one was born in France.

Building controls include: housing price, size, distance to the polling station, and whether it is located in a ZUS. Individual controls include: age, gender, household size, whether the individual was born in the same city, in the same department, and in the same region as the ones where he currently lives. Table 3: Differences between the characteristics of native-born citizens and immigrants

	Native-bo	rn citizens	Immi	grants	P-value	Number of
				6	Treatment =	obs.
	Maan	50	Maan	50	Control	
Panel A Building characteristics	Iviean	30	IVIEdII	30		
City						
located in Paris (11th arr.)	0.059	0 235	0.026	0 159	0.021	73873
Located in Bagneux	0.000	0.205	0.020	0.135	0.031	23023
Located in Domont	0.055	0.303	0.030	0.267	0.033	23823
Located in Malakoff	0.128	0.334	0.025	0.100	0.003	23823
Located in Montrouge	0.183	0 387	0 114	0 318	0.002	23823
Located in Pierrefitte	0.060	0.237	0.075	0.310	0.002	23823
Located in Sevran	0.275	0.237	0.417	0.204	0.000	23823
Located in Villetaneuse	0.137	0.343	0.171	0 376	0.000	23823
Number of registered citizens in the building	51.2	47.0	48.0	44 7	0.093	23823
Based in a ZUS	0.314	0.464	0.469	0.499	0.000	23823
Based in a ZRU	0.275	0.446	0.413	0.492	0.000	23823
Housing price	3539	1445	3031	1215	0.000	23823
Distance to the polling station	0.271	0.242	0.265	0.254	0.661	23823
Panel B. Individual characteristics (whole sample	2)					
Gender	0.443	0.497	0.493	0.500	0.000	23823
Age	42.8	18.4	49.1	15.0	0.000	23823
Household size	2.2	1.5	2.4	1.5	0.000	23823
Panel C. Individual characteristics (postelectoral	survey)	<u></u>	<u></u>		<u>_</u>	
Called for a survey	0.156	0.363	0.163	0.370	0.403	23823
Survey conducted	0.227	0.419	0.270	0.444	0.013	3762
Education						
No diploma	0.118	0.323	0.204	0.404	0.004	816
End-of-high-school diploma and higher	0.550	0.498	0.569	0.496	0.614	816
Active and unemployed	0.197	0.398	0.233	0.424	0.302	594
Voted for Socialist Party at 1st round	0.478	0.501	0.493	0.504	0.835	249
Voted for Socialist Party at 2nd round	0.769	0.422	0.848	0.361	0.110	287
Satisfied with the government's politic	0.136	0.343	0.114	0.319	0.408	599
Is able to tell his choice at the 1st round	0.805	0.398	0.754	0.434	0.379	243
Is able to tell his choice at the 2nd round	0.767	0.424	0.747	0.437	0.722	297
Is able to identify the president of the region	0.420	0.494	0.363	0.482	0.094	849
Is able to name an attribution of the region	0.331	0.471	0.279	0.450	0.147	850
Does not have any opinion on the government	0.189	0.392	0.224	0.418	0.280	747

Notes : The unit of observation is the building in Panel A, the individual in Panel B, and the respondent to the post-electoral survey in Panel C. In Panels B and C, standard errors are adjusted for clustering at the building level.

Table 4: Overall impact on 1st and 2nd round participation (2010)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	
Panel A.	19	st round, 20	10	
Visited	0.005	0.001	0.000	
	(0.011)	(0.008)	(0.009)	
Building controls and strata fixed effects	No	Yes	Yes	
Individual controls	No	No	Yes	
Observations	23773	23773	23760	
R-squared	0.00	0.06	0.09	
Panel B.	2nd round, 2010			
Visited	-0.001	0.002	0.001	
	(0.012)	(0.009)	(0.009)	
Building controls and strata fixed effects	No	Yes	Yes	
Individual controls	No	No	Yes	
Observations	18825	18825	18819	
R-squared	0.00	0.06	0.09	

Notes: Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance

at 1, 5 and 10%. Visited is instrumented with T.

Individual and building controls as in Table 2.

 Table 5: Impact on 1st and 2nd round participation for immigrants and native-born citizens (2010)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Panel A.		1st round	d, 2010	
Visited	0.005	-0.005	0.000	-0.012
	(0.011)	(0.012)	(0.009)	(0.009)
Immigrant * Visited		0.044		0.052
		(0.020)**		(0.018)***
Immigrant		-0.006		-0.021
		(0.015)		(0.014)
Building controls and strata fixed effects	No	No	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	No	No	Yes	Yes
Observations	23773	23760	23760	23760
R-squared	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.09
Panel B.		2nd roun	d, 2010	
Visited	-0.001	-0.008	0.001	-0.008
	(0.012)	(0.013)	(0.009)	(0.010)
Immigrant * Visited		0.028		0.034
		(0.022)		(0.021)
Immigrant		0.025		-0.002
		(0.016)		(0.015)
Building controls and strata fixed effects	No	No	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	No	No	Yes	Yes
Observations	18825	18819	18819	18819
R-squared	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.09

Notes: Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. Visited is instrumented with T and Immigrant * Visited with Immigrant * T. Individual and building controls as in Table 2.

Table 6: Impact on 1st and 2nd round participation for immigrants and native-born citizens, allowing
for heterogeneous treatment effects along other dimensions (2010)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
Heterogenous effects allowed along		Born in same area or not	Housing price	Age	Gender	ZUS	All ((2) - (6))
Panel A.				1st round, 201	D		
Visited	-0.012	-0.020	-0.016	-0.009	-0.017	-0.020	-0.062
	(0.009)	(0.015)	(0.023)	(0.021)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.041)
Immigrant * Visited	0.052	0.060	0.053	0.053	0.052	0.049	0.057
	(0.018)***	(0.022)***	(0.019)***	(0.018)***	(0.018)***	(0.018)***	(0.022)**
Immigrant	-0.021	-0.024	-0.021	-0.021	-0.020	-0.019	-0.023
	(0.014)	(0.015)	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.015)
Building controls and strata fixed effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	23760	23760	23760	23760	23760	23760	23760
R-squared	0.09	0.10	0.09	0.10	0.09	0.10	0.10
Panel B.			2	2nd round, 201	0		
Visited	-0.008	-0.013	-0.012	0.011	-0.017	-0.013	-0.038
	(0.010)	(0.016)	(0.027)	(0.022)	(0.012)	(0.014)	(0.063)
Immigrant * Visited	0.034	0.040	0.035	0.038	0.033	0.033	0.038
	(0.021)	(0.024)*	(0.021)	(0.022)*	(0.021)	(0.021)	(0.024)
Immigrant	-0.002	-0.005	-0.002	-0.003	-0.001	-0.001	-0.004
	(0.015)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.016)
Building controls and strata fixed effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	18819	18819	18819	18819	18819	18819	18819
R-squared	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09

Notes: See Table 5.

Table 7: Impact on the 2011 cantonal elections 1st and 2nd round participation for immigrants and native-born citizens

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Panel A.		1st roun	id, 2011	
Visited	-0.001	-0.004	0.003	-0.001
	(0.013)	(0.0 17)	(0.009)	(0.011)
Immigrant * Visited		0.010		0.015
		(0.026)		(0.022)
Immigrant		0.005		-0.027
		(0.018)		(0.015)*
Building controls and strata fixed effects	No	No	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	No	No	Yes	Yes
Observations	15426	15415	15415	15415
R-squared	0.00	0.00	0.11	0.11
Panel B.		2nd roui	nd, 2011	
Visited	-0.016	-0.023	-0.003	-0.010
	(0.014)	(0.017)	(0.011)	(0.012)
Immigrant * Visited		0.023		0.028
		(0.022)		(0.020)
Immigrant		0.032		0.006
		(0.018)*		(0.016)
Building controls and strata fixed effects	No	No	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	No	No	Yes	Yes
Observations	12672	12667	12667	12667
R-squared	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.09

Notes: See Table 5.

	(1)	(2)		(3)	(4)	<u>.</u>	(2	(9)	(2)				
	Share of the	Panel A. Con	nections	outside of Me	etropolitan France	(with DOM o	or foreign	country)					
	population surveved	Holds dual citizenship	<u> </u>	lows media o intrv/DOM o	f Goes back to	Has regul	lar with nnl	Provides financia heln outside of	l Owns some	qu			
	-		ō	gin	at least once a	outside o	of Met.	Met. France	of Met. France				
Immierant	10 7%	41 9%	5	102	year 37.3%	France		15 40/	1 4 10/	1			
born in Maahreb	37.2%	5	0.8%	46.5	× 25:370 39.4	27:02 1%	20 6%	11 5%	11 11	7%			
born in Subsaharan Africa	22.2%		7.6%	603	. 91	2	48.2%	3020	77	2			
born in Asia	16.4%		0.1%	50.2	10.0	. %	55.8%	2.7.8 2.7.8		% %			
Born in DOM	2.6%	0.2%	73	6%	22.9%	65.4%		8.1%	14.6%				
Second Generation	12.2%	30.0%	49	5%	N/A	37.7%		4.6%	6.0%				
Generation 2.5	12.0%	8 9%	5	1%	V/N	70 C BC		%O't	4 E%				
	12.0%	NC.0		% ۲		%C.07		%D'7	4.0%				
iviainstream population	60.4%	%0.0%	Ż	4	N/A	18.5%		1.7%	0.7%				
	(8)	(6)		(10)	(11)	. 1)	10	(13)	(111)	31/	_	1911	
	Panel B. Values an	d social integr	ation	10-1	(+++)	1	7	(01)	Panel C Discri	ut) minations	_	(01)	
	Speaks French	Has a religion	n See	is religion as	ldeal number of	f Uses a		ess than half	Often asked	Has exneri	enced H	as exnerier	perc
	with children	•	ver	y important	children in a	contrace	otion	riends with same	about his origi	ns discrimina	tions r	acism	
					family	method	-	origin)				
Immigrant	98.7%	78.3%	31.	7%	2.9	42.5%		51.1%	22.3%	6.1%	m	3.8%	
born in Maghreb	98.7%	8	9.6%	39.66	2	8	40.2%	46.3%	15	%6	3 7%		201 2
born in Subsaharan Africa	99.1%	8	5.2%	47.49	۱۳۵		34.0%	31.8%		7%	18.5%	14	9.2%
born in Asia	97.5%	5	8.2%	16.59	8	.7	42.2%	59.3%	27	7%	1.8%	. 7	5.3%
Born in DOM	98.1%	83.4%	35.	%0	2.7	40.4%		12.9%	28.9%	4.2%	4	. 1%	
Second Generation	98.3%	74.7%	26.	5%	2.8	47.9%	-	5.2%	31.5%	5.6%	4	8.4%	
Generation 2.5	98.9%	56.5%	8.1	%	2.4	65.6%	-,	59.6%	16.4%	3.6%	5	8%	
Mainstream population	98.6%	52.2%	8.5	%	2.5	57.8%		9.7%	6 9%	2.2%	5 i		
			}	ł	1			877.0	8/2.0	0/7:7	Ň	8 o.+	
	(17)	(18)		(19)	(20)								
	Panel D. Sense of I	national belon	ging										
	Strongly feels at	Strongly	Stre	ongly feels	Rather feels								
	home in France	disagrees tha	t Fre	nch	French								
		seen as Frenc	£										
Immigrant	65.1%	18.9%	69	84	27.9%	1							
born in Maghreb	60.1%	11	.8%	62.39	24.9	%							
born in Subsaharan Africa	69.4%	27	.4%	60.03	21.6	%							
born in Asia	50.9%	21	.4%	33.59	50.4	8							
Born in DOM	51.8%	18.8%	71.	%	18.5%								
Second Generation	66.3%	14.9%	63.9	%	28.5%								
Generation 2.5	84.1%	2.8%	88.(%	8.8%								
Mainstream population	79.7%	0.4%	90.0	%	7.7%								
Notes: Statistics computed based	on the survey Traje	ctories and O	rigins cor	iducted by IN	ED and INSEE in 20	008-2009. Wi	e use the	ndividual weight:	s provided in th	e database to b	uild a sam	ple	
representative of all French citize	ns living in the region	n lle-de-Franc	e. The Se	cond Genera	tion are people bc	orn in France	of two pa	rents born abroa	d or in a DOM. 1	he Generation	2.5 are pe	ople born i	. <u>c</u>
France from one parent born in F	ance and one pare	nt born abroad	d or in a l	DOM. The sar	pple is restricted to	o immigrants	s with chile	fren living in Fran	ice, in Column 8	; women young	ger than 5!	5 who are ii	na
couple, in Column 12; and respon	dents who say that	they have see	n friends	in the past 1	ō days, in Column	13.							

Table 8. Connections outside of France and social integration

Table 9: Impact on 1st and 2nd round participation for immigrants of different origins and native-born citizens (2010)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
	1st rour	n d, 2010	2nd rou	ind, 2010
Visited	-0.012	-0.012	-0.008	-0.008
	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Immigrant * Visited	0.052		0.034	
	(0.018)***		(0.021)	
Immigrant	-0.021		-0.002	
	(0.014)		(0.015)	
Born in Western country * Visited		0.013		0.015
		(0.100)		(0.088)
Born in SubSaharian Africa * Visited		0.049		0.037
		(0.030)		(0.033)
Born in Maghreb * Visited		0.073		0.059
		(0.026)***		(0.025)**
Born in Asia * Visited		0.045		0.025
		(0.038)		(0.042)
Other immigrant * Visited		0.014		-0.040
		(0.058)		(0.068)
Born in Western country		-0.009		0.011
		(0.047)		(0.048)
Born in Sub-Saharan Africa		0.050		0.039
		(0.023)**		(0.024)
Born in Maghreb		-0.050		-0.016
		(0.017)***		(0.019)
Born in Asia		-0.065		-0.033
		(0.026)**		(0.028)
Other immigrant		-0.042		-0.009
		(0.038)		(0.046)
Building controls and strata fixed effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	23760	23760	18819	18819
R-squared	0.09	0.10	0.09	0.09

Notes: Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. Visited is instrumented with T and Immigrant * Visited with Immigrant * T. Similarly for Born in Western country * Visited, Born in Sub-Saharan Africa * Visited, etc.

Individual and building controls as in Table 2.

Table 10: Impact on 1st and 2nd round participation for citizens of migrant origin and the mainstream population (2010)

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Panel A.	(-/	st round. 20	10
Visited	-0.012	-0.017	-0.019
	(0.009)	(0.010)*	(0.010)*
Immigrant * Visited	0.052	0.058	0.059
	(0.018)***	(0.019)***	(0.020)***
Born in DOM * Visited		0.044	0.046
		(0.026)*	(0.026)*
Child * Visited			0.011
			(0.025)
Second generation * Visited			0.010
			(0.035)
Generation 2.5 * Visited			-0.089
			(0.072)
Immigrant	-0.021	-0.047	-0.047
	(0.014)	(0.015)***	(0.015)***
Born in DOM		-0.090	-0.091
		(0.017)***	(0.018)***
Child			-0.038
• · · ·			(0.019)*
Second generation			0.006
			(0.024)
Generation 2.5			0.042
Puilding controls and starts fired off at			(0.049)
Building controls and strata fixed effects	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	Yes	Yes	Yes
B-squared	23760	23760	23760
	0.09	0.10	0.10
Panel B.	21	nd round. 20	10
Visited	-0.008	-0.012	-0.020
	(0.010)	(0.011)	(0.012)*
Immigrant * Visited	0.034	0.039	0.048
	(0.021)	(0.022)*	(0.024)**
Born in DOM * Visited		0.034	0.043
		(0.032)	(0.032)
Child * Visited			-0.003
			(0.026)
Second generation * Visited			0.074
			(0.038)*
Generation 2.5 * Visited			-0.003
lan an imma a t			(0.083)
immigrant	-0.002	-0.023	-0.026
Rom in DOM	(0.015)	(0.017)	(0.018)
		-0.0/1	-0.075
Child		(0.021)***	(0.022)***
			-0.031
Second generation			(0.020)
			-0.021 (0.029)
Generation 2.5			0.020)
			(0.055)
Building controls and strata fixed effects	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	18819	18819	18819
R-squared	0.09	0.09	0.09

Notes: Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%.

We count someone who lives with at least one citizen of an older generation as Second Generation if all the older generation citizens were born abroad or in the DOM-TOM; and as Generation 2.5 if one of these older generation citizens was born abroad or in the DOM-TOM, but another one was born in France.

Visited is instrumented with T and Immigrant * Visited with Immigrant * T. Similarly for Born in DOM * Visited, Child * Visited, etc.

Individual and building controls as in Table 2.
Table 11: Impact on 1st and 2nd round participation for immigrants from countries with different levels of democracy and for native-born citizens (2010)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Panel A.	1st round, 2010					
Visited	-0.012	-0.010	-0.012	-0.012	-0.012	-0.012
	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.009)
Immigrant * Visited	0.052	0.051	0.062	0.074	0.077	0.086
	(0.018)***	(0.017)***	(0.023)***	(0.045)	(0.027)***	(0.045)*
Immigrant * Visited * Democracy		0.001	-0.002	-0.005	-0.006	-0.010
		(0.006)	(0.005)	(0.010)	(0.006)	(0.012)
Immigrant	-0.021	-0.008	-0.054	-0.009	-0.032	-0.032
	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.017)***	(0.027)	(0.018)*	(0.029)
Democracy		0.001	0.008	-0.002	0.003	0.003
		(0.003)	(0.003)**	(0.006)	(0.004)	(0.008)
Democracy measure		Polity 1	Polity 2	EIU 1	EIU 2	EIU 3
Building controls and strata fixed effe	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	23760	22802	23359	23721	23721	23721
R-squared	0.09	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.09	0.09
Panel B.	2nd round, 2010					
Visited	-0.008	-0.005	-0.007	-0.008	-0.008	-0.008
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Immigrant * Visited	0.034	0.035	0.040	0.011	0.044	0.000
	(0.021)	(0.022)	(0.028)	(0.047)	(0.030)	(0.049)
Immigrant * Visited * Democracy	. ,	0.000	-0.002	0.005	-0.002	0.009
		(0.007)	(0.006)	(0.011)	(0.006)	(0.013)
Immigrant	-0.002	0.010	-0.034	-0.007	-0.029	0.006
	(0.015)	(0.017)	(0.020)*	(0.034)	(0.022)	(0.032)
Democracy		0.002	0.008	0.001	0.006	-0.002
Democracy		(0.004)	(0.004)**	(0.007)	(0.004)	(0.008)
Democracy measure		Polity 1	Polity 2	EIU 1	EIU 2	EIU 3
Building controls and strata fixed effe	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	18819	18082	18513	18791	18791	18791

Notes: Clustered standard errors are in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%.

18819

0.09

Visited is instrumented with T, Immigrant * Visited with Immigrant * T and Immigrant * Visited * Democracy with Immigrant * Treatment * Democracy.

18082

0.10

0.09

0.09

0.09

0.09

We use the following measures of democracy: the level of democracy in the individual's country of birth when he was 18 ("Polity 1"), and in 2010 ("Polity 2"); the overall score of democracy of country of birth in 2011 ("EIU 1"), the quality of the electoral process and the pluralism of parties in country of birth in 2011 ("EIU 2"), and the degree of electoral participation in the country of birth in 2011 ("EIU 3")

Individual and building controls as in Table 2.

Observations

R-squared

Chapter 3

Does Door-to-door Canvassing Affect Vote Shares? Evidence from a Countrywide Field Experiment in France¹

3.1 Introduction

Door-to-door canvassing is an effective method to mobilize voters and increase turnout. This result was first established by the early study of Gosnell (1926) and the 1998 New Haven field experiment conducted by Gerber and Green (2000). Since then, it has been replicated in many contexts. At times of declining turnout, establishing the great impact of canvassing on participation was important in its own right. Students of political behavior have further investigated the mechanisms underlying this result, such as information provision, social pressure, and the formation of a voting plan (e.g., Nickerson 2008; Gerber, Green, and Larimer 2008; Nickerson and Rogers 2010). Political parties and non-partisan organizations in the United States were quick to apply these findings. Since

 $^{^{1}}$ I am grateful to Esther Duflo, Benjamin Olken, Daniel Posner, Alan Gerber, Todd Rogers, Danny Hidalgo, and Jens Hainmueller for suggestions that have improved the paper.

the presidential elections of 2004, they have devoted increasing resources to door-to-door canvassing (Bergan et al. 2005). Today, they continue to optimize the scripts delivered by canvassers according to the latest scientific results (Issenberg 2012).

A natural question, then, is how much door-to-door canvassing affects vote shares and electoral outcomes. This question is not only of interest to campaign analysts and candidates. First, scholars who seek to isolate the contribution of different political, economic or demographic factors to recent electoral results should account for the own impact of voter outreach efforts. Second, assessing the mechanisms underlying the effect of door-to-door canvassing on vote shares gives the opportunity to better understand the forces shaping political preferences and vote choice, a central question in political science (e.g., Lazarsfeld, Berelson, and Gaudet 1944; Berelson, Lazarsfeld, and McPhee 1954; Campbell et al. 1960; Brader 2005; Chong and Druckman 2007; Hillygus and Shield 2008; Lenz 2012; Wlezien and Erikson 2002; Lodge, Steenberger and Brau 1995). When door-to-door canvassing is non-partisan, its effect on vote shares depends not only on the fractions of left-wing and right-wing nonvoters, which a vast literature suggests are relatively close (e.g., Citrin et al. 2003; Brunell and DiNardo 2004; Bernhagen and Marsh 2007; Rubenson et al. 2007), but also on their relative receptivity to voter mobilization and on the extent to which increased information can change people's political orientation (e.g., Lau and Redlawsk 2006; Fowler and Margolis 2013). When door-to-door canvassing is partisan, other mechanisms can contribute to its impact on vote shares. Political activists often target nonvoters deemed likely to prefer their party, but they also target consistent voters deemed undecided or leaning towards other candidates. Persuasive messages conveyed to these voters might affect both their beliefs and their preferences (DellaVigna and Gentzkow 2010). First, door-to-door canvassing might change voters' beliefs by signaling quality or by providing information about the candidate and his or her program. In the latter case, the sign of the effect might depend on the fit between the message conveyed and voters' preexisting views. If this fit is too dim or if partisan affiliations are too strong, voters might be reinforced in their preexisting choice and polarized (Arceneaux and Kolodny 2009; Nicholson 2012), or cross-pressured and demobilized (Fiorina 1976; Foos and de Rooij 2013). Second, the interaction with canvassers can also work as a peripheral factor that affects voters' choice without changing their beliefs (e.g., Petty and Cacioppo 1996), similar to how a picture of an attractive female on a lender's mailer can increase loan takeup (Bertrand et al. 2010).²

 $^{^{2}}$ As another example related more closely to this project, see also the finding by Landry et al. (2006) that more

Given the bulk of evidence accumulated on the effect of door-to-door canvassing on turnout, it is striking to see how little robust evidence there is on these mechanisms and on the overall effect of door-to-door canvassing on vote shares. The reason is simple: data limitation. Individual participation can be measured at the individual level using free administrative records. Differently, there is no administrative data on the vote choice of individual voters. Instead, researchers have to rely on post-election surveys. A large literature finds a positive correlation between contact with partisan campaigning and self-reported support for the candidate (e.g., Rosenstone and Hansen 1993; Iyengar and Simon 2000; Vavreck, Spiliotes, and Fowler 2002; but see Kramer 1970), but the fact that campaigns strategically target potential supporters (e.g., Huckfelt and Sprague 1992; Wielhouwer 2003) makes interpreting the results difficult. To address this issue, recent projects study the experimental or quasi-experimental administration of door-to-door canvassing and other voter outreach methods, including mailings, phone calls, door hangers, television ads, and online advertisements. Some studies find substantial effects on vote choice (e.g., Huber and Arceneaux 2007; Arceneaux 2007; Arceneaux and Nickerson 2010; Barton, Casillo, and Petrie 2011; Gerber et al. 2011; Rogers and Nickerson 2013) while other studies find no effect (e.g., Cardy 2005; Nickerson 2005; Bailey, Hopkins, and Rogers 2013; Broockman and Green 2013). Unfortunately, for all its merits, randomization does not eliminate traditional survey biases. In phone surveys, non-response rates are often as high as 75 percent, and there is ample evidence that questions on political behavior are particularly prone to misreporting, including over reporting for the winner (e.g., Wright 1993; Atkeson 1999; Campbell 2010). An additional concern is that these biases might differ between treatment and control individuals (Cardy 2005; Bailey, Hopkins, and Rogers 2013). An alternative is to run the analysis not at the individual level, but at an aggregate level at which administrative records of vote shares are available. A few studies exploit quasi-experimental variations in the media coverage of precincts or counties and find strong effects of the media and of campaign advertisements on voting behavior (e.g., Simon and Stern 1955; DellaVigna and Kaplan 2007). It is more difficult. however, to find ex-post credible sources of exogenous variation in the areas targeted by campaign activists, and ex-ante precinct-level randomization of personal-contact campaigning is logistically demanding. Indeed, it requires a large number of precincts – and a very large number of individuals - to secure sufficient statistical power (Arceneaux 2005). Researchers studying the effect of direct mail (Gerber 2004; Rogers and Middleton 2012), robotic phone calls (Shaw et al. 2012), or radio attractive female solicitors raise significantly more funds in a door-to-door fund-raising campaign.

ads (Panagopoulos and Green 2008) have managed to secure a sufficiently large sample to run precinct-randomized experiments. To this date, this has proved impossible in the case of door-to-door canvassing, which requires significantly more human resources than these techniques to contact the same number of voters. But there are reasons to believe that face-to-face personal interactions with voters – the distinctive feature of door-to-door canvassing – might affect their vote choice in a way different from other types of contacts. After all, their effect on the decision to vote is itself radically different (e.g., Gerber and Green 2000).

The author's involvement in François Hollande's field campaign for the 2012 French presidential elections provided a unique opportunity to run the first well-powered precinct-randomized evaluation of the impact of door-to-door canvassing on vote shares. This paper reports the results of this countrywide field experiment. From 1 February to 6 May 2012, the second round of the French presidential elections, an estimated 80,000 left-wing activists knocked on 5 million doors to encourage people to vote for the candidate of the Parti Socialiste, making this campaign the largest door-to-door effort in Europe to date. From the start of the campaign, the priority was given to the mobilization of left-wing nonvoters. Using results of past elections, 22,500 precincts were identified for their relatively higher fraction of left-wing nonvoters. 80 percent of these precincts and 17.1 million citizens were included in the treatment group and a subset of them was assigned to the canvassers. The remaining 20 percent were included in the control group.

I evaluate the effects of this door-to-door effort using the daily reports entered by canvassers on the campaign web platform, official election results at the precinct level, and an anonymous postelectoral online survey to which 1,972 canvassers responded. Although left-wing nonvoters had been the main target of the campaign, surprisingly, door-to-door canvassing did not affect voter turnout. However, it increased François Hollande's vote share by 3.1 percentage points and 2.7 percentage points at the first and second rounds of the presidential elections. These effects take into account the imperfect compliance of the canvassers with the lists of precincts that they had been assigned, and they are significant at the 5 and 10 percent levels respectively. They were obtained by decreasing the vote share of Marine Le Pen, the candidate of the far-right Front National, at the first round and by decreasing the vote share of Nicolas Sarkozy, the incumbent, at the second round. Overall, door-to-door canvassing contributed to approximately one fourth of Hollande's victory margin at the second round. The effect on vote shares persisted at the parliamentary elections, which took place one month after the presidential elections. On average, door-to-door canvassing increased the vote share obtained by PS candidates at the second round by 0.5 percentage points. This effect is by no means negligible: the victory margin of the elected MPs was lower than 0.5 percentage points in 33 (6 percent) constituencies. The results were likely driven by the persuasion of medium and high-propensity voters, who voted at both the presidential and the parliamentary elections, rather than by the mobilization of left nonvoters and the demobilization of opponents. Overall, the results suggest that the mobilization effect of voter outreach methods might not extend to elections of very high salience, but that personal contact can have a large persuasion effect and can be an effective way to reconnect with disgruntled voters and reduce the attractiveness of extremist parties.

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 provides more background information on the French 2012 elections and on François Hollande's door-to-door campaign. Section 3 describes the experimental sample. Section 4 evaluates the overall impact of the door-to-door canvassing visits on voter turnout and vote shares at the presidential and the parliamentary elections. Section 5 concludes with a discussion of the results.

3.2 Setting

3.2.1 The 2012 French presidential and general elections

French presidential elections have two rounds. The two candidates who get the highest vote shares at the first round qualify for the second round. 79 percent of the registered citizens participated in the first round of the French presidential elections, on April $22^{nd} 2012$.³ Nicolas Sarkozy, the incumbent and candidate of the right-wing Union pour la Majorité Présidentielle (UMP), and François Hollande, the candidate of the left-wing Parti Socialiste (PS), obtained respectively 27.2 percent and 28.6 percent of the votes and qualified for the second round (see Figure 1). Compared to the 2007 presidential election, François Bayrou, the candidate in the center, divided his vote share by more than two (9.1 percent compared to 18.6 percent), and the vote share of the far-left candidates became marginal (1.7 percent compared to 5.8 percent). The vote share of Marine Le Pen, 17.9 percent, was the highest ever obtained by her party, the far-right Front National (FN). Voter turnout at the second round, on May 6th, was high again (80 percent) and François Hollande

³In France, voter turnout is computed as the fraction of number of votes cast over the number of registered citizens. Turnout figures reported throughout the paper are computed in this way. Since the door-to-door canvassing campaign started after the registration deadline of 31 December 2011, it could not affect the number of registered citizens.

was elected President with 51.6 percent of the votes.

Similarly to the presidential elections, the parliamentary elections consist of two rounds, unless a candidate obtains more than 50 percent of the votes at the first round. Unlike the presidential elections, all candidates who obtain a number of votes higher than 12.5 percent of registered citizens at the first round can compete in the second round. In practice, two or three candidates usually compete in the second round. The 2012 parliamentary elections took place on June 10th and 17th. Fewer voters (57 and 55 percent) participated in these elections than in the presidential elections and in the previous parliamentary elections, confirming the lower salience of the parliamentary elections and the declining trend of turnout (Figure 2). The PS candidates won in 57 percent of the constituencies.

3.2.2 From 2008 to 2012: transposing door-to-door canvassing a la Obama to France

In 2008, the successful campaign of Barack Obama generated unusual levels of public attention and enthusiasm across France. Several prominent French politicians and think tanks sought to adapt American electoral and campaign innovations to suit the French political context. As a first step, the PS abandoned the designation of its candidate to the presidential elections by sole party members in favor of open-primary elections, which were deemed to have contributed to the success of the once challenger Barack Obama (Terra Nova 2008, 2009).

A second step was the rationalization and modernization of electoral tactics and strategies. Among the many differences between French and American campaigns, two prominent ones are funding and the distribution of media access. Hollande's 2012 presidential campaign spent 29 million dollars, 38 times less than Barack Obama's 1,107 million dollars (Journal Officiel de la République française 2012; Federal Election Commission 2013). The bulk of Obama's money was spent on radio and television advertising. Instead, from the official start of the 2012 French presidential campaign, on 20 March 2012, to the first round, all French radio and TV channels were mandated to cover equally the campaign of each of the twelve candidates. Similarly, between the two rounds, they had to give equal coverage to Nicolas Sarkozy and François Hollande: in France, candidates do not compete with TV ads. If anything, the small budget and the impossibility of buying TV ads should lead candidates and their staff to put even more emphasis on the recruitment of a large number of volunteers and to be particularly strategic when selecting field campaign methods. On the contrary, until recently, French electoral parties allocated few resources to the recruitment, training, and coordination of activists. In addition, local units of the PS were largely autonomous and free to choose their own method of campaigning. Although door-to-door canvassing had once been an important campaigning method, it had progressively been replaced by other more impersonal techniques, such as handing out flyers at markets and subway stations exits, or putting leaflets in mailboxes (Liegey, Muller, and Pons 2013). Only in a few cities did door-to-door canvassing remain a frequently used technique (Lefebvre 2005).

Similarly as in the United States, academic research played an important role in the renewed importance given to door-to-door canvassing. The first French randomized evaluation of a door-to-door canvassing get-out-the-vote effort (Pons and Liegey 2013) convinced the PS to scale up the method for the 2012 presidential election.⁴

3.2.3 François Hollande's 2012 door-to-door canvassing campaign

At the end of December 2011, François Hollande and his team decided to make door-to-door canvassing a priority of the campaign. Similarly as during the 2008 Obama campaign, the candidate's websites would be used as a means to recruit field activists. In effect, however, the online anonymous survey administered after the presidential elections to canvassers who had taken part in the campaign found that the fraction recruited through this channel was low (Table 1). French political parties have a stronger membership base than American parties. This proved to be a double-edged sword. On one hand, it provided a large network of highly motivated volunteers: 87 percent of the 1,972 respondents took part in three or more sessions of door-to-door canvassing, and 38 percent in more than ten sessions. On the other hand, many of these volunteers saw militancy as an important part of their identity and they were reluctant or at best unaccustomed to welcome newer and more intermittent supporters. As a result, by the end of the campaign, only 12 percent of the activists were sympathizers involved in a campaign for the first time, while 80 percent were members of the PS. Relatedly, two thirds of the canvassers were more than 46 years old, reflecting the skewed age pyramid of PS members. These figures show a stark contrast with the average American campaign volunteer who is much less likely to be an active party member and much younger.

⁴Liegey, Muller and Pons (2013) examine at greater length the different steps through which door-to-door canvassing was progressively adopted as the dominant field campaigning strategy by the PS from 2010 to 2012.

The field organizers coordinating the volunteers were themselves recruited primarily among the heads of PS' local units, and most of the départements' coordinators had preexisting responsibilities within the PS. The volunteers, field organizers, and départements' coordinators were all voluntary, but fifteen paid regional coordinators assisted in the national coordination of the campaign. Finally, 150 unpaid national trainers with mixed backgrounds were recruited. Some had comprehensive field experience as PS members, while others had never been involved in any partisan activity. All, however, were highly motivated and highly educated. This team of trainers proved the most important asset to launch the campaign: every Saturday, they were sent to the local headquarters of the campaign across France to train field organizers and launch or amplify the scope of the door-to-door canvassing sessions. The trainings revolved around role playing and taught field organizers how to train and coordinate volunteers. 59 percent of the respondents to the post-electoral survey attended a training. These trainings addressed a real need: only 22 percent of the respondents had frequently done door-to-door canvassing before the campaign.

The trainings emphasized a simple message: this campaign was about door-to-door canvassing, and nothing else. Simplicity, it was thought, was key to achieve a radical change in campaign methods. The emphasis put on door-to-door canvassing was also evident in the campaign material sent to each département: next to leaflets, that can be given to voters through various methods, canvassers received door-hangers dedicated to the door-to-door canvassing campaign, and to be put on the handles of doors which failed to open. As a result, the scope of the campaign was without comparison with previous door-to-door efforts of any party.

The scope of the door-to-door effort can be estimated thanks to the reports made by the canvassers throughout the campaign. After each canvassing session, any participant registered on the field campaign's web platform "TousHollande Terrain" could report the number of doors knocked and opened, and provide qualitative feedback. The website enabled each volunteer or field organizer to follow the progress of the field campaign in his area and to compare it with other areas. At the national level, the départements with the fastest progresses turned red while those left behind remained white. Figure 3 shows snapshots of the maps that the départements' coordinators and field organizers could see in the five last weeks of the campaign. This system was supposed to create emulation, with some success. But the most important objective was to monitor the progress of the campaign and identify areas in need of additional support in a timely manner. In many cities, however, field organizers and canvassers never registered on the campaign platform. Even when the campaign activists were registered on the platform, they only reported a fraction of all doors knocked. With the help of the fifteen regional coordinators of the campaign, it was estimated that 36 percent of doors knocked were actually reported on the website, for a total of approximately 5 million doors knocked.

Figure 4 plots the number of doors knocked over time. As is clear from this picture, the scale of the campaign was very low until six weeks before the first round of the presidential elections. It then increased gradually and reached its peak on the Saturday between the two rounds. Underlying this long-term trend, short-term weekly cycles are easily identifiable. Each week, the canvassing sessions took place mostly on Fridays and Saturdays. On average, the door-opening rate was high, around 48 percent.

In addition to the aforementioned trainings, a large and enthusiastic media coverage⁵ and the endorsement of door-to-door canvassing by many local and national figures of the PS contributed to motivating the canvassers.⁶ The activists' own perception of door-to-door canvassing was equally important. At the end of the campaign, less than 1 percent said they would not do it again, against 61 percent who deemed it a really good method. For 28 percent, the main reason to like the method was that it was an enriching experience. For 31 percent it was its effectiveness, and 32 percent saw door-to-door canvassing as a good way to spread the ideas and values of the left. Before assessing whether they were correct, let me describe in more details the areas that were covered by the canvassers and the randomization process.

3.3 Sampling frame

3.3.1 Definition of 3,500 territories

Before the start of the door-to-door campaign, I first split the entire country into 3,539 territories, each defined by a set of one or several municipalities sharing a common zip code. In each département, zip codes with less than 5,000 registered citizens were subsumed under a unique territory.

⁵The door-to-door canvassing campaign was covered by 210 articles in French newspapers, 50 French television and radio reports, and 20 articles or TV and radio reports in foreign countries. In the United States, news reports included headlines such as "In France, Using Lessons From Obama Campaign" (New York Times, Steven Erlanger, April 21), "The American Connection" (Slate, Sasha Issenberg, April 20), "Décision 2012: A presidential election without political ads" (NBC "Rock Center" footage, Ted Koppel, April 18) and "Hollande uses Obama tactics to increase vote" (Financial Times, Hugh Carnegie, April 13).

⁶The former presidential candidate Ségolène Royal, the presidential candidate François Hollande and many of his future ministries personally knocked on doors (Liegey, Muller, and Pons 2013).

Any new activist joining the campaign through its websites was asked to provide his zip code and was automatically allocated to the corresponding territory.

From the start of the campaign, priority was given to the mobilization of left-wing nonvoters. I assumed that the vote choices of active voters were a good indicator of the preferences of nonvoters living in the same territory and used the following proxy for the fraction of left-wing nonvoters in each territory: \widetilde{LA} , the product of the fraction of nonvoters by the left vote share among active voters, each taken from the results of the second round of the 2007 presidential elections. In each territory, I set the target number of doors proportionally to this proxy. Overall, the goal was to knock at 5 million doors, or roughly 15 percent of all French housings.

3.3.2 Identification of priority precincts

In the United States, most states make individual turnout history publicly available. Political parties and private companies such as Catalist, LLC have long collected these databases and merged them with databases of registered Democrats, Republicans, and independents and, occasionally, with consumer databases (Ansolabehere and Hersh 2010; Issenberg 2012). "Voter IDs" complement these data: campaign activists ask their interlocutors at the door or on the phone how likely they are to vote and whether they lean towards their candidate or towards the opponent. In other countries besides the US, such individual-level profiling of voters is usually unavailable. In France, individual turnout information is not recorded electronically: voters who cast a ballot sign turnout sheets, which are only available for consultation until ten days after the election. People cannot register as supporters of a specific party. Finally, the campaign technology, less advanced than in the United States, does not allow the activists to record individual voter information. Therefore, instead of targeting individual voters, political campaigns have to target geographical areas.

To identify priority areas within each territory, I relied on the official results of the 2007 presidential elections at the precinct level, made publicly available by the French Ministry of the Interior. In addition, I used voter rolls that had been collected by the PS to organize its 2011 primary elections. These voter rolls indicated the address and precinct of each registered citizen and could thus be used to draw the geographical boundaries of precincts. In territories where the voter rolls were available for all or most municipalities, I ranked precincts according to \widetilde{LA} , the proxy for the number of left-wing nonvoters.⁷ In territories where the voter rolls had not been collected by the

 $^{^{7}}$ Some municipalities redrew the boundaries of their precincts between 2007 and 2011, to accommodate for changes

PS or were missing for too many municipalities, I did not know the geographical boundaries of the precincts. Canvassers would most likely not have this information either. Thus, municipalities, and not precincts, were ranked according to \widetilde{LA} .

It is important to note that any precinct represents several hundreds of registered citizens. As a consequence, in each precinct, these citizens display a wide array of profiles. In particular, even in precincts with a large number of left-wing nonvoters, a majority of voters participate in the presidential elections, and many of them vote for right-wing candidates. In sum, although the main target of the campaign were left-wing nonvoters, only a minority of the people with whom the canvassers interacted corresponded to this type.

3.3.3 Randomization

Before conducting the randomization, I grouped precincts (or municipalities) of each territory in strata of five: the five precincts with the highest \widetilde{LA} were allocated to the first stratum, the five precincts ranked immediately below were allocated to the second stratum, and so on until the last stratum, composed of the five or less remaining precincts. I only kept a subset of strata, those with the highest \widetilde{LA} , in the experimental sample.⁸

When there is no obvious reason to favor some units over others, the random choice of units receiving an intervention is costless. Differently, in this project, it was thought to be in the interest of the campaign to cover areas with the highest possible \widetilde{LA} . Randomization would thus come at a cost. To combine the two objectives of maximizing vote shares and learning from the campaign, only 20 percent of the precincts in the experimental sample were allocated to the control group. Specifically, in strata with five precincts, four were randomly selected to be included in the treatment group and the remaining precinct was included in the control group. In strata with strictly less

in the number of registered citizens. In these precincts, I thus had to estimate \widetilde{LA} in a different way. First, I used the sample of cities where precincts' boundaries had not changed and regressed \widetilde{LA} on precinct characteristics that could be inferred from the 2011 voters rolls: the average number of registered citizens per address (as a proxy for social housing), this variable squared, the share of individual houses, small buildings and big buildings, the average age, this variable squared, the proportion of registered citizens below 25 years old and the proportion of registered citizens above 65. Second, I used these estimated coefficients to predict \widetilde{LA} in precincts with changed boundaries. This procedure was crude, granted, as many determinants of \widetilde{LA} were unobserved. But any error in estimating \widetilde{LA} only affected the selection of the experimental sample, not the internal validity of the results.

⁸The exact number of strata included in each territory was decided based on the target number of doors in the territory, the number of registered citizens in each stratum, and under the assumption that each door would host 1.4 registered citizens on average. The latter ratio was obtained by dividing the total number of registered citizens, 46.0 million, by the total number of housings, 33.2 million (Insee-SOeS 2012). A few territories where the targeting was conducted at the municipality level counted only one municipality. Then, canvassers were asked to cover this municipality, but the territory was dropped from the experimental sample.

than five precincts, each precinct had an 80 percent chance to be included in the treatment group and a 20 percent chance to be included in the control group.

Importantly, once the randomization was conducted, I only assigned a subset of the treatment precincts, those with the highest \widetilde{LA} , to the canvassers. This ensured that the canvassers would cover the most priority areas and that the total size of the precincts that they were assigned corresponded to the number of doors they had to knock. In each territory, the exact number of assigned precincts depended on the number of registered citizens per precinct and on the target number of doors in the territory.

Table 2 emphasizes the distinction between precincts *included in the treatment group* and, within this set, precincts *assigned to canvassers*. As shown in Panel A, 17,986 precincts (80%) were included in the treatment group and 4,466 (20%) were included in the control group. As shown in Panel B, 9,521 of the 17,986 treatment precincts were assigned to the canvassers, and 8,465 were not. Treatment precincts assigned to the canvassers had a total of 7.2 million registered citizens, or approximately 5.2 million doors. Treatment precincts not assigned to canvassers and control precincts had a total of 9.8 million registered citizens, or approximately 7.1 million doors.

To preserve the integrity of the randomization, treatment precincts that were not assigned to the canvassers are maintained in the treatment group when estimating the impact of door-todoor canvassing. To account for the fact that they were not assigned to the canvassers, I present treatment-on-the-treated estimates that instrument "assigned" with the treatment group, rather than intent-to-treat estimates.

3.3.4 Final sample

In each territory, volunteers and field organizers could download the list of precincts that they were assigned from their personal account on the campaign's platform. For strategic reasons, it was impossible to otherwise access to this list. However, as mentioned earlier, in some territories, no volunteer or field organizer ever registered on the platform. As a result, canvassers in these territories were not aware of and could not follow the list of assigned precincts. To avoid introducing noise in the analysis, I exclude the corresponding territories.

In addition, a fraction of municipalities located in territories where the randomization was conducted at the precinct level redrew the boundaries of their precincts and added or dropped precincts between 2011 and 2012 to accommodate for changes in the number of registered citizens. I identify these municipalities as those where the number of precincts changed between the two dates and exclude them from the analysis.

In the end, the analysis is based on a sample of 6,615 precincts. 3,195 are located in territories where the randomization was conducted at the precinct level, and 3,420 in territories where the randomization was conducted at the municipality level.

3.3.5 Imperfect compliance

Even in the territories where some volunteers and field organizers did register on the platform, and could thus download the list of assigned precincts, compliance with this list was not perfect.

To foster compliance and facilitate the logistical organization of the canvassing sessions, in addition to the list of assigned precincts in their territory, canvassers could also download lists of corresponding addresses, with the number of registered citizens in each address as a proxy for its size.⁹ It was emphasized that these precincts and addresses hosted a disproportionately large number of left-wing nonvoters, the main target of the campaign. However, in territories where the number of canvassers was too small, they could not possibly cover all assigned addresses. In addition, canvassers often covered other addresses: 29 percent of the respondents to the post-electoral survey state that they never heard of the list of priority precincts provided by the campaign; 16 percent that they did not use this list at all, or only very little; and 11 percent that they used this list only partially (Table 1). This is not too surprising. As mentioned earlier, the local units of the PS have a culture of relative autonomy, and the resources available to coordinate the campaign made it impossible to monitor all canvassing sessions on a day-to-day basis. Specific reasons to cover other areas than those indicated by us included their proximity to canvassers' home or workplace, their perceived importance by the canvassers, and past campaigning habits.

It is important to estimate the degree to which the canvassers followed the lists of assigned precincts and municipalities: failure to do so would bias results towards zero. Fortunately, when canvassers entered a report on the campaign's platform, they could indicate the precinct that they had covered. 55 percent of the reports, accounting for 48 percent of doors knocked, include this information (Table 2, Panel C). 37.4 percent of all doors knocked were located in precincts assigned to canvassers; 14.1 percent in precincts that were not assigned to them but that were

 $^{^{9}}$ Unfortunately, I could only create these lists in territories where the targeting and randomization had been done at the precinct, not the municipality level.

included in the experimental sample; and 48.5 percent in precincts that were not included in the experimental sample. Let us assume that these detailed reports are representative of the extent to which canvassers followed the lists of assigned areas, and that canvassers never knocked at any door more than once. These assumptions are conservative: if anything, they should lead us to overestimate compliance. Based on these assumptions, I obtain that the canvassers knocked on 0.374*5 = 1.9 million doors in assigned precincts and 0.141*5 = 0.7 million doors in precincts that they had not been assigned but that were included in the experimental sample. Since these two groups had initially 5.2 and 7.1 million doors, I infer that the canvassers covered $f_a = \frac{1.9}{5.2} = 35.9$ percent of doors in assigned precincts; and $f_{\bar{a}} = \frac{0.7}{7.1} = 10.0$ percent of doors in precincts that they had not been assigned but that were included in the experimental sample. Therefore, to estimate the effects of the campaign in precincts that were covered by canvassers and would not have been covered if they had not been assigned to them, I scale up the raw estimates by a factor of $\frac{1}{f_a-f_a} = \frac{1}{0.359-0.100} = 3.9$.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Verifying randomization

Randomization ensures that all observable and unobservable characteristics should be symmetrically distributed between treatment and control precincts. Table 3 verifies this for a series of observed characteristics. It presents summary statistics for precincts in the sample, separately for the control and treatment groups. I also show the difference between the means of the two groups and report the p-value of a test of the null hypothesis that they cannot be distinguished from each other. Overall, precincts in the two groups are extremely similar. Out of 54 differences shown in Table 3, 7 are significantly different from zero at the 10 percent level, 3 are significantly different from zero at the 5 percent level, and 1 is significantly different from zero at the 1 percent level, as could be expected.

The average precinct counted 919 registered citizens, with an estimated 8.7 percent left-wing nonvoters at the 2007 presidential elections. All 22 French regions as well as the French territories overseas (DOM-TOM) were represented in the sample. Five regions accounted for more than 50 percent of the entire sample: Ile-de-France, the most populated region where Paris is located,

Rhône-Alpes, the second most populated region, Bretagne, Pays-de-la-Loire, and Lorraine. In addition to this data available at the precinct level, I collected census data at the municipality level from the French Census Office, the Institut national de la statistique et des études économiques (INSEE 2013). The municipality of the average precinct counted 53,000 citizens. 14 percent of precincts were located in rural areas, 36 percent in center cities, 10 percent in isolated cities, and 40 percent in suburbs. In the municipality of the average precinct, 48 percent of the inhabitants were men, 56 percent were less than 45 years old, and the mobility rate (the share of the population who arrived in the municipality over the five past years) was 24 percent. The working population accounted for 72 percent of all people aged 15 to 64, and the unemployed for 12 percent of the working population. Finally, the INSEE distinguishes eight socio-professional groups among people above 15 years old: farmers (PCS1), craftsmen, storekeepers and businessmen (PCS2), executives and intellectual occupations (PCS3), intermediate occupations (PCS4), employees (PCS5), laborers (PCS6), retired people (PCS7), and other inactive people (PCS8). On average, inactive people accounted for 44 percent of all people above 15 years old and PC3, PCS4, PCS5, and PCS6 for 8 percent, 14 percent, 17 percent, and 14 percent respectively.

3.4.2 Effects on voter turnout

I first examine the impact of the door-to-door canvassing campaign on voter turnout. I plot electoral participation in control and treatment precincts in Figure 5, and find that it was almost identical in both groups, and just below the national average: 79.2 and 79.8 percent at the first and second rounds of the presidential elections, and 56.1 percent and 55.2 percent at the parliamentary elections.

To investigate the statistical significance of the differences shown in Figure 5 more systematically, I estimate the following OLS regression:

$$P_{i} = \alpha + \beta A_{i} + X_{i}^{'} \lambda + \sum_{s} \delta_{i}^{s} + \epsilon_{i} \qquad (1)$$

where P_i is electoral participation among registered citizens in precinct *i*, A_i is a dummy equal to 1 if the precinct was assigned to the canvassers, X_i is a vector of precincts characteristics and δ_i^s are strata fixed effects. A_i is instrumented with T_i , a dummy equal to 1 if the precinct was included in the treatment group. X_i includes \widetilde{LA} (the proxy for the fraction of left-wing nonvoters in 2007), the number of registered citizens in the municipality, this variable squared, the share of working population within people aged 15 to 64, and the share of unemployed people among the working population. The key coefficient of interest is β , which indicates the differential participation in precincts that were assigned to canvassers. In this and all other regressions, I adjust standard errors for clustering at the level of randomization (precinct or municipality).

The results from Equation [1] are presented in Table 4. Panel A uses voter turnout at the first round (columns 1 and 2), at the second round (columns 3 and 4), and averaged over the two rounds (columns 5 and 6) of the presidential elections as the outcome. Door-to-door canvassing had no significant effect on voter turnout at either the first or the second round: the estimated β s are very small and statistically not significant. These estimates are robust to the inclusion of the control variables.

Panel B uses voter turnout at the parliamentary elections as the outcome. The sample is restricted to constituencies where there was a PS candidate at the first round (columns 1 and 2) and to constituencies where there was a second round with more than one candidate¹⁰ and with a PS candidate (columns 3 through 6). Again, I find no significant effect on voter turnout.

3.4.3 Effects on vote shares

Vote shares of François Hollande at the presidential elections

I now examine the impact of door-to-door canvassing on François Hollande's vote shares at the presidential elections and on PS candidates' vote shares at the parliamentary elections. Figure 6 shows the vote shares obtained by these candidates in control and treatment precincts. In all rounds, the share is higher than the national average. In addition, it is higher by 0.3 to 0.5 percentage points in treatment precincts compared to control precincts. To investigate the impact on vote shares more systematically, I estimate OLS specifications of the form in Equation [2]:

$$S_{i} = \alpha + \beta A_{i} + X_{i}^{'} \lambda + \sum_{s} \delta_{i}^{s} + \epsilon_{i} \qquad (2)$$

where S_i is the PS vote share in precinct *i*, and A_i is once again instrumented with T_i . β indicates the differential PS vote share in precincts that were assigned to canvassers. Table 5 presents the results both for the presidential elections (Panel A) and for the parliamentary elections (Panel B).

¹⁰When two candidates qualify for the second round, it is sometimes the case that one of the two steps aside, so that a second round is held but with only one candidate.

In areas assigned to canvassers, door-to-door canvassing increased François Hollande's vote share by 0.8 percentage points at the first round of the presidential elections (Panel A, column 1). This estimate is significant at the 1 percent level and robust to the inclusion of the control variables (column 2). The effect on Hollande's second round vote share was 0.7 percentage points, an effect significant at the 10 percent level (column 3). When control variables are included, this estimate is slightly lower and no longer significant (column 4).

As discussed in Section 3.4, the canvassers complied imperfectly with the precincts to which they had been assigned. To take into account this imperfect compliance, I apply the multiplier of 3.9 computed in Section 3.4 and obtain effects of 3.1 percentage points and 2.7 percentage points at the first and second rounds. This measures the impact of door-to-door canvassing for addresses that were covered by canvassers and would not have been covered had they not been assigned.

Assuming that the impact was identical in the other addresses covered, and since the canvassers covered 15 percent of all French housings, I estimate that the door-to-door canvassing campaign increased François Hollande's national vote share by 0.5 percentage points at the first round of the presidential elections. The effect on Hollande's vote share at the second round was 0.4 percentage points; it was mechanically mirrored by a negative effect of the same size on the vote share of the other candidate, Nicolas Sarkozy. Thus, in total, door-to-door canvassing increased Hollande's victory margin by 0.8 percentage points. Since he won with 51.6 percent of the votes, against 48.4 for Nicolas Sarkozy, the effect of door-to-door canvassing accounted for approximately one fourth of the victory margin.

Vote shares of PS candidates at the parliamentary elections

The effect of door-to-door canvassing persisted in the parliamentary elections. As shown in Table 5, Panel B, the effect on PS candidates' vote shares in assigned areas was 0.5 percentage points at the first round (column 1) and 0.9 percentage points at the second round (column 3). Due to smaller sample sizes, although these estimates are comparable in magnitude to the presidential elections, they are only marginally significant. The second round effect is significant at the 10 percent level. When including control variables, however, it is no longer statistically significant (column 4).

Taking into account the imperfect compliance and the fraction of addresses covered, I estimate that door-to-door canvassing increased PS candidates' vote shares by 0.5 percentage points, on average, at the second round of the parliamentary elections. In 94 percent of the constituencies, the PS candidate was opposed against a single other candidate at the second round. In these constituencies, the 0.5 percentage points average increase in PS vote share mechanically amounts to an increase in the difference between the vote shares of the two candidates of 1 percentage point. This is by no means negligible, considering that the victory margin of the winner was less than 1 percentage point in 6 percent of all constituencies, and that PS candidates won by a margin of less than 1 percentage point in 5 percent of all constituencies in which they won.

Vote shares of non-PS candidates

The positive effect of door-to-door canvassing on the vote shares obtained by PS candidates also means that it decreased the vote shares of candidates of other parties. To assess the extent to which the different parties were affected, I estimate OLS specifications of the form in Equation [2], using the vote shares obtained by other candidates instead of the PS candidate as the outcome S_i . Table 6 performs this analysis for the first round of the presidential elections (Panel A) and for the first round of the parliamentary elections (Panel B).¹¹

Columns 1 and 2 are identical to columns 1 and 2 of Table 5, and they are included for reference only. Compared to the national averages (see Figure 1), in the control group, the center and right-wing parties obtained fewer votes in both elections. The effect of door-to-door canvassing on vote shares of the far-left, other left, and center candidates at the first round of the presidential elections was close to 0 (Panel A, columns 3 through 8). The effect on the vote shares of the right candidates Nicolas Sarkozy and Nicolas Dupont-Aignan was negative (-0.3 percentage points) but not significant (columns 9 and 10). The effect on the vote shares of the far-right candidate, Marine Le Pen, was negative (-0.4 percentage points) and significant at the 10 percent level (column 11). When including the control variables, the estimate is slightly lower and not significant (column 12).

I find similar results for the first round of the parliamentary elections (Panel B). Once again, the center and right-wing candidates obtained fewer votes in the precincts of the sample than the national average. The door-to-door canvassing campaign did not significantly affect the vote shares of candidates of any orientation, except for the far-right, who were mostly FN candidates: on average, it decreased the vote shares of these candidates by 0.6 percentage points, an effect

¹¹Since there were only two candidates at the second round of the presidential elections, the effect on the second candidate, Nicolas Sarkozy, is by definition exactly opposite to the effect on François Hollande. Similarly, there were only two candidates left in the second round of the parliamentary elections in most constituencies. As a result, I lack statistical power to estimate the effects on vote shares where three candidates competed in the second round.

significant at the 1 percent level (column 11). I obtain a similar point estimate, significant at the 5 percent level, when including the control variables (column 12).

After taking into account the imperfect compliance of the canvassers with the precincts that they had been assigned, the effects measured for the far-right candidates correspond to effects of -1.6 and -2.3 percentage points in addresses that were covered by canvassers and would not have been covered had they not been assigned.

3.5 Discussion and conclusion

3.5.1 Interpretation of the results

A persuasion effect

This project investigated the impact of door-to-door canvassing on electoral participation and vote shares in the context of the 2012 French presidential elections. An estimated 80,000 left-wing activists knocked at 5 million doors to encourage people to vote for the candidate of the Parti Socialiste, François Hollande. Although left-wing nonvoters had been the main target of the campaign, surprisingly, door-to-door canvassing did not affect voter turnout. The scale of the experiment and the related statistical power allow ruling out even small positive or negative effects. However, door-to-door canvassing increased François Hollande's vote share by 3.1 percentage points and 2.7 percentage points at the first and second rounds. This contributed to approximately one fourth of Hollande's victory margin at the second round. At the same time, door-to-door canvassing decreased the vote share obtained by Marine Le Pen, the candidate of Front National, at the first round, and the vote share obtained by Nicolas Sarkozy, the incumbent, at the second round.

There are two possible interpretations of the results. The first interpretation is that the intervention mobilized left-wing nonvoters and cross-pressured and demobilized an equal number of (far) right-wing voters (Fiorina 1976). However, since the effects observed at the presidential elections persisted in the parliamentary elections, this interpretation can only hold if door-to-door canvassing mobilized nonvoters who participated both in the presidential and in the parliamentary elections. This seems unlikely. Indeed, the door-to-door canvassing campaign was of much lower intensity for the parliamentary elections than for the presidential elections.¹² But absent any renewed con-

¹²The low intensity of the door-to-door canvassing effort that took place for the parliamentary elections is the result of several factors. First, in many constituencies, the parliamentary election was less contested than the presidential

tact, we should not expect chronic nonvoters mobilized for high-salience elections to also vote at much lower-salience elections. Quite the contrary, Arceneaux and Nickerson (2009) find that the type of people that can get mobilized to vote depends on the saliency of the election and that only moderate-propensity voters – and not chronic nonvoters – can be mobilized in low salience elections.

An alternative and more plausible interpretation is that the effect of door-to-door canvassing on Hollande's vote share was obtained by persuading voters leaning towards other candidates, and notably towards Marine Le Pen. Under this interpretation, the persistence of the effects at the second round of the presidential elections suggests that the majority of these persuaded voters would have voted for Nicolas Sarkozy at the second round, absent the door-to-door canvassing campaign. Similarly, the persistent effect observed at the parliamentary elections suggests that these voters were equally likely to participate in these elections as other voters who had participated in the presidential elections, and that their vote choice was consistent in the two elections. Among voters living in apartments that opened their door to the canvassers, what fraction was persuaded? Since 48 percent of the doors knocked at by canvassers opened, I scale the previous estimates by $\frac{1}{1.48}$ and find that 6.5 percent and 5.6 percent of the voters living in apartments that opened their door were persuaded to vote for François Hollande at the first and second rounds of the presidential elections.¹³ More specifically, at the first round, 3.3 percent of the voters living in apartments which opened their door would have voted for Marine Le Pen absent door-to-door canvassing, but voted for François Hollande instead. This represents approximately 20 percent of the electorate of Marine Le Pen.

How could left-wing canvassers persuade far-right voters?

The fact that the persuasion effect was largest among Marine Le Pen's electorate might be surprising at first: the localization of the FN on the far-right makes it the party most distant to the PS in the one-dimensional representation of the political spectrum. However, the distance that voters switching from the FN to the PS had to cover should not be overestimated.

In France as in most countries in Western Europe and in the US, the left-right split has not

elections. Second, the national coordination and support for door-to-door canvassing ceased immediately after the presidential elections, as they were funded by the presidential campaign. Third, the general sense was that the party that had won the presidential race would also win the parliamentary elections. This resulted in a lower sense of urgency among PS campaign activists.

 $^{^{13}}$ I assume that, on average, doors that opened hosted as many registered citizens as doors that did not, and I count as "treated" all citizens living in an apartment that opened its door, regardless of whether they interacted personally with the canvassers or not.

one, but two dimensions, sociocultural and economic, which overlap only imperfectly (e.g., Lipset 1959; Fleishman 1988; Heath, Evans, and Martin 1994; Knutsen 1995; Evans, Heath, and Lalljee 1996). The sociocultural dimension has gained importance since the 1970s (Inglehart 1971, 1977, 1981, 1990; Clark and Lipset 1991; Clark, Lipset, and Rempel 1993; Inglehart and Abramson 1994; Nieuwbeerta 1996; Layman and Carmines 1997). On this first dimension, the platforms of the FN and the PS, and the attitudes of their respective electorates, are diametrically opposed: vehement anti-immigrant positions and a model of authoritarian and closed society on one side; a pro-immigration stance and a model of open and libertarian society on the other (e.g., Pettigrew 1998; Arzheimer 2009; Mayer 2011, 2013). But the economic dimension still matters (e.g., Van der Waal, Achterberg, and Houtman 2007). On this second dimension, the distance between the FN and the PS, which traditionally promotes state interventionism against economic liberalism, is much smaller. After the austerity turn taken by the socialist government of François Mitterrand in 1983, large numbers of working-class left-wing voters started voting for the FN as a way to protest and voice their disappointment (Mayer 2003). They contributed to the first electoral successes of the FN, although their identification with the party and their electoral stability remained low: among the FN electorate at the 1988 presidential elections, only one third said that the party they felt the closest to was the FN, while 20 percent mentioned that they preferred a left-wing party (Mayer and Perrineau 1992). In today's context of sluggish economic growth and high unemployment, the distrust of the political system and of traditional parties has spread, particularly among bluecollar workers, employees, and other groups exposed to unemployment and precariousness.¹⁴ These groups of people used to vote for left-wing candidates predominantly, but an increasing number are inclined to vote for the FN (e.g., Evans 2000). Its appeal originates in an anti-elite populism directed against traditional parties of both left and right, the corrupt political establishment, and the privileged few; in a simplified vision of the world, which presents immigration as the source of all economic and social difficulties; and in the social tone that Marine Le Pen gave to her platform after she succeeded her father as the leader of the party in 2011. Her program for the 2012 election asked for a more protective state and more public services - two points that closely echoed the program of the PS. In sum, in addition to a core of strongly affiliated supporters who fully adhere to its values, the FN has long attracted and continues to attract swing dissatisfied voters who

 $^{^{14}}$ According to a survey conducted after the 2012 presidential elections, 71 percent of French people feel that politicians care little or not at all about what they think, 48 percent trust neither the right nor the left to rule the country and 66 percent do not trust political parties (Cevipof 2012).

come both from the right and from the left, many of whom hold "left" preferences on economic issues (Perrineau 1995; Mayer 2011). The (relative) proximity between the FN and the PS on this dimension explains why 23 percent of voters who voted for Marine Le Pen in the first round of the 2012 presidential election and who voted in the second round then voted for François Hollande instead of Nicolas Sarkozy (Cevipof 2012). This is all the more striking as, on the sociocultural dimension, Sarkozy's positioning was closer to the FN than it had ever been: his campaign put a large emphasis on issues such as immigration and insecurity which FN voters rank among the most important (Mayer 2013).

It is likely that door-to-door canvassing persuaded fewer FN core supporters than swing supporters - in other words, that the door-to-door effort enabled the PS to reconnect with dissatisfied voters, notably among those who had once voted left. I provide an indirect test of this hypothesis by comparing the effect in areas with different proportions of FN core and swing supporters. Although I cannot directly measure these proportions, the results of the 2002 and 2007 elections enable me to construct a proxy. The 2002 presidential elections marked the culmination of the FN's electoral ascent (see Figure 7). On April 21, Jean-Marie Le Pen obtained 16.9 percent of the votes and qualified for the second round. Conversely, in 2007, the scores of the FN attained historic lows: after the "earthquake of 21 April 2002", the electorate repolarized around Nicolas Sarkozy on the right and Ségolène Royal on the left. Jean-Marie Le Pen only obtained 10.4 percent of the votes at the presidential elections, his lowest score since his first participation in the presidential elections in 1974. A few weeks later, FN candidates obtained only 4.3 percent of all votes at the parliamentary elections, their lowest score since 1981. Numerically and demographically, the people who voted for the FN at the 2007 elections formed the hard core of his electorate (Mayer 2011). On the contrary, the electorate of the FN at the 2002 elections was composed of both core and swing supporters. Similarly, both core and swing supporters voted for the FN at the 2012 elections, giving it its highest score at the presidential elections and its second to highest score at the parliamentary elections.

At the municipality level, the 2007 FN vote share is thus a good indicator of the size of its core electorate. Symmetrically, for a given 2007 FN vote share, a higher 2002 FN vote share indicates a larger fraction of swing supporters. If the effect of door-to-door canvassing was obtained by persuading FN swing supporters, as I hypothesize, this effect should be lower in municipalities with a higher 2007 FN vote share, and larger in municipalities with a higher 2002 FN vote share. To

test this prediction, I estimate the following model:

$$S_{i} = \alpha + \beta A_{i} + \beta_{2002} A_{i} \times \mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2002} \ge \overline{FN}_{2002}} + \beta_{2007} A_{i} \times \mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2007} \ge \overline{FN}_{2007}} + \delta_{2002} \mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2007} \ge \overline{FN}_{2007}} + \delta_{2007} \mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2007} \ge \overline{FN}_{2007}} + X_{i}^{'} \lambda + \sum_{s} \delta_{s}^{s} + \epsilon_{i}$$
(3)

where S_i is the vote share obtained by the PS or the FN candidate in precinct i and $\mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2002} \ge \overline{FN}_{2002}}$ and $\mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2007} \ge \overline{FN}_{2007}}$ are dummies equal to 1 if the precinct is located in a municipality where the 2002 and 2007 FN vote shares, respectively, were higher than the sample median. When the model is estimated for the presidential (parliamentary) elections, $\mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2002} \ge \overline{FN}_{2002}}$ and $\mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2007} \ge \overline{FN}_{2007}}$ are computed based on the 2002 and 2007 presidential (parliamentary) elections. A_i is once again instrumented with T_i , $A_i \times \mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2002} \ge \overline{FN}_{2002}}$ is instrumented with $T_i \times \mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2002} \ge \overline{FN}_{2002}}$ and $A_i \times \mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2007} \ge \overline{FN}_{2007}}$ is instrumented with $T_i \times \mathbf{1}_{FN_{i,2007} \ge \overline{FN}_{2007}}$. The key coefficients of interest are β_{2002} and β_{2007} , which indicate the differential effect of canvassing in precincts located in municipalities where the 2002 and 2007 FN vote shares were higher than the median.

Table 7 performs this analysis. The data provides some support for the hypothesis. At the first round of the presidential elections (Panel A), the negative effect of door-to-door canvassing on Marine Le Pen's vote share was larger by 1.3 percentage points in municipalities where the 2002 FN vote share was higher than the median (column 1). On the contrary, the effect was lower in municipalities where the 2007 FN vote share was higher than the median (column 1). On the contrary, the effect was lower in municipalities where the 2007 FN vote share was higher than the median, the effect was approximately zero (-0.005 - 0.013 + 0.018 = 0). These estimates are significant at the 1 percent level, and they are robust to the inclusion of control variables (column 2). However, I do not find any evidence of heterogeneity of the effect of door-to-door canvassing on Hollande's vote share along past vote shares of the FN (columns 3 and 4). Turning to the parliamentary elections (Panel B), there is some evidence that the effect of door-to-door canvassing on both the far-right and PS vote shares was higher where the 2002 FN vote share was high, and that it was lower where the 2007 FN vote shares was high, as expected. However, these estimates are not statistically significant.

What exactly persuaded FN voters to vote for the PS instead? To the extent that many of them had voted for left wing parties in the past and had then switched to the FN, it is likely that they were persuaded by the signal sent by the canvassers' presence more than by their specific arguments. Door-to-door canvassing showed that Hollande and his supporters were willing to bridge the gap with disgruntled voters; it contrasted with the idea that the political world is solely populated by the privileged few seeking their own personal interest; and it comforted the image of the PS as a modern and innovative party, which had successfully organized open primaries and, once again, found new ways to reinvigorate democracy. This interpretation resonates with Barton, Castillo, and Petrie's (2011) finding that a candidate's presence matters more than the political message delivered. It should be tested by future research.

3.5.2 External validity

I conclude by discussing the external validity of the findings. They were obtained on a large sample, spanning all French regions and encompassing areas of very different types, from rural villages to the capital, Paris. But to what extent are the results informative about other types of elections and other national contexts?

The lack of impact of door-to-door canvassing on turnout differs from most previous field experiments. Let us examine possible interpretations of this difference. First, this campaign was partisan, unlike the first experimental studies of door-to-door canvassing (e.g., Gerber and Green 2000). But subsequent papers found that partisan door-to-door canvassing can mobilize voters too, and that it can be as effective as non-partisan door-to-door canvassing (e.g., Nickerson, Friedrichs, and King 2006).

Second, this campaign took place in France, when the bulk of the existing literature is about the US. But recent papers show that door-to-door canvassing can effectively mobilize voters in other countries as well, including China (Guan and Green 2006) and England (John and Brannan 2008). Are French nonvoters less receptive to door-to-door canvassing than voters in these countries, perhaps because they find it too intrusive? There does not seem to be much empirical support for this claim. Instead, Pons and Liegey (2013) find that door-to-door canvassing increased turnout at the 2010 French regional elections, with a large impact on immigrants. The enthusiastic media coverage of the 2012 door-to-door canvassing campaign, the positive feedback provided by the respondents to the post-electoral survey, and my own field experience all support the view that canvassing is not at odds with French culture.

Third, French presidential elections are characterized by very high salience and turnout. The 2012 presidential elections were no exception, with a participation of more than 80 percent of registered citizens at the second round. This could well be the decisive factor: high baseline participation

might have placed a ceiling on the marginal effect that the canvassers could have obtained in increasing participation. In support of this claim, while some previous studies found a significant impact of door-to-door canvassing in the context of high-salience elections (e.g., Gerber and Green 2008; Middleton and Green 2008), others did not find any impact (Bennion 2005; Michelson 2005). In addition, to my knowledge, previous randomized evaluations of door-to-door canvassing were all conducted in the context of elections of lower salience. In particular, voter turnout is much lower in the US than in this study, including at presidential elections. Arceneaux and Nickerson (2009)'s review shows that the voters' baseline propensity to vote conditions the effectiveness of door-to-door canvassing. In the context of high-turnout elections, campaigns mobilize low-propensity voters. Following this logic, during the very high salience French 2012 presidential elections, where the level of political awareness and encouragements to vote by friends and family members reached its peak, there might have been no one left to mobilize. Registered citizens who did not participate in these elections might be of a type that cannot get mobilized by a short interaction, either because they were absent on election day or "misregistered",¹⁵ making voting too costly for them; or because they were too alienated from the political system. If this interpretation is correct, we can expect the null result on participation to extend to other elections of very high salience and turnout.

I finally turn to discussing the external validity of the impact of door-to-door canvassing on vote shares. The relatively large size of this effect could be related to two dimensions, which should be further investigated by continued research. First, if it is true that canvassers persuaded voters by sending a signal of quality rather than by specific arguments, then the impact on vote shares might have been enhanced by the fact that most voters contacted by the campaign had never interacted with canvassers before. As more parties engage in door-to-door canvassing campaigns, their persuasion effect might dampen out. Second, the persuasion effect might vary negatively with the intensity of voters' partisan affiliations. In France, the diversity of political parties and platforms results in weaker partisan affiliations and more frequent changes in vote choice than in bipartisan contexts, such as in the US. This might have contributed to the strong persuasion effect of door-to-door canvassing.

 $^{^{15}}$ Misregistered citizens are citizens who stay registered at a previous address and can only vote by proxy or by travelling back, making voting more costly (Braconnier, Dormagen, and Pons 2013).

3.6 Bibliography

Ansolabehere, S. and E. Hersh (2010). "The quality of voter registration records: A state-by-state analysis." Working paper.

Arceneaux, K. (2005). "Using Cluster Randomized Field Experiments to Study Voting Behavior." The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 601: 169-179.

Arceneaux, K. (2007). "I'm Asking for Your Support: The Effects of Personally Delivered Campaign Messages on Voting Decisions and Opinion Formation." *Quarterly Journal of Political* Science 2: 43-65.

Arceneaux, K. and D.W. Nickerson (2009). "Who Is Mobilized to Vote? A Re-Analysis of 11 Field Experiments." American Journal of Political Science 53(1): 1-16.

Arceneaux, K. and D.W. Nickerson (2010). "Comparing Negative and Positive Campaign Messages. Evidence From Two Field Experiments." *American Politics Research* 38(1): 54-83.

Arceneaux, K. and R. Kolodny (2009). "Educating the Least Informed: Group Endorsements in a Grassroots Campaign." American Journal of Political Science 53 (4): 755-770.

Arzheimer, K. (2009). "Contextual Factors and the Extreme Right in Western Europe, 1980–2002" American Journal of Political Science 53: 259–275.

Atkeson, L.R. (1999). "Sure, I Voted for the Winner!' Overreport of the Primary Vote for the Party Nominee in the National Election Studies." *Policial Behavior* 21 (3): 197-215.

Bailey, M., D.J. Hopkins and T. Rogers (2013). "Unresponsive and Unpersuaded: The Unintended Consequences of Voter Persuasion Efforts." Working Paper.

Barton, J., M. Castillo and R. Petrie (2011). "What Persuades Voters? A Field Experiment on Political Campaigning." Discussion paper of the Interdisciplinary Center for Economic Science at George Mason University.

Bennion, E.A. (2005). "Caught in the Ground Wars: Mobilizing Voters during a Competitive Congressional Campaign." The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 601: 123-141.

Berelson, B.R., P.F. Lazarsfeld and W.N. McPhee (1954). Voting: A Study of Opinion Formation in a Presidential Campaign. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Bergan, D.E., A.S. Gerber, D.P. Green and C. Panagopoulos (2005). "Grassroots Mobilization and Voter Turnout in 2004." *Public Opinion Quarterly 69*(5): 760–77. Bernhagen, P. and M. Marsh (2007). "The Partisan Effects of Low Turnout: Analyzing Vote Absention as a Missing Data Problem." *Electoral Studies* 26(3): 548-560.

Bertrand, M., D.S. Karlan, S. Mullainathan, E. Shafir and J. Zinman (2010). "What's advertising content worth? Evidence from a consumer credit marketing field experiment." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 117(4): 1415-1451.

Braconnier, C., J.-Y. Dormagen and V. Pons (2013). "Voter Registration Costs and Disenfranchisement: Experimental Evidence from France". Working Paper.

Brader, T. (2005). "Striking a Responsive Chord: How Political Ads Motivate and Persuade Voters by Appealing to Emotions." American Journal of Political Science 49(2):388-405.

Broockman, D.E. and D.P. Green (2013). "Do Online Advertisements Increase Political Candidates Name Recognition or Favorability? Evidence from Randomized Field Experiments." *Political Behavior*, Forthcoming.

Brunell, T.L. and J. DiNardo (2004). "A propensity score reweighting approach to estimating the partisan effects of full turnout in American presidential elections." *Political Analysis 12*(1): 28-45.

Campbell, J.E. (2010). "Explaining Politics, Not Polls: Reexamining Macropartisanship with Recalibrated NES Data." *Public Opinion Quarterly* 74 (4):616-642.

Campbell, A., P.E. Converse, W.E. Miller and D.E. Stokes (1960). *The American Voter*. New York: Wiley.

Cardy, E.A. (2005). "An Experimental Field Study of the GOTV and Persuasion Effects of Partisan Direct Mail and Phone Calls." The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 601(1):28-40.

Cevipof (2012). Enquête post-électorale de l'élection présidentielle 2012.

Chong, D. and J.N. Druckman (2007). "Framing Public Opinion in Competitive Democracies." American Political Science Review 101 (4):637-655.

Citrin, J., E. Schickler, and J. Sides (2003). "What if Everyone Voted? Simulating the Impact of Increased Turnout in Senate Elections." American Journal of Political Science 47(1): 75–90.

Clark, T. and S.M. Lipset (1991). "Are social classes dying?" International Sociology 6(4): 379-410.

Clark, T., S.M. Lipset and M. Rempel (1993). "The declining political significance of social class" *International Sociology* 8(3): 293-316.

DellaVigna, S. and E. Kaplan (2007). "The Fox News effect: media bias and voting." Quarterly Journal of Economics 122(3): 1187-1234.

DellaVigna, S. and M. Gentzkow (2010). "Persuasion: Empirical Evidence." Annual Review of Economics 2: 643-669.

Evans, J. (2000). "Le vote gaucho-lepéniste. Le masque extrême d'une dynamique normale." Revue française de science politique 1: 21-52.

Evans, G., A. Heath and M. Lalljee (1996). "Measuring left-right and libertarian-authoritarian values in the British electorate." The British Journal of Sociology 47(1): 93-112.

Federal Election Commission (2013). Data released electronically on Monday, March 25, 2013.

Fiorina, M.P. (1976). "The Voting Decision: Instrumental and Expressive Aspects." *The Journal of Politics* 38(2): 390-413.

Fleishman, J.A. (1988). "Attitude Organization in the General Public: Evidence for a Bidimensional Structure." Social Forces 67(1): 159-184.

Foos, F. and E. de Rooij (2013). "The assymptrical mobilization effects of partian GOTV campaigns: Evidence from a Randomised Field Experiment in the UK." Paper prepared for the 3rd Annual Conference of the European Political Science Association, 20-22 June 2013 in Barcelona.

Fowler, A. and M. Margolis (2013). "The Political Consequences of Uninformed Voters." mimeo Gerber, A.S. (2004). "Does Campaign Spending Work? Field Experiments Provide Evidence and Suggest New Theory." American Behavioral Scientist 47(5): 541-574.

Gerber, A.S. and D.P. Green (2000). "The Effects of Canvassing, Telephone Calls, and Direct Mail on Voter Turnout: A Field Experiment." *The American Political Science Review* 94:653-663.

Gerber, A.S. and D.P. Green (2008). *Get Out The Vote*. Washington: Brookings Institution Press.

Gerber, A.S., D.P. Green and C.W. Larimer (2008). "Social Pressure and Voter Turnout: Evidence from a Large-scale Field Experiment." *The American Political Science Review* 102(1): 33-48.

Gerber, A.S., J.G. Gimpel, D.P. Green and D.R. Shaw (2011). "How Large and Long-Lasting are the Persuasive Effects of Televised Campaign Ads? Results from a Randomized Field Experiment." *American Political Science Review 105*(1):135-150.

Gosnell, H.F. (1926). "An experiment in the stimulation of voting." American Political Science Review 20(4): 869-74.

Guan, M. and D.P. Green (2006). "Noncoercive Mobilization in State-Controlled Elections. An

Experimental Study in Beijing." Comparative Political Studies 39(10): 1175-1193.

Heath, A., G. Evans and J. Martin (1994). "The Measurement of Core Beliefs and Values: The Development of Balanced Socialist/Laissez Faire and Libertarian/Authoritarian Scales." British Journal of Political Science 24 (1): 115-132.

Hillygus, D.S. and T.G. Shields (2008). The Persuadable Voter: Wedge Issues in Presidential Campaigns. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Huber, G.A. and K. Arceneaux (2007). "Identifying the Persuasive Effects of Presidential Advertising." *American Journal of Political Science* 51 (4):957-977.

Huckfeldt, R. and J. Sprague (1992). "Political Parties and Electoral Mobilization: Political Structure, Social Structure, and the Party Canvass." *American Political Science Review* 86(1): 70–86.

Inglehart, R. (1971). "The Silent Revolution in Europe: Intergenerational Change in Post-Industrial Societies." American Political Science Review 65: 991-1017.

Inglehart, R. (1977). The Silent Revolution: Changing Values and Political Styles Among Western Publics. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Inglehart, R. (1981). "Post-Materialism in an Environment of Insecurity." American Political Science Review 75: 880-900.

Inglehart, R. (1990). Culture Shift in Advanced Industrial Society. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Inglehart, R. and P.R. Abramson (1994). "Economic Security and Value Change." American Political Science Review 88: 336-354.

Insee (2013). Données détaillées localisées.

Insee-SOeS (2012). "Estimation annuelle du parc de logements."

Issenberg, S. (2012). The Victory Lab: The Secret Science of Winning Campaigns. New York: Crown.

Iyengar, S. and A.F. Simon (2000). "New Perspectives and Evidence on Political Communication and Campaign Effects." *Annual Review of Psychology* 51: 149-169.

Jacobson (1978). "The Effects of Campaign Spending in Congressional Elections." American Political Science Review 72(2): 469-491.

John, P. and T. Brannan (2008). "How Different Are Telephoning and Canvassing? Results from a 'Get Out the Vote' Field Experiment in the British 2005 General Election" *British Journal* of Political Science 38(3): 565-574.

Journal Officiel de la République française (2012). Commission nationale des comptes de campagne et des financements politiques, édition du 31 juillet 2012.

Knutsen, O. (1995). "The Impact of Old Politics and New Politics Value Orientations on Party Choice - A Comparative Study." Journal of Public Policy 15(1): 1-63.

Kramer, G.H. (1970). "The Effects of Precinct-Level Canvassing on Voting Behavior." Public Opinion Quarterly 34: 560-572.

Landry, C.E., A. Lange, J.A. List, M.K. Price, N.G. Rupp (2006). "Toward an understanding of the economics of charity: evidence from a field experiment." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 121(2): 747-782.

Lau, R.R. and D.P. Redlawsk (2006). How Voters Decide: Information Processing in Election Campaigns. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

Layman, G.C. and e.g., Carmines (1997). "Cultural Conflict in American Politics: Religious Traditionalism, Postmaterialism, and U.S. Political Behavior." *Journal of Politics* 59(3): 751-777.

Lazarsfeld, P.F., B. Berelson and H. Gaudet (1944). The People's Choice: How the Voter Makes Up His Mind in a Presidential Campaign. New York: Duell, Sloan, and Pearce.

Lefebvre, R. (2005). "S'ouvrir les portes de la ville. Une approche ethnographique des porte à porte de Martine Aubry à Lille", in Lagroye, J., P. Lehingue and F. Sawicki, *La mobilisation* électorale municipale (2005). Paris: PUF-CURAPP.

Lenz, G.S. (2012). Follow the Leader?: How Voters Respond to Politicians' Policies and Performance. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Liegey, G., A. Muller and V. Pons (2010). "Frapper aux portes - ou comment mobiliser pour les prochaines élections." *Laboratoire des Idées*.

Liegey, G., A. Muller and V. Pons (2011). "L'abstention n'est pas une fatalité", *Esprit* March-April: 77-88.

Liegey, G., A. Muller and V. Pons (2013). Porte-à-porte: Reconquérir la démocratie sur le terrain. Paris: Calmann-Lévy.

Lipset, S.M. (1959). "Democracy and Working-Class Authoritarianism." American Sociological Review 24 (4): 482-501.

Lodge, M., M.R. Steenbergen and S. Brau (1995). "The Responsive Voter: Campaign Information and the Dynamics of Candidate Evaluation." The American Political Science Review 89(2): 309-326.

Mayer, N. (2003). "Que reste-t-il du vote de classe? Le cas français." *Lien social et Politiques* 49: 101-111.

Mayer, N. (2011). "Why Extremes Don't Meet. Le Pen and Besancenot Voters in the 2007 French Presidential Election." French Politics, Culture & Society 29(3): 101-120.

Mayer, N. (2013). "From Jean-Marie to Marine Le Pen: Electoral Change on the Far Right." Parliamentary Affairs 66: 160-178.

Mayer, N. and P. Perrineau (1992). "Why do they vote for Le Pen?" European Journal of Political Research 22: 123-141.

McMillan, J.H. (2007). "Randomized Field Trials and Internal Validity: Not So Fast My Friend." Practical Assessment Research & Evaluation 12(15).

Michelson, M.R. (2005). "Meeting the Challenge of Latino Voter Mobilization." The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 601: 85-101.

Middleton, J.A. and D.P. Green (2008). "Do Community-Based Voter Mobilization Campaigns Work Even in Battleground States? Evaluating the Effectiveness of MoveOn's 2004 Outreach Campaign." *Quarterly Journal of Political Science* 3: 63-82.

Nicholson, S.P. (2012). "Polarizing cues." American Journal of Political Science 56 (1):52-66.

Nickerson, D.W. (2005). "Partisan Mobilization Using Volunteer Phone Banks and Door Hangers." The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 601 (1):10-27.

Nickerson, D.W., R.D. Friedrichs and D.C. King (2006). "Partisan Mobilization Campaigns in the Field: Results from a Statewide Turnout Experiment in Michigan." *Political Research Quarterly* 59(1): 85-97.

Nickerson, D.W. (2008). "Is Voting Contagious? Evidence from Two Field Experiments" American Political Science Review 102(1): 49-57.

Nickerson, D.W. and T. Rogers (2010). "Do you have a voting plan?: Implementation intentions, voter turnout, and organic plan making." *Psychological Science* 21:194-199.

Nieuwbeerta, P. (1996). "The Democratic Class Struggle in Postwar Societies: Class Voting in Twenty Countries, 1945–1990." Acta Sociologica 39(4): 345–83.

Panagopoulos, C. and D.P. Green (2008). "Field Experiments Testing the Impact of Radio Advertisements on Electoral Competition." American Journal of Political Science 52(1):156-168. Perrineau, P. (1995). "La dynamique du vote Le Pen. Le poids du "gaucho-lepénisme"." in Perrineau, P. and C. Ysmal (dir.) (1995) Le vote de crise. L'élection présidentielle de 1995. Presses de Sciences Po: Paris.

Pettigrew, T.F. (1998). "Reactions toward the new minorities of Western Europe." Annual Review of Sociology 24: 77-103.

Petty, R.E. and J.T. Cacioppo (1996). Attitudes and Persuasion: Classic and Contemporary Approaches. Boulder: Westview.

Pons, V. and G. Liegey (2013). "Increasing the Electoral Participation of Immigrants - Experimental Evidence from France", Working Paper.

Rogers, T. and J.A. Middleton (2012). "Are Ballot Initiative Outcomes Influenced by the Campaigns of Independent Groups? A Precinct-Randomized Field Experiment", HKS Working Paper No. RWP12-049.

Rogers, T. and D. Nickerson (2013). "Can Inaccurate Beliefs About Incumbents be Changed? And Can Reframing Change Votes?" HKS Faculty Research Working Paper Series RWP13-018.

Rosenstone, S.J. and J.M. Hansen (1993). Mobilization, Participation, and Democracy in America. New York: Macmillian.

Rubenson, D., A. Blais, P. Fournier, E. Digengil, and N. Nevitte (2007). "Does Low Turnout Matter: Evidence from the 2000 Canadian Election." *Electoral Studies* 26(3): 589–597.

Shaw, D.R., D.P. Green, J.G. Gimpel and A.S. Gerber (2012). "Do Robotic Calls From Credible Sources Influence Voter Turnout or Vote Choice? Evidence From a Randomized Field Experiment." *Journal of Political Marketing* 11 (4): 231-245.

Simon, H.A. and F. Stern (1955). "The Effect of Television upon Voting Behavior in Iowa in the 1952 Presidential Election." The American Political Science Review 49 (2):470-477.

Stratmann, T. (2005). "Some talk: Money in politics. A (partial) review of the literature." *Public Choice* 124: 135-156.

Terra Nova (2008). "Pour une Primaire à la Française."

Terra Nova (2009). "Moderniser la Vie Politique: Innovations Américaines, Leçons pour la France."

Van der Waal, J., P. Achterberg and D. Houtman (2007). "Class Is not Dead - It Has Been Buried
Alive: Class Voting and Cultural Voting in Postwar Western Societies (1956–1990)." Politics & Society 35: 403–426.

Vavreck, L., C.J. Spiliotes and L.L. Fowler (2002). "The Effects of Retail Politics in the New

Hampshire Primary." American Journal of Political Science 46(3): 595-610.

Wielhouwer, P.W. (2003). "In Search of Lincoln's Perfect List: Targeting in Grassroots Campaigns." American Politics Research 31: 632-669.

Wlezien, C. and R.S. Erikson (2002). "The Timeline of Presidential Election Campaigns." Journal of Politics 64:969-993.

Wright, G.C. (1993). "Errors in measuring vote choice in the National Election Studies, 1952-88." American Journal of Political Science 37: 291-316.

Figure 1. Results of the 2012 elections

Presidential elections Voter turnout, 1st round Voter turnout, 2nd round 100% 100% 80.4% 79.5% 80% 80% 60% 60% 40% 40% 20.5% 20% 20% 0% 0% Voters Voters Non-voters Vote shares, 1st round 27.2% 28.6% 51.6% 1.8% 13.4% 17.9% 1.7% Far-left Left, other than PS PS (F. Hollande) Center Right, other than UMP UMP (N. Sarkozy) Far-right



Left, other than PS

Right, other than UMP

Center

19.7%

Non-voters

2.6%

0.5%

PPS

UMP Far-right



57.2%

Voters

29.4%

42.8%

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

17.4%

1.0%

Far-left

PS

UMP

Far-right

Source: French Ministry of the Interior

Notes: At the first round of the presidential elections, the far-left candidates were Philippe Poutou (Nouveau Parti Anticapitaliste) and Nathalie Arthaud (Lutte Ouvrière). The left candidates other than PS were Jean-Luc Mélenchon (Front de Gauche) and Eva Joly (Europe Ecologie les Verts). The center candidate was François Bayrou (Mouvement démocrate). The right candidate other than UMP was Nicolas Dupont-Aignan (Debout la République).

3.5%

Left, other than PS

Right, other than UM

Center

3.8%

10.6%




Notes: French turnout rates are computed using the number of registered citizens (rather than the number of eligible citizens) as the denominator.

Source: French Ministry of the Interior



April 20th



May 4th



April 13th

April 27th

Figure 3. Weekly completion of the target objectives, by département



Figure 4. Daily number of doors knocked, as reported by

Notes: We plot the number of doors knocked by canvassers and reported by them on the campaign's platform.



Figure 5. Voter turnout

Notes: N is 6615 for the 1st and 2nd rounds of the presidential elections. For the 1st round of the parliamentary elections, the sample is restricted to constituencies where there was a PS candidate, and N is 5520. For the 2nd round of the parliamentary elections, the sample is restricted to constituencies where there was a second round with more than one candidate and where there was a PS candidate and N is 4893. I control for strata fixed effects.



Figure 6. PS Vote shares

Notes: N is 6615 for the 1st and 2nd rounds of the presidential elections. For the 1st round of the parliamentary elections, the sample is restricted to constituencies where there was a PS candidate, and N is 5520. For the 2nd round of the parliamentary elections, the sample is restricted to constituencies where there was a second round with more than one candidate and where there was a PS candidate and N is 4893. I control for strata fixed effects.





Source: French Ministry of the Interior

Notes: I only plot the vote shares obtained at the first round of the presidential and parliamentary elections. The Front National's candidate qualified for the second round of the presidential elections of 2002, and Front National's candidates at the parliamentary elections frequently qualify for the second round.

Table 1: Profile of the canvassers and feedback on the campaign (post-electoral survey)

Panel A. Profile of the canvassers	
Age	
29 or less	11.2%
30 - 45	23.1%
46 - 59	36.3%
60 and beyond	29.5%
Responsibilities within the campaign	
Volunteer	58.8%
Field organizer or head of local unit	37.1%
Département coordinator	4.2%
Relationship to Socialist Party	
Member for 5 years or more	52.0%
Member for less than 5 years	27.3%
Sympathiser and had previously been involved in a campaign	8.3%
Sympathiser and is involved in a campaign for the first time	12.4%
Previous field experience	
Had never done door-to-door canvassing	43.2%
Had done door-to-door canvassing a few times	34.5%
Had often done door-to-door canvassing	22.3%
Panel B. Involvement in the campaign	
Attended a training session on door-to-door canvassing	59.0%
Number of door-to-door sessions taken part to	
1 to 2	13.3%
3 to 10	48.5%
More than 10	38.2%
Type of areas most covered	
Big cities (more than 100 000 in habitants)	25.4%
Middle-size cities (10 000 - 100 000)	47.2%
Rural areas (<10 000)	27.4%
Main context in which did door-to-door canvassing	
Frequently, with my local unit.	83.9%
For special national events	16.1%
Did you (or your local unit) use the list of prioritary	
polling stations or municipalities that was provided by the campaign?	
I never heard of this list.	29.1%
We did not use this list at all, or only very little.	16.3%
We used this list partially.	11.2%
We went to almost all the prioritary polling stations or cities.	43.5%
Did you use the guides and tools provided by the campaign?	
No	33.8%
Sometimes	43.7%
Yes, most of the time.	22.5%
How much door-to-door canvassing did you do, compared	
with other campaign activities?	
I did some door-to-door canvassing, but mostly other activities.	24.0%
I did as much door-to-door canvassing as other campaign activities.	48.4%
I mostly did door-to-door canvassing.	27.6%
,	

Notes : We report the responses of canvassers to an online voluntary postelectoral survey administered during the week following the second round of the 2012 presidential elections. N = 1,972.

Table 1 (cont.): Profile of the canvassers and feedback on the campaign (post-electoral survey)

Percel C. Foodback on the compaign	
Overall what do you think of door-to-door canvassing?	
I will not do it again.	0.8%
One should do it, but not more than other campaign methods.	38.5%
A really good method, it should be one of the main methods used.	60.8%
If you like door-to-door canvassing, why so?	
It is good to take part to a large national action.	7.0%
It is effective.	31.3%
It is fun.	2.6%
It is a good way to spread the ideas and values of the left.	31.6%
It is an enriching experience.	27.5%
Overall, how helpful was the support provided by	
the national team and the département's team?	
It was very helpful.	49.3%
It was sometime helpful.	48.0%
The less we see them, the better we are.	2.7%
Overall, how did you like the web platform "toushollande terrain"?	
1 (= Useless)	1.6%
2	7.6%
3	28.3%
4	41.4%
5 (= Excellent)	21.1%

Notes : We report the responses of canvassers to an online voluntary postelectoral survey administered during the week following the second round of the 2012 presidential elections. N = 1,972.

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Panel A. Randomization	Treatment	Control	Total
# territories randomized at the nolling station level			967 1
	ı	1	T,420
# precincts	6,064	1,495	7,559
	80.2%	19.8%	100.0%
# territories randomized at the municipality level	ı	ı	1,832
# municipalities	7,732	1,951	9,683
	79.9%	20.1%	100.0%
# precincts	11,922	2,971	14,893
	80.1%	19.9%	100.0%
Total # territories	ı	ı	3,260
Total # precincts	17,986	4,466	22,452
	80.1%	19.9%	100.0%
Total # registered citizens	13,690,901	3,363,444	17,054,345
	80.3%	19.7%	100.0%
Panel B. Assignment to canvassers	Assigned	Not assigned	Total
Initial assignment			
# treatment precincts	9,521	8,465	17,986
# control precincts		4,466	4,466
# registered citizens	7,243,727	9,810,618	17,054,345
# doors	5,223,580	7,074,611	12,298,192
Panel C. Reports by canvassers	Assigned	Not assigned	Total
% reports indicating the precinct covered % doors located in precincts initially assigned (or not assigned) to canvassers	- 37.4%	- 14.1%	54.5% 51.5%

Table 2: Sampling frame

Table 3: Summary statistics

	Contro	ol group	Treatme	ent group	P-value	Number of
					Treatment	obs.
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	= Control	
Panel A. Electoral outcomes						
Number of registered citizens	918	269	919	255	0.961	6,615
Estimated share of left-wing nonvoters in 2007	0.086	0.034	0.087	0.033	0.413	6,615
Panel B. Location of the precinct						<u> </u>
Population of the municipality	56,127	252,745	52,361	239,859	0.644	6,615
0 to 1999	0.164	0.370	0.151	0.358	0.362	6,615
2000 to 4999	0.197	0.398	0.180	0.385	0.415	6,615
5000 to 9999	0.199	0.399	0.196	0.397	0.892	6,615
10000 to 19999	0.172	0.378	0.191	0.393	0.391	6,615
20000 and more	0.269	0.443	0.282	0.450	0.511	6,615
Rural or urban context						
Rural	0.152	0.360	0.133	0.339	0.163	6,615
Urban, center city	0.367	0.482	0.362	0.481	0.838	6,615
Urban, isolated city	0.079	0.270	0.105	0.307	0.081	6,615
Urban, suburbs	0.401	0.490	0.400	0.490	0.966	6,615
Region						
Ile-de-France	0.172	0.378	0.160	0.367	0.488	6,615
Champagne-Ardenne	0.026	0.160	0.017	0.129	0.360	6,615
Picardie	0.031	0.174	0.047	0.211	0.100	6,615
Haute-Normandie	0.049	0.217	0.047	0.211	0.800	6,615
Centre	0.049	0.215	0.049	0.217	0.932	6,615
Basse-Normandie	0.020	0.139	0.020	0.141	0.937	6,615
Bourgogne	0.024	0.153	0.034	0.182	0.184	6,615
Nord-Pas-de-Calais	0.024	0.153	0.032	0.177	0.370	6,615
Lorraine	0.049	0.215	0.055	0.229	0.566	6,615
Alsace	0.017	0.130	0.019	0.135	0.770	6,615
Franche-Comté	0.014	0.118	0.020	0.141	0.240	6,615
Pays-de-la-Loire	0.063	0.242	0.063	0.244	0.945	6,615
Bretagne	0.113	0.317	0.083	0.275	0.132	6,615
Poitou-Charentes	0.016	0.127	0.016	0.124	0.857	6,615
Aquitaine	0.047	0.212	0.050	0.218	0.778	6,615
Midi-Pyrénées	0.035	0.185	0.041	0.198	0.522	6,615
Limousin	0.016	0.124	0.015	0.121	0.859	6,615
Rhône-Alpes	0.134	0.341	0.123	0.329	0.539	6,615
Auvergne	0.031	0.174	0.030	0.170	0.809	6,615
Languedoc-Roussillon	0.033	0.179	0.035	0.183	0.839	6,615
Provence-Alpes-Côte-d'Azur	0.026	0.158	0.031	0.173	0.479	6,615
Corse	0.002	0.050	0.004	0.059	0.548	6,615
DOM-TOM	0.008	0.090	0.010	0.099	0.723	6,615

Notes : For each variable, we report the means and standard deviations in both the control group and the treatment group and indicate the p-value of the difference.

The unit of observation is the precinct. Standard errors are adjusted for clustering at the level of randomization (precinct, or municipality).

Table 3 (cont.): Summary statistics

	Contro	l group	Treatme	nt group	P-value	Number
					Treatment	of obs.
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	= Control	
Panel C. Sociodemographic characteristics of the po	opulation of	of the muni	cipality			
Share of men	0.482	0.017	0.481	0.016	0.426	6,615
Share of the population with age						
0 - 14	0.183	0.031	0.184	0.031	0.790	6,615
15 - 29	0.181	0.042	0.182	0.042	0.609	6,615
30 - 44	0.196	0.027	0.195	0.027	0.417	6,615
45 - 59	0.204	0.023	0.203	0.023	0.471	6,615
60 - 74	0.141	0.031	0.143	0.032	0.330	6,615
75 and older	0.094	0.038	0.094	0.036	0.615	6,615
Mobility rate	0.247	0.052	0.242	0.055	0.061	6,615
Within population of 15 - 64						
Share of working population	0.722	0.044	0.717	0.045	0.042	6,615
Share of unemployed (among working population	0.118	0.047	0.125	0.051	0.004	6,615
Socioprofessional group, within population above 15	5					
PCS1 (Farmers)	0.006	0.014	0.006	0.011	0.086	6,615
PCS2 (Craftsmen, storekeepers, businessmen)	0.032	0.013	0.031	0.012	0.104	6,615
PCS3 (Executives, intellectual occupations)	0.081	0.054	0.078	0.054	0.249	6,615
PCS4 (Intermediate occupations)	0.141	0.038	0.138	0.038	0.107	6,615
PCS5 (Employees)	0.169	0.029	0.168	0.030	0.534	6,615
PCS6 (Laborers)	0.138	0.047	0.141	0.049	0.096	6,615
PCS7 (Retired)	0.273	0.070	0.273	0.071	0.940	6,615
PCS8 (Other inactive)	0.160	0.043	0.165	0.044	0.018	6,615
Median income	19,486	3,661	19,297	3,992	0.265	6,552

Notes : For each variable, we report the means and standard deviations in both the control group and the treatment group and indicate the p-value of the difference.

The unit of observation is the precinct. Standard errors are adjusted for clustering at the level of randomization (precinct, or municipality).

Table 4: Impact on voter turnout

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Panel A.		Presidential elections				
	1st r	ound	2nd r	ound	Average	of 1st and
					2nd r	ounds
Assigned to canvassers	-0.002	0.001	-0.002	0.001	-0.002	0.001
	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Strata fixed effects	x	x	х	x	x	x
Control variables		x		x		x
Observations	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615
R-squared	0.78	0.84	0.74	0.81	0.76	0.83
Mean in Control Group	0.792	0.792	0.798	0.798	0.795	0.795

Panel B.			Parliamenta	ary elections	5	
	1st r	ound	2nd r	ound	Average of 2nd r	of 1st and ounds
Assigned to canvassers	0.000	0.003	-0.002	0.001	-0.001	0.002
	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)
Strata fixed effects	x	х	x x		x	х
Control variables		х		х		x
Observations	5520	5520	4893	4893	4893	4893
R-squared	0.73	0.79	0.72	0.78	0.73	0.79
Mean in Control Group	0.561	0.561	0.550	0.550	0.557	0.557

Notes : The unit of observation is the precinct. Standard errors are adjusted for clustering at the level of randomization (precinct, or municipality). ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. "Assigned to canvassers" is instrumented by the treatment assignment.

In Panel B, the sample is restricted to constituencies where there was a PS candidate at the 1st round (columns 1 and 2) and to constituencies where there was a second round with more than one candidate and where there was a PS candidate (columns 3 through 6).

The control variables include the proxy for the fraction of left-wing nonvoters, the municipality's population, this variable squared, the share of working population within the population aged 15 to 64 year old and the share of unemployed population among the working population. In addition, in Panel B, the control variables include the number of candidates at the 1st round (columns 1 and 2), the number of candidates at the 2nd round (columns 3 and 4) and the numbers of candidates at the 1st and 2nd rounds (columns 5 and 6).

Table 5: Impact on PS vote shares

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
Panel A.			Presidential elections				
	1st re	ound	2nd r	ound	Average of	of 1st and	
					2nd r	ounds	
Assigned to canvassers	0.008	0.007	0.007	0.005	0.008	0.006	
	(0.003)***	(0.003)**	(0.004)*	(0.003)	(0.003)**	(0.003)**	
Strata fixed effects	x	x	x	x	х	х	
Control variables		x		х		x	
Observations	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615	
R-squared	0.77	0.81	0.76	0.81	0.77	0.82	
Mean in Control Group	0.319	0.319	0.569	0.569	0.444	0.444	

Panel B.			Parliamenta	ry election	s	
Assigned to canvassers	1st r	ound	2nd r	ound	Average o	of 1st and
					2nd ro	ounds
	0.005	0.004	0.009	0.006	0.008	0.006
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)*	(0.005)	(0.004)*	(0.004)
Strata fixed effects	x	х	x x		x	х
Control variables		x		x		x
Observations	5520	5520	4893	4893	4893	4893
R-squared	0.79	0.80	0.77	0.80	0.77	0.80
Mean in Control Group	0.399	0.399	0.573	0.573	0.484	0.484

Notes : The unit of observation is the precinct. Standard errors are adjusted for clustering at the level of randomization (precinct, or municipality). ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. "Assigned to canvassers" is instrumented by the treatment assignment.

In Panel B, the sample is restricted to constituencies where there was a PS candidate at the 1st round (columns 1 and 2) and to constituencies where there was a second round with more than one candidate and where there was a PS candidate (columns 3 through 6).

The control variables include the proxy for the fraction of left-wing nonvoters, the municipality's population, this variable squared, the share of working population within the population aged 15 to 64 year old and the share of unemployed population among the working population. In addition, in Panel B, the control variables include the number of candidates at the 1st round (columns 1 and 2), the number of candidates at the 2nd round (columns 3 and 4) and the numbers of candidates at the 1st and 2nd rounds (columns 5 and 6).

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)	(10)	(11)	(12)
Panel A.					Presi	idential elec	ctions, 1st ru	punc				
	<u>م</u> :	Š	Far-	left	Left, othe	r than PS	Cer	nter	Rig	tht	Far-I	ight
Assigned to canvassers	0.008	0.007	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.000	-0.001	-0.001	-0.003	-0.003	-0.004	-0.003
•	(0.003)***	(0.003)**	(0000)	(000.0)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.002)*	(0.002)
Strata fixed effects	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Control variables		×		×		×		×		×		×
Observations	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615	6615
R-squared	0.77	0.81	0.44	0.44	0.71	0.72	0.72	0.74	0.70	0.74	0.78	0.78
Mean in Control Group	0.319	0.319	0.018	0.018	0.147	0.147	0.086	0.086	0.252	0.252	0.175	0.175
Panel B.					Parlia	mentary ele	sctions, 1st	round				
	<u>م</u>	Š	Far-	left	Left, othe	r than PS	Cer	iter	Rig	ht	Far-	ight
Assigned to canvassers	0.005	0.004	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.001	0.000	0.000	-0.002	-0.001	-0.006	-0.005
1	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.002)***	(0.002)**
Strata fixed effects	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Control variables		×		×		×		×		×		×
Observations	5520	5520	5520	5520	5520	5520	5520	5520	5520	5520	5520	5520
R-squared	0.79	0.80	0.60	0.60	0.86	0.86	06.0	06.0	0.87	0.88	0.80	0.80
Mean in Control Group	0.399	0.399	0.011	0.011	0.130	0.130	0.055	0.055	0.267	0.267	0.131	0.131
<i>Notes</i> - The unit of observat	ion is the prec	inct. Standarc	l errors are a	idiusted for c	clustering at t	the level of r	andomizatior	n (precinct, or	- municipality	* *** *** (' indicate sign	ficance at
1, 5 and 10%. "Assigned to c	anvassers" is u	instrumented	by the treat	ment assignr	nent.						,	
In Panel B. the sample is res	tricted to cons	stituencies wh	here there w	as a PS candi	idate at the 1	st round of t	he parliamer	itary election	s.			
The control variables include	e the proxy fo	r the fraction	of left-wing	nonvoters, th	he municipali	ty's populati	on, this varia	ble squared,	the share of v	working pop	oulation within	the

population aged 15 to 64 year old and the share of unemployed population among the working population. In addition, in Panel B, the control variables include the number of candidates at the 1st round of the parliamentary elections.

At the first round of the presidential elections, the far-left candidates were Philippe Poutou (Nouveau Parti Anticapitaliste) and Nathalie Arthaud (Lutte Ouvrière). The left candidates other than PS were Jean-Luc Mélenchon (Front de Gauche) and Eva Joly (Europe Ecologie les Verts). The center candidate was François Bayrou (Mouvement démocrate). The right candidates were Nicolas Sarkozy (Union pour la Majorité Présidentielle) and Nicolas Dupont-Aignan (Debout la République). The far-right candidate was Marine Le Pen (Front National).

Table 6: Impact on all parties' vote shares

Table 7: Heterogeneity of the impact along past vote shares of the Front National

	(3)	(4)	(1)	(2)
Panel A.	Pres	sidential elec	tions, 1st r	ound
	Far	-right	P	s
Assigned to canvassers	-0.004	-0.005	0.007	0.007
	(0.003)*	(0.003)*	(0.004)*	(0.004)*
Assigned x high far-right vote share in 2007	0.015	0.018	0.002	-0.001
	(0.005)***	* (0.005)***	(0.009)	(0.007)
Assigned x high far-right vote share in 2002	-0.013	-0.013	-0.001	0.000
	(0.005)***	* (0.005)***	(0.009)	(0.007)
Strata fixed effects	x	x	x	x
Control for high far-right vote share in 2002 and 2007	x	x	x	x
Control variables		x		х
Observations	6614	6614	6614	6614
R-squared	0.79	0.79	0.77	0.81
Mean in Control Group	0.175	0.175	0.319	0.319

Panel B.	Parlia	mentary ele	ections, 1st round		
	Far-	right	P	s	
Assigned to canvassers	-0.004	-0.005	0.001	0.002	
	(0.003)*	(0.003)*	(0.009)	(0.008)	
Assigned x high far-right vote share in 2007	0.005	0.005	-0.003	-0.006	
	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.012)	(0.011)	
Assigned x high far-right vote share in 2002	-0.007	-0.004	0.013	0.011	
	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.012)	(0.011)	
Strata fixed effects	x	x	x	x	
Control for high far-right vote share in 2002 and 2007	x	х	x	x	
Control variables		x		х	
Observations	5519	5519	5519	5519	
R-squared	0.81	0.81	0.79	0.80	
Mean in Control Group	0.131	0.131	0.399	0.399	

Notes : The unit of observation is the precinct. Standard errors are adjusted for clustering at the level of randomization (precinct, or municipality). ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5 and 10%. "Assigned to canvassers" is instrumented by the treatment assignment. "Assigned x high far-right vote share in 2007" is instrumented by Treatment x high far-right vote share in 2007 and "Assigned x high far-right vote share in 2002" is instrumented by Treatment x high far-right vote share in 2002.

In Panel B, the sample is restricted to constituencies where there was a PS candidate at the 1st round of the parliamentary elections.

The control variables include the proxy for the fraction of left-wing nonvoters, the municipality's population, this variable squared, the share of working population within the population aged 15 to 64 year old and the share of unemployed population among the working population. In addition, in Panel B, the control variables include the number of candidates at the 1st round of the parliamentary elections.